MOLECULAR STRATEGIES AIMED TO BOOST NK CELL-BASED IMMUNOTHERAPY OF CANCER

EDITED BY: Loredana Cifaldi, Daniel Olive and James Di Santo PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-876-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-876-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

MOLECULAR STRATEGIES AIMED TO BOOST NK CELL-BASED IMMUNOTHERAPY OF CANCER

Topic Editors: Loredana Cifaldi, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Daniel Olive, Aix Marseille Université, France James Di Santo, Institut Pasteur, France

In this Research Topic, we would like to honor the memory of Prof. Vito Pistoia and pay tribute to his scientific contributions to the field of Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy.

Topic Editor Daniel Olive is the co-founder and shareholder of company Imcheck Therapeutics. All other topic editors declare no competing interests with regards to the Research Topic subject.

Citation: Cifaldi, L., Olive, D., Di Santo, J., eds. (2020). Molecular Strategies Aimed to Boost NK Cell-based Immunotherapy of Cancer. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-876-5

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Molecular Strategies Aimed to Boost NK Cell-Based Immunotherapy of Cancer

Loredana Cifaldi, James Di Santo and Daniel Olive

- **06** *NK Cell Dysfunction and Checkpoint Immunotherapy* Jiacheng Bi and Zhigang Tian
- 16 The Rise of NK Cell Checkpoints as Promising Therapeutic Targets in Cancer Immunotherapy

Haoyu Sun and Cheng Sun

30 Post-translational Mechanisms Regulating NK Cell Activating Receptors and Their Ligands in Cancer: Potential Targets for Therapeutic Intervention

Rosa Molfetta, Alessandra Zingoni, Angela Santoni and Rossella Paolini

40 The Synergistic Use of IL-15 and IL-21 for the Generation of NK Cells From CD3/CD19-Depleted Grafts Improves Their ex vivo Expansion and Cytotoxic Potential Against Neuroblastoma: Perspective for Optimized Immunotherapy Post Haploidentical Stem Cell Transplantation

Annekathrin Heinze, Beatrice Grebe, Melanie Bremm, Sabine Huenecke, Tasleem Ah. Munir, Lea Graafen, Jochen T. Frueh, Michael Merker, Eva Rettinger, Jan Soerensen, Thomas Klingebiel, Peter Bader, Evelyn Ullrich and Claudia Cappel

60 Harnessing NK Cells for Cancer Treatment

Paola Minetto, Fabio Guolo, Silvia Pesce, Marco Greppi, Valentina Obino, Elisa Ferretti, Simona Sivori, Carlo Genova, Roberto Massimo Lemoli and Emanuela Marcenaro

- 70 Exploiting Human NK Cells in Tumor Therapy Paola Vacca, Gabriella Pietra, Nicola Tumino, Enrico Munari, Maria Cristina Mingari and Lorenzo Moretta
- 78 Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on NK Cell Function in Solid Tumors

Ombretta Melaiu, Valeria Lucarini, Loredana Cifaldi and Doriana Fruci

96 High Cytotoxic Efficiency of Lentivirally and Alpharetrovirally Engineered CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor Natural Killer Cells Against Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

Stephan Müller, Tobias Bexte, Veronika Gebel, Franziska Kalensee, Eva Stolzenberg, Jessica Hartmann, Ulrike Koehl, Axel Schambach, Winfried S. Wels, Ute Modlich and Evelyn Ullrich

112 Boosting Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Targeting of Sarcoma Through DNAM-1 and NKG2D

Ece Canan Sayitoglu, Anna-Maria Georgoudaki, Michael Chrobok, Didem Ozkazanc, Benjamin J. Josey, Muhammad Arif, Kim Kusser, Michelle Hartman, Tamara M. Chinn, Renee Potens, Cevriye Pamukcu, Robin Krueger, Cheng Zhang, Adil Mardinoglu, Evren Alici, Harry Thomas Temple, Tolga Sutlu and Adil Doganay Duru

132 Targeting Natural Killer Cells for Tumor Immunotherapy Cai Zhang, Yuan Hu and Chongdeng Shi





Editorial: Molecular Strategies Aimed to Boost NK Cell-Based Immunotherapy of Cancer

Loredana Cifaldi^{1*}, James Di Santo^{2,3} and Daniel Olive⁴

¹ Academic Department of Pediatrics (DPUO), Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ² Innate Immunity Unit, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France, ³ Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM) U1223, Paris, France, ⁴ Cancer Research Center of Marseille, INSERM U1068, CNRS U7258, Aix-Marseille University, Institut Paoli-Calmettes, Marseille, France

Keywords: NK cells, NK cell-based immunotherapy, cancer immunotherapy, immune checkpoint inhibitors, adoptive transfer of NK and CAR-NK cells, ligands for NK cell-activating receptors

Editorial on the Research Topic

Molecular Strategies Aimed to Boost NK Cell-Based Immunotherapy of Cancer

Natural Killer (NK) cells represent the first line of defense against aberrant cells, playing a crucial role in counteracting tumor development. Although NK cells are able to circulate in many tissues and rapidly recognize and eliminate tumor cells, a combination of deregulated molecular networks, occurring in tumor microenvironment (TME), allows the immune escape of tumor cells from NK cell-mediated surveillance, thus contributing to tumor progression. The expression of immune checkpoint molecules contributes to the functional exhaustion of NK cells. To overcome the NK cell limitations in the fight against tumor cells, several molecular strategies have been recently adopted at a preclinical and clinical level. Therefore, the use of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that neutralize the immune checkpoint molecules and the adoptive transfer of *ex vivo* expanded and activated NK cells or chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified NK cells represent the main NK cell-based immunotherapeutic approaches currently adopted to treat tumors. Of note, NK cells, unlike T cells, do not cause graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) allowing a safe and successful NK cell adoptive transfer in an allogenic setting. Furthermore, although the use of CAR-T cells has shown potent antitumor efficacy, their application is restricted to an autologous setting. Therefore, CAR-NK cells constitute an off-the-shelf product with enormous immunotherapeutic potential.

All of these issues have been extensively described in the reviews collected in this Research Topic, also raising several questions about approaches not yet fully investigated.

Sun and Sun claimed that blocking with checkpoint inhibitors can restore functional exhaustion of NK cells and may complement the limitation of T cell-based immunotherapy. The authors described preclinical studies and clinical application of neutralizing mAbs targeting NKG2A, KIRs TIGIT, CD96, LAG-3, and TIM-3 NK cell-inhibitory receptors.

Minetto et al. focused on the expression of HLA-I on tumor cells and how it can influence the anti-tumor NK cell-mediated functions. These authors described recent NK cell-mediated anti-tumor clinical approaches based on the use of mAbs recognizing NK cell-inhibitory receptors and immune checkpoint inhibitors, alone or in combination with other compounds.

Bi and Tian described the benefits mediated by immune checkpoint inhibitors on NK cells. The authors argued that PD-1⁺ NK cells, displaying a stronger potential than PD-1⁻ NK cells, can be functionally compromised by PD-L1 which is highly expressed in the TME. Therefore, PD-1/PD-L1 blockade can restore PD-1⁺ NK cell functions. In addition, the authors proposed the therapeutic targeting of other molecules involved in functional suppression of NK cells, such as E3 ubiquitin ligase Cbl-b, IL-1R8, the negative regulator of IL-15 CIS, and A2A adenosine receptor.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Katy Rezvani, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Loredana Cifaldi loredana.cifaldi@opbg.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 01 May 2020 Accepted: 11 May 2020 Published: 16 June 2020

Citation:

Cifaldi L, Di Santo J and Olive D (2020) Editorial: Molecular Strategies Aimed to Boost NK Cell-Based Immunotherapy of Cancer. Front. Immunol. 11:1132. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01132

4

In addition to these approaches, Zhang et al. proposed other strategies to overcome the NK cell suppression in TME, such as the clinical use of TGF- β neutralizing mAb Fresolimumab and TGF β R1 inhibitor Galunisertib in solid tumors. The authors contemplated the use of NK cells knocked down for *TGFBR2* or *SMAD3*, or the use of CAR-modified NK cells containing TGF- β type II receptor. In addition, they envisaged the use of CMV-induced adaptive memory NK cells and CAR NKG2C⁺ CD57⁺ adaptive NK cells for clinical implication.

Vacca et al. focused on different strategies adopted for NK cell-based immunotherapy. In addition to the use of cytokines, mAbs and checkpoint inhibitors, all factors that increase the efficacy of the adoptive transfer of NK cells and CAR-NK cells, the authors underlined the efficacy of $\alpha\beta T$ cell- and B cell-depleted haploidentical hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) transplantation in which the infusion of donor NK cells and $\gamma\delta T$ cells, together with HSC, resulted in reduced leukemia relapses and infections.

Melaiu et al. focused mainly on solid tumors and described the immune evasion mechanisms occurring in TME leading to the NK cell exhaustion, together with the preclinical and clinical NK cell-based immunotherapeutic studies. They described the susceptibility of cancer stem cells (CSCs) to NK cell-mediated killing as evaluated in preclinical models. Moreover, they reported studies on NK cell distribution, phenotype, and function in several solid tumor tissues.

Molfetta et al. described other immune evasion strategies, such as the downregulation and cleavage of ligands for NK cellactivating receptors through transcriptional, post-transcriptional and post-translational mechanisms. The authors argued that chemotherapy drugs known to inhibit the ubiquitination and SUMOylation, which are mechanisms involved in the negative regulation of ligands for NK cell-activating receptors, may be exploited for their immunomodulatory effects, thus suggesting their clinical use in combination with conventional therapies.

Sayitoglu et al. in a research article reported new data of genetically modified (GM)-NK-92 cells activity in sarcoma. The authors explored the profile of ligands for NK cell-activating receptors in sarcoma primary cells and underlined the importance of PCNA, CD112, and CD115 expression for NK cell-mediated recognition. They developed a screening platform to assess the efficiency of 14 different activating receptors by generating GM-NK-92 cells over-expressing each individual receptor. The authors show that DNAM-1 and NKG2D GM-NK-92 cells elicited an increase NK cell-degranulation and cytotoxicity against primary sarcoma cells. Moreover, DNAM-1 GM-NK-92 degranulated efficiently also in response to other solid tumor cell lines.

Heinze et al. in a research article described the NK cell antitumor efficacy against neuroblastoma (NB) cells by comparing cytokine-induced killer (CIK) with *ex vivo* expanded NK cells, activated with IL-2, IL-15, and IL-21. The authors compared also two different protocols of NK cell isolation and showed that CD3/CD19-depleted PBMCs NK cells expanded higher that CD56-enriched cells. NK cells were assayed in cytotoxic activity against NB spheroidal culture. In addition, IL-21, in combination with IL-15, enhanced NK cell proliferation thus suggesting that the use of IL-15+IL-21 expanded NK cells from CD3/CD19-depleted PBMCs may be promising for a new NK cell-based immunotherapy.

Müller et al. in a research article optimized the protocol leading to the generation of PBMC-derived CD19-CAR-NK cells. These authors compared lentiviral and alpharetroviral, in combination with two different transduction enhancers such as Retronectin and Vectofusin-1. They demonstrated that the transduction of primary NK cells with RD114-TR pseudotyped retroviral vectors, in combination with Vectofusin-1, generated CD19-CAR-NK cells with a highly efficient cytotoxicity against CD19-expressing lymphoblastic cells.

Last but by no means least, we would like to dedicate this series of NK cell-based immunotherapy papers to the memory of Professor Vito Pistoia (Pediatric Hospital Bambino Gesù, Rome) who tragically passed away in 2018. This collection is a fitting tribute to his creative scientific contributions and his unwavering dedication to the field of Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grant from the Italian Ministry of Health (Rome, Italy) Grant GR-2011-02352151 to LC.

Conflict of Interest: DO is the co-founder and share holder of company Imcheck Therapeutics.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Cifaldi, Di Santo and Olive. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





NK Cell Dysfunction and Checkpoint Immunotherapy

Jiacheng Bi^{1*} and Zhigang Tian^{2,3*}

¹ Shenzhen Laboratory of Antibody Engineering, Institute of Biomedicine and Biotechnology, Shenzhen Institutes of Advanced Technology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shenzhen, China, ² Division of Molecular Medicine, Hefei National Laboratory for Physical Sciences at Microscale, The CAS Key Laboratory of Innate Immunity and Chronic Disease, School of Life Sciences, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China, ³ Institute of Immunology, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China

NK cells play important roles in the innate immune responses against tumors. The effector function of NK cells relies on the integration of activating and inhibitory signals. Emerging checkpoint receptors and molecules are being revealed to mediate NK cell dysfunction in the tumor microenvironment. Inhibition of some NK cell surface checkpoint receptors has displayed the potential to reverse NK cell dysfunction in tumors, and to boost anti-tumor immunity, both in clinical trials (anti-KIR and anti-NKG2A), and in preclinical studies (e.g., anti-TIGIT, and anti-CD96). To fully exploit the potential of NK–based checkpoint immunotherapy, more understanding of the regional features of NK cells in the tumor microenvironment is required. This will provide valuable information regarding the dynamic nature of NK cell immune response against tumors, as well as novel checkpoints or pathways to be targeted. In this Review, we discuss recent advances in the understanding of NK cell dysfunction in tumors, as well as emerging strategies of NK-based checkpoint immunotherapy for tumors.

Keywords: inhibitory receptors, checkpoint blockade, immune evasion, immune tolerance, regional immunity

INTRODUCTION

Limited response rates of T cell-based checkpoint immunotherapies against CTLA-4 (CytoToxic Lymphocyte Antigen 4) and/or PD-1 (Programmed-cell Death protein 1)/PD-L1 indicate that additional checkpoints/pathways exist to suppress efficient tumor immunity (1–3). Moreover, tumors usually escape T cell immune surveillance by downregulating the expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I to compromise the tumor antigen presentation pathway (4–6), making these tumors difficult to be recognized by T cells. However, these tumors are highly susceptible to NK cell elimination via the "missing-self" recognition (7, 8). On the other hand, tumors with low mutational loads usually trigger less effective T cell responses than tumors with high mutational loads (9–11). Nevertheless, even tumors with low mutational loads should be recognized and killed by NK cells. These alternative features suggest that NK cells could serve as the major anti-tumor effector cells where tumors should develop mechanisms of escaping T cell surveillance, thus providing additional benefits to T cell-based immunotherapies. Therefore, NK cells represent an emerging target for tumor immunotherapies (12, 13).

On the other hand, multiple intrinsic, and extrinsic immune suppressive checkpoints/pathways exist to prevent NK cells from fully displaying the anti-tumor potentials in the tumor microenvironment (14, 15). Among these checkpoints/mechanisms that inhibit tumor-associated NK cell functions, targeting some of the checkpoint receptors of NK cells by monoclonal antibodies

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Olive, Aix Marseille Université, France

Reviewed by:

Eric Vivier, INSERM U1104 Centre d'immunologie de Marseille-Luminy, France Robin Parihar, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

*Correspondence:

Jiacheng Bi jc.bi@siat.ac.cn Zhigang Tian tzg@ustc.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 27 May 2019 **Accepted:** 07 August 2019 **Published:** 21 August 2019

Citation:

Bi J and Tian Z (2019) NK Cell Dysfunction and Checkpoint Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 10:1999. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01999

6

has been shown to unleash the anti-tumor effector function of tumor-associated NK cells, highlighting NK cells as a potential target for checkpoint immunotherapy. However, a lot of further work lies ahead to unveil the dynamics of anti-tumor NK cell responses, as well as the regional features of tumor-infiltrating NK cells, not only in the tumor immune suppression landscape, but also in the settings of tumor immunotherapies. Unless we have a better understanding of the basic biology of tumorassociated NK cells, we cannot rationally design strategies that efficiently harness the anti-tumor potential of NK cells.

ROLE OF NK CELLS IN TUMOR IMMUNITY

The roles of NK cells in tumor surveillance are well-established. Since cytolytic activity is one of the features of NK cell effector functions, decreased cytolytic activity of NK cells has been associated with higher tumor incidence (16, 17), indicating that NK cell cytolytic function is normally required for tumor control. Among various types of tumors, the role of NK cells in the control of blood cancers and tumor metastasis is especially well-recognized. For example, the expression levels of NK cell activating receptors, NKp30 and NKG2D, in lymph nodes with metastasis from tumor patients was negatively correlated with the levels of metastasis (18). In patients with metastatic prostate cancers, NK cells from patients with longer overall survival and castration resistance display high expression levels of activating receptors and high cytotoxicity (19). In mouse models of metastasis, the depletion of NK cells, as well as genetic deficiency of IFN-y or perforin, resulted in higher levels of metastasis in mice (20, 21). Besides the role in the surveillance against blood cancers and tumor metastasis, the infiltration of NK cells into solid tumors also affects the tumorigenesis (22), at least in some tumors from the colon (23), the stomach (24), lung (25), and the renal (26).

In addition to the role of NK cells in direct tumor surveillance, NK cells also contribute to T cell anti-tumor immunity. In mouse models, NK cells facilitated the accumulation of T-bet⁺CD4⁺ T cells in the tumor region (27), promoted the production of effector molecules, TNF- α and IFN- γ , by tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells, suppressed the expression of exhaustion marker PD-1 on these CD8⁺ T cells (28), and promoted the induction of tumor-specific T cell memory (29). In vitro data suggest that NK cells might facilitate the differentiation of anti-tumor Th1 cells via production of IFN-y in an NKG2D-dependent manner (27). Also, NK cells are required for the accumulation of conventional type I dendritic cells (cDC1) in tumors in mouse models, as NK cells produce CCL5 and XCL1 chemoattractants (30). Such recruitment of cDC1 is critical for T cell anti-tumor immunity. In human cancers, intratumoral CCL5, XCL1, and XCL2 transcripts correlated with gene signatures of both NK cells and cDC1, and were associated with increased overall patient survival (30). This evidence highlights the role of NK cells as a "helper" in formation of an efficient anti-tumor T cell response.

The "helper" effects of NK cells are important in the context of T cell-based checkpoint immunotherapy. Although anti-PD-1 immunotherapy largely targets T cells, the frequency

of intratumoral NK cells was found to correlate with patient responsiveness to PD-1 blockade immunotherapy, and with increased overall survival (31). These intratumoral NK cells formed clusters with intratumoral stimulatory dendritic cells, and thus played a role in stimulating anti-tumor T cell activity (31). In line with this, data from mouse models showed that depletion of NK cells abrogated the efficacy of PD-L1 blockade immunotherapy (28). The presence of NK cells prevented formation of a more exhausted status of tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells even under conditions of PD-L1 blockade, as evidenced by decreased expression of degranulation marker CD107a, and effector cytokines, TNF- α and IFN- γ , and increased expression of exhaustion marker PD-1 by CD8⁺ T cells, after NK cell depletion (28). Therefore, by facilitating an efficient anti-tumor T cell response, NK cells contribute to the PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint immunotherapy. Also, higher levels of intratumoral NK cells might serve as a biomarker to predict better clinical response to PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint immunotherapy.

NK CELL ACTIVATION

Unlike T cells that majorly use antigen-specific T cell receptors (TCR) to recognize target cells for activation, the activation of NK cells relies on the integration of signals from an array of cell surface activating and inhibitory receptors (7, 32, 33). NK cell activation receptors (33–36) include CD16, natural killer gene 2D (NKG2D), natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs), activating KIRs in humans (Ly49D and Ly49H in mice), CD226, as well as the signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (SLAM) family of receptors (SFRs).

On the other hand, NK cell inhibitory receptors (37– 39), potentially druggable targets in tumor immunotherapy, are referred to as "checkpoint" receptors, which involve killer inhibitory receptors (KIRs), CD94/NKG2A, T cell immunoreceptor with Ig, and immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif (ITIM) domains (TIGIT), CD96, T cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule 3 (TIM-3), PD-1, CTLA-4, lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG-3), and V domain immunoglobulin suppressor of T cell activation (VISTA).

The triggering of NK cell activation usually involves two modes: "missing-self" recognition and "induced-self" recognition (8, 40–42). "Missing-self" recognition happens when the target cells display lower or even absent surface expression of MHC I molecules, which is usually linked with viral infection or cellular transformation. This would result in dampened inhibitory signaling from the MHC-I-binding KIRs or CD94/NKG2A (and Ly49 family members in mice), leading to activation of NK cells. Alternatively, "induced-self" recognition requires the engagement of stress-induced or virus-encoded ligands on target cells by germline-encoded activating receptors.

Besides the balance of surface receptors-mediated signaling, priming also affects strength of NK cell effector activity. Stimulation by infections, cytokines [e.g., type I interferon (IFN), interleukin-15 (IL-15), IL-12, IL-18, IL-21 and

IL-1 β ; either alone or in combinations], and pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) can prime NK cells by lowering the threshold for further activation (43), and by inducing expression of effector molecules (44, 45).

Downstream of the surface receptors are common signaling molecules that regulate the triggering and strength of NK cell activation and responses upon ligand engagement or cytokine stimulation (13, 46). For NK cell activating surface receptors, downstream signals converge on SH2 domaincontaining leukocyte phosphorylation of 76 kDa (SLP-76)mediated phosphorylation of Vav1, which is negatively regulated by the E3 ubiquitin ligase, Casitas B-lineage lymphoma-b (Cblb) (47). On the other hand, IL-15, the NK cell key cytokine signals through the JAK-STAT pathway, which is inhibited by cytokine-inducible Src homology-2 (SH2)-containing protein (CIS) (48). These molecules are also emerging "checkpoints" in tumor immunotherapy.

NK CELL DYSFUNCTION IN TUMORS

Upon activation, NK cells normally form conjugations with target cells, and release cytotoxic granules containing perforin and granzymes for target cell lysis (49-51), or induce target cell apoptosis via TNF-a, FasL, and TRAIL (32, 52, 53). Besides, NK cells are responsible for early and rapid production of anti-tumor effector cytokine IFN-y (54, 55). However, the tumor microenvironment possesses unique regional immune features compared with the peripheral and other immune organs, resulting in the impaired effector functions of tumorassociated NK cells (14, 15). Firstly, NK cells usually display decreased percentages along tumor progression (56). Secondly, the "quality" of single NK cells is also compromised, as shown by lower effector molecules expression of IFN-y, CD107a, granzyme B, FasL, TRAIL, and perforin in tumor-infiltrating NK cells as assessed by intracellular staining for flow cytometry (27, 57-61). Notably, the decreases in both "quantity" and "quality" of NK cells in tumors were reported to positively connect with each other (62), indicating that the dysfunction of tumor-associated NK cells is multi-aspect.

The suppressed expression of effector molecules by NK cells suggests that the NK-specific signaling/transcriptional program should be altered in the tumor microenvironment. IL-15 is expressed in the tumor microenvironment, required for establishing normal levels of NK cell anti-tumor immune response (63). However, IL-15 signaling is compromised for NK cells in tumors (64). Therapeutic application of exogeneous IL-15 directed to the tumor sites activated and recruited NK cells in mouse models (65), indicating that IL-15 signaling is essential for NK cell anti-tumor immunity. Furthermore, expression of key transcriptional factors, Eomes and T-bet, are also decreased in NK cells in tumor-bearing mice (66, 67). In line with these alterations, tumor-associated NK cells displayed defective maturation status both in mice (64, 68, 69) and in humans (67, 70, 71). Such hypomaturation status of NK cells has been associated with reduced overall survival and relapsefree survival of patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) (72). Together, these defects contribute to compromising the effector program of NK cells in tumors.

The effector function of NK cells is sustained by cellular metabolism (73–76). However, in the tumor microenvironment, not only tumor cells (77–79), but also NK cells display dysregulated metabolism (80). The dysregulated metabolic status would lead to the dysfunctional status of NK cells (81–83), as well as other immune effector cells (84). In a KRas - driven tumor model in the lung, fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase (FBP1) was highly up-regulated in lung NK cells from mice bearing advanced lung tumors, compared with lung NK cells from normal mice (80). FBP1 functions as a rate-limiting enzyme in gluconeogenesis, facilitating gluconeogenesis, and inhibiting glycolysis. Up-regulated FBP1 in NK cells in the tumor settings suppressed the glycolysis of NK cells, compromised their viability, and effector functions (80).

NK cell's dysfunctional status in tumors is accompanied by a series of phenotypic alterations. Multiple NK cell activating receptors have been reported to be down-regulated in tumors. For example, NK cells express decreased levels of NKG2D in various types of cancers (57, 59, 85). In addition, DAP10, the adaptor for transducing NKG2D receptor signaling, was also found to decrease in the chronic viral infection setting, and probably also in tumors, which might further add to the compromised NKG2D signaling (86). Other NK cell activating receptors reported to show decreased expression in tumors include CD16 (57), NCRs (57, 59, 85), and CD226 (56, 57, 85, 87). The downregulation of activating receptors could be restored in remission (57), suggesting that this detrimental regulation of NK cell activating receptors expression is an active suppression mechanism by the tumor microenvironment.

The detrimental regulation of NK cell receptors also involves the upregulation of inhibitory receptors. For example, TIGIT expression on mouse NK cells was up-regulated during tumor progression. In humans, the constitutive expression of TIGIT on NK cells was further up-regulated in tumor regions compared with peritumoral regions in colorectal tumors (28). Other inhibitory receptors reported to be upregulated on NK cells in tumors involve CD96 (88), NKG2A (60), and PD-1 (89–92). The immune suppressive cytokines, such as IL-10 and TGF- β , might contribute to the upregulation of inhibitory receptors (60, 93).

One recently discovered aspect regarding the dysfunction of tumor-associated NK cells is the intratumoral differentiation of NK cells. The dissection of the lineage differences between NK cells and ILC1s has been revealed in multiple tissues (94, 95). This complexity has recently been extended to the tumor microenvironment. TGF- β receptor signaling in NK cells was found to mediate the intratumoral differentiation of conventional anti-tumor effector NK cells into ILC1-like cells, which were unable to control tumor growth (96, 97).

NK-BASED CHECKPOINT IMMUNOTHERAPY

The success of T cell-based checkpoint immunotherapy has revolutionized the treatment for cancer, which has established a

concept that unleashing the potential of anti-tumor immunity is capable of controlling tumors. At the same time, the limited responsiveness of current checkpoint immunotherapies is driving the area toward discovering new "checkpoints" on not only T cells, but also on other immune cells, such as on NK cells (**Figure 1**). On the other hand, recent studies have shed light on the potential of targeting some common signaling regulators to stimulate the anti-tumor activity of immune cells. These molecules have broadened the conventional concept of "checkpoints," representing new areas in NK-based tumor immunotherapy.

KIR

The history of NK-based checkpoint immunotherapy started with blocking KIRs on NK cells. Early studies on bone marrow transplantation with acute myeloid leukemia patients showed that 5-year recurrence rate was 75% for donor's NK-KIR matched with recipient's MHC I molecule. However, strikingly, for those mismatched cases, this number dropped to 0% (98). This and other related evidence together indicate that absence of the matching/recognition between NK cell inhibitory receptor KIRs and target cell MHC I molecules would trigger the activity of NK cells, leading to the rejection of these target cells. This lays the rationale of KIR blockade for stimulating NK cell activity against tumors. In clinical trials, KIR blockade showed limited side effects (99). Neither KIR single blockade (NCT01687387),



FIGURE 1 | Targeting NK cell dysfunction via checkpoint inhibition tumor immunotherapies. NK cells display a dysfunctional status in tumors, along with detrimental upregulation of some checkpoint molecules (e.g., TIGIT, CD96, PD-1, and FBP1). These molecules, as well as other constitutively expressed checkpoint molecules (e.g., KIRs, NKG2A, A2AR, and IL-1R8), functions to impair the anti-tumor effector potentials of NK cells in tumors. These checkpoint molecules represent potential targets for NK-based immunotherapy. Therapeutically targeting these molecules by blocking monoclonal antibodies or small molecule inhibitors might unleash NK cells from those immune suppressive mechanisms, and boost NK cell anti-tumor activity. Antibody and inhibitor symbols in light color (those for CIS and IL-1R8) indicate that the agents have not been developed yet.

nor combined with anit-CTLA-4 (NCT01750580), displayed better efficacy than anti-CTLA-4 alone. However, combination blockade of KIR and PD-1 showed the trend of increased objective response rate for advanced head and neck tumor patients previously treated with chemotherapy (NCT01714739). Moreover, preliminary data from KIR blockade in combination with 5-azacytidine, a DNA methyltransferase inhibitor, as a therapy for refractory or relapsed AML showed that 20 percent of the first 25 patients responded to therapy, with two patients achieving complete remission (CR) (NCT02399917). These preliminary data have given us confidence on more ongoing clinical trials on KIR blockade alone or combined therapies (e.g., combined with anti-CD20 in NCT02481297, with anti-PD-1, and 5-azacytidine in NCT02599649, or with anti-SLAMF7 in NCT02252263). In addition, more investigations on new indications and the data mining on previous clinical trials might further reveal the potential of KIR blockade in tumor immunotherapy.

TIGIT

TIGIT is an inhibitory receptor expressed majorly on T cells and NK cells (100, 101). TIGIT binds ligands CD155 and CD112. The inhibitory functions of TIGIT depend on the intracellular ITIM and ITT-like domain (101, 102), on the competition with activating receptors CD226 for ligand interactions (103), as well as on the ligand signaling from CD155 upon interaction (100). The interaction of TIGIT with its ligands suppressed the cytolytic activity and IFN- γ production of NK cells *in vitro* (101, 104). Such effects are critical for its role in maintaining NK cell self-tolerance in acute inflammations (105) and tissue regenerations (106), which, however, in turn lead to the exhausted status of NK cells in tumor settings, promoting the progression of tumors (28).

The expression of checkpoint inhibitory receptor TIGIT on NK cells was up-regulated along tumor progression in mice (28). The tumor-associated expression pattern of TIGIT is not dependent on the adaptive immune system, since TIGIT was also highly expressed on tumor-infiltrating NK cells in SCID mice (28). In humans, TIGIT is constitutively expressed by NK cells, which was up-regulated on NK cells in tumor regions compared with NK cells from peri-tumoral regions (28). Consistently, CD103⁺ tumor resident NK cells displayed higher expression of TIGIT than CD103⁻ circulating NK cells. In addition, tumor-infiltrating NK cells from tumor patients with lymph node invasion expressed higher levels of TIGIT, compared with those from patients without lymph node invasion. These studies demonstrate that the expression of TIGIT on NK cells is associated with tumor progression both in humans and in mice. Importantly, while the expression pattern of two wellestablished T cell checkpoint receptors, PD-1 and CTLA-4, are more restricted on tumor-infiltrating T cells, TIGIT was highly expressed not only on T cells, but also on NK cells in tumors (28), highlighting TIGIT as a checkpoint receptor more specific to NK cells.

Monoclonal antibody blocking TIGIT reversed the exhaustion status of tumor infiltrating NK cells (28). Such effect adds to the T cell -stimulating effects on both regulatory T cells (107) and effector T cells (103) by TIGIT blockade. With these supportive results from preclinical studies, therapeutic blockade of TIGIT in advanced cancers is currently being tested in various clinical trials alone in NCT03119428 and NCT03628677, or in combination with anti-PD1 in NCT03119428 and NCT03628677, or with anti-PD-L1 in NCT03563716. Therefore, blocking the checkpoint receptor TIGIT represents a potential strategy to explore in immunotherapy.

NKG2A

NKG2A is a cell surface inhibitory receptor expressed both on T cells and on NK cells, which forms a heterodimer with CD94 (108). In mice, about 40-60% of NK cells both in the peripheral and inside the tumors express NKG2A. In humans, more than half of NK cells are NKG2A⁺ not only in the blood, but also in tumors [e.g., squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (SCCHN)] (109). The expression of NKG2A on NK cells could be further up-regulated upon IL-15 stimulation (109). Importantly, among NKG2A⁺ NK cells, there is a subset coexpressing NKG2A and PD-1. On the other hand, non-classical MHC-I, HLA-E, is the ligand of NKG2A in humans, which is widely expressed by various types of tumors (e.g., lung, pancreas, stomach, colon, head and neck, and liver tumor tissues) (109). In mice, the ligand of NKG2A is Qa-1^b. Binding of NKG2A/CD94 to its ligand suppresses the effector functions of T and NK cells by recruitment of the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase to the ITIM in the intracellular domain of NKG2A.

Blockade or abrogated expression of NKG2A rescued HLA-E-mediated suppression of cytotoxicity and IFN- γ production by NK cells *in vitro* (109, 110), and rendered NK cells with enhanced efficacy against HLA-E⁺ tumors *in vivo* upon infusion (110). Combined blockade of both NKG2A and PD-1 synergistically stimulated the degranulation of NKG2A⁺PD-1⁺ NK cells in HLA-E⁺PD-L1⁺ target cell co-culture (109). Disruption of NKG2A-Qa-1^b interaction by knocking out Qa-1^b on tumor cells promoted NK cell–dependent anti-tumor efficacy (109). Consistent with these functional studies, the expression of NKG2A and HLA-E in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) tissues correlated with poor prognosis of HCC patients (60).

Monalizumab, a humanized anti-NKG2A antibody, enhanced NK cell activity against various tumor cells and rescued CD8⁺ T cell function in combination with PD-1/PD-L1 axis blockade (109). Importantly, combined blockade of both NKG2A and PD-1/PD-L1 exhibited synergistic anti-tumor efficacy with improved survival compared with PD-1/PD-L1 blockade alone (109). This efficacy was shown to be NK-dependent, since NK cell depletion greatly shortened the prolonged survival of mice (109). In addition, since NKG2A is also up-regulated on CD8⁺ T cells in tumors, blockade of NKG2A would also stimulate CD8⁺ T cell-dependent responses (109).

Monalizumab also stimulated NK cell ADCC (antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity) activity against antibodycoated target cells *in vitro* (109). In a phase II clinical trial NCT02643550 for the treatment of SCCHN, monalizumab combined with cetuximab, an anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody, resulted in a partial response rate of 31%, and stable disease at 54%, compared with the historical data of 13% objective response rate for single agent cetuximab, showing that NKG2A blockade has the potential of treating tumor patients in combination with tumor-targeting antibodies. Besides, NKG2A single blockade for the therapy of gynecologic malignancies (NCT02459301), or in combination with ibrutinib (a BTK inhibitor) for the therapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) (NCT02557516), are also under clinical trials.

CD96

CD96 is a transmembrane glycoprotein Ig superfamily receptor expressed on T cells and NK cells. CD96 was earlier found to mediate the adhesion between NK cells and tumor cells to facilitate NK cell cytolysis (111). Later, the use of CD96^{-/-} mice revealed the role of CD96 as an important checkpoint for NK cell effector functions. Loss of CD96 rendered NK cells with hyper-production of IFN-y in mice challenged with LPS (112). In chemical-induced tumor models, mice deficient in CD96 displayed more resistance to tumor growth in both an NK and IFN- γ –dependent manner (112). In HCC patients, the percentage and intensity of CD96 on NK cells, as well as the numbers of CD96⁺ NK cells, were higher for tumor-infiltrating NK cells compared with NK cells from peri-tumoral tissues (88). CD96⁺ NK cells are more severely dysfunctional compared with CD96⁻ NK cells, as evidenced by lowered expression of IFN- γ and TNF- α , as well as lower gene expression levels of *Tbx21*, Prf1 and Gzmb, and increased gene expression levels of Il-10 and Tgf- β (88). Importantly, high expression levels of CD96, or its ligand CD155 in tumors of HCC patients, was associated with poor disease prognosis (88).

Therapeutic blockade of CD96 in tumor metastasis models confirmed its role as a checkpoint receptor on NK cells. CD96 blockade was shown to inhibit experimental metastases in three different models (113). The efficacy was dependent on NK cells, CD226, and IFN- γ , but not dependent on activating Fc receptors (113). Furthermore, when combined with CD96 blockade, anti-CTLA-4, anti-PD-1, or chemotherapy was more effective. Co-blockade of CD96 and PD-1 resulted in increased local NK cell IFN- γ production and infiltration (113). These studies demonstrate that CD96 checkpoint blockade represents a potential immunotherapy strategy targeting NK cells.

PD-1

Compared with the checkpoint receptors discussed above, the expression of PD-1 on NK cells is relatively minor. The levels of PD-1 on NK cells could be substantially up-regulated upon viral infections or in specific tissue/organs (114). In tumors in both humans and mice, NK cells displayed higher expression of PD-1 above baseline, although not at a high percentage (115, 116). PD-1⁺ NK cells, unlike TIGIT⁺, or CD96⁺ NK cells, displayed stronger effector potentials than PD-1⁻ NK cells, as shown by higher levels of IFN-y and granzyme B upon IL-2 stimulation in vitro (116). However, in the tumor microenvironment where PD-L1 is expressed at high levels, this subset of PD-1⁺ NK cells might be dysfunctional under effects of the inhibitory signaling from interaction between PD-1 and PD-L1. Based on these studies, PD-1/PD-L1 blockade might therefore reverse the dysfunctional status of PD-1⁺ NK cells in this context, adding to the benefits from enhanced T cell responses upon PD-1/PD-L1 blockade.

Cbl-b

Genetic deletion of the E3 ubiquitin ligase Cbl-b, or treatment with a small molecule targeting the substrate TAM tyrosine kinase receptors Tyro3, Axl and Mer, was shown to efficiently enhance anti-metastatic activity of NK cells in mouse models (47). In addition, the anticoagulant warfarin stimulated the anti-metastatic activity of NK cells via Cbl-b/TAM receptors (47). These data indicate that the Cbl-b/TAM pathway is a "checkpoint" that normally suppresses NK cell anti-tumor activity, and that therapeutically targeting this pathway might unleash the anti-metastatic potential of NK cells.

IL-1R8

Interleukin-1 receptor 8 (IL-1R8), a negative regulator of Toll-Like and Interleukin-1 Receptor family signaling, is highly expressed on NK cells, and is increased during NK cells maturation (117). Also, IL-1R8 is expressed by tumor cells (e.g., in breast cancers) (118). Not only the expression of IL-1R8 in NK cells, but also that in the tumor cells, inhibited NK cell activation and NK -mediated control of tumor growth and metastasis, highlighting its role as a checkpoint for NK cell tumor immunity (117, 118). Therefore, therapeutically targeting IL-1R8 might represent a potential strategy to boost NK cell anti-tumor immunity.

CIS

CIS is a negative regulator of IL-15 signaling by inhibiting the downstream JAK-STAT pathway. CIS expression was increased in NK cells upon cellular activation, such as in response to IL-15 (48). NK cells deficient in *Cish* showed increased JAK-STAT signaling, and enhanced proliferation, survival, IFN- γ production, and cytotoxicity against tumors (48). Mice deficient in *Cish* were resistant to melanoma, prostate, and breast cancer metastasis *in vivo* (48). The combination of *Cish* deficiency with targeted therapies or immune checkpoint blockade therapies displayed further improved control of metastasis (119). These data demonstrate that CIS acts as a potent intracellular checkpoint to target in NK cell-mediated tumor immunity.

A2A Adenosine Receptor

Adenosine is an endogenous purine nucleoside that binds adenosine receptors. High levels of adenosine is present in the tumor microenvironment (120), impairing both the antitumor effector functions and maturation of NK cells (69, 121) via the A2A adenosine receptor on NK cells. Either inhibition of the adenosine -generating enzymes, CD73 or CD39, or blockade of A2A adenosine receptor, displayed immune stimulatory and anti-tumor effects in mouse models (122-124). Furthermore, a combination of A2A receptor inhibitors and PD-1 blockade significantly reduced metastasis of CD73⁺ tumors and prolonged the survival of mice compared with monotherapy alone (125, 126). Notably, the combination therapy depended on NK cells and IFN-y, and to a less extent, CD8⁺ T cells (125). Recently, monoclonal antibodies targeting human membrane-associated and soluble forms of CD39 and CD73, respectively, were reported to efficiently block the hydrolysis of immunogenic ATP into immunosuppressive adenosine, and could restore the activation of cancer patient-derived T cells (127). Importantly, the CD39-inhibiting antibody increased the anti-tumor activity of the ATP-inducing chemotherapeutic drug oxaliplatin in a human CD39 knockin mouse preclinical model (127). Therefore, targeting the A2A adenosine receptor pathway can enhance NK cell anti-tumor activity, and might synergize with T cell-based checkpoint immunotherapy or immunogenic chemotherapy.

PERSPECTIVE

In conclusion, the well-documented role of NK cells in tumor surveillance has been further substantiated by recent progresses in NK-based checkpoint blockade immunotherapy, which targets NK cells to stimulate anti-tumor responses. More importantly, some strategies displayed the potentials to further improve current T cell–based immunotherapies. These studies indicate that NK-based immunotherapy represents a promising direction worthy of further investigations, especially in the current age of tumor immunotherapy.

Among these studies, while most have confirmed the roles of NK cells in controlling blood cancers and tumor metastasis, some have also proposed a role for NK cells in surveillance against solid tumors with evidence from either mouse models or clinical relevance, at least in some contexts (22). Based on this limited yet ever-growing evidence, it is not unreasonable to assume that NK cells might fully exhibit their anti-tumor effector potentials even in solid tumors, provided that we could be able to remove some of the either current or unknown checkpoints 1 day. In order to do so, apparently, a long way still lies ahead. Most of the studies on NK cell biology have been performed in normal mice, instead of in the immune suppressive landscape of tumors. As discussed in the above sections, intratumoral NK cells are mostly dysfunctional, and display alterations in many aspects compared with peripheral NK cells in normal mice. Not only NK-intrinsic biology, but also various NK-extrinsic factors from the tumor microenvironment governs the actual responses of intratumoral NK cells, making it difficult to interpret our basic knowledge for NK cell biology locally in the tumors. Therefore, more studies are required on the tumor regional features of NK cells.

In addition, the current age of immunotherapy urges the focus of investigations in tumor immunology to be on why so many patients are unresponsive to therapies, and how to increase the response rates. This requires us to look into the mechanisms regulating NK cell functions not only in the tumor immune suppressive landscape, but also in the settings of tumor immunotherapies, hopefully leading to novel strategies to improve current therapies.

Currently, the physiological roles in tumor surveillance by NK cells, as well as the therapeutic potential, of many surface receptors on NK cells have been demonstrated (e.g., KIR, TIGIT, NKG2A, CD96, and PD-1), while those of many others still remain to be shown (e.g., LAG-3 and TIM-3). For the ongoing interest in searching for novel "checkpoints" to target, it is important to describe the expression pattern of specific checkpoint receptors on NK cells (as well as their ligands on other cells), as well as on T cells, in specific tumors, in specific tumor stage, and in specific therapeutic settings. The underlying rationale is that only when the checkpoint (as well as its ligand) is expressed at functional levels, should the targeting be antagonizing its function. As we discussed in the above sections, checkpoint molecules display different expression patterns: (1) some are constitutively and stably expressed by NK cells; (2) some are normally absent or lowly expressed, and are up-regulated upon stimulation; (3) some are constitutively expressed normally, and are further up-regulated in special contexts. However, more detailed information is required. For example, in future studies on checkpoints, we also need to pay attention to whether the expression pattern of a specific checkpoint molecule is different in "hot" tumors and in "cold" tumors, and whether it is altered in hosts receiving anti-tumor therapies. The intensity of antitumor immune responses, as well as the immune suppression by the microenvironment, might be different under these different contexts, which might affect the expression levels of these checkpoint molecules. Therefore, detailed information is required for the complete description of the spatiotemporal expression profile of these checkpoint molecules. Only when we have sufficient knowledge about the immune checkpoint landscapes of specific tumor microenvironments could we rationally design therapeutic strategies precisely targeting the

REFERENCES

- Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science. (2015) 348:56–61. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa8172
- Wei SC, Duffy CR, Allison JP. Fundamental mechanisms of immune checkpoint blockade therapy. *Cancer Discov.* (2018) 8:1069–86. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0367
- 3. Zou W. Mechanistic insights into cancer immunity and immunotherapy. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:419–20. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0011-5
- Keenan TE, Burke KP, Van Allen EM. Genomic correlates of response to immune checkpoint blockade. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:389–402. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0382-x
- Garrido F, Ruiz-Cabello F, Cabrera T, Perez-Villar JJ, Lopez-Botet M, Duggan-Keen M, et al. Implications for immunosurveillance of altered HLA class I phenotypes in human tumours. *Immunol Today*. (1997) 18:89– 95. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(96)10075-X
- Moller P, Hammerling GJ. The role of surface HLA-A,B,C molecules in tumour immunity. *Cancer Surv.* (1992) 13:101–27.
- 7. Lanier LL. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol. (2005) 23:225– 74. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115526
- Ljunggren HG, Karre K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol Today*. (1990) 11:237–44. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S
- Braun DA, Burke KP, Van Allen EM. Genomic approaches to understanding response and resistance to immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:5642– 50. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0066
- Hugo W, Zaretsky JM, Sun L, Song C, Moreno BH, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to Anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. *Cell.* (2016) 165:35–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.065
- Linnemann C, van Buuren MM, Bies L, Verdegaal EM, Schotte R, Calis JJ, et al. High-throughput epitope discovery reveals frequent recognition of neo-antigens by CD4+ T cells in human melanoma. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:81–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.3773

functional checkpoints for the proper indications at the right time.

Collectively, accumulating evidence has indicated a role of NK cells in surveillance against not only blood cancers and metastasis, but also solid tumors, at least in some contexts. In recent years, a lot of progress has been made regarding the role of NK cells, as well as the role of NK cell checkpoints in anti-tumor immunity. Targeting those checkpoints displayed the potential of boosting NK cell activity against tumors. Importantly, some might improve current T cellbased checkpoint immunotherapies. Although a lot remains to be understood, recent studies demonstrate the promise that further investigations into the regional features of NK cells in tumors might give rise to novel checkpoint immunotherapies in future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB and ZT conceived and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Chinese Academy of Sciences (XDB29030201), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Numbers 81788101, 81821001, and 91542000), and Shenzhen Basic Science Research Project (Grant Number JCYJ20170818164619194).

- Guillerey C, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. Targeting natural killer cells in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:1025–36. doi: 10.1038/ni.3518
- Kwon HJ, Kim N, Kim HS. Molecular checkpoints controlling natural killer cell activation and their modulation for cancer immunotherapy. *Exp Mol Med.* (2017) 49:e311. doi: 10.1038/emm.2017.42
- Bi J, Tian Z. NK cell exhaustion. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:760. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00760
- Munn DH, Bronte V. Immune suppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2016) 39:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2015.10.009
- Vivier E, Ugolini S, Blaise D, Chabannon C, Brossay L. Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2012) 12:239–52. doi: 10.1038/nri3174
- Imai K, Matsuyama S, Miyake S, Suga K, Nakachi K. Natural cytotoxic activity of peripheral-blood lymphocytes and cancer incidence: an 11year follow-up study of a general population. *Lancet.* (2000) 356:1795– 9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03231-1
- Messaoudene M, Fregni G, Fourmentraux-Neves E, Chanal J, Maubec E, Mazouz-Dorval S, et al. Mature cytotoxic CD56(bright)/CD16(+) natural killer cells can infiltrate lymph nodes adjacent to metastatic melanoma. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:81–92. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1303
- Pasero C, Gravis G, Granjeaud S, Guerin M, Thomassin-Piana J, Rocchi P, et al. Highly effective NK cells are associated with good prognosis in patients with metastatic prostate cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:14360– 73. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3965
- Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Cretney E, Kelly JM, Snook MB, Forbes CA, et al. Perforin is a major contributor to NK cell control of tumor metastasis. J Immunol. (1999) 162:6658–62.
- Street SE, Cretney E, Smyth MJ. Perforin and interferon-gamma activities independently control tumor initiation, growth, and metastasis. *Blood*. (2001) 97:192–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.1.192

- Habif G, Crinier A, Andre P, Vivier E, Narni-Mancinelli E. Targeting natural killer cells in solid tumors. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:415– 22. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0224-2
- Coca S, Perez-Piqueras J, Martinez D, Colmenarejo A, Saez MA, Vallejo C, et al. The prognostic significance of intratumoral natural killer cells in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer*. (1997) 79:2320–8. doi: 10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0142(19970615)79:12<2320::AID-CNCR5<>3.0.CO;2-P
- Ishigami S, Natsugoe S, Tokuda K, Nakajo A, Xiangming C, Iwashige H, et al. Clinical impact of intratumoral natural killer cell and dendritic cell infiltration in gastric cancer. *Cancer Lett.* (2000) 159:103–8. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3835(00)00542-5
- Villegas FR, Coca S, Villarrubia VG, Jimenez R, Chillon MJ, Jareno J, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating natural killer cells subset CD57 in patients with squamous cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*. (2002) 35:23–8. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5002(01)00292-6
- Eckl J, Buchner A, Prinz PU, Riesenberg R, Siegert SI, Kammerer R, et al. Transcript signature predicts tissue NK cell content and defines renal cell carcinoma subgroups independent of TNM staging. J Mol Med. (2012) 90:55–66. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0806-7
- Paul S, Kulkarni N, Shilpi, Lal G. Intratumoral natural killer cells show reduced effector and cytolytic properties and control the differentiation of effector Th1 cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1235106. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1235106
- Zhang Q, Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wang H, Wu W, et al. Blockade of the checkpoint receptor TIGIT prevents NK cell exhaustion and elicits potent anti-tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:723–32. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0132-0
- Kelly JM, Darcy PK, Markby JL, Godfrey DI, Takeda K, Yagita H, et al. Induction of tumor-specific T cell memory by NK cell-mediated tumor rejection. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:83–90. doi: 10.1038/ni746
- Bottcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, et al. NK cells stimulate recruitment of cDC1 into the tumor microenvironment promoting cancer immune control. *Cell.* (2018) 172:1022–37 e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018. 01.004
- Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A natural killer-dendritic cell axis defines checkpoint therapy-responsive tumor microenvironments. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1178–91. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0085-8
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:503–10. doi: 10.1038/ni1582
- Long EO, Kim HS, Liu D, Peterson ME, Rajagopalan S. Controlling natural killer cell responses: integration of signals for activation and inhibition. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:227–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075005
- Lanier LL. NK cell receptors. Annu Rev Immunol. (1998) 16:359– 93. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.359
- Lanier LL. On guard-activating NK cell receptors. Nat Immunol. (2001) 2:23–7. doi: 10.1038/83130
- Guia S, Fenis A, Vivier E, Narni-Mancinelli E. Activating and inhibitory receptors expressed on innate lymphoid cells. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2018) 40:331–41. doi: 10.1007/s00281-018-0685-x
- Long EO. Negative signaling by inhibitory receptors: the NK cell paradigm. Immunol Rev. (2008) 224:70–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00660.x
- Ravetch JV, Lanier LL. Immune inhibitory receptors. Science. (2000) 290:84– 9. doi: 10.1126/science.290.5489.84
- 39. Xu W, Hieu T, Malarkannan S, Wang L. The structure, expression, and multifaceted role of immune-checkpoint protein VISTA as a critical regulator of anti-tumor immunity, autoimmunity, and inflammation. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:438–46. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.148
- Joncker NT, Raulet DH. Regulation of NK cell responsiveness to achieve self-tolerance and maximal responses to diseased target cells. *Immunol Rev.* (2008) 224:85–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00658.x
- Karre K. Natural killer cell recognition of missing self. Nat Immunol. (2008) 9:477–80. doi: 10.1038/ni0508-477
- Shifrin N, Raulet DH, Ardolino M. NK cell self tolerance, responsiveness and missing self recognition. *Semin Immunol.* (2014) 26:138–44. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2014.02.007

- Konjevic GM, Vuletic AM, Mirjacic Martinovic KM, Larsen AK, Jurisic VB. The role of cytokines in the regulation of NK cells in the tumor environment. *Cytokine*. (2019) 117:30–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2019.02.001
- 44. Tufa DM, Ahmad F, Chatterjee D, Ahrenstorf G, Schmidt RE, Jacobs R. IL-1beta limits the extent of human 6-sulfo LacNAc dendritic cell (slanDC)mediated NK cell activation and regulates CD95-induced apoptosis. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:976–85. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2016.17
- 45. Strengell M, Matikainen S, Siren J, Lehtonen A, Foster D, Julkunen I, et al. IL-21 in synergy with IL-15 or IL-18 enhances IFN-gamma production in human NK and T cells. *J Immunol.* (2003) 170:5464–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.11.5464
- Vivier E, Nunes JA, Vely F. Natural killer cell signaling pathways. Science. (2004) 306:1517–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1103478
- Paolino M, Choidas A, Wallner S, Pranjic B, Uribesalgo I, Loeser S, et al. The E3 ligase Cbl-b and TAM receptors regulate cancer metastasis via natural killer cells. *Nature*. (2014) 507:508–12. doi: 10.1038/nature12998
- Delconte RB, Kolesnik TB, Dagley LF, Rautela J, Shi W, Putz EM, et al. CIS is a potent checkpoint in NK cell-mediated tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:816–24. doi: 10.1038/ni.3470
- Orange JS. Formation and function of the lytic NK-cell immunological synapse. Nat Rev Immunol. (2008) 8:713–25. doi: 10.1038/nri2381
- Mace EM, Dongre P, Hsu HT, Sinha P, James AM, Mann SS, et al. Cell biological steps and checkpoints in accessing NK cell cytotoxicity. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2014) 92:245–55. doi: 10.1038/icb.2013.96
- Smyth MJ, Cretney E, Kelly JM, Westwood JA, Street SE, Yagita H, et al. Activation of NK cell cytotoxicity. *Mol Immunol.* (2005) 42:501– 10. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2004.07.034
- Chyuan IT, Tsai HF, Liao HJ, Wu CS, Hsu PN. An apoptosis-independent role of TRAIL in suppressing joint inflammation and inhibiting T-cell activation in inflammatory arthritis. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:846– 57. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.2
- Screpanti V, Wallin RP, Ljunggren HG, Grandien A. A central role for death receptor-mediated apoptosis in the rejection of tumors by NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:2068–73. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.4.2068
- 54. Stetson DB, Mohrs M, Reinhardt RL, Baron JL, Wang ZE, Gapin L, et al. Constitutive cytokine mRNAs mark natural killer (NK) and NK T cells poised for rapid effector function. J Exp Med. (2003) 198:1069– 76. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030630
- Kwon B. IFN-gamma in tissue-immune homeostasis and antitumor immunity. Cell Mol Immunol. (2018) 15:531–2. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.95
- Guillerey C, Ferrari de Andrade L, Vuckovic S, Miles K, Ngiow SF, Yong MC, et al. Immunosurveillance and therapy of multiple myeloma are CD226 dependent. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:2904. doi: 10.1172/JCI82646
- Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Thibult ML, Houvenaeghel G, Jacquemier J, Castellano R, et al. Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:3609–22. doi: 10.1172/JCI45816
- Platonova S, Cherfils-Vicini J, Damotte D, Crozet L, Vieillard V, Validire P, et al. Profound coordinated alterations of intratumoral NK cell phenotype and function in lung carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:5412– 22. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4179
- 59. Peng YP, Zhu Y, Zhang JJ, Xu ZK, Qian ZY, Dai CC, et al. Comprehensive analysis of the percentage of surface receptors and cytotoxic granules positive natural killer cells in patients with pancreatic cancer, gastric cancer, and colorectal cancer. J Transl Med. (2013) 11:262. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-262
- 60. Sun C, Xu J, Huang Q, Huang M, Wen H, Zhang C, et al. High NKG2A expression contributes to NK cell exhaustion and predicts a poor prognosis of patients with liver cancer. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1264562. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1264562
- 61. Zhang QF, Yin WW, Xia Y, Yi YY, He QF, Wang X, et al. Liver-infiltrating CD11b(-)CD27(-) NK subsets account for NK-cell dysfunction in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and are associated with tumor progression. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:819–29. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2016.28
- Prinz PU, Mendler AN, Brech D, Masouris I, Oberneder R, Noessner E. NKcell dysfunction in human renal carcinoma reveals diacylglycerol kinase as key regulator and target for therapeutic intervention. *Int J Cancer*. (2014) 135:1832–41. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28837

- Santana Carrero RM, Beceren-Braun F, Rivas SC, Hegde SM, Gangadharan A, Plote D, et al. IL-15 is a component of the inflammatory milieu in the tumor microenvironment promoting antitumor responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:599–608. doi: 10.1073/pnas.18146 42116
- Richards JO, Chang X, Blaser BW, Caligiuri MA, Zheng P, Liu Y. Tumor growth impedes natural-killer-cell maturation in the bone marrow. *Blood*. (2006) 108:246–52. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-11-4535
- 65. Chen Y, Chen B, Yang T, Xiao W, Qian L, Ding Y, et al. Human fused NKG2D-IL-15 protein controls xenografted human gastric cancer through the recruitment and activation of NK cells. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:293–307. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.81
- 66. Gill S, Vasey AE, De Souza A, Baker J, Smith AT, Kohrt HE, et al. Rapid development of exhaustion and down-regulation of eomesodermin limit the antitumor activity of adoptively transferred murine natural killer cells. *Blood*. (2012) 119:5758–68. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-03-415364
- Mundy-Bosse BL, Scoville SD, Chen L, McConnell K, Mao HC, Ahmed EH, et al. MicroRNA-29b mediates altered innate immune development in acute leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:4404–16. doi: 10.1172/JCI85413
- Jin J, Fu B, Mei X, Yue T, Sun R, Tian Z, et al. CD11b(-)CD27(-) NK cells are associated with the progression of lung carcinoma. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e61024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061024
- 69. Young A, Ngiow SF, Gao Y, Patch AM, Barkauskas DS, Messaoudene M, et al. A2AR adenosine signaling suppresses natural killer cell maturation in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:1003–16. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-2826
- Pasero C, Gravis G, Guerin M, Granjeaud S, Thomassin-Piana J, Rocchi P, et al. Inherent and tumor-driven immune tolerance in the prostate microenvironment impairs natural killer cell antitumor activity. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:2153–65. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1965
- Scoville SD, Nalin AP, Chen L, Chen L, Zhang MH, McConnell K, et al. Human AML activates the aryl hydrocarbon receptor pathway to impair NK cell development and function. *Blood.* (2018) 132:1792– 804. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-03-838474
- Chretien AS, Fauriat C, Orlanducci F, Galseran C, Rey J, Bouvier Borg G, et al. Natural killer defective maturation is associated with adverse clinical outcome in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:573. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00573
- Marcais A, Cherfils-Vicini J, Viant C, Degouve S, Viel S, Fenis A, et al. The metabolic checkpoint kinase mTOR is essential for IL-15 signaling during the development and activation of NK cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:749–57. doi: 10.1038/ni.2936
- 74. Assmann N, O'Brien KL, Donnelly RP, Dyck L, Zaiatz-Bittencourt V, Loftus RM, et al. Srebp-controlled glucose metabolism is essential for NK cell functional responses. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:1197–206. doi: 10.1038/ni.3838
- 75. Gardiner CM. NK cell metabolism. J Leukoc Biol. (2019) 105:1235–42. doi: 10.1002/JLB.MR0718-260R
- 76. O'Brien KL, Finlay DK. Immunometabolism and natural killer cell responses. Nat Rev Immunol. (2019) 19:282– 90. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0139-2
- 77. Kroemer G, Pouyssegur J. Tumor cell metabolism: cancer's Achilles' heel. Cancer Cell. (2008) 13:472–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2008.05.005
- Semenza GL. Tumor metabolism: cancer cells give and take lactate. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:3835–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI37373
- Mohamed E, Al-Khami AA, Rodriguez PC. The cellular metabolic landscape in the tumor milieu regulates the activity of myeloid infiltrates. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:421–7. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0001-7
- Cong J, Wang X, Zheng X, Wang D, Fu B, Sun R, et al. Dysfunction of natural killer cells by FBP1-induced inhibition of glycolysis during lung cancer progression. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 28:243–55 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.06.021
- Castro W, Chelbi ST, Niogret C, Ramon-Barros C, Welten SPM, Osterheld K, et al. The transcription factor Rfx7 limits metabolism of NK cells and promotes their maintenance and immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:809– 20. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0144-9
- Michelet X, Dyck L, Hogan A, Loftus RM, Duquette D, Wei K, et al. Metabolic reprogramming of natural killer cells

in obesity limits antitumor responses. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:1330–40. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0251-7

- Wu H, Bi J, Wu G, Zheng C, Lu Z, Cui L, et al. Impaired cytolytic activity of asthma-associated natural killer cells is linked to dysregulated transcriptional program in energy metabolism. *Mol Immunol.* (2018) 101:514–20. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2018.08.015
- Zhang X, Liu J, Cao X. Metabolic control of T-cell immunity via epigenetic mechanisms. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:203–5. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.115
- Parry HM, Stevens T, Oldreive C, Zadran B, McSkeane T, Rudzki Z, et al. NK cell function is markedly impaired in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia but is preserved in patients with small lymphocytic lymphoma. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:68513–26. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12097
- Sun C, Fu B, Gao Y, Liao X, Sun R, Tian Z, et al. TGF-beta1 down-regulation of NKG2D/DAP10 and 2B4/SAP expression on human NK cells contributes to HBV persistence. *PLoS Pathog.* (2012) 8:e1002594. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002594
- Sanchez-Correa B, Gayoso I, Bergua JM, Casado JG, Morgado S, Solana R, et al. Decreased expression of DNAM-1 on NK cells from acute myeloid leukemia patients. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2012) 90:109– 15. doi: 10.1038/icb.2011.15
- Sun H, Huang Q, Huang M, Wen H, Lin R, Zheng M, et al. Human CD96 correlates to natural killer cell exhaustion and predicts the prognosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology*. (2018) 70:168– 83. doi: 10.1002/hep.30347
- Beldi-Ferchiou A, Lambert M, Dogniaux S, Vely F, Vivier E, Olive D, et al. PD-1 mediates functional exhaustion of activated NK cells in patients with Kaposi sarcoma. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:72961–77. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12150
- Benson DM Jr, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. *Blood.* (2010) 116:2286– 94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-02-271874
- MacFarlane AWt, Jillab M, Plimack ER, Hudes GR, Uzzo RG, Litwin S, et al. PD-1 expression on peripheral blood cells increases with stage in renal cell carcinoma patients and is rapidly reduced after surgical tumor resection. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2014) 2:320–31. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0133
- Wiesmayr S, Webber SA, Macedo C, Popescu I, Smith L, Luce J, et al. Decreased NKp46 and NKG2D and elevated PD-1 are associated with altered NK-cell function in pediatric transplant patients with PTLD. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:541–50. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141832
- Li F, Wei H, Wei H, Gao Y, Xu L, Yin W, et al. Blocking the natural killer cell inhibitory receptor NKG2A increases activity of human natural killer cells and clears hepatitis B virus infection in mice. *Gastroenterology*. (2013) 144:392–401. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.10.039
- 94. Spits H, Bernink JH, Lanier L. NK cells and type 1 innate lymphoid cells: partners in host defense. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:758–64. doi: 10.1038/ni.3482
- 95. Peng H, Tian Z. Re-examining the origin and function of liver-resident NK cells. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:293–9. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.03.006
- Cortez VS, Ulland TK, Cervantes-Barragan L, Bando JK, Robinette ML, Wang Q, et al. SMAD4 impedes the conversion of NK cells into ILC1-like cells by curtailing non-canonical TGF-beta signaling. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:995–1003. doi: 10.1038/ni.3809
- Gao Y, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Bald T, Ng SS, Young A, Ngiow SF, et al. Tumor immunoevasion by the conversion of effector NK cells into type 1 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:1004–15. doi: 10.1038/ni.3800
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. *Science*. (2002) 295:2097–100. doi: 10.1126/science.1068440
- Vey N, Bourhis JH, Boissel N, Bordessoule D, Prebet T, Charbonnier A, et al. A phase 1 trial of the anti-inhibitory KIR mAb IPH2101 for AML in complete remission. *Blood.* (2012) 120:4317–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-437558
- 100. Yu X, Harden K, Gonzalez LC, Francesco M, Chiang E, Irving B, et al. The surface protein TIGIT suppresses T cell activation by promoting the generation of mature immunoregulatory dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:48–57. doi: 10.1038/ni.1674

- 101. Stanietsky N, Simic H, Arapovic J, Toporik A, Levy O, Novik A, et al. The interaction of TIGIT with PVR and PVRL2 inhibits human NK cell cytotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:17858– 63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903474106
- 102. Liu S, Zhang H, Li M, Hu D, Li C, Ge B, et al. Recruitment of Grb2 and SHIP1 by the ITT-like motif of TIGIT suppresses granule polarization and cytotoxicity of NK cells. *Cell Death Differ*. (2013) 20:456– 64. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2012.141
- 103. Johnston RJ, Comps-Agrar L, Hackney J, Yu X, Huseni M, Yang Y, et al. The immunoreceptor TIGIT regulates antitumor and antiviral CD8(+) T cell effector function. *Cancer Cell.* (2014) 26:923–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.10.018
- 104. Li M, Xia P, Du Y, Liu S, Huang G, Chen J, et al. T-cell immunoglobulin and ITIM domain (TIGIT) receptor/poliovirus receptor (PVR) ligand engagement suppresses interferon-gamma production of natural killer cells via beta-arrestin 2-mediated negative signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:17647–57. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.572420
- 105. Bi J, Zhang Q, Liang D, Xiong L, Wei H, Sun R, et al. T-cell Ig and ITIM domain regulates natural killer cell activation in murine acute viral hepatitis. *Hepatology*. (2014) 59:1715–25. doi: 10.1002/hep.26968
- 106. Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wei H, Sun R, Tian Z. TIGIT safeguards liver regeneration through regulating natural killer cell-hepatocyte crosstalk. *Hepatology*. (2014) 60:1389–98. doi: 10.1002/hep.27245
- 107. Joller N, Lozano E, Burkett PR, Patel B, Xiao S, Zhu C, et al. Treg cells expressing the coinhibitory molecule TIGIT selectively inhibit proinflammatory Th1 and Th17 cell responses. *Immunity*. (2014) 40:569– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.02.012
- Borrego F, Masilamani M, Kabat J, Sanni TB, Coligan JE. The cell biology of the human natural killer cell CD94/NKG2A inhibitory receptor. *Mol Immunol.* (2005) 42:485–8. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2004.07.031
- 109. Andre P, Denis C, Soulas C, Bourbon-Caillet C, Lopez J, Arnoux T, et al. Anti-NKG2A mAb is a checkpoint inhibitor that promotes anti-tumor immunity by unleashing both T and NK cells. *Cell.* (2018) 175:1731–43 e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014
- Kamiya T, Seow SV, Wong D, Robinson M, Campana D. Blocking expression of inhibitory receptor NKG2A overcomes tumor resistance to NK cells. *J Clin Invest.* (2019) 130:2094–106. doi: 10.1172/JCI123955
- 111. Fuchs A, Cella M, Giurisato E, Shaw AS, Colonna M. Cutting edge: CD96 (tactile) promotes NK cell-target cell adhesion by interacting with the poliovirus receptor (CD155). *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:3994– 8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.3994
- 112. Chan CJ, Martinet L, Gilfillan S, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Chow MT, Town L, et al. The receptors CD96 and CD226 oppose each other in the regulation of natural killer cell functions. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:431– 8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2850
- 113. Blake SJ, Stannard K, Liu J, Allen S, Yong MC, Mittal D, et al. Suppression of metastases using a new lymphocyte checkpoint target for cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Discov.* (2016) 6:446–59. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0944
- 114. Quatrini L, Wieduwild E, Escaliere B, Filtjens J, Chasson L, Laprie C, et al. Endogenous glucocorticoids control host resistance to viral infection through the tissue-specific regulation of PD-1 expression on NK cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:954–62. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0185-0
- 115. Concha-Benavente F, Kansy B, Moskovitz J, Moy J, Chandran U, Ferris RL. PD-L1 mediates dysfunction in activated PD-1(+) NK cells in head and neck cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:1548–60. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0062

- 116. Hsu J, Hodgins JJ, Marathe M, Nicolai CJ, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Trevino TN, et al. Contribution of NK cells to immunotherapy mediated by PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:4654–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI 99317
- 117. Molgora M, Bonavita E, Ponzetta A, Riva F, Barbagallo M, Jaillon S, et al. IL-1R8 is a checkpoint in NK cells regulating anti-tumour and anti-viral activity. *Nature*. (2017) 551:110–4. doi: 10.1038/nature 24293
- Campesato LF, Silva APM, Cordeiro L, Correa BR, Navarro FCP, Zanin RF, et al. High IL-1R8 expression in breast tumors promotes tumor growth and contributes to impaired antitumor immunity. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:49470– 83. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17713
- 119. Putz EM, Guillerey C, Kos K, Stannard K, Miles K, Delconte RB, et al. Targeting cytokine signaling checkpoint CIS activates NK cells to protect from tumor initiation and metastasis. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1267892. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1267892
- Blay J, White TD, Hoskin DW. The extracellular fluid of solid carcinomas contains immunosuppressive concentrations of adenosine. *Cancer Res.* (1997) 57:2602–5.
- 121. Raskovalova T, Huang X, Sitkovsky M, Zacharia LC, Jackson EK, Gorelik E. Gs protein-coupled adenosine receptor signaling and lytic function of activated NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:4383–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.7.4383
- 122. Stagg J, Beavis PA, Divisekera U, Liu MC, Moller A, Darcy PK, et al. CD73deficient mice are resistant to carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:2190– 6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0420
- 123. Bastid J, Regairaz A, Bonnefoy N, Dejou C, Giustiniani J, Laheurte C, et al. Inhibition of CD39 enzymatic function at the surface of tumor cells alleviates their immunosuppressive activity. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2015) 3:254–65. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0018
- 124. Beavis PA, Divisekera U, Paget C, Chow MT, John LB, Devaud C, et al. Blockade of A2A receptors potently suppresses the metastasis of CD73+ tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:14711–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1308209110
- 125. Mittal D, Young A, Stannard K, Yong M, Teng MW, Allard B, et al. Antimetastatic effects of blocking PD-1 and the adenosine A2A receptor. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:3652–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0957
- 126. Beavis PA, Milenkovski N, Henderson MA, John LB, Allard B, Loi S, et al. Adenosine receptor 2A blockade increases the efficacy of Anti-PD-1 through enhanced antitumor T-cell responses. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2015) 3:506– 17. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0211
- 127. Perrot I, Michaud HA, Giraudon-Paoli M, Augier S, Docquier A, Gros L, et al. Blocking antibodies targeting the CD39/CD73 immunosuppressive pathway unleash immune responses in combination cancer therapies. *Cell Rep.* (2019) 27:2411–25 e9. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019. 04.091

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Bi and Tian. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Rise of NK Cell Checkpoints as Promising Therapeutic Targets in Cancer Immunotherapy

Haoyu Sun^{1,2,3*} and Cheng Sun^{1,2,3*}

¹ The First Affiliated Hospital of USTC, Division of Life Sciences and Medicine, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China, ² Division of Molecular Medicine, Hefei National Laboratory for Physical Sciences at Microscale, The CAS Key Laboratory of Innate Immunity and Chronic Disease, School of Life Sciences, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China, ³ Institute of Immunology, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China

Checkpoint immunotherapy that targets inhibitory receptors of T cells, thereby reversing the functional exhaustion of T cells, marks a breakthrough in anticancer therapy. The success of T cell-directed checkpoint inhibitors of CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 has opened a new approach for cancer immunotherapy and resulted in extensive research on immune checkpoints. However, it is only in recent years that research on NK cell exhaustion and potential checkpoints impacting NK cells has become popular. NK cells, as the major player in innate immunity, are critical for immune surveillance, particularly the control of metastasis and hematological cancers. The balance between activating and inhibitory signals fine tunes the activation and effector functions of NK cells, and transformed cells modulate NK cells by upregulating negative signaling that "exhausts" NK cells. Exhausted NK cells with excessive expression of inhibitory receptors (checkpoint molecules) are impaired in the recognition of tumor cells as well as antitumor cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. Therefore, an understanding of the potential checkpoint molecules involved in NK cell exhaustion is particularly important in terms of NK cell-targeted cancer immunotherapy. In this review, we summarize recent advances in NK cell checkpoint inhibitors and their progress in clinical trials. Moreover, we highlight some of the latest findings in fundamental NK cell receptor biology and propose potential NK cell checkpoint molecules for future immunotherapeutic applications.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Olive, Aix Marseille Université, France

Reviewed by:

Eric Tartour, Hôpital Européen Georges-Pompidou (HEGP), France Peter Steinberger, Medical University of Vienna, Austria

*Correspondence:

Haoyu Sun haoyusun@ustc.edu.cn Cheng Sun charless@ustc.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 14 July 2019 Accepted: 18 September 2019 Published: 17 October 2019

Citation:

Sun H and Sun C (2019) The Rise of NK Cell Checkpoints as Promising Therapeutic Targets in Cancer Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 10:2354. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02354 Keywords: NK cell, NK cell exhaustion, inhibitory receptor, checkpoint inhibitor, cancer immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Excessive negative regulation of immune cells by inhibitory receptors (checkpoint molecules) results in functional exhaustion of these cells, which is one of the major reasons for tumor escape. The activation and function of immune cells are regulated through activating and inhibitory receptors on these cells, and establishing an equilibrium between activating and inhibitory signaling is critical because it assures effective control against pathogenic factors (such as tumors, viruses, and bacteria) meanwhile helping to avoid self-directed attacks (such as autoimmune disease) (1, 2). The negative feedback provided by inhibitory receptors is the key to immune regulation; however, unfortunately, tumor cells can take advantage of this negative feedback system, as they upregulate the surface expression of corresponding ligands to ingratiate excessive expression of inhibitory receptors

16

on immune cells that automatically leads to reduced activation and functional exhaustion of these cells (3, 4). Antibodies that specifically target these inhibitory checkpoints can effectively block the interaction between the checkpoint molecule and its ligands, thereby reversing the functional exhaustion of immune cells and restoring antitumor immunity.

Checkpoint immunotherapy targeting checkpoint molecules that reverses functional exhaustion in immune cells marks a major breakthrough in anticancer therapy. Blocking inhibitory receptors on T cells to reverse functional exhaustion in these cells has made great progress. T cells from cancer patients highly express inhibitory receptors including cytotoxicity Tlymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4), programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), T cell immunoglobulin- and mucindomain-containing molecule 3 (TIM-3), lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG-3), T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (TIGIT), etc., which contribute to T cell functional exhaustion (5, 6). Blocking these checkpoint molecules can effectively reverse T cell exhaustion and restore the antitumor capacity of T cells. During the past 10 years, the efficacy and feasibility of checkpoint immunotherapy have been verified in clinical settings, and antibodies targeting CTLA-4, PD-1/programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1), TIM-3, LAG-3, or TIGIT have entered clinical trials (7, 8). Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) targeting CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 were approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2011 and 2014, respectively. The combined use of an anti-CTLA-4 mAb with an anti-PD-1 mAb showed better efficacy than either antibody used as a monotherapy (9-11).

However, although remarkable clinical benefits derived from anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1/PD-L1 antibody therapies have been noted in some patients, there are still many patients who do not respond to these treatments. Currently, researchers are still trying to understand these "non-responders;" additional unknown inhibitory pathways that suppress immune responses could be an explanation for nonresponse. On the other hand, tumors escape T cell-mediated immunity by downregulating the expression of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) molecules; these MHC-I-null tumor cells are not attacked by T cells, but they are still targets of natural killer (NK) cells (12). Moreover, Zhang et al. demonstrated the significance of NK cells in cancer immunotherapy and noted that mAb targeting checkpoint molecule TIGIT, which is expressed by both T cells and NK cells, could improve the antitumor immunity of both T and NK cells. Furthermore, they found that TIGIT blockade was effective even in the absence of T cells and B cells, highlighting the importance of NK cells in checkpoint-targeted immunotherapy (13, 14).

NK cells are innate lymphocytes that play a critical role in the early defense against transformed cells, and they are particularly important in the control of cancer metastasis and hematological cancers (1, 15-17). NK cells can directly kill tumor cells, secrete various cytokines such as interferon (IFN)- γ and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α to initiate antitumor responses, and recruit other immune cells into the antitumor response (1, 18, 19). Alterations in NK cells, for example, excessive expression of inhibitory receptors or reduced expression of activating receptors, can result in impaired cytotoxicity against tumor cells and a decreased ability to recruit other immune cells (20-22). Some checkpoint molecules in cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), such as PD-1, LAG-3, TIGIT, and TIM-3, are shared with NK cells. Blockade with checkpoint inhibitors that reverses the functional exhaustion of NK cells opens a new strategy for cancer immunotherapy that may complement the limitations of T cell-based immunotherapy. This review summarizes recent advances in NK cell checkpoint molecules in humans (Figure 1) and the corresponding antibodies being studied in clinical trials (Tables 1, 2). In addition, we highlight some of the latest findings in fundamental NK cell receptor biology that may provide a fundamental basis for future NK cell-based immunotherapeutic applications.

KILLER CELL LECTIN-LIKE RECEPTOR FAMILY

NKG2A

NK group 2 member A (NKG2A) is a type II membrane receptor that forms a heterodimer with CD94 (23). NKG2A binds a human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I molecule (HLA-E) (24) and transduces inhibitory signaling that suppresses the cytokine secretion and cytotoxicity of NK cells (25-27). NKG2A⁺ NK cells infiltrate the tumor microenvironment, and increased expression of NKG2A in NK cells has been observed in patients with non-small cell lung cancer (28, 29), breast cancer (30), colorectal cancer (31, 32), acute myeloid leukemia (33, 34), hepatocellular carcinoma (35), breast cancer (36), cervical cancer (32), etc. A large proportion of NK cells with high NKG2A expression has also been found in tumor-draining lymph nodes (36). NK cells with elevated NKG2A expression are functionally exhausted and associated with a poor prognosis in human hepatocellular carcinoma (35). NKG2A expression predominantly increases on CD56^{dim} NK cells compared to CD56^{bright} NK cells, and these NKG2A⁺ CD56^{dim} NK cells are functionally exhausted and highly correlated with massive tumor size in human hepatocellular carcinoma (35).

Due to the strong capability of NKG2A to suppress NK cells, blockade of NKG2A is effective in restoring functions of NK cells. A mAb targeting NKG2A, namely, monalizumab (formerly IPH2201), has been tested in both phase I and phase II clinical trials (**Table 2**). NKG2A is overexpressed in

Abbreviations: NK, Natural killer; CTL, Cytotoxic T lymphocyte; PBMC, Peripheral blood mononuclear cell; MDSC, Myeloid-derived suppressor cell; mAb, Monoclonal antibody; IFN, Interferon; TNF, Tumor necrosis factor; IL, Interleukin; KO, Knockout; HLA, Human leukocyte antigen; ADCC, Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity; MHC, Major histocompatibility complex; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; MCA, Methylcholanthrene; PD-1, Programmed death-1; CTLA-4, Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4; TIM-3, T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain 3; TIGIT, T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains; KIR, Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor; LAG-3, Lymphocyte activating gene 3; FGL1, Fibrinogen-like protein 1; NKG2A, NK group 2 member A; Gal-9, Galectin-9; CAF, Carcinoma-associated fibroblast; PEBL, Protein expression blocker; HMGB1, High mobility group box 1 protein; CEACAM-1, Carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 1.

TABLE 1 Potential NK cell checkpoint molecules in cancer.
--

Targets	Monoclonal antibody	Expression distribution	Ligand	Signaling moti				
KILLER CELL LECTIN-LIKE RECEPTOR FAMILY								
NKG2A	Monalizumab, IPH2201	CD8 ⁺ T cells and NK cells	HLA-E	ITIM				
KILLER CE	LL IMMUNOGLOBULIN-LIKE RECEPTOR I	FAMILY						
KIR	IPH2101, 1-7F9, Lirilumab, and IPH4102	CD4 ⁺ , CD8 ⁺ T cells, NK cells	MHC class I molecules	ITIM/ITAM				
IMMUNOG	LOBULIN SUPERFAMILY							
TIGIT	MTIG7192A, OMP-313M32, and AB154	CD4 ⁺ , CD8 ⁺ T cells, NK cells	CD155, CD112, CD113	ITIM/ITT				
CD96	_	CD4 ⁺ , CD8 ⁺ T cells, NK cells	CD155	ITIM/YXXM				
LAG-3	Sym022, BMS-986016, Relatlimab, IMP321, and Eftilagimod Alpha	CD4 ⁺ , CD8 ⁺ T cells, NK cells, B cells, and dendritic cells	MHC class II molecules, Fibrinogen-like Protein 1	KIEELE				
TIM-3	sym 023, TSR-022, LY3321367, BGB-A425, and MBG453	CD4 ⁺ , CD8 ⁺ T cells, dendritic cells, NK cells, and monocytes	Gal-9, phosphatidylserine, HMGB1, Ceacam-1	Tyrosine				

NK cells from chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients, and blocking NKG2A with monalizumab is sufficient to restore the direct cytotoxicity of NK cells against HLA-E-expressing tumor cells (37). Treatment with IPH2201 has been shown to trigger NKG2A⁺ NK cell-mediated lysis of HLA-E⁺ target cells in vitro and abolish HLA-E⁺ leukemia and lymphoma tumors in xenograft mouse models of human neoplastic disease (NOD-SCID mice injected with HLA-E⁺ Epstein-Barr virus-positive cells or acute myeloid leukemia cells) (38). Interestingly, although NKG2A is predominantly expressed by NK cells, a study by the Vivier group showed that blockade of NKG2A enhanced the effector functions of both NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells in mice and humans (32). The use of monalizumab not only promoted human NK cell antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) against various tumor cells but also rescued the function of CD8⁺ T cells when combined with PD-1 blockade (32). This group also reported impressive clinical outcomes: the use of monalizumab combined with cetuximab (an anti-EGFR antibody) in previously treated patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck showed a 30% response rate with limited side effects [fatigue (17%), pyrexia (13%), and headache (10%)] (32). Interestingly, a study by Kamiya et al. showed that NKG2A^{null} NK cells, which were generated through transduction of anti-NKG2A protein expression blockers (PEBLs), exhibited relatively high cytotoxicity against HLA-E⁺ tumor cells; moreover, this method generated more potent cytotoxicity than blockade with an anti-NKG2A mAb (39), suggesting a new method for developing NKG2A-targeted cancer immunotherapy.

KILLER CELL IMMUNOGLOBULIN-LIKE RECEPTOR FAMILY

KIRs

The killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) on human NK cells include both activating and inhibitory receptors, among which the inhibitory KIRs exhibit an inhibitory signaling motif and are named with the convention KIRxDL (40). KIR2DL and KIR3DL specifically bind to HLA-C and HLA-A/B

allotypes, respectively (41, 42). KIR2DL includes KIR2DL1 and KIR2DL2/3, which bind distinct HLA-C allotypes to suppress the activation and effector functions of NK cells (41). Tumor cells induce the upregulated expression of KIRs on NK cells; for example, the expression of KIR2DL2 and HLA-C1 is significantly elevated in breast cancer patients (43); KIR2D (L1, L3, L4, and S4) and KIR3DL1 are expressed on tumor cells and TILs from nonsmall cell lung cancer patients, and patients without expression of KIR2D (L1, L3, L4, and S4) or KIR3DL1 on their tumor cells or TILs exhibit extended overall survival (44). KIR centromeric B haplotype is associated with significant risks of multiple basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma, suggesting that interactions between KIRs and HLA molecules may modify the risks of basal cell carcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma (45). Interestingly, patients with bile duct cancer show multiple alterations at KIR gene loci (46), and genetic variations in KIRs are also present in non-small cell lung cancer patients who are resistant to anti-PD-1 monotherapy (47).

Due to their impressive suppressive effect on NK cells, human mAbs targeting KIRs have shown some clinical benefits. Lirilumab (1-7F9, IPH2101) targeting KIR2DL1, KIR2DL2, and KIR2DL3 increases NK cell cytotoxicity against autologous acute myeloid leukemia blasts and mediates the lysis of HLA-C-expressing tumor cells both in vitro and in vivo (48). Lirilumab also enhances NK cell activity against autologous multiple myeloma cells by preventing inhibitory KIR-ligand interactions (49). Phase I studies of lirilumab in patients with acute myeloid leukemia, hematological malignancies or solid tumors have shown that lirilumab can effectively block KIRs with mild adverse events (50, 51). However, a study by Carlsten et al. demonstrated that lirilumab not only reduced KIR2D expression on NK cells but also rapidly reduced NK cell functions, resulting in significantly diminished overall responses (52). On the other hand, IPH4102 targeting KIR3DL2 shows encouraging clinical activity in patients with relapsed or refractory cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, particularly those with Sézary syndrome (53).

An *in vitro* study found that stimulation with IL-12/IL-15/IL-18 also downregulated the expression of TABLE 2 | Clinical trials based on potential NK cell checkpoint inhibitors in cancer.

	Registry	Disease	Intervention	Phase	Status	Enrollment	Sponsors and collaborators
TIGIT	NCT03119428	Locally advanced cancer, metastatic cancer	OMP-313M32/Nivolumab	I	Active	30	OncoMed Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
	NCT03563716	Non-small cell lung cancer	MTIG7192A/Atezolizumab	11	Active	120	Genentech, Inc.
	NCT03628677	Non-small Cell Lung Cancer, squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, renal cell carcinoma, breast cancer, colorectal cancer, melanoma, bladder cancer, ovarian cancer, endometrial cancer, merkel cell carcinoma, gastroesophageal cancer	AB154/AB122	I	Recruiting	242	Arcus Biosciences, Inc.
	NCT02794571	Advanced/metastatic tumors	Atezolizumab/MTIG7192A	Ι	Recruiting	300	Genentech, Inc.
KIR	NCT01750580	CANCER, NOS	Lirilumab/Ipilimumab	1	Completed	22	Bristol-Myers Squibb
	NCT01714739	CANCER, NOS	Lirilumab/Nivolumab/ Ipilimumab	1/11	Active	337	Bristol-Myers Squibb
	NCT03203876	Advanced cancer	Lirilumab/Nivolumab/ Ipilimumab	I	Active	21	Bristol-Myers Squibb Ono Pharmaceutical Co.Ltd
	NCT01222286	Smoldering multiple myeloma	IPH2101	II	Completed	30	Innate Pharma
	NCT00999830	Multiple myeloma	IPH2101	11	Completed	27	Innate Pharma
	NCT00552396	Multiple myeloma	Anti-KIR (1-7F9)	1	Completed	32	Innate Pharma
	NCT01256073	Acute myeloid leukemia	IPH2101	1	Completed	21	Innate Pharma
	NCT01687387	Acute myeloid leukemia	IPH2102	11	Completed	152	Innate Pharma
	NCT02481297	Leukemia, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, lymphocytic leukemia	Lirilumab/Rituximab	II	Active	8	M.D. Anderson Cancer Center Bristol-MyersSquibb
	NCT02593045	Cutaneous T-Cell lymphoma	IPH4102	I	Active	60	Innate Pharma
	NCT03902184	Lymphoma, mycosis fungoides/sezary syndrome	IPH4102 + Gemcitabine + Oxaliplatin	II	Recruiting	250	Innate Pharma
TIM-3	NCT03489343	Metastatic cancer, solid tumor, lymphoma	Sym023	I	Recruiting	48	Symphogen A/S
	NCT02817633	Advanced or metastatic solid tumors	TSR-022/TSR-042/TSR- 033	l	Recruiting	819	Tesaro, Inc.
	NCT03680508	Adult primary liver cancer, advanced adult primary liver cancer, localized unresectable adult primary liver cancer	TSR-022 + TSR-042	II	Not yet recruiting	42	University of Hawaii
	NCT03311412	Metastatic cancer, solid tumor, lymphoma	Sym021/Sym022/Sym023	I	Recruiting	102	Symphogen A/S
	NCT03099109	Solid tumor	LY3321367/LY3300054	I	Recruiting	196	Eli Lilly and Company
	NCT03744468	Locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors	BGB-A425/tislelizumab	1/11	Recruiting	162	BeiGene
	NCT03961971	Glioblastoma multiforme	MBG453	I	Not yet recruiting	15	Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkin: NovartisPharmaceuticals

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

	Registry	Disease	Intervention	Phase	Status	Enrollment	Sponsors and collaborators
	NCT03066648	Leukemia, myelodysplastic syndromes, preleukemia, bone marrow diseases, hematologic diseases	Decitabine/PDR001/ MBG453	I	Recruiting	175	Novartis Pharmaceuticals
	NCT02608268	Advanced malignancies	MBG453/PDR001	1/11	Recruiting	250	Novartis Pharmaceuticals
LAG-3	NCT03489369	Metastatic cancer, solid tumor, lymphoma	Sym022	I	Recruiting	30	Symphogen A/S
	NCT03311412	Metastatic cancer, solid tumor, lymphoma	Sym021/Sym022/Sym023	I	Recruiting	102	Symphogen A/S
	NCT02061761	Hematologic neoplasms	BMS-986016/BMS- 936558	1/11	Recruiting	132	Bristol-Myers Squibb
	NCT02966548	Cancer	Relatlimab/Nivolumab	I	Recruiting	45	Bristol-Myers Squibb Ono Pharmaceutical Co.Ltd
	NCT01968109	Neoplasms by site	Relatlimab/Nivolumab/ BMS-986213	1/11	Recruiting	2000	Bristol-Myers Squibb
	NCT03459222	Advanced cancer	Relatlimab/Nivolumab/ BMS-986205/Ipilimumab	1/11	Recruiting	230	Bristol-Myers Squibb
	NCT02658981	Glioblastoma, gliosarcoma, recurrent brain neoplasm	BMS 986016/Anti-PD- 1/Anti-CD137	I	Recruiting	100	Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins National Cancer Institute (NCI) Bristol-MyersSquibb
	NCT03044613	Gastric cancer, esophageal cancer, gastroesophageal cancer	Nivolumab/Relatlimab/ Carboplatin/Paclitaxel/ Radiation	I	Recruiting	32	Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins Bristol-MyersSquibb
	NCT03623854	Chordoma, locally advanced chordoma, metastatic chordoma, unresectable chordoma	Nivolumab/Relatlimab	II	Recruiting	20	Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center National Cancer Institute(NCI)
	NCT03493932	Glioblastoma	Nivolumab/BMS-986016	I	Recruiting	20	National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS)
	NCT03743766	Melanoma	Relatlimab/Nivolumab	II	Recruiting	42	John Kirkwood Bristol-MyersSquibb
	NCT00351949	Stage IV renal cell carcinoma	IMP321	I	Completed	24	Immutep S.A, Umanis
	NCT03252938	Solid tumors, peritoneal carcinomatosis	IMP321/Avelumab	I	Recruiting	50	IKF Klinische Krebsforschung GmbH at Krankenhaus Nordwest
	NCT00349934	Metastatic breast cancer	IMP321	1	Completed	33	Immutep S.A, Umanis
	NCT03625323	Non-small cell lung cancer, squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck	Eftilagimod alpha/Pembrolizumab	II	Recruiting	109	Immutep S.A, Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp.
	NCT02614833	Stage IV breast adenocarcinoma	IMP321/Paclitaxel	II	Active	241	Immutep S.A.
	NCT02676869	Stage IV and stage III melanoma	IMP321/Pembrolizumab	I	Active	24	Immutep Australia Pty. Ltd.
NKG2A	NCT02921685	Hematological malignancy	Monalizumab (IPH2201)	I	Recruiting	18	Institut Paoli-Calmettes InnatePharma

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Registry	Disease	Intervention	Phase	Status	Enrollment	Sponsors and collaborators
NCT02557516	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	Monalizumab	1/11	Active	22	Innate Pharma
NCT02459301	Gynecologic cancer	IPH2201	I	Active	59	Canadian Cancer Trials Group
NCT02643550	Head and neck neoplasms	Monalizumab/Cetuximab/ Anti-PD-L1	1/11	Recruiting	140	Innate Pharma AstraZeneca
NCT02671435	Advanced solid tumors	Durvalumab (MEDI4736)/Monalizumab (IPH2201)	1/11	Recruiting	501	MedImmune LLC
NCT03822351	Unresectable stage III non-small cell lung cancer	Durvalumab/Monalizumab/ Oleclumab	II	Recruiting	300	MedImmune LLC
NCT03833440	Non-small cell lung cancer	Durvalumab (MEDI4736)/Monalizumab/ Oleclumab (MEDI9447)/AZD6738	II	Not yet recruiting	120	Assistance Publique Hopitaux De Marseille
NCT02331875	Squamous cell carcinoma of the oral cavity	IPH2201	1/11	Terminated	3	Innate Pharma
NCT03088059	Squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck	Afatinib/Palbociclib/ IPH2201/Durvalumab/ Niraparib/BAY1163877	II	Recruiting	340	European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer



FIGURE 1 | Overview of potential NK cell checkpoint molecules and their corresponding ligands. Recognition and clearance of tumor cells by NK cells are regulated through activating and inhibitory receptors on NK cells that bind their corresponding ligands on tumor cells. Increased expression of ligands on tumor cells induces altered expression of inhibitory receptors on NK cells, excessive negative regulation results in functional exhaustion of NK cells. This figure summarizes inhibitory receptors on NK cells that could also act as checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy, including HLA class I-specific receptors (KIR and NKG2A) and those recognizing ligands other than HLA class I molecules (CD96, TIGIT, LAG-3, and TIM-3).

KIR2DL2/3, KIR2DL1, and KIR3DL1 on peripheral blood NK cells, resulting in reduced inhibitory KIR signaling and elevated CD16-dependent cytotoxicity (54). Furthermore, these IL-12/IL-15/IL-18-stimulated NK cells showed increased cytotoxicity against tumor cells (54).

IMMUNOGLOBULIN SUPERFAMILY

TIGIT

TIGIT is an immunoglobulin protein that belongs to the CD28 family (55, 56). It was discovered as a surface receptor on T cells that recognizes CD155 in 2009 (57); however, TIGIT is also expressed on NK cells and interacts with other ligands, such as CD112 and CD113 (56). Together with CD226 and CD96, TIGIT participates in a balanced system to control the activation and function of T cells and NK cells. Unlike CD96, which inhibits only IFN-y production in NK cells and has no effects on cytotoxicity, TIGIT can inhibit NK cell cytotoxicity directly through its ITIM domain in both humans and mice (58, 59). A study showed that the cytotoxicity of YTS NK cells (human NK cell line) transfected with TIGIT was strongly inhibited by CD155-transfected 721.221 cells and this inhibition could be blocked with an anti-TIGIT mAb in vitro (58). Furthermore, blockade of TIGIT has also been shown to significantly increase mouse NK cell-mediated killing of CD155-expressing B12 cells and enhance the secretion of IFN- γ (59). In an *in vivo* study, NK cells isolated from TIGIT-transgenic mice produced reduced amounts of IFN-y after incubation with Yac-1 cells (murine T cell lymphoma cell line), while NK cells isolated from $TIGIT^{-/-}$ mice produced increased amounts of IFN-y. The suppression of IFNγ production was mediated by TIGIT-CD155 ligation through the NF- κ B pathway (60). In humans, NK cells with lower levels of TIGIT isolated from healthy individuals were shown to have a higher ability to secrete cytokines, degranulate, and kill target cells than those with higher TIGIT expression (61), suggesting the ability of TIGIT to regulate immune responses.

The expression of TIGIT is highly variable among different cancer types. The highest expressions of TIGIT in lymphocytes are found in Hodgkin's lymphoma, Warthin's tumors, medullary breast cancer, intestinal stomach cancer, and seminoma, while the lowest expressions of TIGIT in lymphocytes are found in renal oncocytoma, papillary renal cell cancer, desmoid tumors, pancreatic neuroendocrine cancer, chromophobic renal cell cancer, and adrenocortical cancer (62). Indeed, $\mathrm{TIGIT}^{-/-}$ mice show no resistance to lung metastasis in three different experimental lung metastasis models (B16F10, murine melanoma cell line; RM-1, murine prostate cancer cell line; E0771, murine breast cancer cell line) (63); moreover, TIGIT expression on NK cells is not significantly different between pancreatic cancer patients and healthy controls (64). Furthermore, a reduced proportion of TIGIT⁺ NK cells has been observed in the intratumoral region of hepatocellular carcinoma compared to the peritumoral region (65).

In contrast, TIGIT is overexpressed on $CD8^+$ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) and tumor antigen-specific $CD8^+$ T cells from melanoma patients and often coexpressed with the inhibitory receptor PD-1 (66). Coblockade of TIGIT and PD-1 can reverse dysfunctions in $CD8^+$ TILs and antigenspecific $CD8^+$ T cells by increasing their proliferation and effector functions (66). TIGIT expression was also found to be significantly increased in $CD4^+$ T cells from chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients, and an increased number of TIGIT⁺ CD4⁺ T cells was found in patients with advanced disease stage (67). Moreover, TIGIT^{-/-} was shown to significantly inhibit tumorigenicity in both CT26 tumor-bearing BALB/c mice and MC38 tumor-bearing C57BL/6 mice, whereas an anti-TIGIT mAb significantly inhibited tumor growth in both of these colorectal tumor models (68). Furthermore, a study showed that TIGIT^{-/-} mice intravenously injected with B16 melanoma cells had relatively few lung metastases and improved overall survival (13). It is also important to note that TIGIT inhibits IFN- γ secretion of both CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells in the above mentioned colorectal tumor models; interestingly, CT26 tumor-bearing TIGIT knockout (KO) mice develop tumors early after NK cells are depleted, suggesting that NK cells and T cells collaborate to eliminate tumors (68).

The Tian group has demonstrated that TIGIT is highly expressed on tumor-infiltrating NK cells and associated with NK cell exhaustion in different tumor models [CT26 colon cancer, 4T1 breast cancer, B16 melanoma, and fibrosarcoma induced by methylcholanthrene (MCA)] and patients with colon cancer (13). NK cell-specific TIGIT KO in mice results in significantly prolonged survival, while TIGIT blockade inhibits NK cell exhaustion in colon tumors, breast tumors, and MCAinduced fibrosarcomas (13). Surprisingly, they showed that anti-TIGIT mAb could reduce tumor mass and slow tumor growth in T cell-deficient mice; in addition, NK cell deficiency resulted in an increased metastasis and number of exhausted CD8⁺ T cells, and abolished the effect of TIGIT blockade even in the presence of TIGIT-expressing CD8⁺ T cells (13). Notably, the therapeutic effects of anti-TIGIT mAbs, anti-PD-L1 mAbs or anti-TIGIT mAbs combined with anti-PD-L1 mAbs all depended on the presence of NK cells (13), indicating the importance of NK cells in checkpoint-targeted immunotherapy. Other studies have also indicated the importance of TIGIT⁺ NK cells in the tumor microenvironment. For example, blocking TIGIT could increase cytokine production by NK cells after an incubation with trastuzumab-coated breast cancer cells (69); the proportion of TIGIT⁺ NK cells was significantly increased in the peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) population of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer patients compared to that of healthy controls (70); endometrial tumor-resident CD103⁺ NK cells expressed higher levels of TIGIT than circulating CD103⁻ NK cells, and tumor-resident NK cells from patients with lymph node invasion showed significantly higher expressions of TIGIT than those from patients with no lymph node invasion (71); and TIGIT⁺ NK cells showed increased susceptibility to functional suppression by CD155-expressing myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (72). Currently, several clinical trials (phase I and phase II) focused on testing the feasibility of targeting this new pathway and improving therapeutic effects through combination with existing immunotherapies are either active or recruiting (Table 2).

CD96

CD96 is a transmembrane glycoprotein that belongs to the immunoglobulin superfamily (73, 74). It was identified as a key receptor on NK cells that recognizes the ligand CD155 in 2004 (75) and was initially identified as a possible costimulatory receptor. However, 10 years later, its inhibitory characteristics

were revealed by the Smyth group (76). Their study showed that CD96 competes with CD226 for CD155 binding and negatively regulates IFN- γ secretion in NK cells (77); however, it does not affect the direct killing of tumor cells by NK cells. Furthermore, CD96^{-/-} mice are resistant to MCA-induced fibrosarcoma and experimental lung metastasis modeled by injecting B16F10 melanoma cells (77), and blocking CD96 with a mAb inhibits experimental metastases in three different models (B16F10 melanoma, 3LL lung carcinoma, and RM-1 prostate cancer) (63). Blockade of the CD96-CD155 interaction was also shown to be effective in controlling lung metastases in NCR2-transgenic mice injected with B16-PDGFD cells (78). An anti-CD96 mAb was shown to be superior to other well-characterized checkpoint inhibitors, such as anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 antibodies, and the combination of an anti-CD96 mAb with an anti-CTLA-4 or anti-PD-1/PD-L1 mAb could further inhibit experimental lung metastases (63). Notably, although CD96 was also expressed by T cells, the control of metastases by an anti-CD96 mAb appeared to be dependent on NK cells, CD226 and IFN-y production (63), suggesting a non-negligible role for NK cells in cancer immunotherapy. Further, blocking CD96 reduced the number of B16F10 metastases in Tigit^{-/-} mice compared to wildtype mice, indicating the synergistic potential of blocking CD96 and TIGIT in treating cancer (63).

The structural basis for the CD96-CD155 interaction involves the "ancillary key" motif that is critical for CD155 recognition; moreover, CD96 and CD155 interact via the "lock-and-key" docking mode (79). However, surprisingly, a comparison between three anti-CD96 mAbs, including two that block the CD96-CD155 interaction (3.3 and 6A6) and one that does not block this interaction (8B10), revealed that although the two blocking mAbs showed higher potency than the non-blocking mAb in the control of metastases, it was not necessary to block the CD96-CD155 interaction to promote NK cell antimetastatic functions (80, 81). In contrast, another study using a transgenic mouse model of resectable pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma showed that a mAb targeting the CD96-CD155 interaction (6A6) significantly reduced distant metastases, while a mAb that did not target the CD96-CD155 interaction (8B10) showed no effect on the frequency of metastases (82). One possible explanation for the contradictions occurred involves various microenvironmental cues in in vitro vs. in vivo settings, given that the microenvironment in an *in vivo* experiment is much more complicated and involves various cell-cell interactions and consequences (for example, cytokine secretions, etc.) following these interactions, which may contribute to the differences raised between the studies.

In humans, a significantly decreased percentage of CD96⁺ NK cells in pancreatic cancer patients and associations of this decreased percentage with lymph node metastasis and tumor histological grade were observed (64), suggesting a possible protective role for CD96⁺ NK cells in pancreatic cancer. Contradictorily, another study showed increased serum levels of soluble CD96 in NK cells from late-stage melanoma patients (83). In addition, a study noted an elevated proportion and number of CD96⁺CD56^{dim} NK cells in hepatocellular carcinoma tissues, and these NK cells were functionally exhausted with impaired

IFN- γ and TNF- α productions (65). Furthermore, patients with higher CD96⁺ NK cell infiltration within tumors have been shown to exhibit relatively short disease-free survival times (65). These studies suggest a protumor role for CD96⁺ NK cells in melanoma and hepatocellular carcinoma.

LAG-3

LAG-3 is a negative coinhibitory receptor expressed on T cells and NK cells that binds MHC class II (MHC-II) molecules on target cells (84, 85). LAG-3 also interacts with LSECtin, a cell surface lectin that belongs to the C-type lectin receptor superfamily, to inhibit IFN- γ production by effector T cells (86). Recently, Chen and colleagues identified fibrinogen-like protein 1 (FGL1), a liver-secreted protein, as an MHC-II-independent ligand for LAG-3 in both humans and mice (87). Previous studies have shown that LAG-3 negatively regulates the proliferation and activation of T cells (88, 89) and that it also interacts with FGL1 to inhibit antigen-mediated T cell responses both in vitro and in vivo (87). LAG-3 and PD-L1 coregulate the exhaustion of CD8⁺ T cells, and compared to anti-PD-L1 mAb or anti-LAG-3 mAb monotherapy, dual blockade of LAG-3 and PD-L1 increases the number and effector functions of functional virusspecific CD8⁺ T cells (90), suggesting that the combination of anti-LAG-3 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies results in an improved reversal of exhaustion.

LAG-3 has been shown to suppress immune responses in several tumors, including Hodgkin's lymphoma, gastric cancer, breast cancer, and other solid tumors (91). In studies of squamous cell carcinoma mouse models, both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ TILs coexpressed LAG-3 and PD-1, and dual blockade of LAG-3 and PD-1 significantly suppressed tumor growth (92). LAG-3 has been detected in TILs from 41.5% of non-small cell lung cancer patients and associated with the checkpoint molecules PD-1 and TIM-3 (93). Moreover, elevated LAG-3 expression has been associated with reduced progression-free survival in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer treated with PD-1 blockade (93). Elevated expression of LAG-3 has also been observed in patients with peripheral T cell lymphoma or NK/T cell lymphoma (94). LAG-3⁺ TIL numbers are increased in MHC-II⁺ tumors (lung cancer, melanoma, and breast cancer), and MHC-II⁺ tumors acquire immunosuppressive signals through LAG-3; thus, combined PD-1/PD-L1 and LAG-3 blockade can provide a particular advantage against MHC-II⁺ tumors (95). Interestingly, expression of the newly identified ligand FGL1 has also been shown to be upregulated in cancer, and blockade of the FGL1-LAG-3 interaction stimulates immune responses and exhibits therapeutic effects on mouse tumor models (MC38 colon cancer and Hepa1-6 liver cancer) (87). Furthermore, compared to monotherapy, an anti-FGL1 mAb or anti-LAG-3 mAb in combination with an anti-B7-H1 mAb significantly reduces tumor burden and prolongs survival (87).

An early study in 1996 indicated that mice lacking the *lag3* gene exhibited reduced lysis of Yac-1 cells; in addition, polyclonal antibodies against LAG-3 could reduce NK-mediated lysis of Yac-1 cells but leave MHC-II-deficient target cells intact, suggesting the existence of an independent mode of natural

killing through LAG-3 (96). However, this independent mode of natural killing has not been observed with human NK cells, and blockade of LAG-3 has no effect on the natural killing of various target cells (97). Notably, although studies on LAG-3⁺ NK cells are limited, the role of these cells in antitumor immunity should not be neglected. A study showed that using IL-12 to boost the cytotoxicity of NK cells in a lung cancer model (BALB/c mice injected with 4T1 cells) increased the NK cell population expressing high levels of coinhibitory molecules, including LAG-3, which limited NK cell-mediated antimetastatic activity (98). The combination of an anti-LAG-3 mAb with IL-12 significantly reduces lung metastasis, whereas monotherapy fails to achieve this effect (98). Furthermore, synergy between an anti-LAG-3 mAb and IL-12 contributes to the increased efficacy of IL-12 immunotherapy in breast cancer, which is solely dependent on NK cells, suggesting that LAG-3 is applicable in not only T cell-mediated immunotherapies but also NK cell-mediated antimetastatic immunotherapies (98).

TIM-3

TIM-3 is a type I glycoprotein that binds galectin-9 (Gal-9), high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), and carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 1 (CEACAM-1) on target cells to act as an NK cell coreceptor (91, 99, 100). An early *in vitro* study showed that an NK92 cell line overexpressing TIM-3 secreted an increased amount of IFN-γ, while TIM-3 blockade resulted in reduced IFN- γ production (101). However, although human TIM-3⁺ NK cells are functional in terms of cytokine production and cytotoxicity, they become suppressed when TIM-3 is cross-linked with antibodies (102), suggesting that an interaction between TIM-3 and its ligand can result in NK cell dysfunction.

TIM-3 can mediate cell exhaustion and suppress immune responses under both chronic viral and cancerous conditions. For example, TIM-3 mediates suppression of NK cells in chronic hepatitis B patients, while TIM-3 blockade results in increased NK cell cytotoxicity both in vitro and ex vivo (103). TIM-3 is highly expressed in various tumor types, including gastrointestinal stromal tumor (104), lung adenocarcinoma (105), perineural squamous cell carcinoma (106), melanoma (107), gastric cancer (108), acute myeloid leukemia (109), colon cancer (110), bladder cancer (70), renal cell carcinoma (111), pancreatic cancer (112), glioma (113), anaplastic thyroid cancer (114), peripheral T cell lymphoma, NK/T cell lymphoma (94), etc. Significant overexpression of TIM-3 has been observed in peripheral NK cells from non-muscle invasive bladder cancer patients (70); moreover, TIM-3 is expressed in TILs from 25.3% of non-small cell lung cancer patients and associated with the expression of PD-1 and LAG-3 (93). TIM-3 expression was found to be higher on peripheral NK cells from glioma patients than on those from healthy controls, and these TIM-3⁺ NK cells showed a reduced capability for IFN-y production and correlated with the proportion of Ki-67⁺ tumor cells (113). Furthermore, TIM-3 expression is upregulated on NK cells in late-stage melanoma patients, and blockade of TIM-3 reverses NK cell exhaustion in these patients (107).

TIM-3 functions as a potential prognostic marker in several tumor types. Upregulated expression of TIM-3 in peripheral NK cells from lung adenocarcinoma patients correlates with decreased overall survival, while blockade of TIM-3 enhances cytotoxicity and IFN-y production in peripheral NK cells (105). Overexpression of TIM-3 in NK cells from gastric cancer patients has been associated with an advanced tumor stage (108). In addition, a study found that endometrial tumor-resident CD103⁺ NK cells expressed higher levels of TIM-3 than circulating CD103⁻ NK cells, and tumor NK cells from patients with lymph node invasion showed significantly higher expression of TIM-3 than those from patients with no lymph node invasion (71). Bladder cancer patients have high levels of TIM-3⁺ NK cells and Gal-9⁺ tumor cells, and patients with relatively low levels of TIM-3⁺ NK cells and Gal-9⁺ tumor cells have an improved prognosis (115). Furthermore, TIM-3⁺ NK cells are defective in esophageal cancer, and relatively high TIM-3 expression on NK cells correlates with a poor prognosis in esophageal carcinoma (116).

However, contradictorily, studies have also reported stimulatory functions of TIM-3 (117). For example, after short-term stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies, TIM-3 can enhance the secretion of IL-2 and signaling pathways that lead to T-cell activation (118, 119). TIM-3 engagement during antigen stimulation directly promoted CD8 T cell differentiation through mTORC1 (120). Furthermore, activation of human T cells was not affected by the presence of Gal-9 or antibodies to TIM-3 (121), which also reported a contradictory role of Gal-9 as a ligand for TIM-3. These studies suggest that the use of anti-TIM-3 should be particularly careful because TIM-3 also plays an activating role under certain circumstances, whether its antibodies act as agonist or antagonist remains to be questioned. Both anti-murine and anti-human TIM-3 antibodies bind to TIM-3 in a manner that interfere with the binding of TIM-3 to both phosphatidylserine and CEACAM1, the understanding of the interaction between TIM-3 and its ligands plays an important role in the screening of anti-TIM-3 antibody candidates (122).

Some studies have explored the reasons underlying the upregulation of TIM-3 expression on NK cells in the tumor microenvironment. One study reported that the LPHN1/PKC/mTOR-TIM-3-Gal-9 pathway in human acute myeloid leukemia induced high levels of Gal-9 secretion and the release of soluble TIM-3 (109). Gal-9 impaired the killing of tumor cells by NK cells, whereas soluble TIM-3 impaired the ability of T cells to produce IL-2, contributing to the breakdown of immune surveillance and thus to the progression of tumors (109). Another proposed mechanism is that MHC-I-deficient tumors induce coexpression of TIM-3 and PD-1 on NK cells, resulting in functional NK cell exhaustion in both tumor-bearing mice and cancer patients; functional recovery in these exhausted NK cells induced by vaccination requires IL-21 produced by NKT cells (110). Furthermore, carcinoma-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) have been shown to promote the expression of TIM-3 in pancreatic cancer patients (112). Sustained IL-15 stimulation upregulates TIM-3 expression on both T and NK cells (123). TIM-3 expression can also be induced by TNF- α through the NF- κ B signaling pathway (116). In addition, IL-27/NFIL3 signaling axis has been identified crucial for the induction of Tim-3, IL-10 and T-cell dysfunction (124).

PERSPECTIVE

The success of mAbs targeting CTLA-4 and PD-1 has shed light on cancer immunotherapy, and restoring exhausted T cells has shown promising clinical outcomes in some patients. However, there were still many patients who are nonresponsive to these treatments. However, recent findings indicate that improved survival highly correlates with the frequency of DNAM-1+CD56^{dim} NK and NKp46+CD56^{dim} NK cells after treatment with anti-CTLA-4 in patients with malignant mesothelioma (125). Hsu and Hodgins et al. demonstrated in multiple tumor models that PD-1 is upregulated on the most activated and functionally responsive intratumoral NK cells, suggesting that the efficacy of PD-1 blockade depends in part on inducing an NK cell-based antitumor response (126). Thereof, we propose that NK cell-targeted immunotherapy may provide an alternative or complementary approach to overcome the limitations of T cell immunotherapy and combination with NK cell immunotherapy could increase the response rate of T cell-targeted treatments. NK cells are critical for immunosurveillance, particularly in the control of metastasis and hematological cancers. A study by the Tian group indicated the importance of NK cells in checkpoint immunotherapy; TIGIT blockade prevented NK cell exhaustion in the absence of T cells and B cells, and an anti-TIGIT mAb improved T cell responses in an NK cell-dependent manner (13). These findings suggest that certain checkpoint molecules expressed by both T cells and NK cells may exert a greater effect on NK cells than on T cells and that NK cells could be essential for the T cell-mediated antitumor response in such a scenario.

The recent success of anti-NKG2A mAb on clinical trials unleashes its role as a promising checkpoint inhibitor in treating cancers with minimum side effects, and the success of NKG2A blockade also points out the importance of NK cells in anti-tumor immunity and advances the idea that combined reversal of both T and NK cell exhaustion is truly important in anti-tumor immunotherapy. Anti-NKG2A could be the third potential checkpoint inhibitor approved by the FDA following anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1/PD-L1. Another promising checkpoint molecule targeting NK cells is TIGIT based on the results observed by the Tian group (13). However, due to its constitutive expression on peripheral human NK cells, more studies are required to fulfill its role as a checkpoint in treating cancer. The balance between CD96, TIGIT, and CD226 is critical for proper immune

responses by NK cells. The accumulation of CD96 in NK cells in hepatocellular carcinoma patients disrupts the balance between these three receptors, which subsequently results in NK cell dysfunction and exhaustion (65); therefore, careful examination of the CD96-TIGIT-CD226 system should be involved in developing immunotherapies targeting these receptors. In addition to CD155, CD112, and CD113, human TIGIT can also bind to the Fap2 protein of Fusobacterium nucleatum, and the interaction between TIGIT and Fap2 inhibits NK cell cytotoxicity (127). This finding unleashes a new mechanism of tumor immune evasion that depends on the bacterium and identifies new possibilities for NK cell immunotherapy. Alterations in KIR and HLA gene loci affect NK cell functions, which should be considered when developing immunotherapies against KIRs (46). The interaction between LAG-3 and the newly defined ligand FGL1 suppresses the functions of T cells, and whether FGL1 also interacts with LAG-3 on NK cells merits further research (87).

Other checkpoint molecules on NK cells have been proven to be potential targets, and further experiments are needed to prove these novel targets for NK-based immunotherapy (22, 128). There are ways to improve the efficacy of NK cell immunotherapy. For example, NKG2Anull NK cells are more effective than NKG2A⁺ NK cells treated with an anti-NKG2A mAb, suggesting a new immunotherapeutic approach using NKG2A^{null} NK cells (39, 129). In addition, cytokines can enhance the efficacy of mAbs (130), and a combination of cytokine treatment with checkpoint immunotherapy may boost the effects of mAbs. Furthermore, we believe that combined blockade of checkpoint molecules expressed by T cells and NK cells could unleash antitumor immunity mediated by innate and adaptive populations, which not only improve overall antitumor immune responses but also allow the two approaches to complement each other; this strategy might be the solution for the "non-responders." Accumulating evidence suggests that NK cell-targeted immunotherapy is highly feasible; however, our knowledge of the inhibitory mechanisms in NK cells is still inadequate, and more fundamental research is required to identify the best inhibitory pathways to be targeted for future clinical applications.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HS and CS were involved in the search and analysis of the literature, design and writing of the manuscript, and revision of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (#31670908, #81701631), and Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (#WK2070000107).

REFERENCES

- Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Cursons J, Huntington ND. The emergence of natural killer cells as a major target in cancer immunotherapy. *Trends Immunol.* (2019) 40:142–58. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.12.003
- 2. Zou W. Mechanistic insights into cancer immunity and immunotherapy. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:419–20. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0011-5
- Crespo J, Sun H, Welling TH, Tian Z, Zou W. T cell anergy, exhaustion, senescence, and stemness in the tumor microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2013) 25:214–21. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2012.12.003
- Sun H, Xu J, Huang M, Huang Q, Sun R, Xiao W, et al. CD200R, a co-inhibitory receptor on immune cells, predicts the prognosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Immunol Lett.* (2016) 178:105–13. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2016.08.009
- Xu W, Hieu T, Malarkannan S, Wang L. The structure, expression, and multifaceted role of immune-checkpoint protein VISTA as a critical regulator of anti-tumor immunity, autoimmunity, and inflammation. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:438–46. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.148
- Zhai L, Ladomersky E, Lenzen A, Nguyen B, Patel R, Lauing KL, et al. IDO1 in cancer: a Gemini of immune checkpoints. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:447–57. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.143
- Burugu S, Dancsok AR, Nielsen TO. Emerging targets in cancer immunotherapy. Semin Cancer Biol. (2018) 52:39–52. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.10.001
- Darvin P, Toor SM, Sasidharan Nair V, Elkord E. Immune checkpoint inhibitors: recent progress and potential biomarkers. *Exp Mol Med.* (2018) 50:165. doi: 10.1038/s12276-018-0191-1
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. (2013) 369:122–33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- Hodi FS, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Rutkowski P, Cowey CL, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab or nivolumab alone versus ipilimumab alone in advanced melanoma (CheckMate 067): 4-year outcomes of a multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2018) 19:1480–92. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30700-9
- Turajlic S, Gore M, Larkin J. First report of overall survival for ipilimumab plus nivolumab from the phase III Checkmate 067 study in advanced melanoma. *Ann Oncol.* (2018) 29:542–3. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy020
- Stojanovic A, Cerwenka A. Checkpoint inhibition: NK cells enter the scene. Nat Immunol. (2018) 19:650–2. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0142-y
- Zhang Q, Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wang H, Wu W, et al. Blockade of the checkpoint receptor TIGIT prevents NK cell exhaustion and elicits potent anti-tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:723–32. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0132-0
- Liu Y, Zheng J, Liu Y, Wen L, Huang L, Xiang Z, et al. Uncompromised NK cell activation is essential for virus-specific CTL activity during acute influenza virus infection. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:827–37. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.10
- Poznanski SM, Ashkar AA. Shining light on the significance of NK cell CD56 brightness. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:1071–3. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0163-3
- Wu LS, Wang JY. Warm up, cool down, and tearing apart in NK cell memory. Cell Mol Immunol. (2018) 15:1095–7. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0188-7
- Chen Y, Chen B, Yang T, Xiao W, Qian L, Ding Y, et al. Human fused NKG2D-IL-15 protein controls xenografted human gastric cancer through the recruitment and activation of NK cells. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:293–307. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.81
- Kwon B. IFN-gamma in tissue-immune homeostasis and antitumor immunity. Cell Mol Immunol. (2018) 15:531–2. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.95
- Chyuan IT, Hsu PN. Tumor necrosis factor: the key to hepatitis B viral clearance. Cell Mol Immunol. (2018) 15:731–3. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.139
- Zhang QF, Yin WW, Xia Y, Yi YY, He QF, Wang X, et al. Liver-infiltrating CD11b(-)CD27(-) NK subsets account for NK-cell dysfunction in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and are associated with tumor progression. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:819–29. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2016.28
- Sun C, Sun HY, Xiao WH, Zhang C, Tian ZG. Natural killer cell dysfunction in hepatocellular carcinoma and NK cell-based immunotherapy. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2015) 36:1191–9. doi: 10.1038/aps.2015.41

- Sun H, Xu J, Huang Q, Huang M, Li K, Qu K, et al. Reduced CD160 expression contributes to impaired NK-cell function and poor clinical outcomes in patients with HCC. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:6581–93. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-1049
- Haanen JB, Cerundolo V. NKG2A, a new kid on the immune checkpoint block. *Cell*. (2018) 175:1720–2. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.11.048
- Lazetic S, Chang C, Houchins JP, Lanier LL, Phillips JH. Human natural killer cell receptors involved in MHC class I recognition are disulfide-linked heterodimers of CD94 and NKG2 subunits. *J Immunol.* (1996) 157:4741–5.
- Braud VM, Allan DS, O'Callaghan CA, Soderstrom K, D'Andrea A, Ogg GS, et al. HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C. *Nature*. (1998) 391:795–9. doi: 10.1038/35869
- Lee N, Llano M, Carretero M, Ishitani A, Navarro F, Lopez-Botet M, et al. HLA-E is a major ligand for the natural killer inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:5199–204. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.9.5199
- Houchins JP, Lanier LL, Niemi EC, Phillips JH, Ryan JC. Natural killer cell cytolytic activity is inhibited by NKG2-A and activated by NKG2-C. J Immunol. (1997) 158:3603–9.
- Platonova S, Cherfils-Vicini J, Damotte D, Crozet L, Vieillard V, Validire P, et al. Profound coordinated alterations of intratumoral NK cell phenotype and function in lung carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:5412–22. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4179
- Gillard-Bocquet M, Caer C, Cagnard N, Crozet L, Perez M, Fridman WH, et al. Lung tumor microenvironment induces specific gene expression signature in intratumoral NK cells. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:19. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00019
- Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Thibult ML, Houvenaeghel G, Jacquemier J, Castellano R, et al. Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:3609–22. doi: 10.1172/JCI45816
- Meckawy GR, Mohamed AM, Zaki WK, Khattab MA, Amin MM, ElDeeb MA, et al. Natural killer NKG2A and NKG2D in patients with colorectal cancer. J Gastrointest Oncol. (2019) 10:218–25. doi: 10.21037/jgo.2018.12.13
- 32. Andre P, Denis C, Soulas C, Bourbon-Caillet C, Lopez J, Arnoux T, et al. Anti-NKG2A mAb is a checkpoint inhibitor that promotes anti-tumor immunity by unleashing both T and NK cells. *Cell.* (2018) 175:1731–43 e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014
- 33. Stringaris K, Sekine T, Khoder A, Alsuliman A, Razzaghi B, Sargeant R, et al. Leukemia-induced phenotypic and functional defects in natural killer cells predict failure to achieve remission in acute myeloid leukemia. *Haematologica*. (2014) 99:836–47. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.087536
- 34. Sandoval-Borrego D, Moreno-Lafont MC, Vazquez-Sanchez EA, Gutierrez-Hoya A, Lopez-Santiago R, Montiel-Cervantes LA, et al. Overexpression of CD158 and NKG2A inhibitory receptors and underexpression of NKG2D and NKp46 activating receptors on NK cells in acute myeloid leukemia. *Arch Med Res.* (2016) 47:55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2016.02.001
- 35. Sun C, Xu J, Huang Q, Huang M, Wen H, Zhang C, et al. High NKG2A expression contributes to NK cell exhaustion and predicts a poor prognosis of patients with liver cancer. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1264562. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1264562
- Frazao A, Messaoudene M, Nunez N, Dulphy N, Roussin F, Sedlik C, et al. CD16(+)NKG2A(high) natural killer cells infiltrate breast cancer-draining lymph nodes. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:208–18. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0085
- McWilliams EM, Mele JM, Cheney C, Timmerman EA, Fiazuddin F, Strattan EJ, et al. Therapeutic CD94/NKG2A blockade improves natural killer cell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1226720. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1226720
- Ruggeri L, Urbani E, Andre P, Mancusi A, Tosti A, Topini F, et al. Effects of anti-NKG2A antibody administration on leukemia and normal hematopoietic cells. *Haematologica*. (2016) 101:626–33. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.135301
- Kamiya T, Seow SV, Wong D, Robinson M, Campana D. Blocking expression of inhibitory receptor NKG2A overcomes tumor resistance to NK cells. J Clin Invest. (2019) 130:2094–106. doi: 10.1172/JCI123955
- 40. Mahaweni NM, Ehlers FAI, Bos GMJ, Wieten L. Tuning natural killer cell anti-multiple myeloma reactivity by targeting inhibitory signaling via

KIR and NKG2A. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:2848. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02848

- Colonna M, Spies T, Strominger JL, Ciccone E, Moretta A, Moretta L, et al. Alloantigen recognition by two human natural killer cell clones is associated with HLA-C or a closely linked gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1992) 89:7983–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.17.7983
- He Y, Tian Z. NK cell education via nonclassical MHC and non-MHC ligands. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:321–30. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2016.26
- 43. Jobim MR, Jobim M, Salim PH, Portela P, Jobim LF, Leistner-Segal S, et al. Analysis of KIR gene frequencies and HLA class I genotypes in breast cancer and control group. *Hum Immunol.* (2013) 74:1130–3. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2013.06.021
- 44. He Y, Bunn PA, Zhou C, Chan D. KIR 2D (L1, L3, L4, S4) and KIR 3DL1 protein expression in non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:82104–11. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13486
- 45. Vineretsky KA, Karagas MR, Christensen BC, Kuriger-Laber JK, Perry AE, Storm CA, et al. Skin cancer risk is modified by KIR/HLA interactions that influence the activation of natural killer immune cells. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:370–6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0547
- 46. Cornillet M, Jansson H, Schaffer M, Hertwig L, Berglin L, Zimmer CL, et al. Imbalance of genes encoding natural killer immunoglobulin-like receptors and human leukocyte antigen in patients with biliary cancer. *Gastroenterology*. (2019) 157:1067–80 e9. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.06.023
- Trefny MP, Rothschild SI, Uhlenbrock F, Rieder D, Kasenda B, Stanczak MA, et al. A variant of a killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor is associated with resistance to PD-1 blockade in lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:3026–34. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3041
- Romagne F, Andre P, Spee P, Zahn S, Anfossi N, Gauthier L, et al. Preclinical characterization of 1-7F9, a novel human anti-KIR receptor therapeutic antibody that augments natural killer-mediated killing of tumor cells. *Blood*. (2009) 114:2667–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-02-206532
- Benson DM Jr, Bakan CE, Zhang S, Collins SM, Liang J, Srivastava S, et al. IPH2101, a novel anti-inhibitory KIR antibody, and lenalidomide combine to enhance the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect. *Blood.* (2011) 118:6387–91. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-360255
- Vey N, Bourhis JH, Boissel N, Bordessoule D, Prebet T, Charbonnier A, et al. A phase 1 trial of the anti-inhibitory KIR mAb IPH2101 for AML in complete remission. *Blood.* (2012) 120:4317–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-437558
- 51. Vey N, Karlin L, Sadot-Lebouvier S, Broussais F, Berton-Rigaud D, Rey J, et al. A phase 1 study of lirilumab (antibody against killer immunoglobulin-like receptor antibody KIR2D; IPH2102) in patients with solid tumors and hematologic malignancies. *Oncotarget.* (2018) 9:17675–88. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24832
- 52. Carlsten M, Korde N, Kotecha R, Reger R, Bor S, Kazandjian D, et al. Checkpoint inhibition of KIR2D with the monoclonal antibody IPH2101 induces contraction and hyporesponsiveness of NK cells in patients with myeloma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:5211–22. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1108
- 53. Bagot M, Porcu P, Marie-Cardine A, Battistella M, William BM, Vermeer M, et al. IPH4102, a first-in-class anti-KIR3DL2 monoclonal antibody, in patients with relapsed or refractory cutaneous T-cell lymphoma: an international, first-in-human, open-label, phase 1 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2019) 20:1160–70. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30320-1
- Ewen EM, Pahl JHW, Miller M, Watzl C, Cerwenka A. KIR downregulation by IL-12/15/18 unleashes human NK cells from KIR/HLA-I inhibition and enhances killing of tumor cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2018) 48:355–65. doi: 10.1002/eji.201747128
- Solomon BL, Garrido-Laguna I. TIGIT: a novel immunotherapy target moving from bench to bedside. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2018) 67:1659–67. doi: 10.1007/s00262-018-2246-5
- Dougall WC, Kurtulus S, Smyth MJ, Anderson AC. TIGIT and CD96: new checkpoint receptor targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev.* (2017) 276:112–20. doi: 10.1111/imr.12518
- 57. Yu X, Harden K, Gonzalez LC, Francesco M, Chiang E, Irving B, et al. The surface protein TIGIT suppresses T cell activation by promoting the generation of mature immunoregulatory dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:48–57. doi: 10.1038/ ni.1674

- Stanietsky N, Simic H, Arapovic J, Toporik A, Levy O, Novik A, et al. The interaction of TIGIT with PVR and PVRL2 inhibits human NK cell cytotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:17858–63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903474106
- Stanietsky N, Rovis TL, Glasner A, Seidel E, Tsukerman P, Yamin R, et al. Mouse TIGIT inhibits NK-cell cytotoxicity upon interaction with PVR. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:2138–50. doi: 10.1002/eji.201243072
- 60. Li M, Xia P, Du Y, Liu S, Huang G, Chen J, et al. T-cell immunoglobulin and ITIM domain (TIGIT) receptor/poliovirus receptor (PVR) ligand engagement suppresses interferon-gamma production of natural killer cells via beta-arrestin 2-mediated negative signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:17647–57. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.572420
- Wang F, Hou H, Wu S, Tang Q, Liu W, Huang M, et al. TIGIT expression levels on human NK cells correlate with functional heterogeneity among healthy individuals. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:2886–97. doi: 10.1002/eji.201545480
- Blessin NC, Simon R, Kluth M, Fischer K, Hube-Magg C, Li W, et al. Patterns of TIGIT expression in lymphatic tissue, inflammation, and cancer. *Dis Markers*. (2019) 2019:5160565. doi: 10.1155/2019/5160565
- Blake SJ, Stannard K, Liu J, Allen S, Yong MC, Mittal D, et al. Suppression of metastases using a new lymphocyte checkpoint target for cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Discov.* (2016) 6:446–59. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0944
- Peng YP, Xi CH, Zhu Y, Yin LD, Wei JS, Zhang JJ, et al. Altered expression of CD226 and CD96 on natural killer cells in patients with pancreatic cancer. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:66586–94. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11953
- 65. Sun H, Huang Q, Huang M, Wen H, Lin R, Zheng M, et al. Human CD96 correlates to natural killer cell exhaustion and predicts the prognosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology.* (2018) 70:168– 83. doi: 10.1002/hep.30347
- Chauvin JM, Pagliano O, Fourcade J, Sun Z, Wang H, Sander C, et al. TIGIT and PD-1 impair tumor antigen-specific CD8(+) T cells in melanoma patients. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:2046–58. doi: 10.1172/JCI80445
- Catakovic K, Gassner FJ, Ratswohl C, Zaborsky N, Rebhandl S, Schubert M, et al. TIGIT expressing CD4+T cells represent a tumor-supportive T cell subset in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 7:e1371399. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1371399
- Zhou XM, Li WQ, Wu YH, Han L, Cao XG, Yang XM, et al. Intrinsic expression of immune checkpoint molecule TIGIT could help tumor growth *in vivo* by suppressing the function of NK and CD8(+) T cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2821. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02821
- Xu F, Sunderland A, Zhou Y, Schulick RD, Edil BH, Zhu Y. Blockade of CD112R and TIGIT signaling sensitizes human natural killer cell functions. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2017) 66:1367–75. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-2031-x
- Audenet F, Farkas AM, Anastos H, Galsky MD, Bhardwaj N, Sfakianos JP. Immune phenotype of peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients with high-risk non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. *World J Urol.* (2018) 36:1741–8. doi: 10.1007/s00345-018-2359-7
- Degos C, Heinemann M, Barrou J, Boucherit N, Lambaudie E, Savina A, et al. Endometrial tumor microenvironment alters human NK cell recruitment, and resident NK cell phenotype and function. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:877. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00877
- Sarhan D, Cichocki F, Zhang B, Yingst A, Spellman SR, Cooley S, et al. Adaptive NK cells with low TIGIT expression are inherently resistant to myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:5696–706. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0839
- Georgiev H, Ravens I, Papadogianni G, Bernhardt G. Coming of age: CD96 emerges as modulator of immune responses. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1072. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01072
- Minton K. Natural killer cells: a TACTILE restraint. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:285. doi: 10.1038/nri3664
- Fuchs A, Cella M, Giurisato E, Shaw AS, Colonna M. Cutting edge: CD96 (tactile) promotes NK cell-target cell adhesion by interacting with the poliovirus receptor (CD155). J Immunol. (2004) 172:3994–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.3994
- Bernhardt G. TACTILE becomes tangible: CD96 discloses its inhibitory peculiarities. Nat Immunol. (2014) 15:406–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2855

- Chan CJ, Martinet L, Gilfillan S, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Chow MT, Town L, et al. The receptors CD96 and CD226 oppose each other in the regulation of natural killer cell functions. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:431–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2850
- Barrow AD, Edeling MA, Trifonov V, Luo J, Goyal P, Bohl B, et al. Natural killer cells control tumor growth by sensing a growth factor. *Cell.* (2018) 172:534–48 e19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.037
- Deuss FA, Watson GM, Fu Z, Rossjohn J, Berry R. Structural basis for CD96 immune receptor recognition of nectin-like protein-5, CD155. *Structure*. (2019) 27:219–28 e3. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2018.10.023
- Roman Aguilera A, Lutzky VP, Mittal D, Li XY, Stannard K, Takeda K, et al. CD96 targeted antibodies need not block CD96-CD155 interactions to promote NK cell anti-metastatic activity. *Oncoimmunology.* (2018) 7:e1424677. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1424677
- Karade SS, Mariuzza RA. How natural killer cell receptors stick to cell-cell adhesion proteins. *Structure*. (2019) 27:209–10. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2019.01.007
- Brooks J, Fleischmann-Mundt B, Woller N, Niemann J, Ribback S, Peters K, et al. Perioperative, spatiotemporally coordinated activation of T and NK cells prevents recurrence of pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:475–88. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-2415
- Vujanovic L, Chuckran C, Lin Y, Ding F, Sander CA, Santos PM, et al. CD56(dim) CD16(-) natural killer cell profiling in melanoma patients receiving a cancer vaccine and interferon-alpha. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:14. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00014
- 84. Baixeras E, Huard B, Miossec C, Jitsukawa S, Martin M, Hercend T, et al. Characterization of the lymphocyte activation gene 3-encoded protein. A new ligand for human leukocyte antigen class II antigens. J Exp Med. (1992) 176:327–37. doi: 10.1084/jem.176.2.327
- Sun H, Sun C, Xiao W. Expression regulation of co-inhibitory molecules on human natural killer cells in response to cytokine stimulations. *Cytokine*. (2014) 65:33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2013.09.016
- 86. Xu F, Liu J, Liu D, Liu B, Wang M, Hu Z, et al. LSECtin expressed on melanoma cells promotes tumor progression by inhibiting antitumor T-cell responses. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:3418–28. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2690
- Wang J, Sanmamed MF, Datar I, Su TT, Ji L, Sun J, et al. Fibrinogenlike protein 1 is a major immune inhibitory ligand of LAG-3. *Cell.* (2019) 176:334–47 e12. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.11.010
- Workman CJ, Vignali DA. The CD4-related molecule, LAG-3 (CD223), regulates the expansion of activated T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:970–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.200323382
- Workman CJ, Cauley LS, Kim IJ, Blackman MA, Woodland DL, Vignali DA. Lymphocyte activation gene-3 (CD223) regulates the size of the expanding T cell population following antigen activation *in vivo. J Immunol.* (2004) 172:5450–5. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.9.5450
- Blackburn SD, Shin H, Haining WN, Zou T, Workman CJ, Polley A, et al. Coregulation of CD8⁺ T cell exhaustion by multiple inhibitory receptors during chronic viral infection. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:29–37. doi: 10.1038/ni.1679
- Anderson AC, Joller N, Kuchroo VK. Lag-3, Tim-3, and TIGIT: co-inhibitory receptors with specialized functions in immune regulation. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:989–1004. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.05.001
- Mishra AK, Kadoishi T, Wang X, Driver E, Chen Z, Wang XJ, et al. Squamous cell carcinomas escape immune surveillance via inducing chronic activation and exhaustion of CD8⁺ T cells co-expressing PD-1 and LAG-3 inhibitory receptors. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:81341–56. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13228
- 93. Datar I, Sanmamed MF, Wang J, Henick BS, Choi J, Badri T, et al. Expression analysis and significance of PD-1, LAG-3, and TIM-3 in human non-small cell lung cancer using spatially resolved and multiparametric single-cell analysis. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:4663–73. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-4142
- Liao Z, Lv X, Liu S, He Z, Chen S, Wang L, et al. Different aberrant expression pattern of immune checkpoint receptors in patients with PTCL and NK/T-CL. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. (2018) 14:e252–8. doi: 10.1111/ajco.12850
- 95. Johnson DB, Nixon MJ, Wang Y, Wang DY, Castellanos E, Estrada MV, et al. Tumor-specific MHC-II expression drives a unique pattern of resistance

to immunotherapy via LAG-3/FCRL6 engagement. JCI Insight. (2018) 3:120360. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.120360

- Miyazaki T, Dierich A, Benoist C, Mathis D. Independent modes of natural killing distinguished in mice lacking Lag3. *Science*. (1996) 272:405–8. doi: 10.1126/science.272.5260.405
- Huard B, Tournier M, Triebel F. LAG-3 does not define a specific mode of natural killing in human. *Immunol Lett.* (1998) 61:109–12. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2478(97)00170-3
- Ohs I, Ducimetiere L, Marinho J, Kulig P, Becher B, Tugues S. Restoration of natural killer cell antimetastatic activity by IL12 and checkpoint blockade. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:7059–71. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1032
- Li Y, Li D, Du M. TIM-3: a crucial regulator of NK cells in pregnancy. Cell Mol Immunol. (2017) 14:948–50. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.85
- Bertheloot D, Latz E. HMGB1, IL-1alpha, IL-33 and S100 proteins: dual-function alarmins. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:43–64. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2016.34
- 101. Gleason MK, Lenvik TR, McCullar V, Felices M, O'Brien MS, Cooley SA, et al. Tim-3 is an inducible human natural killer cell receptor that enhances interferon gamma production in response to galectin-9. *Blood*. (2012) 119:3064–72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-360321
- 102. Ndhlovu LC, Lopez-Verges S, Barbour JD, Jones RB, Jha AR, Long BR, et al. Tim-3 marks human natural killer cell maturation and suppresses cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Blood.* (2012) 119:3734–43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-11-392951
- 103. Ju Y, Hou N, Meng J, Wang X, Zhang X, Zhao D, et al. T cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule-3 (Tim-3) mediates natural killer cell suppression in chronic hepatitis B. J Hepatol. (2010) 52:322–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.12.005
- 104. Komita H, Koido S, Hayashi K, Kan S, Ito M, Kamata Y, et al. Expression of immune checkpoint molecules of T cell immunoglobulin and mucin protein 3/galectin-9 for NK cell suppression in human gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Oncol Rep. (2015) 34:2099–105. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.4149
- 105. Xu L, Huang Y, Tan L, Yu W, Chen D, Lu C, et al. Increased Tim-3 expression in peripheral NK cells predicts a poorer prognosis and Tim-3 blockade improves NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in human lung adenocarcinoma. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2015) 29:635–41. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2015.09.017
- 106. Linedale R, Schmidt C, King BT, Ganko AG, Simpson F, Panizza BJ, et al. Elevated frequencies of CD8 T cells expressing PD-1, CTLA-4 and Tim-3 within tumour from perineural squamous cell carcinoma patients. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0175755. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175755
- 107. da Silva IP, Gallois A, Jimenez-Baranda S, Khan S, Anderson AC, Kuchroo VK, et al. Reversal of NK-cell exhaustion in advanced melanoma by Tim-3 blockade. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2014) 2:410–22. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0171
- Wang Z, Zhu J, Gu H, Yuan Y, Zhang B, Zhu D, et al. The clinical significance of abnormal Tim-3 expression on NK cells from patients with gastric cancer. *Immunol Invest.* (2015) 44:578–89. doi: 10.3109/08820139.2015.1052145
- 109. Goncalves Silva I, Yasinska IM, Sakhnevych SS, Fiedler W, Wellbrock J, Bardelli M, et al. The Tim-3-galectin-9 secretory pathway is involved in the immune escape of human acute myeloid leukemia cells. *EBioMedicine*. (2017) 22:44–57. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.07.018
- 110. Seo H, Jeon I, Kim BS, Park M, Bae EA, Song B, et al. IL-21mediated reversal of NK cell exhaustion facilitates anti-tumour immunity in MHC class I-deficient tumours. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15776. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15776
- 111. Granier C, Dariane C, Combe P, Verkarre V, Urien S, Badoual C, et al. Tim-3 expression on tumor-infiltrating PD-1(+)CD8(+) T cells correlates with poor clinical outcome in renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:1075–82. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0274
- 112. Gorchs L, Fernandez Moro C, Bankhead P, Kern KP, Sadeak I, Meng Q, et al. Human pancreatic carcinoma-associated fibroblasts promote expression of co-inhibitory markers on CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cells. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:847. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00847
- 113. Li X, Wang B, Gu L, Zhang J, Li X, Gao L, et al. Tim-3 expression predicts the abnormal innate immune status and poor prognosis of glioma patients. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2018) 476:178–84. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2017. 11.022

- 114. Yin M, Di G, Bian M. Dysfunction of natural killer cells mediated by PD-1 and Tim-3 pathway in anaplastic thyroid cancer. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2018) 64:333–9. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.09.016
- 115. Zhang W, Feng H, Chen Q, Lu X, Ge J. The functional potency of natural killer cells in response to IL-2/IL-15/IL-21 stimulation is limited by a concurrent upregulation of Tim-3 in bladder cancer. *Exp Cell Res.* (2018) 372:92–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2018.09.013
- 116. Zheng Y, Li Y, Lian J, Yang H, Li F, Zhao S, et al. TNF-alphainduced Tim-3 expression marks the dysfunction of infiltrating natural killer cells in human esophageal cancer. *J Transl Med.* (2019) 17:165. doi: 10.1186/s12967-019-1917-0
- De Sousa Linhares A, Leitner J, Grabmeier-Pfistershammer K, Steinberger P. Not all immune checkpoints are created equal. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1909. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01909
- Lee J, Su EW, Zhu C, Hainline S, Phuah J, Moroco JA, et al. Phosphotyrosinedependent coupling of Tim-3 to T-cell receptor signaling pathways. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2011) 31:3963–74. doi: 10.1128/MCB.05297-11
- 119. Tomkowicz B, Walsh E, Cotty A, Verona R, Sabins N, Kaplan F, et al. TIM-3 Suppresses anti-CD3/CD28-induced TCR activation and IL-2 expression through the NFAT signaling pathway. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0140694. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140694
- 120. Sabins NC, Chornoguz O, Leander K, Kaplan F, Carter R, Kinder M, et al. TIM-3 engagement promotes effector memory T cell differentiation of human antigen-specific CD8 T cells by activating mTORC1. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:4091–102. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701030
- Leitner J, Rieger A, Pickl WF, Zlabinger G, Grabmeier-Pfistershammer K, Steinberger P. TIM-3 does not act as a receptor for galectin-9. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013) 9:e1003253. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003253
- 122. Sabatos-Peyton CA, Nevin J, Brock A, Venable JD, Tan DJ, Kassam N, et al. Blockade of Tim-3 binding to phosphatidylserine and CEACAM1 is a shared feature of anti-Tim-3 antibodies that have functional efficacy. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1385690. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1385690
- 123. Tallerico R, Cristiani CM, Staaf E, Garofalo C, Sottile R, Capone M, et al. IL-15, TIM-3 and NK cells subsets predict responsiveness to anti-CTLA-4 treatment in melanoma patients. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1261242. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1261242

- 124. Zhu C, Sakuishi K, Xiao S, Sun Z, Zaghouani S, Gu G, et al. An IL-27/NFIL3 signalling axis drives Tim-3 and IL-10 expression and T-cell dysfunction. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:6072. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8657
- 125. Sottile R, Tannazi M, Johansson MH, Cristiani CM, Calabro L, Ventura V, et al. NK- and T-cell subsets in malignant mesothelioma patients: Baseline pattern and changes in the context of anti-CTLA-4 therapy. *Int J Cancer.* (2019) 145:2238–48. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32363
- 126. Hsu J, Hodgins JJ, Marathe M, Nicolai CJ, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Trevino TN, et al. Contribution of NK cells to immunotherapy mediated by PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:4654–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI99317
- 127. Gur C, Ibrahim Y, Isaacson B, Yamin R, Abed J, Gamliel M, et al. Binding of the Fap2 protein of *Fusobacterium nucleatum* to human inhibitory receptor TIGIT protects tumors from immune cell attack. *Immunity*. (2015) 42:344– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.01.010
- 128. Sedy JR, Bjordahl RL, Bekiaris V, Macauley MG, Ware BC, Norris PS, et al. CD160 activation by herpesvirus entry mediator augments inflammatory cytokine production and cytolytic function by NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:828–36. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300894
- Cichocki F, Miller JS. Setting traps for NKG2A gives NK cell immunotherapy a fighting chance. J Clin Invest. (2019) 130:1839–41. doi: 10.1172/JCI128480
- 130. Seo H, Kim BS, Bae EA, Min BS, Han YD, Shin SJ, et al. IL21 Therapy combined with PD-1 and Tim-3 blockade provides enhanced NK cell antitumor activity against MHC class I-deficient tumors. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:685–95. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0708

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sun and Sun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Post-translational Mechanisms Regulating NK Cell Activating Receptors and Their Ligands in Cancer: Potential Targets for Therapeutic Intervention

Rosa Molfetta, Alessandra Zingoni, Angela Santoni and Rossella Paolini*

Department of Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Laboratory Affiliated to Istituto Pasteur Italia-Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti, Rome, Italy

Efficient clearance of transformed cells by Natural Killer (NK) cells is regulated by several activating receptors, including NKG2D, NCRs, and DNAM-1. Expression of these receptors as well as their specific "induced self" ligands is finely regulated during malignant transformation through the integration of different mechanisms acting on transcriptional, post-transcriptional, and post-translational levels. Among post-translational mechanisms, the release of activating ligands in the extracellular milieu through protease-mediated cleavage or by extracellular vesicle secretion represents some relevant cancer immune escape processes. Moreover, covalent modifications including ubiquitination and SUMOylation also contribute to negative regulation of NKG2D and DNAM-1 ligand surface expression resulting either in ligand intracellular retention and/or ligand degradation. All these mechanisms greatly impact on NK cell mediated recognition and killing of cancer cells and may be targeted to potentiate NK cell surveillance against tumors. Our mini review summarizes the main post-translational mechanisms regulating the expression of activating receptors and their ligands with particular emphasis on the contribution of ligand shedding and of ubiguitin and ubiquitin-like modifications in reducing target cell susceptibility to NK cell-mediated killing. Strategies aimed at inhibiting shedding of activating ligands and their modifications in order to preserve ligand expression on cancer cells will be also discussed.

Keywords: activating NK cell receptors, ligands for NK cell activating receptors, post-translational modifications, shedding, ubiquitin modification

INTRODUCTION

Natural Killer (NK) cell activation is tuned by the integration of signals derived from inhibitory receptors for Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class I molecules and from activating receptors that bind either non self-molecules associated to pathogens or self-molecules up-regulated in stress conditions including malignant transformation (1, 2).

Among activating receptors, Natural-Killer receptor group 2, member D (NKG2D), DNAX-associated molecule1 (DNAM-1), and the Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors (NCRs) play a pivotal role in NK cell-mediated tumor surveillance as revealed by an increased incidence of spontaneous malignancies or impaired tumor clearance

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Daniel Olive

Aix Marseille Université, France

Reviewed by:

Elke Pogge Von Strandmann, University of Marburg, Germany Margherita Doria, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Rossella Paolini rossella.paolini@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 24 July 2019 Accepted: 15 October 2019 Published: 31 October 2019

Citation:

Molfetta R, Zingoni A, Santoni A and Paolini R (2019) Post-translational Mechanisms Regulating NK Cell Activating Receptors and Their Ligands in Cancer: Potential Targets for Therapeutic Intervention. Front. Immunol. 10:2557. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02557 in mice deficient for these receptors (3–7). In human, NCR expression may represent a prognostic biomarker in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and solid tumors (8–10). Moreover, the engagement of the low affinity receptor for IgG (CD16) by means of natural or therapeutic monoclonal antibodies can also contribute to tumor clearance through antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) (11, 12).

NK Cell Activating Receptors and Their Ligands on Tumor Cells

NKG2D is a C-type lectin receptor not exclusively expressed on NK cells but also found on NKT, CD8⁺ $\alpha\beta$ T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and activated CD4⁺ $\alpha\beta$ T cells (13–15). In humans, NKG2D binds to the adaptor DNAX activating protein 10 (DAP10), responsible for signal propagation. In murine activated NK cells, a shorter NKG2D isoform can either associate with DAP10 or DAP12, an alternative signal transducing adaptor (16, 17).

Human NKG2D ligands (NKG2DLs) belong to two families of polymorphic molecules structurally related to MHC class I: the MHC class I related proteins (MIC)A/B which possess $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, and $\alpha 3$ domains similar to MHC molecules and six UL16 binding proteins (ULBP1-6) characterized by $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains (15, 18, 19). MICA and MICB are generally transmembrane proteins, while ULBP proteins can be transmembrane (ULBP4 and 6) or GPI-linked (ULPB1-3 and 5) molecules. Murine NKG2DLs include Rae- 1α - ϵ , MULT1, and H60a-c and are expressed either as transmembrane or GPI-linked molecules (18).

DNAM-1 belongs to the immunoglobulin receptor family and is expressed not only on NK cells but also on monocytes, T cells, and subsets of B cells (14, 20, 21). It binds to Nectin2/CD112 and PVR/CD155 both members of the Nectin/Nectin-like family of adhesion molecules (22–24), and it associates with the integrin LFA1 to transduce intracellular signals.

Natural cytotoxicity receptors comprise NKp46, NKp44, and NKp30 immunoglobulin-like receptors that are not exclusively expressed on NK cells but also on innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) of group 1 (ILC1) and a subset of ILC3, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and a population of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (25, 26). Only ortholog of NKp46 is expressed in mice (26).

NKp30 and NKp46 associate with the signal transducing adaptors CD3 ζ and Fc ϵ RI γ while NKp44 mainly signals through the DAP12 adapter. Splicing variants of NKp44 and NKp30 endowed with inhibitory signal capability have been described and are associated with worst prognosis in cancer patients (9, 27).

NCRs interact with several ligands that are either pathogenencoded or self-molecules and include cell surface and intracellular proteins that reach the surface in infected or transformed cells (28). However, the ligands expressed on tumor cells have not been fully identified yet.

Each NCR has the ability to recognize a specific configuration of heparan sulfate proteoglycans expressed in the context of tumor microenvironment, and this binding can modulate receptor function (28). Ligands for NKp30 include B7-H6 belonging to the B7 family and only expressed on tumor cells, the intracellular protein HLA-B associated transcript 3 (BAT3), also known as BAG6, and galectin-3 (29–31). The first two ligands bind to and activate NKp30 while the released form of galectin-3 inhibits anti-tumor NKp30 function.

NKp44 interacts with the Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen (PCNA), which is aberrantly expressed on the surface of tumor cells. This binding preferentially engages an inhibitory isoform of NKp44 and negatively regulates NK cell functions (32). Interaction between NKp44 and a subset of HLA-DP molecules has been recently reported (33) demonstrating that HLA class II molecules may impact on NK cell activity. Of note, NKp44 can be triggered by specific tumor-derived soluble growth factors (34) and by Nidogen-1, an extracellular matrix protein (35). NKp46 recognize viral ligands including hemagglutinins as well as tumor ligands of still unknown identity.

Most of the above mentioned NK cell activating ligands, including NKG2DLs and B7-H6, are absent in normal cells but their expression is induced upon neoplastic transformation, thus rendering tumor cells more susceptible to NK cell-mediated killing (29, 36–41).

On the other hand, PVR and Nectin2 are expressed on healthy cells (21) but their amount is up-regulated on epithelial and hematological tumor cells promoting NK cell cytotoxicity (7, 42-44).

POST-TRANSLATIONAL MECHANISMS MODULATING MEMBRANE EXPRESSION OF NK CELL ACTIVATING LIGANDS ON TUMOR CELLS

During malignant transformation different stressful stimuli are responsible for the induction of NK cell activating ligands at transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels and the molecular mechanisms implicated have been partially identified (18, 45). Moreover, increasing evidence demonstrate that posttranslational mechanisms including the release of ligands for NK cell activating receptors as soluble forms as well as ligand modification by the Ubiquitin (Ub) or Ub-like pathways are used by tumor cells to dampen activating ligand surface expression in order to evade NK cell recognition (**Figure 1A**).

Mechanisms Implicated in the Release of Ligands for NK Cell Activating Receptors

Most of the information regarding soluble ligands in cancer patients comes from studies performed on NKG2DLs. These molecules are present in the sera of patients affected by hematological or solid malignancies, and their level correlate with tumor stage and poor prognosis (46–53). More recently, B7-H6, BAG6, and PVR soluble forms have been found in the sera of patients affected by different type of tumors suggesting a relationship between soluble ligand expression and cancer progression (54–58).

Generation of soluble ligands relies on different mechanisms including alternative splicing, exosome secretion and proteolytic



(left). CD16 is also downmodulated by metalloproteinase-mediated shedding. Mechanisms regulating DNAM-1 and NCR (NKp30) downmodulation are currently unknown. (B) Therapeutic strategies aimed to prevent post-translational mechanisms affecting activating ligand and receptor expression.

cleavage. Soluble PVR isoforms are generated by alternative splicing (59) and have an inhibitory effect on DNAM-1 mediated tumor immunity (54). In addition, alternative splicing gives rise to ULBP-4/5 secreted ligands that can impair NK cell target recognition *in vitro* (60, 61).

Exosomes represents nanovesicles derived from the endosomal compartment (62) and have been involved in the secretion of NKG2D and NKp30 ligands but not of DNAM-1 ligands (63). Differently from the proteolytic-mediated release, expression of activating ligands on the exosome surface should retain their biological activity by keeping the integral-molecule. A number of studies have shown that NKG2DLs from both MIC and ULBP families are expressed on the surface of exosome-like vesicles released from ovarian cancer (63), melanoma (64), and prostate cancer cells (65). Remarkably, NKG2DLs such as ULBP3 and ULBP1 (66) or the allelic variant MICA*008 (67, 68) that are glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins, are preferentially released via exosomes.

In regard to NKp30Ls, the nuclear protein BAG6 is secreted on exosomes and stimulates NK cell activity (69), whereas the cell surface ligand B7-H6 can be released in its soluble form associated to exosomes or through protease-mediated cleavage (57, 70, 71). Although several stress conditions can increase exosome secretion from cancer cells (72–75), it is still uncertain whether the release of NKG2DLs or B7-H6 through exosome-like vesicles could result in the diminution of their expression on the cell surface.

Concerning the shedding process, MICA, MICB, and ULBP2 are cut by metalloproteinases belonging to two distinct families, the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and a disintegrin and metalloproteinases (ADAMs) (76–81), whereas the B7-H6 proteolytic cleavage occurs through a mechanism mainly dependent on ADAM enzymes (57). A recent study has shown that some ULBP4 isoforms are sensitive to the protease cleavage (82). Both MMPs and ADAMs proteases undergo modulation of their activity and expression in the course of neoplastic transformation (83, 84) and in response to cancer therapy (85– 88). Disparate sensitivity to the proteases has been described for distinct NKG2DLs and/or allelic variants and isoforms. For instance, the generation of soluble MICA can be affected by polymorphisms as shown for the MICA*008 allele that is resistant to the protease-mediated cleavage. Moreover, the MICA-129 dimorphism, producing a valine to methionine swap at position 129, influenced the MICA cleavage process but the mechanism behind has to be defined (89, 90). In addition, proteolytic cleavage can be affected by fatty acylation and palmytolation that mediate MICA/B recruitment to membrane microdomains (78, 91).

Differently from the exosome-mediated release, the proteolytic cleavage of NKG2DLs and B7H6 has been associated to a reduction of cell surface ligands, thus its inhibition could be accomplished as a promising approach to keep the ligands on cancer cell surface and to promote anti-cancer immune response.

Activating Ligand Modification by Ub and Ub-Like Pathways

Recent evidences reveal a role for ubiquitination and SUMOylation in the regulation of NK cell ligand expression on tumor cells.

Ubiquitination and SUMOylation are reversible modifications whereby Ub and small Ub-like modifier (SUMO), respectively, are covalently bound to a target protein through the action of enzymes frequently up-regulated during malignant transformation (92–95).

Once modified, proteins undergo different fate depending on the type of modification.

Proteins modified by poli-Ub chains are generally targeted to proteasomal degradation (95) whereas the addition of single Ub molecules to one or more lysine residues promote non-degradative fates including regulation of membrane protein endocytosis (96). SUMOylated substrates undergo conformational changes that in turn modify their interaction with other proteins or their enzymatic activity without inducing a degradative fate (94).

Little is currently known about the role of these modifications in the regulation of NK cell ligand expression during malignant transformation.

Ubiquitination of MICA/B has been demonstrated in Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus infected cells: the viral E3 Ub ligase K5 induces modification of both NKG2DLs and their intracellular retention (97). Moreover, in healthy cells the murine ULBP-1 ortholog MULT-1 undergoes constitutive ubiquitination and lysosomal degradation (98, 99). Interestingly, stress conditions including UV radiation and heat shock prevent MULT-1 ubiquitination and increase its surface expression (98). Thus, these results support a negative role for the Ub pathway in the regulation of NKG2DL expression.

In tumor cells a direct implication of the Ub pathway has not been formally reported but several data demonstrate that surface expression of human NKG2DLs is regulated by a rapid protein turnover. In melanoma cells, an immature form of MICA accumulates in the endoplasmic reticulum and is targeted to degradation (100). MICB is internalized and retained intracellularly in several tumor cell lines (101), while in Multiple Myeloma (MM) cells the constitutive internalization of MICB is followed by its lysosomal degradation (102). Similarly, the GPI-linked ligand ULBP1 is continuously removed from plasma membrane and targeted to proteasomal degradation (103). Regarding DNAM-1 ligands, in hepatocellular carcinoma the activation of Unfolded Protein Response (UPR) inhibits PVR surface expression and promotes protein degradation (104). In line with this result, ubiquitination and SUMOylation negatively regulates surface expression of Nectin2 and PVR on tumor cells (105, 106). Ubiquitinated Nectin2 is retained in intracellular compartments but also targeted to proteasomal degradation (106) whereas SUMOylation of PVR promotes its intracellular retention without inducing protein degradation (105). Inhibition of Ub and SUMO pathways increases Nectin2 and PVR surface expression and renders tumor cells more sensitive to NK cell-mediated killing.

Although these findings are currently limited to NKG2D and DNAM-1 ligands, they provide novel insights into the mechanisms underlying activating ligand expression in diseased cells and reveal novel potential targets for therapeutic intervention.

LIGAND INDUCED DOWN-MODULATION OF NK CELL ACTIVATING RECEPTOR EXPRESSION

Tumor progression also implies the inability of NK cells to kill tumor cells as consequence of ligand mediated down-regulation of activating receptors (**Figure 1A**).

However, receptor down-regulation may be affected by the presence of soluble or membrane-bound ligands as well as by their affinity and/or avidity (19).

A decreased in NCR expression levels was observed in NK cells derived from patients affected by myeloid leukemia and other tumors upon the interaction with their respective ligands (8, 107).

Reduced NKp30 surface expression has been also detected on NK cells derived from ovarian carcinoma and neuroblastoma patients as a result of chronic stimulation either with B7-H6-expressing tumor cells or soluble B7-H6 (55, 56, 108). Moreover, the presence of soluble BAG6 has been associated with a low transcriptional levels of different NKp30 isoforms (58, 109).

DNAM-1 engagement, by membrane-bound ligands but not their soluble counterpart, is also followed by receptor downmodulation and impairment of NK cell functions in patients affected by different tumors including MM, ovarian carcinoma and AML (44, 110, 111). However, the mechanisms underlying these effects are still undefined.

For other activating receptors including NKG2D and CD16, mechanisms of ligand-induced down-modulation have been elucidated.

NKG2D stimulation by ligands expressed on tumor cells as well as by soluble ligands promotes receptor endocytosis and the decrease of NKG2D-dependent functions (46, 76, 112–115). In regard to released ligands, those associated to exosomes show a higher avidity and a more efficient ability to induce receptor down-regulation compared to shed ligands (66, 67).

In humans, internalization of ligand-engaged NKG2D receptors requires DAP10 ubiquitination and is followed by

lysosomal degradation (116). However, MICA is more efficient than ULBP2 in promoting receptor ubiquitination (114).

Ub modification has been also implicated in the downmodulation of CD16 in response to antibody-coated tumor cells (117–119). Indeed, CD16 clearance from NK cell surface is mainly induced by Ub-dependent endocytosis of aggregated receptors followed by degradation of CD16 ζ subunit and the associated kinases (114, 117, 120). However, CD16 down-regulation can also occur as a consequence of metalloproteinase-induced receptor shedding (121–124). Regardless, NK cell-mediated ADCC, natural cytotoxicity, and the efficacy of antibody-based therapies resulted impaired (118, 119, 125).

Altogether these results demonstrate that activating receptor expression is modulated in tumor microenvironment by the interaction with ligand-expressing cells, thus impairing NK cell ability to counteract tumor development.

TARGETING POST-TRANSLATIONAL MECHANISMS REGULATING NK CELL-MEDIATED RECOGNITION AND KILLING OF CANCER CELLS

All these post-translational mechanisms represent potential targets for therapeutic intervention (Figure 1B). Ligand shedding blocking can be achieved by the usage of inhibitors of MMPs and ADAMs enzymes (57, 77, 126). Since ADAM10 and ADAM17 sheddases play a prominent role in B7-H6 (57) and NKG2DL cleavage (77, 78, 80, 127), the selective targeting of such enzymes might be promising for anticancer therapy. Recently, by performing an in vitro drug screen using an FDA-approved drug library, lomofungin was found to strongly decrease ADAM17 activity in hepatocellular carcinoma leading to the impairment of MICA shedding and has been proposed as new drug candidate for immunotherapy in liver cancer (128). Most of the compounds able to inhibit ADAM catalytic activity are hydroxamate-based and are either selective for ADAM17 or inhibitors of both ADAM10 and ADAM17 (129). Of interest, the synthesis of new selective ADAM10 inhibitors able to impair NKG2DL shedding in Hodgkin's lymphoma cell models has been reported (130). ADAM10 and ADAM17 are expressed at high levels on the surface of glioblastoma-initiating cells thus contributing to an immunosuppressive phenotype through the ULBP2 cleavage. Specific inhibition of these enzymes preserved cell surface ULBP2 leading to increased glioblastoma cell recognition and killing by NK cells (131). Remarkably, in vivo experiments using athymic nu-/nu- mice implanted with subcutaneous HeLa tumors demonstrated that systemic MMPi treatment resulted in the reduction of MICA serum levels and a concomitant augmentation of MICA expression on cancer cells reinforcing the immune cell therapy mediated by cytokine-induced killer cells (132). Of interest, adoptively transferred NK cells displaying high levels of surface NKG2D determined the clearance of soluble MICA in neuroblastoma patients by preserving NK cell cytotoxicity via non-occupied NKG2D (133).

Another appealing strategy to specifically inhibit MICA/B proteolytic cleavage concerns the generation of antibodies targeting the MIC protein domain involved in the proteolytic cleavage (134). Interestingly the usage of these antibodies limited MICA/B shedding in human cancer cells and repressed cancer cell growth in *in vivo* models (134). More recently, the glycosylation-engineered epitope mapping (GEM) method allowed to the identification of a number of epitopes relevant for MICA/B shedding inhibition (135).

In general, such antibodies as well as metalloproteinase inhibitors could be used in combination with other therapies aimed at the enhancement of ligand expression on the surface of cancer cells including DNA damaging agents (127), radiations (87), and chemotherapeutic drugs (132). Our group has shown that the combined use of metalloproteinase inhibitors and genotoxic drugs enhanced NK cell-mediated killing of multiple myeloma cells by preserving MIC molecules on the cell surface (127). To date, ADAMs inhibitors have been largely unsuccessful in clinical trials, but they remain a viable and desirable therapeutic target based on preclinical studies.

Strategies aimed at inhibiting ADAM17-mediated CD16 cleavage from the surface of NK cells could be also promising. Beyond the usage of inhibitors, recent advances in generating function-blocking antibodies of ADAM17 are emerging. The monoclonal antibody MEDI3622 has been shown to block CD16A cleavage from activated human NK cells allowing to an increased IFN γ production in the course of ADCC (136).

Proteasome inhibitors can change the fate of ubiquitinated ligands. Bortezomib (Velcade) and Carfilzomib (Kyprolis) have been already used as chemotherapeutic drugs for relapsed MM patients (137–139) and for the treatment of mantle cell lymphoma (140).

In line with our findings (106), previous reports demonstrated that low doses of bortezomib increase NK cell activating ligand, including Nectin2 (141–143). Whether those drugs can directly affect ligand expression stabilizing ubiquitinated Nectin2 and/or SUMOylated PVR is currently unknown.

Regarding the SUMO pathway, the FDA-approved drug Topotecan has been shown to affect SUMOylation in glioblastoma multiforme (144). Moreover, natural compounds including ginkgolic acid and tannic acid (145, 146) have been found to possess anti-cancer activities by targeting the SUMO pathway (147).

All of these compounds hold great promise to be developed into novel and efficient anti-cancer drugs.

CONCLUSION AND THERAPEUTIC PERSPECTIVES

On tumor cells, several activating ligands are subjected to protease-mediated cleavage with a consequent dramatic reduction of their surface expression. A similar effect is also achieved upon ubiquitination or SUMOylation of NKG2D and DNAM-1 ligands, which are retained intracellularly and/or degraded. On NK cells, the Ub pathway may also contribute to down-regulate the surface expression of activating receptors.

In conclusion, all these post-translational mechanisms act to reduce NK cell-mediated surveillance against tumors and represent potential targets for therapeutic intervention.

Several inhibitors have been developed and their use in combination with conventional therapies represent a useful tool to potentiate NK-cell mediated recognition and killing of tumor cells.

REFERENCES

- Long EO, Kim HS, Liu D, Peterson ME, Rajagopalan S. Controlling natural killer cell responses: integration of signals for activation and inhibition. *Ann Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:227–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075005
- Morvan MG, Lanier LL. NK cells and cancer: you can teach innate cells new tricks. Nat Rev Cancer. (2016) 16:7–19. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2015.5
- Guerra N, Tan YX, Joncker NT, Choy A, Gallardo F, Xiong N, et al. NKG2D-deficient mice are defective in tumor surveillance in models of spontaneous malignancy. *Immunity.* (2008) 28:571–80. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.02.016
- Iguchi-Manaka A, Kai H, Yamashita Y, Shibata K, Tahara-Hanaoka S, Honda S, et al. Accelerated tumor growth in mice deficient in DNAM-1 receptor. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:2959–64. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081611
- Gilfillan S, Chan CJ, Cella M, Haynes NM, Rapaport AS, Boles KS, et al. DNAM-1 promotes activation of cytotoxic lymphocytes by nonprofessional antigen-presenting cells and tumors. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:2965– 73. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081752
- Halfteck GG, Elboim M, Gur C, Achdout H, Ghadially H, Mandelboim O. Enhanced *in vivo* growth of lymphoma tumors in the absence of the NK-activating receptor NKp46/NCR1. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:2221– 30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801878
- Lakshmikanth T, Burke S, Ali TH, Kimpfler S, Ursini F, Ruggeri L, et al. NCRs and DNAM-1 mediate NK cell recognition and lysis of human and mouse melanoma cell lines *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:1251– 63. doi: 10.1172/JCI36022
- Fauriat C, Just-Landi S, Mallet F, Arnoulet C, Sainty D, Olive D, et al. Deficient expression of NCR in NK cells from acute myeloid leukemia: evolution during leukemia treatment and impact of leukemia cells in NCRdull phenotype induction. *Blood.* (2007) 109:323–30. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-08-027979
- Delahaye NF, Rusakiewicz S, Martins I, Menard C, Roux S, Lyonnet L, et al. Alternatively spliced NKp30 isoforms affect the prognosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:700–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.2366
- Chretien AS, Fauriat C, Orlanducci F, Rey J, Borg GB, Gautherot E, et al. NKp30 expression is a prognostic immune biomarker for stratification of patients with intermediate-risk acute myeloid leukemia. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:49548–63. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17747
- Mentlik James A, Cohen AD, Campbell KS. Combination immune therapies to enhance anti-tumor responses by NK cells. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:481. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00481
- Battella S, Cox MC, Santoni A, Palmieri G. Natural killer (NK) cells and antitumor therapeutic mAb: unexplored interactions. *J Leukocyte Biol.* (2016) 99:87–96. doi: 10.1189/jlb.5VMR0415-141R
- Ullrich E, Koch J, Cerwenka A, Steinle A. New prospects on the NKG2D/NKG2DL system for oncology. Oncoimmunology. (2013) 2:e26097. doi: 10.4161/onci.26097
- Marcus A, Gowen BG, Thompson TW, Iannello A, Ardolino M, Deng W, et al. Recognition of tumors by the innate immune system and natural killer cells. *Adv Immunol.* (2014) 122:91–128. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800267-4.00003-1

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RM, AZ, AS, and RP participated in the conception, writing, and elaboration of the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants of Italian Association for Cancer Research (AIRC Investigator Grant cod. 16014 and AIRC 5x1000) and Sapienza University (RM1181642771A58E).

- Lanier LL. NKG2D receptor and its ligands in host defense. Cancer Immunol Res. (2015) 3:575–82. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0098
- Diefenbach A, Tomasello E, Lucas M, Jamieson AM, Hsia JK, Vivier E, et al. Selective associations with signaling proteins determine stimulatory versus costimulatory activity of NKG2D. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:1142– 9. doi: 10.1038/ni858
- Gilfillan S, Ho EL, Cella M, Yokoyama WM, Colonna M. NKG2D recruits two distinct adapters to trigger NK cell activation and costimulation. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:1150–5. doi: 10.1038/ni857
- Raulet DH, Gasser S, Gowen BG, Deng W, Jung H. Regulation of ligands for the NKG2D activating receptor. *Ann Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:413– 41. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095951
- Zingoni A, Molfetta R, Fionda C, Soriani A, Paolini R, Cippitelli M, et al. NKG2D and its ligands: "one for all, all for one". *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:476. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00476
- Shibuya A, Campbell D, Hannum C, Yssel H, Franz-Bacon K, McClanahan T, et al. DNAM-1, a novel adhesion molecule involved in the cytolytic function of T lymphocytes. *Immunity*. (1996) 4:573–81. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)70060-4
- de Andrade LF, Smyth MJ, Martinet L. DNAM-1 control of natural killer cells functions through nectin and nectin-like proteins. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2014) 92:237–44. doi: 10.1038/icb.2013.95
- Bottino C, Castriconi R, Pende D, Rivera P, Nanni M, Carnemolla B, et al. Identification of PVR (CD155) and Nectin-2 (CD112) as cell surface ligands for the human DNAM-1 (CD226) activating molecule. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 198:557–67. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030788
- Tahara-Hanaoka S, Shibuya K, Onoda Y, Zhang H, Yamazaki S, Miyamoto A, et al. Functional characterization of DNAM-1 (CD226) interaction with its ligands PVR (CD155) and nectin-2 (PRR-2/CD112). *Int Immunol.* (2004) 16:533–8. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh059
- Chan CJ, Smyth MJ, Martinet L. Molecular mechanisms of natural killer cell activation in response to cellular stress. *Cell Death Different*. (2014) 21:5–14. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2013.26
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Cantoni C, Mingari MC, et al. Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Ann Rev Immunol.* (2001) 19:197– 223. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.197
- Barrow AD, Martin CJ, Colonna M. The natural cytotoxicity receptors in health and disease. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:909. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00909
- Campbell KS, Yusa S, Kikuchi-Maki A, Catina TL. NKp44 triggers NK cell activation through DAP12 association that is not influenced by a putative cytoplasmic inhibitory sequence. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:899– 906. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.2.899
- Pazina T, Shemesh A, Brusilovsky M, Porgador A, Campbell KS. Regulation of the functions of natural cytotoxicity receptors by interactions with diverse ligands and alterations in splice variant expression. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:369. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00369
- Brandt CS, Baratin M, Yi EC, Kennedy J, Gao Z, Fox B, et al. The B7 family member B7-H6 is a tumor cell ligand for the activating natural killer cell receptor NKp30 in humans. *J Exp Med.* (2009) 206:1495– 503. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090681
- Pogge von Strandmann E, Simhadri VR, von Tresckow B, Sasse S, Reiners KS, Hansen HP, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-B-associated transcript 3 is released from tumor cells and engages the NKp30 receptor on natural killer cells. *Immunity*. (2007) 27:965–74. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.10.010
- Wang W, Guo H, Geng J, Zheng X, Wei H, Sun R, et al. Tumor-released Galectin-3, a soluble inhibitory ligand of human NKp30, plays an important role in tumor escape from NK cell attack. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:33311– 9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.603464
- 32. Rosental B, Brusilovsky M, Hadad U, Oz D, Appel MY, Afergan F, et al. Proliferating cell nuclear antigen is a novel inhibitory ligand for the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp44. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:5693–702. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102267
- Niehrs A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Norman PJ, Watson GM, Holzemer A, Chapel A, et al. A subset of HLA-DP molecules serve as ligands for the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp44. *Nat Immunol.* (2019) 20:1129– 37. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0448-4
- Barrow AD, Edeling MA, Trifonov V, Luo J, Goyal P, Bohl B, et al. Natural killer cells control tumor growth by sensing a growth factor. *Cell.* (2018) 172:534–48 e19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.037
- Gaggero S, Bruschi M, Petretto A, Parodi M, Del Zotto G, Lavarello C, et al. Nidogen-1 is a novel extracellular ligand for the NKp44 activating receptor. Oncoimmunology. (2018) 7:e1470730. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1470730
- 36. Groh V, Rhinehart R, Secrist H, Bauer S, Grabstein KH, Spies T. Broad tumor-associated expression and recognition by tumor-derived gamma delta T cells of MICA and MICB. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1999) 96:6879– 84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.12.6879
- 37. Pende D, Cantoni C, Rivera P, Vitale M, Castriconi R, Marcenaro S, et al. Role of NKG2D in tumor cell lysis mediated by human NK cells: cooperation with natural cytotoxicity receptors and capability of recognizing tumors of nonepithelial origin. *Eur J Immunol.* (2001) 31:1076–86. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200104)31:4<1076::AID-IMMU1076>3.3.CO;2-P
- Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Groh V, Spies T, et al. Expression and role of MICA and MICB in human hepatocellular carcinomas and their regulation by retinoic acid. *Int J Cancer.* (2003) 104:354– 61. doi: 10.1002/ijc.10966
- 39. Salih HR, Antropius H, Gieseke F, Lutz SZ, Kanz L, Rammensee HG, et al. Functional expression and release of ligands for the activating immunoreceptor NKG2D in leukemia. *Blood.* (2003) 102:1389–96. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0019
- Friese MA, Platten M, Lutz SZ, Naumann U, Aulwurm S, Bischof F, et al. MICA/NKG2D-mediated immunogene therapy of experimental gliomas. *Cancer Res.* (2003) 63:8996–9006.
- Textor S, Bossler F, Henrich KO, Gartlgruber M, Pollmann J, Fiegler N, et al. The proto-oncogene Myc drives expression of the NK cellactivating NKp30 ligand B7-H6 in tumor cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1116674. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1116674
- Pende D, Spaggiari GM, Marcenaro S, Martini S, Rivera P, Capobianco A, et al. Analysis of the receptor-ligand interactions in the natural killermediated lysis of freshly isolated myeloid or lymphoblastic leukemias: evidence for the involvement of the Poliovirus receptor (CD155) and Nectin-2 (CD112). *Blood.* (2005) 105:2066–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3548
- Carlsten M, Bjorkstrom NK, Norell H, Bryceson Y, van Hall T, Baumann BC, et al. DNAX accessory molecule-1 mediated recognition of freshly isolated ovarian carcinoma by resting natural killer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:1317–25. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2264
- 44. El-Sherbiny YM, Meade JL, Holmes TD, McGonagle D, Mackie SL, Morgan AW, et al. The requirement for DNAM-1, NKG2D, and NKp46 in the natural killer cell-mediated killing of myeloma cells. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:8444–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4230
- 45. Cerboni C, Fionda C, Soriani A, Zingoni A, Doria M, Cippitelli M, et al. The DNA damage response: a common pathway in the regulation of NKG2D and DNAM-1 ligand expression in normal, infected, and cancer cells. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 4:508. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00508
- Doubrovina ES, Doubrovin MM, Vider E, Sisson RB, O'Reilly RJ, Dupont B, et al. Evasion from NK cell immunity by MHC class I chain-related molecules expressing colon adenocarcinoma. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:6891– 9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.12.6891

- Rebmann V, Schutt P, Brandhorst D, Opalka B, Moritz T, Nowrousian MR, et al. Soluble MICA as an independent prognostic factor for the overall survival and progression-free survival of multiple myeloma patients. *Clin Immunol.* (2007) 123:114–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2006.11.007
- Jinushi M, Vanneman M, Munshi NC, Tai YT, Prabhala RH, Ritz J, et al. MHC class I chain-related protein A antibodies and shedding are associated with the progression of multiple myeloma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:1285–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711293105
- Wu JD, Higgins LM, Steinle A, Cosman D, Haugk K, Plymate SR. Prevalent expression of the immunostimulatory MHC class I chain-related molecule is counteracted by shedding in prostate cancer. J Clin Invest. (2004) 114:560– 8. doi: 10.1172/JCI200422206
- Holdenrieder S, Stieber P, Peterfi A, Nagel D, Steinle A, Salih HR. Soluble MICB in malignant diseases: analysis of diagnostic significance and correlation with soluble MICA. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2006) 55:1584–9. doi: 10.1007/s00262-006-0167-1
- Holdenrieder S, Stieber P, Peterfi A, Nagel D, Steinle A, Salih HR. Soluble MICA in malignant diseases. *Int J Cancer.* (2006) 118:684– 7. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21382
- Baragano Raneros A, Suarez-Alvarez B, Lopez-Larrea C. Secretory pathways generating immunosuppressive NKG2D ligands: New targets for therapeutic intervention. *Oncoimmunology*. (2014) 3:e28497. doi: 10.4161/onci.28497
- Paschen A, Sucker A, Hill B, Moll I, Zapatka M, Nguyen XD, et al. Differential clinical significance of individual NKG2D ligands in melanoma: soluble ULBP2 as an indicator of poor prognosis superior to S100B. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:5208–15. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0886
- Iguchi-Manaka A, Okumura G, Kojima H, Cho Y, Hirochika R, Bando H, et al. Increased soluble CD155 in the serum of cancer patients. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0152982. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152982
- Semeraro M, Rusakiewicz S, Minard-Colin V, Delahaye NF, Enot D, Vely F, et al. Clinical impact of the NKp30/B7-H6 axis in high-risk neuroblastoma patients. *Sci Trans Med.* (2015) 7:283ra55. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa2327
- Pesce S, Tabellini G, Cantoni C, Patrizi O, Coltrini D, Rampinelli F, et al. B7-H6-mediated downregulation of NKp30 in NK cells contributes to ovarian carcinoma immune escape. *Oncoimmunology.* (2015) 4:e1001224. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2014.1001224
- Schlecker E, Fiegler N, Arnold A, Altevogt P, Rose-John S, Moldenhauer G, et al. Metalloprotease-mediated tumor cell shedding of B7-H6, the ligand of the natural killer cell-activating receptor NKp30. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:3429–40. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3017
- Rusakiewicz S, Perier A, Semeraro M, Pitt JM, Pogge von Strandmann E, Reiners KS, et al. NKp30 isoforms and NKp30 ligands are predictive biomarkers of response to imatinib mesylate in metastatic GIST patients. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1137418. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1137418
- Baury B, Masson D, McDermott BM Jr, Jarry A, Blottiere HM, Blanchardie P, et al. Identification of secreted CD155 isoforms. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2003) 309:175–82. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(03)01560-2
- Bacon L, Eagle RA, Meyer M, Easom N, Young NT, Trowsdale J. Two human ULBP/RAET1 molecules with transmembrane regions are ligands for NKG2D. J Immunol. (2004) 173:1078–84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.2.1078
- Cao W, Xi X, Hao Z, Li W, Kong Y, Cui L, et al. RAET1E2, a soluble isoform of the UL16-binding protein RAET1E produced by tumor cells, inhibits NKG2D-mediated NK cytotoxicity. *J Biol Chem.* (2007) 282:18922– 8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M702504200
- Mathieu M, Martin-Jaular L, Lavieu G, Thery C. Specificities of secretion and uptake of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles for cell-to-cell communication. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2019) 21:9–17. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0250-9
- Labani-Motlagh A, Israelsson P, Ottander U, Lundin E, Nagaev I, Nagaeva O, et al. Differential expression of ligands for NKG2D and DNAM-1 receptors by epithelial ovarian cancer-derived exosomes and its influence on NK cell cytotoxicity. *Tumour Biol.* (2016) 37:5455– 66. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4313-2
- 64. Lopez-Cobo S, Campos-Silva C, Moyano A, Oliveira-Rodriguez M, Paschen A, Yanez-Mo M, et al. Immunoassays for scarce tumourantigens in exosomes: detection of the human NKG2D-Ligand, MICA, in tetraspanin-containing nanovesicles from melanoma. *J Nanobiotechnol.* (2018) 16:47. doi: 10.1186/s12951-018-0372-z

- Lundholm M, Schroder M, Nagaeva O, Baranov V, Widmark A, Mincheva-Nilsson L, et al. Prostate tumor-derived exosomes down-regulate NKG2D expression on natural killer cells and CD8+ T cells: mechanism of immune evasion. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e108925. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108925
- Fernandez-Messina L, Ashiru O, Boutet P, Aguera-Gonzalez S, Skepper JN, Reyburn HT, et al. Differential mechanisms of shedding of the glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored NKG2D ligands. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:8543–51. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.045906
- 67. Ashiru O, Boutet P, Fernandez-Messina L, Aguera-Gonzalez S, Skepper JN, Vales-Gomez M, et al. Natural killer cell cytotoxicity is suppressed by exposure to the human NKG2D ligand MICA*008 that is shed by tumor cells in exosomes. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:481–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1688
- Ashiru O, Lopez-Cobo S, Fernandez-Messina L, Pontes-Quero S, Pandolfi R, Reyburn HT, et al. A GPI anchor explains the unique biological features of the common NKG2D-ligand allele MICA*008. *Biochem J.* (2013) 454:295– 302. doi: 10.1042/BJ20130194
- Dassler-Plenker J, Reiners KS, van den Boorn JG, Hansen HP, Putschli B, Barnert S, et al. RIG-I activation induces the release of extracellular vesicles with antitumor activity. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1219827. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1219827
- 70. Gutierrez-Franco J, Hernandez-Gutierrez R, Bueno-Topete MR, Haramati J, Navarro-Hernandez RE, Escarra-Senmarti M, et al. Characterization of B7H6, an endogenous ligand for the NK cell activating receptor NKp30, reveals the identity of two different soluble isoforms during normal human pregnancy. *Immunobiology*. (2018) 223:57–63. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2017.10.012
- Matta J, Baratin M, Chiche L, Forel JM, Cognet C, Thomas G, et al. Induction of B7-H6, a ligand for the natural killer cell-activating receptor NKp30, in inflammatory conditions. *Blood.* (2013) 122:394– 404. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-01-481705
- 72. Vulpis E, Cecere F, Molfetta R, Soriani A, Fionda C, Peruzzi G, et al. Genotoxic stress modulates the release of exosomes from multiple myeloma cells capable of activating NK cell cytokine production: role of HSP70/TLR2/NF-kB axis. Oncoimmunology. (2017) 6:e1279372. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1279372
- Gobbo J, Marcion G, Cordonnier M, Dias AMM, Pernet N, Hammann A, et al. Restoring Anticancer immune response by targeting tumor-derived exosomes with a HSP70 peptide aptamer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2016) 108:1–11. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djv330
- Hedlund M, Nagaeva O, Kargl D, Baranov V, Mincheva-Nilsson L. Thermaland oxidative stress causes enhanced release of NKG2D ligand-bearing immunosuppressive exosomes in leukemia/lymphoma T and B cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e16899. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016899
- Vulpis E, Soriani A, Cerboni C, Santoni A, Zingoni A. Cancer exosomes as conveyors of stress-induced molecules: new players in the modulation of NK cell response. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:E611. doi: 10.3390/ijms20030611
- Waldhauer I, Steinle A. Proteolytic release of soluble UL16binding protein 2 from tumor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:2520-6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2520
- 77. Waldhauer I, Goehlsdorf D, Gieseke F, Weinschenk T, Wittenbrink M, Ludwig A, et al. Tumor-associated MICA is shed by ADAM proteases. *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:6368–76. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6768
- Boutet P, Aguera-Gonzalez S, Atkinson S, Pennington CJ, Edwards DR, Murphy G, et al. Cutting edge: the metalloproteinase ADAM17/TNF-alpha-converting enzyme regulates proteolytic shedding of the MHC class I-related chain B protein. J Immunol. (2009) 182:49–53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.49
- 79. Liu G, Atteridge CL, Wang X, Lundgren AD, Wu JD. The membrane type matrix metalloproteinase MMP14 mediates constitutive shedding of MHC class I chain-related molecule A independent of A disintegrin and metalloproteinases. J Immunol. (2010) 184:3346–50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903789
- Chitadze G, Lettau M, Bhat J, Wesch D, Steinle A, Furst D, et al. Shedding of endogenous MHC class I-related chain molecules A and B from different human tumor entities: heterogeneous involvement of the "a disintegrin and metalloproteases" 10 and 17. *Int J Cancer*. (2013) 133:1557– 66. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28174

- Chitadze G, Bhat J, Lettau M, Janssen O, Kabelitz D. Generation of soluble NKG2D ligands: proteolytic cleavage, exosome secretion and functional implications. *Scand J Immunol.* (2013) 78:120–9. doi: 10.1111/sji.12072
- Zoller T, Wittenbrink M, Hoffmeister M, Steinle A. Cutting an NKG2D ligand short: cellular processing of the peculiar human NKG2D ligand ULBP4. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:620. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00620
- Winer A, Adams S, Mignatti P. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in cancer therapy: turning past failures into future successes. *Mol Cancer Ther*. (2018) 17:1147–55. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0646
- Mochizuki S, Okada Y. ADAMs in cancer cell proliferation and progression. Cancer Sci. (2007) 98:621–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2007.00434.x
- Siemens DR, Hu N, Sheikhi AK, Chung E, Frederiksen LJ, Pross H, et al. Hypoxia increases tumor cell shedding of MHC class I chainrelated molecule: role of nitric oxide. *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:4746– 53. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0054
- Barsoum IB, Hamilton TK, Li X, Cotechini T, Miles EA, Siemens DR, et al. Hypoxia induces escape from innate immunity in cancer cells via increased expression of ADAM10: role of nitric oxide. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:7433–41. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2104
- Heo W, Lee YS, Son CH, Yang K, Park YS, Bae J. Radiation-induced matrix metalloproteinases limit natural killer cell-mediated anticancer immunity in NCI-H23 lung cancer cells. *Mol Med Rep.* (2015) 11:1800– 6. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2014.2918
- Zingoni A, Vulpis E, Nardone I, Soriani A, Fionda C, Cippitelli M, et al. Targeting NKG2D and NKp30 ligands shedding to improve NK cell-based immunotherapy. *Crit Rev Immunol.* (2016) 36:445– 60. doi: 10.1615/CritRevImmunol.2017020166
- Isernhagen A, Schilling D, Monecke S, Shah P, Elsner L, Walter L, et al. The MICA-129Met/Val dimorphism affects plasma membrane expression and shedding of the NKG2D ligand MICA. *Immunogenetics*. (2016) 68:109– 23. doi: 10.1007/s00251-015-0884-8
- Zingoni A, Vulpis E, Cecere F, Amendola MG, Fuerst D, Saribekyan T, et al. MICA-129 dimorphism and soluble MICA are associated with the progression of multiple myeloma. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:926. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00926
- Aguera-Gonzalez S, Gross CC, Fernandez-Messina L, Ashiru O, Esteso G, Hang HC, et al. Palmitoylation of MICA, a ligand for NKG2D, mediates its recruitment to membrane microdomains and promotes its shedding. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:3667–76. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141645
- Komander D, Rape M. The ubiquitin code. Annu Rev Biochem. (2012) 81:203–29. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-060310-170328
- Bettermann K, Benesch M, Weis S, Haybaeck J. SUMOylation in carcinogenesis. *Cancer Lett.* (2012) 316:113– 25. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.10.036
- 94. Flotho A, Melchior F. Sumoylation: a regulatory protein modification in health and disease. Annu Rev Biochem. (2013) 82:357–85. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-061909-093311
- Varshavsky A. The ubiquitin system, autophagy, and regulated protein degradation. Annu Rev Biochem. (2017) 86:123– 28. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-061516-044859
- Molfetta R, Gasparrini F, Santoni A, Paolini R. Ubiquitination and endocytosis of the high affinity receptor for IgE. *Mol Immunol.* (2010) 47:2427–34. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2010.06.003
- Thomas M, Boname JM, Field S, Nejentsev S, Salio M, Cerundolo V, et al. Down-regulation of NKG2D and NKp80 ligands by Kaposi's sarcomaassociated herpesvirus K5 protects against NK cell cytotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:1656–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707883105
- Nice TJ, Coscoy L, Raulet DH. Posttranslational regulation of the NKG2D ligand Mult1 in response to cell stress. J Exp Med. (2009) 206:287– 98. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081335
- Nice TJ, Deng W, Coscoy L, Raulet DH. Stress-regulated targeting of the NKG2D ligand Mult1 by a membrane-associated RING-CH family E3 ligase. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:5369–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000247
- 100. Fuertes MB, Girart MV, Molinero LL, Domaica CI, Rossi LE, Barrio MM, et al. Intracellular retention of the NKG2D ligand MHC class I chain-related gene A in human melanomas confers immune privilege and prevents NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:4606–14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.4606

- 101. Aguera-Gonzalez S, Boutet P, Reyburn HT, Vales-Gomez M. Brief residence at the plasma membrane of the MHC class I-related chain B is due to clathrin-mediated cholesterol-dependent endocytosis and shedding. J Immunol. (2009) 182:4800–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0800713
- 102. Bilotta MT, Abruzzese MP, Molfetta R, Scarno G, Fionda C, Zingoni A, et al. Activation of liver X receptor up-regulates the expression of the NKG2D ligands MICA and MICB in multiple myeloma through different molecular mechanisms. *FASEB J.* (2019) 33:9489–504. doi: 10.1096/fj.201900319R
- Fernandez-Messina L, Reyburn HT, Vales-Gomez M. A short half-life of ULBP1 at the cell surface due to internalization and proteosomal degradation. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2016) 94:479–85. doi: 10.1038/icb.2016.2
- 104. Gong J, Fang L, Liu R, Wang Y, Xing J, Chen Y, et al. UPR decreases CD226 ligand CD155 expression and sensitivity to NK cellmediated cytotoxicity in hepatoma cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:3758– 67. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444574
- Zitti B, Molfetta R, Fionda C, Quatrini L, Stabile H, Lecce M, et al. Innate immune activating ligand SUMOylation affects tumor cell recognition by NK cells. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:10445. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-10403-0
- 106. Molfetta R, Milito ND, Zitti B, Lecce M, Fionda C, Cippitelli M, et al. The Ubiquitin-proteasome pathway regulates Nectin2/CD112 expression and impairs NK cell recognition and killing. *Eur J Immunol.* (2019) 49:873– 83. doi: 10.1002/eji.201847848
- 107. Costello RT, Sivori S, Marcenaro E, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Mozziconacci MJ, Reviron D, et al. Defective expression and function of natural killer celltriggering receptors in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood.* (2002) 99:3661–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V99.10.3661
- 108. Garcia-Iglesias T, Del Toro-Arreola A, Albarran-Somoza B, Del Toro-Arreola S, Sanchez-Hernandez PE, Ramirez-Duenas MG, et al. Low NKp30, NKp46 and NKG2D expression and reduced cytotoxic activity on NK cells in cervical cancer and precursor lesions. *BMC Cancer*. (2009) 9:186. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-9-186
- 109. Charrier M, Mezquita L, Lueza B, Dupraz L, Planchard D, Remon J, et al. Circulating innate immune markers and outcomes in treatmentnaive advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Eur J Cancer*. (2019) 108:88–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2018.12.017
- 110. Carlsten M, Norell H, Bryceson YT, Poschke I, Schedvins K, Ljunggren HG, et al. Primary human tumor cells expressing CD155 impair tumor targeting by down-regulating DNAM-1 on NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:4921–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901226
- 111. Sanchez-Correa B, Gayoso I, Bergua JM, Casado JG, Morgado S, Solana R, et al. Decreased expression of DNAM-1 on NK cells from acute myeloid leukemia patients. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2012) 90:109– 15. doi: 10.1038/icb.2011.15
- 112. Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. *Nature*. (2002) 419:734– 8. doi: 10.1038/nature01112
- 113. Oppenheim DE, Roberts SJ, Clarke SL, Filler R, Lewis JM, Tigelaar RE, et al. Sustained localized expression of ligand for the activating NKG2D receptor impairs natural cytotoxicity *in vivo* and reduces tumor immunosurveillance. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:928–37. doi: 10.1038/ni1239
- 114. Molfetta R, Quatrini L, Capuano C, Gasparrini F, Zitti B, Zingoni A, et al. c-Cbl regulates MICA- but not ULBP2-induced NKG2D downmodulation in human NK cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:2761– 70. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444512
- 115. Molfetta R, Quatrini L, Zitti B, Capuano C, Galandrini R, Santoni A, et al. Regulation of NKG2D expression and signaling by endocytosis. *Trends Immunol.* (2016) 37:790–802. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.08.015
- 116. Quatrini L, Molfetta R, Zitti B, Peruzzi G, Fionda C, Capuano C, et al. Ubiquitin-dependent endocytosis of NKG2D-DAP10 receptor complexes activates signaling and functions in human NK cells. *Sci Signal.* (2015) 8:ra108. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aab2724
- 117. Paolini R, Serra A, Molfetta R, Piccoli M, Frati L, Santoni A. Tyrosine kinase-dependent ubiquitination of CD16 zeta subunit in human NK cells following receptor engagement. *Eur J Immunol.* (1999) 29:3179–87. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199910)29:10<3179::AID-IMMU 3179>3.0.CO;2-9
- 118. Capuano C, Romanelli M, Pighi C, Cimino G, Rago A, Molfetta R, et al. Anti-CD20 therapy acts via FcgammaRIIIA to diminish

responsiveness of human natural killer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:4097–108. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0781

- 119. Capuano C, Pighi C, Molfetta R, Paolini R, Battella S, Palmieri G, et al. Obinutuzumab-mediated high-affinity ligation of FcgammaRIIIA/CD16 primes NK cells for IFNgamma production. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1290037. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1290037
- 120. Paolini R, Molfetta R, Piccoli M, Frati L, Santoni A. Ubiquitination and degradation of Syk and ZAP-70 protein tyrosine kinases in human NK cells upon CD16 engagement. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:9611– 6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.161298098
- 121. Borrego F, Lopez-Beltran A, Pena J, Solana R. Downregulation of Fc gamma receptor IIIA alpha (CD16-II) on natural killer cells induced by anti-CD16 mAb is independent of protein tyrosine kinases and protein kinase C. Cell Immunol. (1994) 158:208–17. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1994.1268
- 122. Grzywacz B, Kataria N, Verneris MR. CD56(dim)CD16(+) NK cells downregulate CD16 following target cell induced activation of matrix metalloproteinases. *Leukemia*. (2007) 21:356–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404499
- 123. Romee R, Foley B, Lenvik T, Wang Y, Zhang B, Ankarlo D, et al. NK cell CD16 surface expression and function is regulated by a disintegrin and metalloprotease-17 (ADAM17). *Blood.* (2013) 121:3599– 608. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-425397
- 124. Peruzzi G, Femnou L, Gil-Krzewska A, Borrego F, Weck J, Krzewski K, et al. Membrane-type 6 matrix metalloproteinase regulates the activation-induced downmodulation of CD16 in human primary NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:1883–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300313
- 125. Zhou Q, Gil-Krzewska A, Peruzzi G, Borrego F. Matrix metalloproteinases inhibition promotes the polyfunctionality of human natural killer cells in therapeutic antibody-based anti-tumour immunotherapy. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2013) 173:131–9. doi: 10.1111/cei.12095
- Waldhauer I, Steinle A. NK cells and cancer immunosurveillance. Oncogene. (2008) 27:5932–43. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.267
- 127. Zingoni A, Cecere F, Vulpis E, Fionda C, Molfetta R, Soriani A, et al. Genotoxic stress induces senescence-associated ADAM10-dependent release of NKG2D MIC ligands in multiple myeloma cells. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:736–48. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402643
- Arai J, Goto K, Tanoue Y, Ito S, Muroyama R, Matsubara Y, et al. Enzymatic inhibition of MICA sheddase ADAM17 by lomofungin in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Int J Cancer*. (2018) 143:2575–83. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31615
- 129. Mullooly M, McGowan PM, Crown J, Duffy MJ. The ADAMs family of proteases as targets for the treatment of cancer. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2016) 17:870–80. doi: 10.1080/15384047.2016.1177684
- 130. Camodeca C, Nuti E, Tepshi L, Boero S, Tuccinardi T, Stura EA, et al. Discovery of a new selective inhibitor of A Disintegrin And Metalloprotease 10 (ADAM-10) able to reduce the shedding of NKG2D ligands in Hodgkin's lymphoma cell models. *Eur J Med Chem.* (2016) 111:193– 201. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2016.01.053
- Wolpert F, Tritschler I, Steinle A, Weller M, Eisele G. A disintegrin and metalloproteinases 10 and 17 modulate the immunogenicity of glioblastomainitiating cells. *Neuro Oncol.* (2014) 16:382–91. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/not232
- 132. Huang B, Sikorski R, Sampath P, Thorne SH. Modulation of NKG2Dligand cell surface expression enhances immune cell therapy of cancer. J Immunother. (2011) 34:289–96. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e31820e1b0d
- 133. Kloess S, Huenecke S, Piechulek D, Esser R, Koch J, Brehm C, et al. IL-2-activated haploidentical NK cells restore NKG2D-mediated NK-cell cytotoxicity in neuroblastoma patients by scavenging of plasma MICA. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:3255–67. doi: 10.1002/eji.201040568
- 134. Ferrari de Andrade L, Tay RE, Pan D, Luoma AM, Ito Y, Badrinath S, et al. Antibody-mediated inhibition of MICA and MICB shedding promotes NK cell-driven tumor immunity. *Science*. (2018) 359:1537– 42. doi: 10.1126/science.aa00505
- 135. Lombana TN, Matsumoto ML, Berkley AM, Toy E, Cook R, Gan Y, et al. High-resolution glycosylation site-engineering method identifies MICA epitope critical for shedding inhibition activity of anti-MICA antibodies. *mAbs.* (2019) 11:75–93. doi: 10.1080/19420862.2018.1532767
- Mishra HK, Pore N, Michelotti EF, Walcheck B. Anti-ADAM17 monoclonal antibody MEDI3622 increases IFNgamma production by human NK cells in the presence of antibody-bound tumor cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2018) 67:1407–16. doi: 10.1007/s00262-018-2193-1

- 137. Chen D, Frezza M, Schmitt S, Kanwar J, Dou QP. Bortezomib as the first proteasome inhibitor anticancer drug: current status and future perspectives. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. (2011) 11:239–53. doi: 10.2174/1568009117945 19752
- Kisselev AF, van der Linden WA, Overkleeft HS. Proteasome inhibitors: an expanding army attacking a unique target. *Chem Biol.* (2012) 19:99– 115. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.01.003
- Vandross A. Proteasome inhibitor-based therapy for treatment of newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. Semin Oncol. (2017) 44:381–84. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2018.01.002
- Morrow JK, Lin HK, Sun SC, Zhang S. Targeting ubiquitination for cancer therapies. *Future Med Chem*. (2015) 7:2333–50. doi: 10.4155/fmc.15.148
- 141. Niu C, Jin H, Li M, Zhu S, Zhou L, Jin F, et al. Low-dose bortezomib increases the expression of NKG2D and DNAM-1 ligands and enhances induced NK and gammadelta T cell-mediated lysis in multiple myeloma. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:5954–64. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget. 13979
- 142. Soriani A, Zingoni A, Cerboni C, Iannitto ML, Ricciardi MR, Di Gialleonardo V, et al. ATM-ATR-dependent up-regulation of DNAM-1 and NKG2D ligands on multiple myeloma cells by therapeutic agents results in enhanced NK-cell susceptibility and is associated with a senescent phenotype. *Blood.* (2009) 113:3503–11. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-08-1 73914
- 143. Fionda C, Stabile H, Molfetta R, Soriani A, Bernardini G, Zingoni A, et al. Translating the anti-myeloma activity of Natural Killer cells into clinical application. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2018) 70:255–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2018.10.005

- 144. Bernstock JD, Ye D, Gessler FA, Lee YJ, Peruzzotti-Jametti L, Baumgarten P, et al. Topotecan is a potent inhibitor of SUMOylation in glioblastoma multiforme and alters both cellular replication and metabolic programming. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:7425. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-07631-9
- 145. Fukuda I, Ito A, Hirai G, Nishimura S, Kawasaki H, Saitoh H, et al. Ginkgolic acid inhibits protein SUMOylation by blocking formation of the E1-SUMO intermediate. *Chem Biol.* (2009) 16:133–40. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2009.01.009
- 146. Suzawa M, Miranda DA, Ramos KA, Ang KK, Faivre EJ, Wilson CG, et al. A gene-expression screen identifies a non-toxic sumoylation inhibitor that mimics SUMO-less human LRH-1 in liver. *eLife.* (2015) 4:e09003. doi: 10.7554/eLife.09003
- 147. Yang Y, Xia Z, Wang X, Zhao X, Sheng Z, Ye Y, et al. Small-molecule inhibitors targeting protein SUMOylation as novel anticancer compounds. *Mol Pharmacol.* (2018) 94:885–94. doi: 10.1124/mol.118.112300

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Molfetta, Zingoni, Santoni and Paolini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The Synergistic Use of IL-15 and IL-21 for the Generation of NK Cells From CD3/CD19-Depleted Grafts Improves Their *ex vivo* Expansion and Cytotoxic Potential Against Neuroblastoma: Perspective for Optimized Immunotherapy Post Haploidentical Stem Cell Transplantation

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Loredana Cifaldi, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

frontiers

in Immunology

Reviewed by:

Jan Joseph Melenhorst, University of Pennsylvania, United States Shane Curran, EMD Millipore, United States

*Correspondence:

Evelyn Ullrich evelyn.ullrich@kgu.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 14 August 2019 Accepted: 15 November 2019 Published: 03 December 2019

Citation:

Heinze A, Grebe B, Bremm M, Huenecke S, Munir TA, Graafen L, Frueh JT, Merker M, Rettinger E, Soerensen J, Klingebiel T, Bader P, Ullrich E and Cappel C (2019) The Synergistic Use of IL-15 and IL-21 for the Generation of NK Cells From CD3/CD19-Depleted Grafts Improves Their ex vivo Expansion and Cytotoxic Potential Against Neuroblastoma: Perspective for Optimized Immunotherapy Post Haploidentical Stem Cell Transplantation. Front. Immunol. 10:2816. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02816 Annekathrin Heinze^{1,2,3}, Beatrice Grebe^{1,3}, Melanie Bremm^{2,3}, Sabine Huenecke^{2,3}, Tasleem Ah. Munir^{1,3}, Lea Graafen^{1,3}, Jochen T. Frueh^{1,3}, Michael Merker^{2,3}, Eva Rettinger^{2,3}, Jan Soerensen^{2,3}, Thomas Klingebiel³, Peter Bader^{2,3}, Evelyn Ullrich^{1,2,3,4*} and Claudia Cappel^{2,3}

¹ Experimental Immunology, Department for Children and Adolescents, University Hospital Frankfurt, Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, ² Division for Stem Cell Transplantation, Immunology and Intensive Care Medicine, Department for Children and Adolescents, University Hospital Frankfurt, Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, ³ Department for Children and Adolescents, University Hospital Frankfurt, Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, ⁴ German Cancer Consortium (DKTK), Partner Site Frankfurt am Main, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Neuroblastoma (NB) is the most common solid extracranial tumor in childhood. Despite therapeutic progress, prognosis in high-risk NB is poor and innovative therapies are urgently needed. Therefore, we addressed the potential cytotoxic capacity of interleukin (IL)-activated natural killer (NK) cells compared to cytokine-induced killer (CIK) cells for the treatment of NB. NK cells were isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) by indirect CD56-enrichment or CD3/CD19-depletion and expanded with different cytokine combinations, such as IL-2, IL-15, and/or IL-21 under feeder-cell free conditions. CIK cells were generated from PBMCs by ex vivo stimulation with interferony, IL-2, OKT-3, and IL-15. Comparative analysis of expansion rate, purity, phenotype and cytotoxicity was performed. CD56-enriched NK cells showed a median expansion rate of 4.3-fold with up to 99% NK cell content. The cell product after CD3/CD19-depletion consisted of a median 43.5% NK cells that expanded significantly faster reaching also 99% of NK cell purity. After 10–12 days of expansion, both NK cell preparations showed a significantly higher median cytotoxic capacity against NB cells relative to CIK cells. Remarkably, these NK cells were also capable of efficiently killing NB spheroidal 3D culture in long-term cytotoxicity assays. Further optimization using a novel NK cell culture medium and a prolonged culturing procedure after CD3/CD19-depletion for up to 15 days enhanced the expansion rate up to 24.4-fold by maintaining the cytotoxic potential.

40

Addition of an IL-21 boost prior to harvesting significantly increased the cytotoxicity. The final cell product consisted for the major part of CD16⁻⁻, NCR-expressing, polyfunctional NK cells with regard to cytokine production, CD107a degranulation and antitumor capacity. In summary, our study revealed that NK cells have a significantly higher cytotoxic potential to combat NB than CIK cell products, especially following the synergistic use of IL-15 and IL-21 for NK cell activation. Therefore, the use of IL-15+IL-21 expanded NK cells generated from CD3/CD19-depleted apheresis products seems to be highly promising as an immunotherapy in combination with haploidentical stem cell transplantation (SCT) for high-risk NB patients.

Keywords: immunotherapy, NK cells, CD3/CD19 depletion, CIK cells, IL-21, IL-15, ex vivo expansion, neuroblastoma

INTRODUCTION

Neuroblastoma (NB) is the most common extracranial solid tumor in childhood and causes 15% of cancer-related mortality in children. The majority of cases are diagnosed before the age of 5 years, and 30% of cases are diagnosed within the first year of life. Around half of the patients are currently classified as high-risk for disease relapse, with a 5-year event-free survival (EFS) of <40% despite intensive multimodal therapy (1-3). Current therapeutic approaches for high-risk NB include surgery, radiotherapy [iodine (I-131) Metaiodobenzylguanidine (MIBG) therapy or external beam radiation] and myeloablative chemotherapy, followed by autologous stem cell rescue. Furthermore, immunotherapies using monoclonal antibodies against NB cell membrane antigens such as anti-GD2 (e.g., Dinutuximab ch14.18/SP2/0; Dinutuximab-beta ch14.18/CHO) have gained increasing clinical significance (4, 5).

In addition, for children with relapsed or refractory highrisk NB, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (SCT) has been shown to be a feasible and promising treatment that can induce long-term remission in some patients with tolerable side effects (6–8). In this context, haploidentical SCT from mismatched family donors is an important therapeutic option for patients lacking a human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-matched donor. The removal of potentially alloreactive T cells from the graft by CD3/CD19-depletion allows HLA barriers to be overcome and reduces the induction of harmful graft-versushost-disease (GvHD). While the risk of EBV post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) is reduced by depletion of CD19⁺ B cells, CD3/CD19-depleted grafts also seem to facilitate engraftment and to support the graft-versus-leukemia/tumor (GvL/T) effect (9).

The beneficial GvL/T effect is predominantly mediated by NK cells that are key players of the innate immune system and potent effector cells participating in the defense of viral-infected and malignant cells (10). NK cells compromise ~ 6 -12% of lymphocytes in the peripheral blood (PB) and are characterized by surface expression of CD56 and the lack of T cell antigens such as CD3 or T cell receptors (CD56⁺CD3⁻). Human NK cell subsets in the PB can further be subdivided into a major CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ highly cytotoxic population, expressing

the Fc γ receptor III CD16 and therefore exerting antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), and a minor CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ immune regulatory population with a potent cytokine producing capacity (11).

NK cell cytotoxicity is mediated by a balanced system processing signals from activating and inhibitory receptors (12, 13). Activating receptors, such as natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs) and the NK group 2D (NKG2D) receptor can be triggered by an enhanced surface expression of stress-induced ligands on abnormal cells (14, 15). Inhibitory signals are mainly mediated by killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) that recognize major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules, which are highly present on endogenous healthy cells. Most transformed and virally infected cells down-regulate their MHC class I surface expression ("missing-self") to evade cytotoxic T cell recognition, which renders them sensitive to NK cell killing (16, 17).

Based on the donor cell mediated GvL/T effect, adoptive post-transplantation immunotherapeutic strategies using donorderived immune cells have been established. To further increase the anti-tumor efficacy, donor cells can be *ex vivo* expanded and stimulated by different cytokines, generating highly activated NK or cytokine-induced killer (CIK) cell products. A synergistic effect of haploidentical SCT and cell-based immunotherapy seems probable, but few clinical results from the treatment of high-risk NB have yet been published (18–20).

Manufacturing sufficient effector cell doses for repetitive cell applications to overcome suppressive tumor escape mechanisms still remains a challenge. Therefore, we analyzed the expansion capacity as well as the cytotoxic potential upon different cytokines of either CD56-enriched or CD3/CD19-depleted NK cells compared to CIK cells against human NB cell lines *in vitro*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Generation of NK Cells and CIK Cells

NK cells and CIK cells were generated from PBMCs from buffy coats of healthy donors by density gradient centrifugation. In experiments directly comparing NK and CIK cell proliferation and cytotoxicity (**Figures 1**, **2**) the NK cells and CIK cells were

generated from PBMCs isolated from buffy coats of the same donor. Donors gave their written informed consent and the use of the buffy coats was approved by the medical ethics committee of the University Hospital Frankfurt (approval no. 329/10). CIK cells were generated and cultured as described previously (21). In short, PBMCs were adjusted to a concentration of 3 \times 10⁶ cells/ml in X-VIVOTM10 medium (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated human fresh frozen plasma (FFP) (DRK-Blutspendedienst Baden-Württemberg-Hessen, Frankfurt/Main, Deutschland) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA) in tissue culture-treated plates (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA; Sarstedet, Nümbrecht, Germany; Corning NY, USA). On day 0 they received 1,000 U/ml IFN- γ (Imukin[®]), Boeringer Ingelheim Pharma, Germany). On day 1, 100 ng/ml OKT- (anti-CD3 antibody, MACS GMP CD3 pure, Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) and 500 U/ml IL-2 (ProleukinS, Novartis Pharmaceuticals, Horsham, UK) were added. On days 3-4 and 7-8 the cell density was set to a concentration of 1 \times 10⁶ cells/ml and cells were treated with 50 ng/ml IL-15 (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, CT, USA). CIK cells were harvested on days 10-12 (Figure 1A).

NK cells were isolated from PBMCs using either the EasySep[®] Human NK cell enrichment kit or EasySep[®] Human CD3 and CD19 positive selection kits (STEMCELL Technology, Vancouver, Canada). Cells were adjusted to a concentration of 3 \times 10 6 cells/ml in either $\rm \dot{X}\text{-}VIVO^{TM}10$ medium or NK MACS[®] medium supplemented with 1% NK MACS supplements (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) and 5% human plasma (HP) type AB and 1% penicillin/streptomycin in 48-well cell culture plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Roskilde, Denmark). Analogous to CIK cells, NK cell density was adjusted to 1×10^6 cells/ml on subsequent culture days. In detail, we suspended, harvested and counted cells, took out needed cells, diluted to 1×10^6 /ml with fresh medium and added cytokine in the corresponding concentration. To optimize ex vivo cultivation of NK cells, different stimulation protocols were tested. In the IL-15^{low} protocol, NK cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml IL-15 every 3-4 days for a period of either 10-12 or 15 days (Figures 1A, 3A, 5A). In the IL-2+IL-15^{low} protocol NK cells received 500 U/ml IL-2 on day 0 and 10 ng/ml IL-15 every 3-4 days until days 10-12 (Figure 1A). For the IL-15^{low}+IL-21 protocol NK cells were cultivated with 10 ng/ml IL-15 every 3-4 days including day 11. On day 13, 25 ng/ml IL-21 (Peprotech Rocky Hill, CT, USA) was added, and cells were harvested on day 15 (Figures 3A, 5A). In the IL-15gap+IL-21 protocol, cells were cultured for 11 days with addition of 10 ng/ml IL-15 every 3-4 days and then collected and centrifuged. The supernatant was removed in order to abolish traces of cytokines. On day 13, 10 ng/ml IL-15 and 25 ng/ml IL-21 were added (Figure 3A) (22, 23).

NB Cell Lines

The human NB cell lines SK-N-SH (ATCC[®] HTB-11TM) and SK-N-AS (ATCC[®] CRL-2137TM) were cultured in IMDM medium (Gibco, Thermo Fisher) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Biochrom, Berlin, Germany) and 1% penicillin/

streptomycin (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA) at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The cells were split once or twice a week using Accutase solution (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) to detach adherent cells from the cell culture flask. MHC class I is expressed to a low extent on SK-N-SH and at higher levels on SK-N-AS cells (24, 25).

Flow-Cytometric Analysis

Flow cytometric analysis was performed on a FACS Canto 10c and a FACS Celesta instrument (both BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA). NK cells and CIK cells were analyzed for the expression of various surface molecules on day 0 and the day of harvest. Flow cytometric phenotyping was performed for the most promising protocols on the day of harvest. The following monoclonal antibodies were used:

AF488: NKp30 (#210845), NKG2C (#134591) (both R&D Systems Wiesbaden, Germany), APC: CD57 (NK-1, Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA), CD178/FASL (NOK-1), NKG2D (ON72, Beckman Coulter, Krefeld, Germany), CD107a (H4A3, BioLegend), APC-A700: CD16 (3G8, Biolegend), CD56 (N901, Beckman Coulter), BB515: CD19 (HIB19), BUV395: CD3 (SK7), BUV737: CD20 (2H7), BV421: CD56 (NCAM16.2), Zombie Violet (BioLegend), BV510: CD45 (HI30), BV605: CD25 (2A3), CD69 (FN50), BV711: CD14 (M5E2, Biolegend), FITC: CD3 (UCHT1, Beckman Coulter), CD226 (DX11), KIR2D (NKVFS1, Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), IFNy (B27), PC7: CD19 (HIB19, Biolegend), CD184/CXCR4 (12G5), PE: CD16 (3G8, Biolegend), NKG2A (Z199, Beckman Coulter), NKp44 (P44-8.1), NKp46 (9E2, Biolegend), PD1 (PD1.3.1.3, Miltenyi), TRAIL (RIK-2, Biolegend), CD56 (NCAM16.2), PE Vio770: 2B4 (REA112, Miltenyi), PerCP: CD3 (UCHT1, Biolegend), CD14 (TÜK4, Miltenyi), CD19 (HIB19, Biolegend), CD16 (3G8, BioLegend), V450: CD3 (UCHT1), CD14 (MøP9), CD19 (HIB19) All antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences if not otherwise specified.

Depending on the panel either strongly diluted DAPI (Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA) (experiments in **Figures 1**, **2**) or 7-Actinomycin D (7-AAD) (BD Biosciences San Jose, CA, USA) (experiments in **Figures 3-6**) was used for the assessment of cell viability. Absolute lymphocyte subset counts were calculated via a dual platform using the flow cytometric data and cell counts acquired via a COULTER Ac.T diff Analyzer (Beckman Coulter, Krefeld, Germany). Flow-cytometric data was analyzed using FlowJo-software (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR, USA).

Europium Release Assay

To test the cytotoxicity of CIK and NK cells against the human NB cell lines SK-N-SH and SK-N-AS, the non-radioactive europium release assay was used as described previously (26) and modified for adherent cell lines (27). In short, human NB cell lines (target cells) were labeled with BATDA (Perkin Elmer, Boston, MA, USA) under constant shaking (400 rpm) at 37° C, 5% CO₂ to prevent cell adhesion. Cells were washed in medium supplemented with Probenecid (Santa Cruz, Dallas, Texas, USA), an inhibitor of multidrug-resistance associated proteins, to avoid spontaneous release of TDA into the supernatant. Target cells



FIGURE 1 [*Ex vivo* expansion and characterization of CIK and NK cells. (A) CIK cells were expanded by *ex vivo* stimulation with IFN_Y, IL-2, OKT3, and IL-15 over a period of 10–12 days (**A**). NK cells were purified by either CD56-enrichment (**O**) or CD3/CD19-depletion (**ID**) and *ex vivo* stimulated with IL-2+IL-15 (**OD**) or solely IL-15 (**OD**) for 10–12 days. (**B**) CD56-enriched NK cells expanded 4.3-fold independent of the use of IL-15 alone or in combination with IL-2 (**OO**), NK cells in CD3/CD19-depleted cell products expanded significantly higher under both cytokine stimulation conditions (median 7.5-fold) (**ID**). CIK cells showed highest expansion rate of 30.8-fold, referring to the total cell composite of NK, T and NK-like T cells (**A**) (**C**) All three cell products showed a high viability of >95% following purification procedure on day 0 (**O A**) and remained at >85% during expansion procedure independent of the cytokine additive. (**D**) CD56-enriched cells on day 0 contained a median 94.5% NK cells, CD3/CD19-depleted cells products contained a median 43.5% NK cells, and CIK cells a median 11.5%. Upon cytokine stimulation for 10–12 days, NK cell purity remained high (94.6 and 93.8%) in CD56-enriched, and significantly increased in CD3/CD19-depleted cell products (93.6 and 92.5%) under IL-2+IL-15 or IL-15 stimulation, respectively. In contrast, the frequency of NK cells decreased to only 3.3% during CIK cell expansion. (**E**) The frequency of the CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulation significantly increased during IL-2+IL-15 or IL-15 cytokine stimulation, especially within CD3/CD19-depleted NK cell products (CD56-enriched 26.1 and 28.3%; CD3/CD19-depleted 43.0 and 42.3%), while the CD16⁺ NK cell subpopulation correspondingly decreased (**F**) (*n* = 12 independent experiments, median fold expansion rate day 10–12 compared to day 0, gated on viable cells (DAPI negative): CD56⁺ CD3⁻ NK cells (**B**), CD45⁺ cells (**C**), CD56⁺ CD3⁻ NK cells (**B**), CD45⁺ cells (**C**), CD56⁺ CD3⁻ NK cells (**D**), CD16



were co-cultured with NK cells or CIK cells (effector cells) for 3 h in triplicates at effector-to-target (E:T) ratios of 20:1, 10:1, 5:1, 1:1, and 0.5:1 at 37°C. Target cells were also cultured in medium without effector cells to determine spontaneous cell lysis. The maximum lysis was obtained by adding 16% Triton-X solution (AppliChem, Darmstadt, Germany) to target cells. After co-incubation, 20 μ l of supernatant was taken from each well and incubated for 15 min in the dark and under shaking (250 rpm) with 200 μ l of europium solution (Perkin Elmer, Boston, MA, USA). The fluorescence signal, which directly correlates to tumor cell lysis, was measured by a multilabel plate reader (Victor 1420 multilabel counter, Perkin Elmer, Boston, MA, USA). Percentage of lysis was calculated as follows: specific lysis = [(lysis – spontaneous lysis)/(maximal lysis – spontaneous lysis)]*100.

Co-culture in the Presence of Tumor Spheroids

Three-dimensional (3D) tumor spheroids were obtained by placing 10,000 SK-N-AS cells into one well each of an ultralow attachment (ULA) 96-well round-bottom plate without additional coating (Corning Incorporated, Corning NY, USA). Culture plates were centrifuged at 1,000 g for 10 min. Every 3 to 4 days, half of the medium was replaced and on day 4 200,000 CIK or NK cells were added per well. The dynamics of the tumor spheroid were automatically imaged using a Celigo cell cytometer (Nexcelom Bioscience, Lawrence, MA, USA) with the colony counting embryoid body application at time points of 0, 6, 24 h and subsequently every 24 h for a total of 10 days (28, 29).



FIGURE 3 [*Ex vivo* expansion and characterization of IL-15 and IL-15+IL-21 stimulated NK cells following CD3/CD19-depletion. (**A**) NK cells were purified by CD3/CD19-depletion and *ex vivo* stimulated with IL-15 (**D**) or with a combination of IL-15 and IL-21 (**D**) for 15 days. On day 11, cells were either treated with IL-15 (**I**] or with a combination of IL-15 and IL-21 (**D**) for 15 days. On day 11, cells were either treated with IL-15 (**I**] or the supernatant was removed and no cytokines were added (IL-15^{gap} **N**). IL-21 was added as a cytokine boost 48 h prior to harvest. (**B**) NK cells in the IL-15^{low} protocol **D**] expanded 6.8-fold. An IL-21 boost was able to further enhance proliferation, irrespective of gap or continuous treatment. Expansion rates reached 7.1-fold in the IL-15^{gap} + IL-21 protocol (**D**) and 16.5-fold in the IL-15^{low} + IL-21 protocol (**D**) (statistically not significant differences). (**C**) All cell products showed a high viability of median 97.5% following the purification procedure on day 0 (white symbols gray background) and remained >80% during the expansion procedure independent of the cytokine additive. However, the gap treatment led to the lowest viability (**D**). (**D**) Purified CD3/CD19-depleted cells on day 0 contained a median 53.1% NK cells. Upon cytokine stimulation for 15 days, NK cell purity significantly increased in CD3/CD19-depleted cell products regardless of the cytokine combination. (**E**) The frequency of the CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulation significantly increased during *ex vivo* stimulation within all protocols (*n* = 5–6 independent experiments, (**B**) median fold expansion rate on day 15 compared to day 0, (**C**) gated on viable 7-AAD⁻ CD45⁺ cells, (**D**) CD56⁺ CD3⁻ NK cells, (**E**) CD16⁻ NK cells. Box-and-whisker plots show median, 25th–75th percentiles, Min-Max. Bar graphs show median and interquartile range. Differences were considered significant for *p* < 0.05 (*).







FIGURE 5 [*Ex vivo* expansion and characterization of IL-15+IL-21 stimulated CD3/CD19-depleted NK cells cultured in optimized NK cell medium. (**A**) NK cells were purified by CD3/CD19-depletion and *ex vivo* stimulated with solely IL-15 (**Im**) or with a combination of IL-15 and IL-21 (**Im**) for 15 days. IL-21 was added as a cytokine boost 2 days prior to harvest. NK cells were cultured in X-VIVOTM10 medium (**Im**) or NK MACS[®] medium (**Im**). (**B**) NK cells in X-VIVOTM10 medium expanded 13.2-fold (IL-15^{low}) **Im** and 9.6-fold (IL-15^{low} + IL-21**Im**). Expansion rates were significantly higher in NK MACS[®] medium at 26.4-fold (IL-15^{low} **Im**) and 24.4-fold (IL-15^{low} + IL-21**Im**). (**C**) All cell products showed a high viability with a median 96.5% following the purification procedure on day 0 (white symbols gray background) and remained >90% during the expansion procedure, independent of the cytokine additive. *Ex vivo* cultivation in NK MACS[®] medium even led to viability >96%. (**D**) Purified CD3/CD19-depleted cells on day 0 contained a median 54.4% NK cells. Upon cytokine stimulation for 15 days NK cell purity significantly increased in CD3/CD19-depleted cell products to >95% in all protocols. (**E**) The frequency of the CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulation significantly increased during *ex vivo* stimulation. In total, 42.7% (IL-15^{low} **I**) and 42.6% (IL-15^{low} + IL-21^{Om}) of NK cells were CD16⁻ after cultivation in X-VIVOTM10 medium. Percentages of CD16⁻ cells were significantly higher after cultivation in NK MACS[®] medium in 69.5% (IL-15^{low} + IL-21^{Om})</sup> (*n* = 6 independent experiments, (**B**) median fold were significantly higher after cultivation in NK MACS[®] medium and interquartile range. Differences were considered significant for *p* < 0.05 (°).

CD107a Degranulation Assay and IFN- γ Analysis

Intracellular IFN- γ expression and degranulation potential of cytokine stimulated NK cells cultured in X-VIVOTM10 or NK MACS[®] media was assessed with cells harvested on day 15 of cultivation. Cells were incubated in 96-well-U-bottom-plates for a total time of 4 h, either co-incubated with SK-N-AS target cells (E:T ratio 1:1) or stimulated with cytokines at 37°C and 5% CO₂. SK-N-AS target cell stimulation started from the beginning of co-incubation. After 1 h, cells were incubated with anti-human CD107a, followed by additional 2 h incubation with Monensin/ GolgiStopTM (BD Biosciences). Simultaneously, IL-12 (Peprotech, 96 ng/ml) and IL-18 (MBC, 98.7 ng/ml) were added to the wells not stimulated so far. After

the total incubation time of 4 h, cells were washed, blocked with 1 μ g of human IgG and stained with Zombie VioletTM Fixable Viability Kit (Biolegend, 5 μ l, pre-diluted 1:10 in DPBS) for live/death discrimination. Post washing, cells were stained for 20 min with CD45, CD56, CD16, CD3, CD14, and CD19 in brilliant stain buffer. After a further washing step, they were fixed with formaldehyde solution (3.7% final concentration) by a 15 min incubation. In the end, permeabilization and intracellular staining took place by incubating cells with saponin buffer (0.2% saponin, 1% bovine serum albumin, Sigma Aldrich) and anti-human IFN- γ for further 30 min. For final analysis, cells were washed with perm/wash buffer solution (BD Biosciences, prediluted 1:10 with distilled water), and measured by flow cytometry (Canto 10C).



experiments performed in triplicate, incubation time: 3 hours, box-and-whisker plots show median, 25th–75th percentiles, Min-Max. **(C)** Tumor spheroids were produced from 10,000 SK-N-AS cells and co-incubated with 200,000 NK cells. As a control the dynamics of tumor spheroids without effector cells were observed in both cell culture media. The cultures were imaged via a Celigo cell cytometer after 6 h, 24 h, 3, 5, 8 and up to 10 days. IL-15^{low}+IL-21 stimulated NK cells grown in both cell culture media were able to completely eradicate tumor spheroids in this 10 day long-term cytotoxicity assay (n = 1 representative of 3 independent experiments). Differences were considered significant for p < 0.05 (*).

Statistical Analysis

Results were statistically analyzed using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). The data were compared by a Wilcoxon matched paired signed rank test. Differences were considered significant for p < 0.05 (*), 0.01 (**), and 0.001 (***).

RESULTS

Ex vivo Expansion and Characterization of CIK and NK Cells

Aiming to manufacture sufficient effector cell doses and to evaluate the most promising cell population to target NB, we compared different cell purification (CD56-enriched vs. CD3/CD19-depleted NK cell) and cytokine stimulation procedures (IL-15 vs. IL-2+IL-15) (**Figure 1A**). For better comparison, NK cell stimulation was adjusted to the wellestablished stimulation protocol for GMP-grade CIK cell production (30). Highly purified CD56-enriched NK cells showed a median expansion rate of 4.3-fold (range 1.8–11.6) after 10–12 days, independent of the use of IL-15 alone or in combination with an initial IL-2 boost at day 0 (**Figure 1B**, **Table 1**). In contrast, NK cells within CD3/CD19-depleted cell products expanded significantly higher with both cytokine stimulation settings (median 7.5-fold, range 2.7–16.2) (**Figure 1B**). CIK cells showed the most prominent expansion rate of 30.8-fold, referring to the total cell composite of NK, T and NK-like T cells (**Figure 1B**).

All three cell products showed a high viability of >95% following the purification procedure on day 0 (**Figure 1C**, **Table 1**). Independent of the cytokine additive, median viability of CD56-selected as well as CD3/CD19-depleted NK and CIK cells remained >85% during expansion (**Figure 1C**).

Composition of the different cell products was evaluated regarding the frequency of CD3⁻CD56⁺ NK cells (**Figure 1D**, **Table 1**) (incl. immune regulatory CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ (**Figure 1E**, **Table 1**) and cytotoxic CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ subpopulations (**Figure 1F, Table 1**), CD3⁺ T cells (**Supplementary Figure 1A**), CD3⁺CD56⁺ NK-like T cells (**Supplementary Figure 1B**),

TABLE 1 | Summary statistics to experiments shown in Figure 1.

Purification method		CD56-enriched	CD3/CD19-depl.	CD56-enriched	CD3/CD19-depl.	
NK cell stimulation		IL-2+IL-15		IL-15		
NK cell expansion rate	[x-fold]	4.2 (1.8–11.6)	7.4 (2.7–16.2)	4.7 (2.3–8.6)	7.8 (2.7–15.9)	
Viability	[%] of WBC	86.3 (75.5–89.9)	85.7 (75.5–89.7)	83.1 (73.1–89.8)	86.4 (71.6–91.8)	
Purity NK cells	[%] of WBC	94.6 (86.1–97.8)	93.6 (80–97.7)	93.8 (82.9–99)	92.5 (79.8–98.6)	
CD16 ⁻ NK cells	[%] of NK	26.1 (7.6-43.9)	43.0 (28.7–61.3)	28.3 (10.9–45.2)	42.3 (28.0–65.1)	
CD16 ⁺ NK cells	[%] of NK	72.2 (54.2–91)	56.7 (38.3–69.5)	70.7 (52.7–86.9)	56.8 (34.3–70.9)	
Ratio CD16 ^{-/} CD16 ⁺		0.4	0.7	0.4	0.8	
T cell contamination	[%] of WBC	1.0 (0.07–5)	0.03 (0-8.4)	0.34 (0.05–2.5)	0.05 (0-1.5)	
NKT cell contamination	[%] of WBC	0.52 (0.05–3.5)	0.07 (0-1.1)	0.16 (0.02-1.2)	0.03 (0-1.2)	
B cell contamination	[%] of WBC	0.04 (0-4)	0.12 (0.01-3)	0.08 (0-4)	0.09 (0.04-2.4)	

CD56⁺CD3⁻ NK cells were analyzed on day of harvest (day 10–12). Median (range) of expansion rate, purity, viability, NK cell subpopulations and ratios, as well as T, NK-like T and B cell contamination was assessed by flow cytometric analyses. NK, natural killer; NKT, NK-like T; IL, interleukin; WBC, white blood cell; CD3/CD19-depl., CD3/CD19-depleted.

and CD19⁺ B cells (Figure 1C). Composition of the cell products used for expansion differed distinctly depending on the purification procedure. CD56-enriched cell products mainly consisted of highly purified NK cells of in median 94.5%, with minimal overall T, NK-like T and B cell contamination of 0.02%. CD3/CD19-depleted cells products consisted of in median 43.5% NK cells as well as minimal overall T and NK-like T contamination of 0.02%, but with a slightly higher B cell amount. Notably, CD3/CD19-depleted cell products additionally compromised a median of 33.9% (range 16.4-51.8%) monocytes. Thereby, monocytes analyzed in CD3/CD19-depleted cell products highly expressed the IL-15 receptor alpha (IL-15Ra, CD215) on the surface, and expression even further increased early in co-culture (n = 3, data not shown). Isolated PBMCs serving as starting material for CIK cell generation contained 11.5% NK cells, 54.7% T cells, 3.7% NK-like T cells and 4.4% B cells.

Upon IL-2+IL-15 and IL-15 cytokine stimulation, CD56enriched NK cell products contained >94% NK cells, <1.0% T cells, <0.52% NK-like T cell and <0.08% B cells. Thereby, T and NK-like T cell contamination was significantly higher in CD56enriched NK cell products and if IL-2 was added. CD3/CD19depleted NK cell products reached >92.5% NK cell purity also without relevant T, NK-like T and B cell contamination. Again, T cell contamination was higher if IL-2 was added, although not statistically relevant (**Figure 1**, **Supplementary Figure 1**, and **Table 1**).

Following expansion, CIK cells contained 3.3% NK cells (range 0.6–10.1%), 84.2% T cells (range 69.6–97.4), 6.2% NK-like T cells (range 1.2–20.7), and 0.6% B cells (range 0–0.7%). Thereby, the content of T and NK-like T cell increased while the NK cell count decreased.

Overall, IL-15 stimulated CD3/CD19-depleted NK cell products revealed the lowest T and NK-like T cell contamination of all NK cell products. In addition, the CD16⁻ immune regulatory NK cell subpopulation significantly increased during cytokine stimulation, especially within the CD3/CD19-depleted NK cell products. As shown in **Table 1**, the ratio of CD16⁻/CD16⁺ NK cells on the day of harvest was the lowest,

when NK cells were purified by CD56 enrichment leading to a NK cell product consisting of predominantly CD16⁺ NK cells (ratio 0.4). NK cells expanded from CD3/CD19 depleted cell products led to a higher proportion of CD16⁻ NK cells in the final cell product (ratio 0.7 for IL-2+IL-15 and 0.8 for IL-15 stimulation) independent of the cytokine combinations.

Cytotoxic Potential of CIK and NK Cells Against NB Target Cells

Using the Europium release assay, the NK or CIK cellmediated cytotoxicity against two different NB cell lines, SK-N-SH (Figure 2A) and SK-N- AS (Figure 2B), was evaluated. Both NB cells lines were efficiently lysed by either CD56enriched or CD3/CD19-depleted NK cells with escalating E:T ratios. Thereby, NK cells isolated by CD3/CD19-depletion killed significantly better relative to CD56-selected NK cells in all E:T ratios. The median specific lysis of SK-N-SH cells by IL-15^{low} treated NK cells was 62.4%, 58.9%, 47.3% and 31.6% for CD56-enriched NK cells and 68.9, 63.0, 54.6, and 36.3% for CD3/CD19-depleted NK cells at E:T ratios of 20:1, 10:1, 5:1 and 1:1, respectively. In addition, there was a clear tendency for IL-15 to be superior to IL-2+IL-15 treatment. Notably, NK cells expanded after CD3/CD19-depletion with IL-15^{low} revealed the highest cytotoxic potential against both target cell lines. In contrast, CIK cell-mediated cytotoxicity was significantly lower in all E:T ratios; e.g., 12.5% (range 1.2-36.3%) and 10.1% (range 0.1-30.3%) CIK cells vs. SK-N-SH and SK-N-AS at the 10:1 ratio. Of note, CIK cell killing correlated with the amount of NK cells present in the individual heterogeneous CIK cell composite (data not shown).

To further address long-term cytotoxicity and mimic tumor lysis in a 3D setting, we used a tumor spheroid model. NB tumor spheroids built of SK-N-AS cells were co-incubated with CIK or NK cells following different stimulation procedures (**Figure 2C**). All NK cells were able to quickly infiltrate and lyse the tumor spheroids. However, only co-incubation with IL-15stimulated NK cells generated from CD3/CD19-depleted PBMCs led to a complete lysis with no reoccurrence of target cells. CIK cells also infiltrated tumor spheroids and lysed target cells resulting in complete lysis of the tumor spheroids. In the total observation period of 10 days no tumor regrowth could be seen as well.

Optimizing *ex vivo* NK Cell Activation Protocol for CD3/CD19-Depleted Cells by IL-21

As NK cells expanded with IL-15 after CD3/CD19-depletion showed the highest expansion rate and cytotoxic capacity against NB cell lines, we further aimed to optimize this protocol based on previous data indicating a further gain in NK cell cytotoxicity by a boost with IL-21 (23). Therefore, the cytokine stimulation has been prolonged by the addition of IL-21 prior to harvesting. In addition, a break of cytokine exposure prior to the IL-21 boost has been tested as this short "gap" in cytokine addition has been reported to improve NK cell expansion (22) (Figure 3A, Table 2). Ex vivo expansion with IL-15^{low} for 15 days led to a median expansion rate of 6.8-fold (range 2.6-23.1) (Figure 3B, Table 2). An additional boost with IL-21 on day 13 of culture was able to further enhance proliferation up to a median 16.5-fold (range 4.2-26.9), but not to a statistically relevant extent. If cells received only medium and no cytokines at day 11 prior to the IL-21 boost on day 13 (IL-15gap+IL-21), NK cells expanded 7.1-fold (range 2.6-12.8), only.

Following CD3/CD19-depletion 97.8% of all CD45⁺ cells were viable (Figure 3C, Table 2). Median NK cell viability on the day of harvest was 96% following IL-15 stimulation, while viability in both protocols containing an IL-21 boost was slightly lower, but not to a significantly relevant extent (96.2% in the IL-15^{low}+IL-21 and 88.3% in the IL-15^{gap}+IL-21 protocol). CD3/CD19-depleted cell products consisted in median of 53% NK cells (range 23.0-71.5%) (Figure 3D). By ex vivo cultivation for 15 days the NK cell purity could be significantly elevated up to 96.2, 96.5, and 96.7% for IL-15^{low}, IL-15^{gap}+IL-21, and IL-15^{low}+IL-21, respectively. Importantly, there was no significant T or B cell contamination. All NK cell products contained a median amount of 0.01% T cells (range 0-0.04%) and 0.02% B cells (range 0-0.18%) (Table 2). Following CD3/CD19-depletion, the majority of NK cells (94.7%) can be assigned to the $CD16^+$ cytotoxic NK cell subpopulation (Figure 3E, Table 2). Upon ex vivo cultivation the percentage of CD16⁻ immune regulatory NK cells significantly increased in all three cytokine stimulation protocols up to 49.4% IL-15^{low}, 42.7% IL-15^{low}+IL-21, and 48.5% IL-15^{gap}+IL-21, respectively.

Next, the percentage of lysed target NB cells within the optimized NK cell expansion protocols was evaluated by Europium release assay. Both NB cell lines, SK-N-SH (**Figure 4A**) and SK-N-AS (**Figure 4B**), were efficiently lysed by CD3/CD19-depleted NK cells with escalating E:T ratios. The median specific lysis of SK-N-SH cells by IL-15^{low} treated NK cells was 69.5% (range 54.1–82.7%) at an E:T-ratio of 10:1. NK cells further stimulated with IL-21 in the IL-15^{low}+IL-21 protocol were able to lyse 71.5% (range 60.0–87.4%) and those cultured in the IL-15^{gap}+IL-21 protocol lysed 77.6% (range 70.3–94.3%) of the SK-N-SH cells at an E:T-ratio of 10:1. In summary, the additional IL-21-boost was able to slightly further enhance cytotoxicity. Remarkably, NK cells were even able to lyse SK-N-SH cells at an

E:T ratio of 0.5:1 with a median lysis of 8.2% (range 0–16.7%) in the IL-15^{low} protocol, 13.06% (range 6.2–16.1%) following the IL-15^{low}+IL-21 treatment and 12.24% (range 10.5–14.7%) in the IL-15^{gap}+IL-21 condition (**Figure 4A**). NK cell mediated killing of SK-N-AS cells was still very effective but slightly lower compared to SK-N-SH cells. NK cells cultured in the IL-15^{low}+IL-21 protocol were able to lyse 54.4% (range 39.2–82.2%) and those cultured in the IL-15^{gap}+IL-21 protocol 63.3% (range 39.5–76.0%) of SK-N-AS cells at an E:T-ratio of 10:1 (**Figure 4B**). Overall, NK cells stimulated according to the IL-15^{gap}+IL-21 protocol showed the highest cytotoxic potential against both NB cell lines, although differences were not statistically relevant.

Further Optimization of the *ex vivo* NK Cell Activation Protocol by Specialized NK Cell Medium

To investigate if NK cell expansion can be further enhanced, we included an optimized cell culture medium for the cultivation and expansion of human NK cells, the NK $\operatorname{MACS}^{\operatorname{(\!\mathbb{R})}}$ medium (Miltenyi Biotec) in our stimulation protocols with either continuous IL-15 treatment or with an additional IL-21 boost 2 days prior to cell harvest on day 15 (Figure 5A, Table 3). Comparing the effect of an IL-21 boost to the treatment with IL-15, NK cell expansion was slightly, but not significantly, lower after the boost. Culturing in NK MACS® medium led to a significantly higher expansion rate compared to culturing in X-VIVOTM10 medium, which was also used in all previously shown experiments. While NK cells expanded 13.2-fold (range 4-21.6) under IL15 stimulation and 9.6-fold (range 5.1-22.1) after an additional IL-21 boost in X-VIVOTM10 medium, expansion rates increased up to 26.4-fold (range 12.7-38.5) and 24.4-fold (range 13.9-41.1), respectively when NK MACS® medium was used (Figure 5B, Table 3).

However, NK cell expansion was not better in NK MACS[®] compared to that in X-VIVOTM10 medium over the entire *ex vivo* cultivation process. Within the first 4 days in culture, NK cell counts decreased and first expansion could be seen in the time period between days 4 and 8. Interestingly, expansion rates during this time point were higher in X-VIVOTM10 medium, but after 8 days of culture, NK cell proliferation was significantly better in NK MACS[®] medium. Further, a continuous increase in expansion could be seen until the day of harvest in NK MACS[®] medium, while NK cells in X-VIVOTM10 medium proliferated until day 15, but with much lower rates than those during the beginning of cultivation (data not shown).

Viability on the day of isolation by CD3/CD19-depletion amounted to 96.7%, which decreased slightly after 15 days of culture in X-VIVOTM10 medium. Median viability on the day of harvest of IL-15^{low} treated NK cells was 95.3 and 96.4% after the IL-21 cytokine boost. Culturing NK cells in NK MACS[®] medium for 15 days increased the median viability up to 98% following IL-15^{low} treatment and up to 97.3% within the IL-15^{low}+IL-21 stimulation protocol (**Figure 5C, Table 3**).

CD3/CD19-depleted cell products consisted prior to expansion (day 0) in median of 44.4% NK cells with T and B cell content of 0.04 and 0.06% (**Figure 5D**). Fifteen days

TABLE 2 | Summary statistics to experiments shown in Figure 3.

Purification method		CD3/CD19-depl.		
NK cell stimulation		IL-15+IL-21	IL-15+IL-21 ^{gap}	IL-15
NK cell expansion rate	[x-fold]	16.5 (4.2–26.9)	7.1 (2.6–12.8)	6.8 (2.6–23.1)
Viability	[%] of WBC	96.2 (95.2–99.1)	88.3 (80–98.7	96.0 (89.9–97.2)
Purity NK cells	[%] of WBC	96.7 (95.8–96.9)	96.0 (95.3–98.3)	96.2 (94.9–98.7)
CD16 ⁻ NK cells	[%] of NK	42.7 (16.4–46.7)	48.5 (19.2–57.6)	49.4 (18.1–56.1)
CD16 ⁺ NK cells	[%] of NK	56.0 (51.6–81.6)	47.1 (39.7–75.1)	47.8 (40.2–73)
Ratio CD16 ⁻ /CD16 ⁺		0.7	1.0	1.0
T cell contamination	[%] of WBC	0.0 (0-0.01)	0.02 (0-0.04)	0.005 (0–0.37)
NKT cell contamination	[%] of WBC	0.19 (0.06–0.3)	0.24 (0.09-0.44)	0.16 (0.46–0.38)
B cell contamination	[%] of WBC	0.02 (0-0.03)	0.03 (0.01-0.11)	0.01 (0-0.18)

CD56⁺CD3⁻ NK cells were analyzed on day of harvest (day 10–12). Median (range) expansion rate, purity, viability, NK cell subpopulations and ratios, as well as T, NK-like T and B cell contamination was assessed by flow cytometric analyses. NK, natural killer; NKT, NK-like T; IL, interleukin; WBC, white blood cell; CD3/CD19-depl., CD3/CD19-depleted.

TABLE 3 | Summary statistics to experiments shown in Figure 5.

Purification method		CD3/CD19-depl.					
NK cell stimulation		IL-15	IL-15+IL-21	IL-15	IL-15+IL-21		
		X-VIVO10		NK MACS			
NK cell expansion rate	[x-fold]	13.2 (4–21.6)	9.6 (5.1–22.1)	26.4 (12.7–38.5)	24.4 (13.9–41.1)		
Viability	[%] of WBC	95.3 (91.6–97.9)	96.4 (90.5–97.3)	98 (97.2–99)	97.3 (96.4–98.2)		
Purity NK cells	[%] of WBC	96.1 (95.9–96.4)	96.2 (96–96.6)	96.4 (95.9–96.9)	96.4 (95.6–96.4)		
CD16 ⁻ NK cells	[%] of NK	40.7 (32–51.3)	41.5 (31.9–50)	69.5 (55.7–75.7)	71.6 (58.0–78.9)		
CD16 ⁺ NK cells	[%] of NK	57.3 (43.7-67.1)	57.4 (47-67.4)	29.3 (20.7-42.2)	26.9 (17.5–39.8)		
Ratio CD16 ^{-/} CD16 ⁺		0.7	0.7	2.4	2.7		
T cell contamination	[%] of WBC	0.0 (0-0)	0.0 (0-0.04)	0.0 (0-0.01)	0.0 (0-0.01)		
NKT cell contamination	[%] of WBC	0.14 (0.11-0.22)	0.21 (0.1–0.25)	0.14 (0.06-0.22)	0.15 (0.13–0.23)		
B cell contamination	[%] of WBC	0.06 (0-0.18)	0.14 (0.02-0.18)	0.07 (0.01-0.18)	0.07 (0.02–0.16)		

CD56⁺CD3⁻ NK cells were analyzed on day of harvest (day 10–12). Median (range) expansion rate, purity, viability, NK cell subpopulations and ratios, as well as T, NK-like T and B cell contamination was assessed by flow cytometric analyses. NK, natural killer; NKT, NK-like T; IL, interleukin; WBC, white blood cell; CD3/CD19-depl., CD3/CD19-depleted.

of ex vivo culture led to a high NK cell purity of around 96%, which was independent of cell culture medium and cytokine stimuli (96.1% IL-15^{low} and 96.2% IL-15^{low}+ IL-21 after culture in X-VIVOTM10 medium and 96.4% IL-15^{low} and 96.4% IL-15^{low}+ IL-21 in NK MACS[®] medium). As observed in the previous results, there was hardly any T or B cell contamination. All NK cell products were almost T and B cell free (range of 0-0.04% T cells and 0-0.18% B cells) (Table 3). Directly after CD3/CD19-depeletion, the predominant NK cell population at 95.9% consisted of CD16⁺ cytotoxic cells (day 0) and decreased to 57.3 and 57.4% under cultivation with IL-15^{low} or IL-15^{low}+IL-21 in X-VIVOTM10, respectively (day 15, Figure 5E, Table 3). Interestingly, the cultivation in NK MACS[®] medium led to an even more pronounced effect with significantly higher proportions of CD16⁻ cells, which made up 69.5% of NK cells following culturing with IL-15^{low} and 71.6% after an additional IL-21-boost displayed by a switch in the CD16⁻/CD16⁺ ratio to 2.4 and 2.7, respectively (Figure 5E, Table 3).

Cytotoxic Potential and Long-Term Cytotoxicity After Optimization of NK Cell Cultivation

The additional IL-21 boost 2 days prior to harvest was able to significantly enhance cytotoxicity compared to cultivation with only IL-15^{low} (**Figure 6A**). This observation was seen in both NK cell media but was even more pronounced for NK cells cultivated in NK MACS[®] medium. Here, even at an E:T ratio of 0.5:1, the addition of IL-21 led to an significant increase in target cell lysis. However, specific cell lysis was slightly higher after *ex vivo* culture in X-VIVOTM10 medium compared to that in NK MACS[®] medium. At an E:T ratio of 10:1, the specific lysis of SK-N-SH cells by IL-15^{low}-treated NK cells in X-VIVOTM10 medium was 73.6% (range 59.2–97.8%). An IL-21 boost elevated lysis up to 94.9% (range 64.6–81.1%) for IL-15^{low} and 80.1% (range 68.1–89.2%) for IL-15^{low}+IL-21 (**Figure 6A**). At an E:T ratio of 10:1, the specific lysis of SK-N-AS cells by IL-15^{low} stimulated NK

cells in X-VIVOTM10 medium was 57.4% (range 46.9–86.3%), and an IL-21 boost elevated the lysis up to 68.1% (range 57.4– 92.4%). In NK MACS[®] medium, lysis was 50.7% (range 36.0– 59.8%) (IL-15^{low}) and 57.8% (range 45.6–78.0% (IL-15^{low} + IL-21) (**Figure 6B**). Remarkably, NK cells did not only lyse NB cells at high E:T ratios but also at very low ones. Median specific lysis of SK-N-SH cells at an E:T of only 0.5:1 was 8.7% (range 3.5– 13.3%) for IL-15^{low} X-VIVOTM10, 9.2% (range 1.4–16.4%) for IL-15^{low}+IL-21 X-VIVOTM10, 5.6% (range 0–9.0%) for IL-15^{low} NK MACS[®] and 9.6% (range 7.7–13.0%) for IL-15^{low}+IL-21 in NK MACS[®] medium.

To further address long-term cytotoxicity, NB tumor spheroids built of SK-N-AS cells were co-incubated with IL- 15^{low} +IL-21 stimulated NK cells cultured in either X-VIVOTM10 NK or MACS[®] medium. As already demonstrated in the short-term cytotoxicity assays, no differences between both media were observed in long-term cytotoxicity assays using tumor spheroids. Regardless what culture medium was used, IL- 15^{low} +IL-21 stimulated NK cells were able to quickly infiltrate and completely lyse the tumor spheroids (**Figure 6C**).

IFN-γ Production and Expression of the Degranulation Marker CD107a

Degranulation assays detecting CD107a as a marker for stimulation-induced granule exocytosis and intracellular IFNy staining were performed comparing NK cells previously cultured with IL-15^{low} or IL-15^{low}+IL-21 in X-VIVOTM10 or NK MACS[®] media. As degranulation/cytokine production stimulus either SK-N-AS NB target cells (E:T ratio 1:1) or IL-12+IL-18, mimicking stimulation by dendritic cells, was used (Figure 7). Both NK cell subpopulations were capable of IFN-y production upon cytokine stimulation and target cell co-incubation and higher levels of IFN- γ^+ cells were detected following cytokine stimulus compared to tumor cell co-incubation, which was statistically significant for the CD16⁻ subset. Between both culture media similar effects were observed, except CD16-NK cells grown in X-VIVOTM10 produced significantly more IFN-y upon IL-12+IL-18 cytokine stimulation. Target cell coincubation and cytokine stimulation led to a high CD107a expression in the different NK cell subpopulations, thereby more pronounced within the CD16⁻ NK cell population. Only small differences were seen between both cell culture media, but throughout all experiments, the additional IL-21 boost during NK cell cultivation enhanced IFN-y and CD107a expression, which was noticeable in all measurements and was even statistically significant in n = 2 settings.

Phenotype Analysis of NK Cells and CD16⁻ and CD16⁺ Subpopulations

Extensive flow cytometric analysis revealed that the IL-21 boost had no significant influence on the expression of a broad repertoire of NK cell characteristic cell surface markers when compared to stimulation with IL-15^{low} only (**Figure 8A**). Notably, the activating cytotoxicity receptors NKp44 and NKG2D and the activation marker CD69 showed higher expression on NK cells following cultivation in X-VIVOTM10

medium compared to NK MACS[®] medium. However, all other surface markers tested were equally expressed on NK cells cultured in either X-VIVOTM10 or NK MACS[®] medium.

Irrespective of culture medium-dependent differences, also variations in the receptor expression of CD16⁻ and CD16⁺ NK cell subpopulations were observed (**Figures 8B,C**). Receptors associated with cytotoxicity, particularly NKG2D which plays a crucial role in NK cell killing, were equally expressed on both NK cells subsets following expansion by IL-15^{low} and IL-15^{low}+IL-21; NKp44 and NKp46 even to a higher extend in CD16⁻ NK cells. In the same line, expression of CD25, the α -chain of the IL-2/IL-15 receptor, seemed to be correlated to activation. By contrast, the death receptor FASL and the maturation marker CD57 were considerably higher expressed on CD16⁺ NK cells, which was expected as the CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ subset is described as the mature, while CD16⁻ NK cells are the more immature NK cell subpopulation.

DISCUSSION

Current therapy for high-risk NB includes surgery, myeloablative conditioning and autologous SCT, but the occurrence of relapse remains still a major limit (31, 32). Despite therapeutic improvements, the overall survival is not satisfying, and alternative treatment options are urgently needed. To benefit from the GvL/T effect, allogeneic SCT was considered for NB patients. However, there was no difference in the outcome of patients treated with autologous purged and matched allogeneic SCT (33). Haploidentical SCT is an option to enhance the GvL/T effect but carries an increased risk of severe GvHD, mainly mediated by alloreactive donor T cells. An effective strategy to prevent the occurrence of lethal GvHD is the in vitro depletion of T cells. Specific depletion techniques are available to remove T and B cells from the grafts (CD3/CD19- or TCRaβ/CD19depletion) while preserving cells that are beneficial regarding engraftment and GvL/T effect such as NK cells (9, 34, 35). Notably, HLA class I expression is reduced on NB cells which makes them valid targets for NK cell lysis (10, 36). The feasibility of haploidentical SCT for solid tumors including NB was shown, unfortunately with limited effect (6, 8, 37-39). Most studies included small cohorts of patients who suffered from diverse primary tumors (6, 38) that relapsed following autologous SCT (6) or were in non- or partial remission at the time-point of haploidentical SCT (6, 8, 38, 39). Illhardt et al. treated 26 patients suffering from refractory or relapsed metastatic NB showing that patients reaching complete remission before haploidentical SCT had a significantly better prognosis compared to patients with proven residual tumor load. Unfortunately, event-free and overall-survival in the whole cohort at 5 years post SCT were 19% and 23%, respectively, enforcing the urgent need for improved treatment options (8).

Adoptive immunotherapy following SCT is a promising approach to further strengthen GvL/T to combat relapse in high-risk solid tumors, such as NB. Within the last decade, different cell-based immunotherapeutic strategies were adopted and refined, including the infusion of donor lymphocytes (DLI),



FIGURE 7 | CD107a degranulation and IFN- γ production. (**A**) Intracellular IFN- γ expression and degranulation potential indicated by CD107a expression of cytokine stimulated NK cells cultured in X-VIVOTM10 or NK MACS[®] media was assessed after 15 days of cultivation with the IL-15^{low} or IL-15^{low}+IL-21 stimulation protocol. Cells were either co-incubated with SK-N-AS NB target cells (E:T ratio 1:1) or stimulated with IL-12+IL-18 minicking stimulation by dendritic cells. After the total incubation time of 4 h, cells were stained and measured by flow cytometry. IFN- γ and CD107a expression was compared to unstimulated cells in each cultivation setting used as negative control. Both NK cell subsets produced IFN- γ upon cytokine stimulation and target cell co-incubation, with higher levels after the cytokine stimulus, which was statistically significant for the CD16⁻ subset. Similar effects were seen in both media, except CD16⁻ NK cells grown in X-VIVOTM10 produced significantly more IFN- γ upon IL-12+IL-18 cytokine stimulation. Target cell co-incubation and cytokine stimulation led to a high CD107a expression in both NK cell subpopulations, especially within the CD16⁻ NK cell population. Only small differences were seen between both cell culture media. Throughout all experiments, the additional IL-21 boost during NK cell cultivation enhanced IFN- γ and CD107a expression, which was even statistically significant in *n* = 2 settings (light gray vs. dark gray bars). Summary data show mean and SEM percentage of CD107a⁺ and IFN- γ^+ NK cells (*n* = 4 independent results). (**B**) FACS plots show IFN- γ and CD107a expression in both CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations of IL-15^{low}+IL-21 NK cells grown 15 days in NK MACS[®] media. This stimulation protocol led to an outgrowth of the CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations are capable of IFN- γ^+ production and CD107a expression. Thereby CD107a expression was higher present on CD16⁻ NK cells, while IFN- γ was produced equally by both subsets. FACS plots g

NK cells with and without prior cytokine stimulation, and CIK cells (18, 20, 40–42). CIK cells have shown high antileukemic potential, while demonstrating only low alloreactive potential. Through their heterogeneous composition, including a majority of $CD3^+$ T cells, $CD3^+CD56^+$ NK-like T cells and a small amount of CD3⁻CD56⁺ NK cells, CIK cells can mediate different killing mechanisms involving T cell receptor-dependent and non-HLA-restricted cytotoxicity using various receptors and signaling pathways (27, 40, 43, 44). In a previous work, we showed that CIK cells were able to attack NB by lysing between



could be seen. The activating receptors NKp44 and NKG2D and the activation marker CD69 showed higher expression on NK cells cultured in X-VIVOTM10 medium (IIII) compared to ones cultured in NK MACS[®] medium (IIIII). While the CD16⁺ NK cell population expressed higher levels of maturation marker CD57, the inhibitory receptor NKG2A and the death receptor FASL, CD16⁻ NK cells expressed the activating receptors NKp44 and NKp46 as well as the α -chain of the IL-2/IL-15 receptor CD25 to a higher extend (statistically not relevant differences). n = 4, independent results, median fluorescence intensity (MFI), bar graphs show median and interquartile range, gated on viable 7-AAD⁻ NK cells using FMO (fluorescence minus one) controls for each antigen.

14.7 and 19.8% of different NB cell lines, such as UKF-NB-3, UKF-NB4 and SK-N-SH, at an E:T ratio of 20:1 (27). Hence, repeated CIK cell immunotherapy might support the patient's immune system to combat NB relapse, but increased killing rates are desirable. An encouraging approach might be the engineering of CAR-CIK cells as already shown for refractory or advanced soft tissue sarcoma (28).

Another immunotherapeutic strategy that was successfully applied in NB patients is the infusion of allogeneic NK cells (18, 19, 45). The expression of stress-induced activating receptor ligands MHC class I chain-related protein A and B (MICA/B) combined with reduced expression of HLA class I surface molecules to escape T cell mediated killing, renders NB an optimal target for NK cell mediated cytotoxicity (46). Within clinical trials, we and others applied highly purified NK cells with and without prior ex vivo IL-2 stimulation (19, 20, 47). Thereby, we have demonstrated feasible manufacturing under GMP conditions and the safe application of haploidentical NK cells on day +40 and +100 post SCT in 16 pediatric patients suffering from high-risk malignancies (4 of them with high-risk NB stadium IV). Two of the four patients with NB treated with IL-2-stimulated NK cells showed a notable response. One patient is still alive 9.3 years after SCT and NK cell immunotherapy whereas the second patient remained in complete remission (CR) for 5.8 years. However, despite a high lytic activity of the activated donor NK cells in vitro and these promising clinical responses, the continuation of this clinical study was limited by an NK cell expansion rate of a median 4-fold, which did not ensure repetitive high-dose NK cell infusions. In addition, the manufacturing procedure was associated with enormously high expenses.

In substantial research studies, various cytokine combinations with and without feeder cell addition were tested to investigate the improvement of NK cell proliferation and cytotoxicity against a broad range of tumor entities (23, 48, 49). The establishment of a protocol without feeder cells seems advantageous as cell products produced with feeder cells cannot simply be infused, but must be thoroughly tested for clinical safety first (50-52). In this work, we generated NK cells with IL-2, IL-15 and/or IL-21 using either CD3/CD19-depleted or CD56enriched PBMCs as starting material. Thereby, our analyses revealed that NK cells generated from CD3/CD19-depleted starting material expanded significantly faster compared to conventionally generated CD56-enriched NK cells. This might be due to autologous accessory cells of the CD3/CD19-depleted cell product, meaning co-cultured non-NK cells, such as monocytes and DCs, that can facilitate NK cell expansion and stimulation by cytokine secretion and/or direct cell-to-cell-interaction (53-55). Monocytes analyzed early in co-culture of CD3/CD19depleted NK cell products expressed the high affinity IL-15 receptor alpha (IL-15Ra, CD215) on the surface, indicating a possible mechanism of trans-presentation of IL-15 to NK cells by the IL-2R β and γ chain receptor complex. Similar to the recently described design of a IL-15 superagonist by complexing IL-15 and IL-15R α in solution, this may as well enhance the biological activity of IL-15 in the expansion procedure of NK cells when co-cultured with accessory cells such as monocytes following CD3/CD19-depletion. This effect might explain the enhanced NK cell proliferation of CD3/CD19-depleted PBMCs compared to highly purified CD56-enriched NK cell cultures (56–58). Unlike to classical feeder cells, these accessory cells are not of third-party origin and do not need to be inactivated or irradiated. With regard to an intended clinical cell application, this is of crucial importance, because these cells are not going to be removed prior to clinical cell application. Moreover, in the clinical haploidentical setting that carries an elevated risk of developing GvHD, the amount and possible expansion of residual T cells needs to be carefully monitored. Importantly, the NK cell product generated from CD3/CD19-depleted primary material consisted of only 39% NK cells at culture start, but reached a purity of almost 99%, without relevant T or B cell contamination (<0.2%).

We further showed that NK cells isolated by CD3/CD19depletion exerted significantly higher cytotoxic activity than those isolated by CD56-enrichment. These findings are coherent to findings published by Williams et al. (59). In addition to the common 2D cytotoxicity tests, we performed lysis experiments with tumor spheroids. Hereby, using the Celigo cell cytometer, we were able to investigate killing over an extended time period up to 10 days and in a 3D structure closer to in vivo tumor conditions (60-62). All NK cells were able to suppress tumor growth and the superior lysis of CD3/CD19-depleted cells could be affirmed. However, especially NK cells generated from CD3/CD19-depleted PBMCs cultured with IL-15 mediated remarkably high cytotoxicity in short-term and long-term killing of the 3D spheroid structure without reoccurrence of target cells. Interestingly, while CIK cells showed significantly lower short-term killing capacity, in the longterm cytotoxicity assay against 3D NB structures, CIK cells eradicated tumor cells as well. This was probably due to their persistence and proliferative capacity under these specific in vitro conditions. Furthermore, CIK-cell-mediated killing is a process that is known to need more time than NK cell-induced killing (63).

Although IL-2-stimulated NK cells were successfully administered in several clinical studies, we and others showed advantageous expansion rates and cytotoxicity with IL-15 stimulation (50, 64). IL-2 is described as a relevant cytokine for the maintenance of induced regulatory T cells and also for the activation and proliferation of T cells which might be of importance regarding tumor-escape mechanisms, but also for GvHD development (65–67).

Therefore, encouraging results were published by Choi et al. treating 41 adult patients suffering mainly from leukemia with haploidentical NK cell immunotherapy generated from CD3-depleted primary material stimulated with IL-15, IL-21 and hydrocortisone over a period of 13 to 20 days. The median cell dose given in this study was with 2×10^8 NK cells kg/BW $\sim 10-20$ times higher compared to previous studies leading to a significant reduction in leukemia progression (68). Experience with NK cell expansion from CD3/CD19-depleted primary material was also published by Williams et al. and van Ostaijen-ten Dam et al., however their cultivation with IL-2 and/or IL-15 was limited to overnight and 5 days, resulting in lower cell expansion compared to our protocol (59, 69).

Here, we could see that NK cells isolated by CD56-enrichment and cultured with IL-2 in addition to IL-15 showed higher T cell contamination (median 1%) than NK cells cultured with IL-15 only. Stimulation with IL-21 is known to enhance NK cell cytotoxicity, while hampering IL-2- and IL-15-driven expansion and viability (50, 70–72). As already shown by Wagner et al. (23), an additional short-term IL-21 boost to IL-15^{low}-cultured NK cells prior to harvest further significantly increased cytotoxicity and partly also NK cell expansion. They described, that with the IL-15+IL-21 boost protocol, expansion rates ranged between 2- and 10-fold depending on the donor, exhibiting an average 4.5-fold increase on day 10 of culture. In our experiments, the effect of the IL-21 boost on NK cell expansion was also to some extend variable and donor-dependent, while IL-21 consistently increased NK cell cytotoxicity, in median 8-10% when NK cells were cultured in the NK cell optimized medium NK MACS[®]. Remarkably, this gain in cytotoxicity was even more significant than described by Wagner et al. (23).

Importantly, our data highlight that cultivation of NK cells from CD3/CD19-depleted primary material in NK MACS[®] medium compared to X-VIVOTM10 medium resulted in significantly higher expansion rates up to 26.4-fold compared to 13.2-fold following IL-15^{low} stimulation, which was combined with higher purity and viability, but slightly lower cytotoxicity against NB cell lines. Oberschmidt et al. reported a median expansion of 5.9-fold after 14 days of *ex vivo* cultivation of NK cells in NK MACS[®] medium with the addition of IL-2/IL-15 and initial IL-21 after CD3-depletion and CD56-selection from leukapheresis products using the CliniMACS[®] Prodigy device (73). Significantly higher expansion rates using NK MACS[®] compared to X-VIVOTM10 media were also described by Klöß et al. when cultivating NK cells (74).

In our study NK cell subsets were analyzed for the distribution of the CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ and CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ subpopulation. As all stimulation protocols induced an upregulation of the NK cell marker CD56, leading to a complete CD56^{bright} phenotype, only a discrimination of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ NK cells was used to define distinct subpopulations in the resulting cell products. Upon cytokine stimulation we further observed an increase of the CD16⁻ NK cell population. This was in correlation with a previous report describing a reduction of CD16⁺ NK cells and an increase of CD16⁻ NK cells upon IL-15 and IL-15+IL-21 simulation (23). It has been shown earlier that CD16⁻ NK cells have a high proliferating capacity. Klingemann et al. reported that ex vivo culture of CD56 cells leads primarily to expansion of the CD16⁻ cell population, when stimulated with IL-2 or IL-2+IL-15 in X-VIVOTM10 media for 14 days (75). Interestingly, our data showed that the increase of the CD16⁻ proportion was more pronounced when cells where generated by CD3/CD19-depletion and even led to an inverse distribution in the proportion of CD16⁻ and CD16⁺ NK cell subsets when cultured in NK MACS[®] compared to X-VIVOTM10 medium (see Tables 1-3). This outgrowth of the CD16⁻ subpopulation correlated with a significantly increased expansion capacity when NK cells were cultured in NK MACS[®] medium, indicating that CD16⁻ NK cells are the major subpopulation stimulated under these given cell culture conditions.

When addressing the impact of different culture conditions on the NK cell proliferation capacity, the culture in the presence of NK MACS[®] led to the highest expansion rates, while expansion was significantly lower in the other tested media X-VIVOTM10. This observation is in line with a report by Klöß et al. on a detailed comparison of different GMP-compliant expansion media. In addition, they also describe an altered proportion of CD16⁻ and CD16⁺ NK cell subsets in all culture batches containing NK MACS[®] medium, with in median 49.6% (range 42.2–51.5) CD16^{dim/-} and 50.4% (range 48.6–57.2) CD16⁺ containing NK cells (74). These findings are also consistent with a study describing a wide range of CD16⁻/CD16⁺ ratio between 0.2 and 2.3 (median 0.9) when CD3-depleted CD56-enriched NK cells were cultured in NK MACS[®] medium + IL-2/IL-15 and initial IL-21 for 14 days using the CliniMACS Prodigy device (73).

Regarding a future clinical application of NK cells stimulated by IL-15^{low}+IL-21 in NK MACS[®] for 15 days, the characterization of the final NK cell phenotype and function is of crucial interest. Importantly, cytotoxic activity did not differ between both cell culture medium conditions, as we have demonstrated in short- and long-term cytotoxicity experiments, thereby indicating that the CD16⁻ population also exerts potent killing mechanisms. Moreover, both NK cell subsets were capable of IFN-y production as well as CD107a expression. Contact with NB tumor cells or cytokine stimulation with IL-12+IL-18, mimicking activation by dendritic cells, led both to a CD107a expression in both NK cell subpopulations, and was even more pronounced within the CD16⁻ NK cell population. Interestingly, in correlation to the natural NK cell function in *vivo*, the cytokine stimulus induced a high cytokine (IFN- γ) production in both NK cell subsets, while NK cells responded to the NB cell co-incubation with enhanced CD107a expression. Notably, especially the CD16⁻ NK cell population showed poly-functional characteristics being capable of both cytokine secretion and degranulation.

These findings are in line with recent publications investigating the systemic IL-15 administration in cancer patients. Dubois et al. describe a dramatic expansion with a 358-fold increase of CD56^{bright} NK cells exceeding the CD56^{dim} NK cell populations upon continuous i. v. IL-15 infusions. As expected, CD56^{bright} NK cells responded with increased cytokine release to various stimuli. Importantly, CD56^{bright} NK cells also gained the ability to kill various target cells. In addition, IL-15 treatment resulted in increased amounts of the cytolytic molecules granzymes A and B and perforin in CD56^{bright} NK cells, what conclusively led the authors to state that IL-15 infusions appear to equip CD56^{bright} NK cells to become cytotoxic and therefore enabled the whole NK cell population to mediate antitumor response (76, 77). Our results are also consistent with recent findings describing CD56^{bright} NK cells exhibiting potent antitumor responses with multiple cell functions such as degranulation, cytotoxicity and cytokine production following IL-15 priming (78). Wagner et al. postulate that IL-15 unleashes potent antitumor effector function of CD56^{bright} NK cells. Traditionally, CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ NK cells are described as cells with low antitumor responsiveness that are primarily involved in immune regulatory functions like cytokine secretion. However, these studies in correlation to our report indicate that this definition may not be transferable to *in vitro* cytokine stimulated NK cells.

In addition, also receptors associated with cytotoxicity, i.e., DNAM1, NKp30 and particularly NKG2D which plays a crucial role in NK cell killing, were equally expressed in both NK cell subsets after IL-15^{low} and IL-15^{low}+IL-21 treatment. NKp44 and NKp46 even to a higher extend in CD16⁻ NK cells, underlining the gain in cytotoxic potential of this subset. In our study, we observed that an additional IL-21 boost to continuous IL-15^{low} treatment significantly enhanced NK cell cytotoxicity, which was even more pronounced when NK cells were cultured in NK MACS® medium. However, also in accordance with our previous reports, surface expression of the corresponding receptors did not correlate with these findings (23). Klöß et al. found no differences in the expression of the markers NKp30, NKp44, NKp46, and NKG2D between NK cells cultured in X-VIVOTM10 and NK MACS[®] medium (74), while Oberschmidt et al. reported the upregulation of NKG2D, NKp30, and NKp44 on NK cells cultured for 14 days in NK MACS® medium with IL-2/IL-15 and initial IL-21 relative to unstimulated cells (73).

Overall, in our study we address whether donor NK cells may provide a potent cell-based immunotherapeutic approach to treat high-risk NB patients in addition to haploidentical SCT. We report on our efforts to optimize the cytokine stimulation protocol with regard to expansion rate and cytotoxic activity of NK cells generated from CD3/CD19-depleted products in comparison to CD56-enriched NK cells or CIK cells activated by our well-established manufacturing procedure. In sum, our data revealed that NK cells have a significantly higher cytotoxic potential to combat NB than CIK cell products. Although CIK cells have shown compelling results in the treatment of hematological malignancies, NK cells seem superior regarding the targeting of NB.

As an important step toward clinical application, these results could be verified in a first *proof of principle experiment* in which we analyzed NK cells from a clinical CD3/CD19-depleted G-CSF stimulated stem cell leukapheresis product using the IL-15^{low}+IL-21 stimulation protocol. Expansion rate, viability, and cytotoxicity against NB target cells were similar to NK cells isolated from PBMCs. On the base of our finding, for subsequent studies we favor the use of NK cells generated from CD3/CD19-depleted cell products stimulated in a 15 day expansion procedure using IL-15^{low}+IL-21 and NK MACS medium. Up-scaling experiments toward the translation into a GMP-compliant expansion protocol are ongoing, as well as the establishment of a Xenograft mouse model to verify our data *in vivo*.

As one major limitation of repeated NK cell immunotherapy is the generation of sufficient amounts of NK cells to apply clinically relevant doses, this optimized expansion and stimulation protocol to *ex vivo* cultivate NK cells from grafts of a haploidentical donors might be used in future clinical studies. In this context, the use of IL-15- and IL-21-expanded NK cells generated from CD3/CD19-depleted apheresis products seem to be highly promising as additional immunotherapy in combination with haploidentical SCT for high-risk NB patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Goethe University Frankfurt, Germany (approval no. 329/10). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AH, CC, and EU conceived and designed the experiments. AH, BG, JF, TM, and LG performed the experiments. AH, BG, CC, and SH analyzed the data. EU, PB, and TK coordinated and supervised the research. CC, EU, ER, JF, SH, MM, and JS discussed the results. AH, BG, CC, EU, and MB wrote the paper with support from all co-authors. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

Cancer Aid (Deutsche Krebshilfe), Frankfurter Stiftung für krebskranke Kinder and Hilfe für krebskranke Kinder e.V., Else Kröner Fresenius Stiftung (P75/08//A62/08; 2014_A305, 22.07.2015), the LOEWE Center for Cell and Gene Therapy Frankfurt, funded by: Hessisches Ministerium für Wissenschaft und Kunst (HMWK; funding reference number: III L 5-518/17.004). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Juliane Wagner, Eva Stolzenberg, Caterina Klein, Julia Banisharif-Dehkordi, Sibille Betz, Franziska Kalensee, Hernán Concha Quezada, Stephanie Erben, Katja Stein, and Olga Zimmermann for the excellent support and Simone Fulda for kindly providing tumor cells.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.02816/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Characterization of CIK and NK cells supplemental to Figure 1. (A) CD56-enriched NK cell products contained a median of 1.0 and 0.3% T cells and CD3/CD19-depleted NK cell products a median of 0.03% and 0.05% T cells following IL-2+IL-15 and IL-15 stimulation, respectively. T cell

contamination was significantly higher in CD56-enriched NK cell products and if IL-2 was added. Frequency of T cells within the CIK cell bulk increased following cytokine stimulation from 54.7% up to 84.2%. **(B)** CD56-enriched NK cell products contained a median of 0.5% and 0.16% NK-like T cells and CD3/CD19-depleted NK cell products in median 0.08% and 0.03% NK-like T cells following IL-2+IL-15 and IL-15 stimulation, respectively. Frequency of NK-like T cells within the CIK cell bulk increased following cytokine stimulation from 3.7% up to 6.2%. **(C)** CD56-enriched NK cell products contained a median 0.04% and

REFERENCES

- Cohn SL, Pearson AD, London WB, Monclair T, Ambros PF, Brodeur GM, et al. The International Neuroblastoma Risk Group (INRG) classification system: an INRG Task Force report. J Clin Oncol. (2009) 27:289–97. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.16.6785
- Colon NC, Chung DH. Neuroblastoma. Adv Pediatr. (2011) 58:297–311. doi: 10.1016/j.yapd.2011.03.011
- Maris JM. Recent advances in neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med. (2010) 362:2202– 11. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0804577
- Sait S, Modak S. Anti-GD2 immunotherapy for neuroblastoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. (2017) 17:889–904. doi: 10.1080/14737140.2017.1364995
- Morgenstern DA, Baruchel S, Irwin MS. Current and future strategies for relapsed neuroblastoma: challenges on the road to precision therapy. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. (2013) 35:337–47. doi: 10.1097/MPH.0b013e318299d637
- Lang P, Pfeiffer M, Müller I, Schumm M, Ebinger M, Koscielniak E, et al. Haploidentical stem cell transplantation in patients with pediatric solid tumors: preliminary results of a pilot study and analysis of graft versus tumor effects. *Klin Padiatr.* (2006) 218:321–6. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-942256
- Liu AP, Lee PP, Kwok JS, Leung RY, Chiang AK, Ha S-Y, et al. Selective T cell-depleted haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for relapsed/refractory neuroblastoma. *Pediatr Transplant*. (2018) 2018:e13240. doi: 10.1111/petr.13240
- Illhardt T, Toporski J, Feuchtinger T, Turkiewicz D, Teltschik H-M, Ebinger M, et al. Haploidentical stem cell transplantation for refractory/relapsed neuroblastoma. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2018) 24:1005–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2017.12.805
- Huenecke S, Bremm M, Cappel C, Esser R, Quaiser A, Bonig H, et al. Optimization of individualized graft composition: CD3/CD19 depletion combined with CD34 selection for haploidentical transplantation. *Transfusion*. (2016) 56:2336–45. doi: 10.1111/trf.13694
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. *Science*. (2002) 295:2097–100. doi: 10.1126/science.1068440
- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. *Trends Immunol.* (2001) 22:633–40. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02060-9
- Lanier LL. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol. (2005) 23:225–74. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115526
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Delahaye NF, Chaput N, Zitvogel L. Natural killer celldirected therapies: moving from unexpected results to successful strategies. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:486–94. doi: 10.1038/ni1580
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Cantoni C, Mingari MC, et al. Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2001) 19:197–223. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.197
- Ullrich E, Koch J, Cerwenka A, Steinle A. New prospects on the NKG2D/NKG2DL system for oncology. *Oncoimmunology*. (2013) 2:e26097. doi: 10.4161/onci.26097
- Ljunggren HG, Kärre K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol Today*. (1990) 11:237–44. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S
- Ljunggren H-G, Malmberg K-J. Prospects for the use of NK cells in immunotherapy of human cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2007) 7:329–39. doi: 10.1038/nri2073

0.08% B cells and CD3/CD19-depleted NK cell products contained a median 0.1% and 0.1% B cells following IL-2+IL-15 and IL-15 stimulation, respectively. Frequency of B cells within the CIK cell bulk decreased following cytokine stimulation from 6.5% on day 0 to 0.06% (n = 12 independent experiments, median fold expansion rate day 10–12 compared to day 0), gated on viable cells (DAPI negative): CD3⁺ T cells (**A**), CD3⁺CD56⁺ NK-like T cells (**B**), and CD19⁺ B cells (**C**). Differences were considered significant for p < 0.05 (*), p < 0.01 (**), and p < 0.001 (***).

- Koehl U, Brehm C, Huenecke S, Zimmermann S-Y, Kloess S, Bremm M, et al. Clinical grade purification and expansion of NK cell products for an optimized manufacturing protocol. *Front Oncol.* (2013) 3:118. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2013.00118
- Stern M, Passweg JR, Meyer-Monard S, Esser R, Tonn T, Soerensen J, et al. Preemptive immunotherapy with purified natural killer cells after haploidentical SCT: a prospective phase II study in two centers. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2013) 48:433–8. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2012.162
- Brehm C, Huenecke S, Quaiser A, Esser R, Bremm M, Kloess S, et al. IL-2 stimulated but not unstimulated NK cells induce selective disappearance of peripheral blood cells: Concomitant results to a phase I/II study. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e27351. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027351
- Rettinger E, Kreyenberg H, Merker M, Kuçi S, Willasch A, Bug G, et al. Immunomagnetic selection or irradiation eliminates alloreactive cells but also reduces anti-tumor potential of cytokine-induced killer cells: implications for unmanipulated cytokine-induced killer cell infusion. *Cytotherapy.* (2014) 16:835–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2014.01.003
- Felices M, Lenvik AJ, McElmurry R, Chu S, Hinderlie P, Bendzick L, et al. Continuous treatment with IL-15 exhausts human NK cells via a metabolic defect. *JCI Insight*. (2018) 3. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.96219
- Wagner J, Pfannenstiel V, Waldmann A, Bergs JW, Brill B, Huenecke S, et al. A Two-phase expansion protocol combining interleukin (IL)-15 and IL-21 improves natural killer cell proliferation and cytotoxicity against rhabdomyosarcoma. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:676. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00676
- Forloni M, Albini S, Limongi MZ, Cifaldi L, Boldrini R, Nicotra MR, et al. NFkappaB, and not MYCN, regulates MHC class I and endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidases in human neuroblastoma cells. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:916– 24. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2582
- Veneziani I, Brandetti E, Ognibene M, Pezzolo A, Pistoia V, Cifaldi L. Neuroblastoma cell lines are refractory to genotoxic drug-mediated induction of ligands for NK cell-activating receptors. *J Immunol Res.* (2018) 2018:4972410. doi: 10.1155/2018/4972410
- Kuçi S, Rettinger E, Voss B, Weber G, Stais M, Kreyenberg H, et al. Efficient lysis of rhabdomyosarcoma cells by cytokine-induced killer cells: implications for adoptive immunotherapy after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Haematologica*. (2010) 95:1579–86. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2009.019885
- Cappel C, Huenecke S, Suemmerer A, Erben S, Rettinger E, Pfirrmann V, et al. Cytotoxic potential of IL-15-activated cytokine-induced killer cells against human neuroblastoma cells. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. (2016) 63:2230–9. doi: 10.1002/pbc.26147
- Merker M, Pfirrmann V, Oelsner S, Fulda S, Klingebiel T, Wels WS, et al. Generation and characterization of ErbB2-CAR-engineered cytokine-induced killer cells for the treatment of high-risk soft tissue sarcoma in children. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:66137–53. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19821
- Ivascu A, Kubbies M. Rapid generation of single-tumor spheroids for highthroughput cell function and toxicity analysis. *J Biomol Screen*. (2006) 11:922– 32. doi: 10.1177/1087057106292763
- Rettinger E, Kuçi S, Naumann I, Becker P, Kreyenberg H, Anzaghe M, et al. The cytotoxic potential of interleukin-15-stimulated cytokineinduced killer cells against leukemia cells. *Cytotherapy*. (2012) 14:91–103. doi: 10.3109/14653249.2011.613931
- 31. Philip T, Ladenstein R, Lasset C, Hartmann O, Zucker JM, Pinkerton R, et al. 1070 myeloablative megatherapy procedures followed by stem cell rescue for neuroblastoma: 17 years of European experience and conclusions. European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplant Registry Solid Tumour

Working Party. *Eur J Cancer*. (1997) 33:2130–5. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(97)0 0324-9

- Pinkerton CR. Where next with therapy in advanced neuroblastoma? Br J Cancer. (1990) 61:351–3. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1990.77
- Matthay KK, Seeger RC, Reynolds CP, Stram DO, O'Leary MC, Harris RE, et al. Allogeneic versus autologous purged bone marrow transplantation for neuroblastoma: a report from the Childrens Cancer Group. J Clin Oncol. (1994) 12:2382–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1994.12.11.2382
- 34. Bremm M, Cappel C, Erben S, Jarisch A, Schumm M, Arendt A, et al. Generation and flow cytometric quality control of clinical-scale TCRαβ/CD19-depleted grafts. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom*. (2017) 92:126–35. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.21328
- Bader P, Soerensen J, Jarisch A, Ponstingl E, Krenn T, Faber J, et al. Rapid immune recovery and low TRM in haploidentical stem cell transplantation in children and adolescence using CD3/CD19-depleted stem cells. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol.* (2011) 24:331–7. doi: 10.1016/j.beha.2011.04.005
- Leung W, Iyengar R, Turner V, Lang P, Bader P, Conn P, et al. Determinants of antileukemia effects of allogeneic NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:644–50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.1.644
- 37. Merker M, Meister MT, Rettinger E, Jarisch A, Soerensen J, Willasch A, et al. Haploidentical allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in patients with high-risk soft tissue sarcomas: Results of a single-center prospective trial. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2018) 53:891–4. doi: 10.1038/s41409-018-0088-6
- Pérez-Martínez A, Prada Vicente I de, Fernández L, González-Vicent M, Valentín J, Martín R, et al. Natural killer cells can exert a graft-vs-tumor effect in haploidentical stem cell transplantation for pediatric solid tumors. *Exp Hematol.* (2012) 40:882–891.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2012.07.004
- Inoue M, Nakano T, Yoneda A, Nishikawa M, Nakayama M, Yumura-Yagi K, et al. Graft-versus-tumor effect in a patient with advanced neuroblastoma who received HLA haplo-identical bone marrow transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2003) 32:103–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1704070
- Bremm M, Pfeffermann L-M, Cappel C, Katzki V, Erben S, Betz S, et al. Improving clinical manufacturing of IL-15 activated cytokine-induced killer (CIK) cells. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1218. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01218
- Koehl U, Kalberer C, Spanholtz J, Lee DA, Miller JS, Cooley S, et al. Advances in clinical NK cell studies: donor selection, manufacturing and quality control. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1115178. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1115178
- Kolb HJ, Schattenberg A, Goldman JM, Hertenstein B, Jacobsen N, Arcese W, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients. *Blood.* (1995) 86:2041–50. doi: 10.1182/blood.V86.5.2041.bloodjournal8652041
- Rettinger E, Bonig H, Wehner S, Lucchini G, Willasch A, Jarisch A, et al. Feasibility of IL-15-activated cytokine-induced killer cell infusions after haploidentical stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2013) 48:1141–3. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2013.19
- Mata-Molanes JJ, Sureda González M, Valenzuela Jiménez B, Martínez Navarro EM, Brugarolas Masllorens A. Cancer immunotherapy with cytokine-induced killer cells. *Target Oncol.* (2017) 12:289–99. doi: 10.1007/s11523-017-0489-2
- Huenecke S, Zimmermann SY, Kloess S, Esser R, Brinkmann A, Tramsen L, et al. IL-2-driven regulation of NK cell receptors with regard to the distribution of CD16+ and CD16- subpopulations and *in vivo* influence after haploidentical NK cell infusion. *J Immunother*. (2010) 33:200–10. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181bb46f7
- Raffaghello L, Prigione I, Bocca P, Morandi F, Camoriano M, Gambini C, et al. Multiple defects of the antigen-processing machinery components in human neuroblastoma: Immunotherapeutic implications. *Oncogene*. (2005) 24:4634–44. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208594
- Kanold J, Paillard C, Tchirkov A, Lang P, Kelly A, Halle P, et al. NK cell immunotherapy for high-risk neuroblastoma relapse after haploidentical HSCT. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. (2012) 59:739–42. doi: 10.1002/pbc. 24030
- Abel AM, Yang C, Thakar MS, Malarkannan S. Natural killer cells: development, maturation, and clinical utilization. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1869. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01869
- Paillard C, Halle P, Tchirkov A, Confland C, Veyrat-Masson R, Quainon F, et al. NK cytotoxicity and alloreactivity against neuroblastoma cell lines *in vitro*: Comparison of Europium fluorometry assay and quantification

by RT-PCR. J Immunol Methods. (2012) 380:56–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2012. 03.009

- Granzin M, Wagner J, Köhl U, Cerwenka A, Huppert V, Ullrich E. Shaping of natural killer cell antitumor activity by *ex vivo* cultivation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:458. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00458
- Koepsell SA, Miller JS, McKenna DH. Natural killer cells: a review of manufacturing and clinical utility. *Transfusion*. (2013) 53:404–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1537-2995.2012.03724.x
- Klingemann H. Challenges of cancer therapy with natural killer cells. Cytotherapy. (2015) 17:245–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2014.09.007
- Degli-Esposti MA, Smyth MJ. Close encounters of different kinds: Dendritic cells and NK cells take centre stage. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2005) 5:112–24. doi: 10.1038/nri1549
- Kloss M, Decker P, Baltz KM, Baessler T, Jung G, Rammensee H-G, et al. Interaction of monocytes with NK cells upon Toll-like receptor-induced expression of the NKG2D ligand MICA. J Immunol. (2008) 181:6711–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.10.6711
- Miller JS, Oelkers S, Verfaillie C, McGlave P. Role of monocytes in the expansion of human activated natural killer cells. *Blood*. (1992) 80:2221–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V80.9.2221.bloodjournal8092221
- Dubois S, Mariner J, Waldmann TA, Tagaya Y. IL-15Ralpha recycles and presents IL-15 In trans to neighboring cells. *Immunity*. (2002) 17:537–47. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00429-6
- Guo Y, Luan L, Patil NK, Sherwood ER. Immunobiology of the IL-15/IL-15Rα complex as an antitumor and antiviral agent. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2017) 38:10–21. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2017.08.002
- Guo Y, Luan L, Rabacal W, Bohannon JK, Fensterheim BA, Hernandez A, et al. IL-15 superagonist-mediated immunotoxicity: role of NK cells and IFN-γ. J Immunol. (2015) 195:2353–64. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500300
- Williams SM, Sumstad D, Kadidlo D, Curtsinger J, Luo X, Miller JS, et al. Clinical-scale production of cGMP compliant CD3/CD19 cell-depleted NK cells in the evolution of NK cell immunotherapy at a single institution. *Transfusion*. (2018) 58:1458–67. doi: 10.1111/trf.14564
- Giannattasio A, Weil S, Kloess S, Ansari N, Stelzer EH, Cerwenka A, et al. Cytotoxicity and infiltration of human NK cells in in vivo-like tumor spheroids. *BMC Cancer*. (2015) 15:351. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1321-y
- Edmondson R, Broglie JJ, Adcock AF, Yang L. Three-dimensional cell culture systems and their applications in drug discovery and cell-based biosensors. *Assay Drug Dev Technol.* (2014) 12:207–18. doi: 10.1089/adt.2014.573
- Sherman H, Gitschier HJ, Rossi AE. A novel three-dimensional immune oncology model for high-throughput testing of tumoricidal activity. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:857. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00857
- Lee JH, Kim JS, Lee HK, Kim KH, Choi JE, Ji AY, et al. Comparison of cytotoxic dynamics between cytokine-induced killer cells and natural killer cells at the single cell level. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198(1 Suppl.):198.12.
- Carson WE, Giri JG, Lindemann MJ, Linett ML, Ahdieh M, Paxton R, et al. Interleukin (IL) 15 is a novel cytokine that activates human natural killer cells via components of the IL-2 receptor. *J Exp Med.* (1994) 180:1395–403. doi: 10.1084/jem.180.4.1395
- Zwirner NW, Fuertes MB, Girart MV, Domaica CI, Rossi LE. Cytokinedriven regulation of NK cell functions in tumor immunity: role of the MICA-NKG2D system. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2007) 18:159–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2007.01.013
- Waldmann TA. The biology of interleukin-2 and interleukin-15: Implications for cancer therapy and vaccine design. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2006) 6:595–601. doi: 10.1038/nri1901
- Huntington ND, Legrand N, Alves NL, Jaron B, Weijer K, Plet A, et al. IL-15 trans-presentation promotes human NK cell development and differentiation *in vivo. J Exp Med.* (2009) 206:25–34. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082013
- Choi I, Yoon SR, Park S-Y, Kim H, Jung S-J, Jang YJ, et al. Donor-derived natural killer cells infused after human leukocyte antigen-haploidentical hematopoietic cell transplantation: a dose-escalation study. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2014) 20:696–704. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.01.031
- van Ostaijen-ten Dam MM, Prins H-J, Boerman GH, Vervat C, Pende D, Putter H, et al. Preparation of cytokine-activated NK cells for use in adoptive cell therapy in cancer patients: protocol optimization and therapeutic potential. *J Immunother*. (2016) 39:90–100. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000 00110

- Brady J, Hayakawa Y, Smyth MJ, Nutt SL. IL-21 induces the functional maturation of murine NK cells. J Immunol. (2004) 172:2048–58. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.4.2048
- Kasaian MT, Whitters MJ, Carter LL, Lowe LD, Jussif JM, Deng B, et al. IL-21 limits NK cell responses and promotes antigen-specific T cell activation: a mediator of the transition from innate to adaptive immunity. *Immunity*. (2002) 16:559–69. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00295-9
- Wu Y, Tian Z, Wei H. Developmental and functional control of natural killer cells by cytokines. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:930. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00930
- Oberschmidt O, Morgan M, Huppert V, Kessler J, Gardlowski T, Matthies N, et al. Development of automated separation, expansion, and quality control protocols for clinical-scale manufacturing of primary human NK cells and alpharetroviral chimeric antigen receptor engineering. *Hum Gene Ther Methods*. (2019) 30:102–20. doi: 10.1089/hgtb. 2019.039
- Klöß S, Oberschmidt O, Morgan M, Dahlke J, Arseniev L, Huppert V, et al. Optimization of human NK cell manufacturing: fully automated separation, improved *ex vivo* expansion using IL-21 with autologous feeder cells, and generation of anti-CD123-CAR-expressing effector cells. *Hum Gene Ther*. (2017) 28:897–913. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.157
- 75. Klingemann H-G, Martinson J. Ex vivo expansion of natural killer cells for clinical applications. Cytotherapy. (2004) 6:15–22. doi: 10.1080/14653240310004548

- Conlon KC, Potter EL, Pittaluga S, Lee C-CR, Miljkovic MD, Fleisher TA, et al. IL15 by continuous intravenous infusion to adult patients with solid tumors in a phase I trial induced dramatic NK-cell subset expansion. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:4945–54. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3468
- 77. Dubois S, Conlon KC, Müller JR, Hsu-Albert J, Beltran N, Bryant BR, et al. IL15 infusion of cancer patients expands the subpopulation of cytotoxic CD56bright NK cells and increases NK-cell cytokine release capabilities. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2017) 5:929–38. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0279
- Wagner JA, Rosario M, Romee R, Berrien-Elliott MM, Schneider SE, Leong JW, et al. CD56bright NK cells exhibit potent antitumor responses following IL-15 priming. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:4042–58. doi: 10.1172/JCI90387

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Heinze, Grebe, Bremm, Huenecke, Munir, Graafen, Frueh, Merker, Rettinger, Soerensen, Klingebiel, Bader, Ullrich and Cappel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Harnessing NK Cells for Cancer Treatment

Paola Minetto^{1,2†}, Fabio Guolo^{1,2†}, Silvia Pesce³, Marco Greppi^{3,4}, Valentina Obino^{3,4}, Elisa Ferretti^{3,4}, Simona Sivori^{3,4*}, Carlo Genova^{5‡}, Roberto Massimo Lemoli^{1,2‡} and Emanuela Marcenaro^{3,4*‡}

¹ Clinic of Hematology, Department of Internal Medicine (DiMI), University of Genoa, Genova, Italy, ² Ospedale Policlinico San Martino IRCCS, Genova, Italy, ³ Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Genoa, Genova, Italy, ⁴ Centre of Excellence for Biomedical Research, University of Genoa, Genova, Italy, ⁵ Lung Cancer Unit, Ospedale Policlinico San Martino IRCCS, Genova, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Loredana Cifaldi, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Dr. Kawaljit Kaur, University of California, Los Angeles, United States Evren Alici, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

*Correspondence:

Simona Sivori simona.sivori@unige.it Emanuela Marcenaro emanuela.marcenaro@unige.it

[†]These authors share first authorship [‡]These authors share last authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 14 August 2019 Accepted: 18 November 2019 Published: 06 December 2019

Citation:

Minetto P, Guolo F, Pesce S, Greppi M, Obino V, Ferretti E, Sivori S, Genova C, Lemoli RM and Marcenaro E (2019) Harnessing NK Cells for Cancer Treatment. Front. Immunol. 10:2836. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02836 In the last years, natural killer (NK) cell-based immunotherapy has emerged as a promising therapeutic approach for solid tumors and hematological malignancies. NK cells are innate lymphocytes with an array of functional competences, including anti-cancer, anti-viral, and anti-graft-vs.-host disease potential. The intriguing idea of harnessing such potent innate immune system effectors for cancer treatment led to the development of clinical trials based on the adoptive therapy of NK cells or on the use of monoclonal antibodies targeting the main NK cell immune checkpoints. Indeed, checkpoint immunotherapy that targets inhibitory receptors of T cells, reversing their functional blocking, marked a breakthrough in anticancer therapy, opening new approaches for cancer immunotherapy and resulted in extensive research on immune checkpoints. However, the clinical efficacy of T cell-based immunotherapy presents a series of limitations, including the inability of T cells to recognize and kill HLA-I^{neg} tumor cells. For these reasons, new strategies for cancer immunotherapy are now focusing on NK cells. Blockade with NK cell checkpoint inhibitors that reverse their functional block may overcome the limitations of T cell-based immunotherapy, mainly against HLA-I^{neg} tumor targets. Here, we discuss recent anti-tumor approaches based on mAb-mediated blocking of immune checkpoints (either restricted to NK cells or shared with T cells), used either as a single agent or in combination with other compounds, that have demonstrated promising clinical responses in both solid tumors and hematological malignancies.

Keywords: NK cells, NK cell receptors, immune checkpoint blockade, immunotherapy, solid tumors, hematological malignancies, adoptive NK cell therapy

NK CELL: AN "EFFICIENT" TOOL FOR IMMUNOTHERAPY

Immunotherapy is an innovative approach for the treatment of cancer and is based on the idea of harnessing the immune system to target tumors. Recently, immunotherapy, and in particular immune checkpoint (IC) blockade therapy, has represented a significant step forward for cancer treatment (1–5). Two inhibitory ICs, CTLA-4 (6) and PD-1 (7), received great attention, since the inhibition of CTLA-4 or PD-1 signaling significantly improved the survival of patients with metastatic solid cancers. Given the clinical efficacy of PD-1 and/or CTLA-4 blockade in patients with untreatable solid and hematological cancers (1–5, 8), much attention has been given to IC receptors and their cognate ligands.

60

Currently, one of the major challenges in immune-oncology is the understanding of the mechanisms of IC inhibitor resistance (indeed, only a fraction of patients respond to immunotherapy), to increase the proportion of patients benefitting from such treatment, and to control treatment toxicity.

A critical point is that the clinical effect of the PD-1/PD-Ls blockade has been conventionally attributed to the restoration of cytotoxic lymphocyte activity. However, a partial or complete loss of HLA-I expression is one of the most frequent mechanisms of tumor escape from T-cell control in different human tumor types (9). In this scenario, the role of the "innate counterpart" of cytotoxic T cells, the natural killer (NK) cells, which show the ability to recognize and kill tumor cells regardless of HLA-I expression, appears to be crucial (10-12).

NK cells were first identified in the mid-1970s as a unique lymphocyte subset able to detect and rapidly kill abnormal cells without prior sensitization or recognition of specific tumor antigens, thus preventing the development of many cancers (13, 14). In the late 1980s, the observation that NK cells could kill a lymphoma cell line that had lost MHC class I surface molecules, while the original MHC class I+ cells were resistant to lysis, led to the formulation of the "missing self-hypothesis" that stated that NK cells are able to sense the absence of "self" MHC class-I molecules on target cells (15, 16). In the 1990s, this hypothesis was confirmed by the discovery of inhibitory (17, 18) and activating NK receptors (19). In humans, the main inhibitory receptors are represented by the inhibitory killer Ig-like receptors (KIRs), recognizing allotypic determinants shared by groups of HLA class-I alleles (20, 21) and by the CD94/NKG2A heterodimer (22), specific for the non-classical HLA-E molecule.

Inhibitory KIRs are type I molecules with two (KIR2D) or three (KIR3D) highly polymorphic extracellular Ig-like domains followed by long (L) cytoplasmic tails harboring two ITIMs, able to transduce an inhibitory signal through the recruitment of tyrosine phosphatases. The four main inhibitory KIRs are specific for epitopes shared by distinct groups of HLA class I allotypes. In particular, KIR2DL1 recognizes HLA-C2 epitope, while KIR2DL2/L3 recognizes HLA-C1 epitope. KIR3DL1 is specific for HLA-B or HLA-A molecules sharing the Bw4 public epitope (Bw4180 or Bw4T80), and KIR3DL2 binds HLA-A*03 and -A*11 allotypes (18, 21).

The activating NK cell receptors include a series of non-HLA-specific receptors and co-receptors able to induce NK cell triggering by directly interacting with ligands overexpressed or expressed *de novo* on tumor-transformed or virus-infected cells (23–25).

These findings indicate that autologous cells are not killed by NK cells thanks to an appropriate expression of all self-HLA alleles, while a wide spectrum of tumor types can be killed due to the loss of HLA molecules and to the expression/overexpression of ligands for NK cell activating receptors (**Figure 1**). During NK cell differentiation, CD94/NKG2A is the first HLA-Ispecific receptor expressed by appearing on the most immature CD56bright NK cell subset. After several maturation steps, CD56bright cells become CD56dim, lose NKG2A, and acquire KIR receptors (26–28). The most mature NK cells are KIR+ and NKG2A- and express the marker of terminal differentiation CD57 (29).

Under normal conditions, the HLA-I-specific inhibitory receptors recognize autologous cells and prevent auto-reactive responses. However, under pathological conditions, these receptors function as ICs, by blocking the cytotoxic activity of NK cells against those tumors that maintain the expression of HLA-I molecules (11, 30).

In order to restore NK cell activity against HLA-I+ tumor cells, novel immunotherapies have been developed, based on the use of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies anti-pan-KIR2D (lirilumab) (https://www.innate-pharma.com/en/pipeline/ lirilumab-first-class-anti-kir-mab-licensed-bristol-myerscquibb) and anti NKG2A (monalizumab) (https://www.innate-

squibb) and anti-NKG2A (monalizumab) (https://www.innate-pharma.com/en/pipeline/monalizumab-anti-nkg2a-mab-

partnered-astrazeneca) mimicking "missing-self" response by disrupting the interaction between these ICs and their ligands. Therefore, NK cells can efficiently kill tumor cells that have lost HLA-I expression, thus becoming resistant to T lymphocytes, but also HLA-I+ cancers when blockers of ICs are used (**Figure 1**). These agents are currently used in phase I/II clinical trials on a range of hematologic and solid tumors as monotherapy or in combination with other agents, including other forms of IC blockade (31–37).

Notably, NK cells may also express non-HLA class I-specific inhibitory receptors such as PD-1 (38). This receptor was originally discovered on T cells and was found to exert a sharp inhibitory effect on their anti-tumor activity. In healthy donors, PD-1 is expressed on a subset of fully mature (KIR+NKG2A-CD57+) NK cells from HCMV+ individuals (38). Higher proportions of PD-1+ NK cells can be detected in patients affected by different types of tumors (36, 38, 39).

The finding that NK cells from cancer patients express PD-1 IC coupled with the observation that the use of anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies improve the anti-tumor activity of NK cells (36, 38, 39) (**Figure 1**) is clinically relevant for patients with tumors displaying a T-cell-resistant (HLA class Ineg) phenotype.

Recent data strongly suggest a possible role for NK cells in immunotherapeutic strategies targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 axis particularly against HLA-I-deficient tumor cells (40, 41).

NK cells also express additional constitutive or inducible IC shared with T cells, recognizing additional ligands other than HLA class I molecules. These include CTLA-4, T cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule 3 (TIM-3), lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG-3), T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif domains (TIGIT), and CD96 (12, 42–44).

Here, we review recent developments to improve NK cell responses against solid and hematological tumors mainly focusing on NK cell ICs.

NK CELL-BASED THERAPY IN SOLID TUMORS

Although the ability of NK cells to destroy solid tumors has been questioned, their capacity to prevent metastatic



FIGURE 1 | Mechanisms of NK cell-mediated killing. In physiological conditions, NK cell activity is tightly regulated by a complex interplay between inhibitory and activating receptors that prevents killing of normal autologous cells expressing an appropriate level of all self-HLA alleles and low/negative levels of ligands for non-HLA-specific activating receptors (aNKR) (A). Downregulation of HLA-I molecules on neoplastic or infected cells induces NK-mediated killing by a "missing-self" recognition mechanism. NK cell activating receptors are co-responsible in inducing NK cell triggering by interacting with ligands (aNKR-ligands) overexpressed or expressed de novo on tumor-transformed or virus-infected cells (B). Allogeneic (alloreactive) donor NK cells are able to kill neoplastic cells of the recipient expressing non-self allotypic determinants on HLA-I molecules ("KIR/KIR-ligand mismatch") and to control infections with a limited risk of toxicity (e.g., GvHD and HvG) (C). The use of inhibitors of classical NK cell immune checkpoints (i.e., KIR and NKG2A) (D) or immune checkpoints shared with T cells (e.g., PD-1) (E) or, finally, a combination of these approaches represents new promising strategies in NK cell-based immunotherapy.

dissemination by killing circulating cancer cells is well-known. However, tumor cells frequently develop strategies to evade NK cell immunosurveillance including changes at the tumor cell level (e.g., abnormal expression of ligands for activating and inhibitory receptors) and changes in tumor microenvironment (e.g., immunosuppressive cytokines), resulting in tumor escape and cancer progression (12, 45–48). Exact mechanisms and manipulation strategies to durably and reproducibly enhance NK cell function *in vivo* are not known. However, the use of IC blockade, including lirilumab and monalizumab, to create a condition of "missing-self" recognition (consequent to the antibody-mediated disruption of pan-KIR2D or NKG2A/HLA-I interactions) may represent a promising novel therapeutic approach to cure tumor patients (49).

HLA-E is one of the emerging suppressive ligands in human tumors, and its expression negatively correlates with the overall survival (OS) of cancer patients (48). NKG2A is expressed on NK cells but also on T cells infiltrating different types of solid tumors (36, 50, 51). These findings suggested that NKG2A/HLA-E interaction could suppress the cytotoxic lymphocyte functions directly in the tumor microenvironment.

The IgG4 anti-NKG2A antibody monalizumab is currently in clinical development for the treatment of various solid tumors, either as single-agent or in combination with other compounds. In the initial clinical experiences, single-agent intravenous monalizumab was administered to patients affected by advanced gynecologic malignancies (including ovarian, endometrial, and cervical carcinomas), divided into a dose-ranging cohort and an expansion cohort, for a total of 58 patients. The drug was generally well-tolerated but achieved only short-term disease stabilization as best response (NCT02459301) (37).

In another phase II study, monalizumab was administered in combination with the anti-epithelial growth factor receptor (EGFR) antibody cetuximab in patients affected by squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (SCCHN) (NCT02643550). Cetuximab represents an established therapeutic approach to SCCHN acting through induction of antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity through CD16 (Fc γ RIII) receptor expressed on NK cells (52). The rationale of this combination lies on the evidence that SCCHN tumors were strongly positive for HLA-E and were infiltrated with CD8+ T and NK cells, suggesting a potential sensitivity to NKG2A inhibitors. The regimen was well tolerated, being characterized mostly by grade 1–2 adverse events, and the interim analysis reported an overall response rate (ORR) of 31% and a disease stabilization rate of 54%. Although preliminary, these data appear encouraging (37).

With regard to the combination of anti-NKG2A with PD-1/PD-L1 disrupting agents, a combination of monalizumab and durvalumab has been evaluated in a first-in-human dose-escalation/dose-expansion phase I trial in patients with metastatic microsatellite-stable colorectal cancer (MSS-CRC). The rationale of this study was supported by preclinical models (https://www.innate-pharma.com/sites/default/files/ 180205asco_15poster_09.pdf) and was based on the hypothesis that the inhibition of NKG2A might improve the efficacy of an anti-PD-L1 antibody in a patient population characterized by poor response to PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies. The study included 40 patients in the MSS-CRC expansion cohort. The treatment was well-tolerated; in the expansion cohort, three responses and 11 disease stabilizations were observed, with a disease control rate of 24% at 16 weeks (https://ascopubs.org/doi/abs/10.1200/JCO. 2018.36.15_suppl.3540). Currently, other clinical trials involving the combination of monalizumab with durvalumab in different solid tumors are ongoing (NCT03794544; NCT02671435).

The efficacy and safety of the first-in-class anti-pan-KIR2D agent lirilumab was explored in several clinical trials. In a first-in-human phase I trial, escalating doses of lirilumab were administered to patients with solid tumors (breast, kidney, or ovarian carcinoma) or hematologic malignancies. No doselimiting toxicities were reported and maximum tolerated dose was not reached for doses up to 10 mg/kg (53). With regard to combinations including lirilumab, a phase I/II trial explored the safety of increasing doses of lirilumab in combination with the anti-PD-1 antibody nivolumab or with the anti-CTLA-4 antibody ipilimumab in a population of patients with solid tumors (136 with nivolumab; 22 with ipilimumab). Both combinations were well-tolerated, encouraging further developments. Although definitive efficacy results are not available yet, data from 29 patients with SCCHN in the lirilumab-nivolumab cohort showed an ORR equal to 24%, with durable responses. Notably, increased PD-L1 expression was strongly associated with improved probability of objective (https://news.bms.com/press-release/bristolmyers/ response interim-phase-12-data-show-encouraging-clinical-benefit-

lirilumab-combina). Currently, other trials designed to explore the potential role of lirilumab plus nivolumab are being conducted in populations of patients with SCCHN and invasive bladder cancer in the neoadjuvant setting (NCT03532451 and NCT03341936).

Interestingly, in those tumors resistant to anti-PD-1 immunetherapies, an up-regulation of alternative immune checkpoints, including TIM-3, has been observed. In this context, therapeutic approaches combining the administration of anti-TIM-3 and anti-PD-1 antibodies showed that the adaptive resistance to PD-1 blockade can be overcome (54).

TIM-3 is a checkpoint receptor that binds several ligands including galectin-9 (Gal-9) (55), phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells (56), high mobility group box 1 (56), and CEA-related cell adhesion molecule-1 (57). High frequencies of circulating and/or tumor infiltrating TIM-3+ NK cells have been found in different types of malignant tumors (58–60). The increased surface levels of TIM-3 on NK cells in cancers induce NK cell impairments (61), while TIM-3 blockade results in increased NK cell cytotoxicity both *in vitro* and *ex vivo* (59, 62, 63).

TIM-3 functions as a potential prognostic marker in several tumor types, such as lung adenocarcinoma, gastric cancer, bladder cancer, and esophageal cancer (58, 59, 62, 63).

On the other hand, contradictorily, studies have also reported stimulatory functions of TIM-3 (64). These divergent functions are likely associated with the existence of multiple and different TIM-3 ligands.

An anti-TIM-3 (Sym023) antibody has been developed and is currently being tested in phase I clinical trials in patients with advanced, unresectable, and metastatic solid tumor malignancies or lymphomas that are refractory to currently available therapies, in monotherapy or in combination with anti-PD-1 or anti-LAG-3 antibodies (NCT03489343 and NCT03311412). Additional phase I studies of anti-TIM-3 antibodies have been activated in patients with advanced solid tumors, as a monotherapy or in combination with an anti-PD-1 antibody (NCT02817633, NCT03680508, NCT04139902, and NCT03744468).

LAG-3 is a negative co-inhibitory receptor expressed on T cells and NK cells that binds MHC class II (MHC-II) molecules, the C-type lectin receptor LSECtin, and a fibrinogen-like protein 1 (FGL1) on target cells (65-68). LAG-3 has been shown to suppress immune responses in several tumors, including Hodgkin's lymphoma, gastric cancer, breast cancer, and other solid tumors (69). Thus, the use of anti-LAG-3 antibodies in combination with anti-PD-1 immunotherapy has been proposed to restore T cell function (70). Although the specific role of LAG-3 on NK cells remains to be fully clarified, this inhibitory immune checkpoint is currently considered a good target for immunotherapy because of its potential to activate both T and NK cells. In this context, different anti-LAG-3 antibodies are currently being used in phase I and phase II clinical trials as single drugs in metastatic cancer, solid tumor, and lymphoma (NCT03489369 and NCT03250832) or in association with other immune checkpoints inhibitors, including anti-TIM-3 antibody, in multiple myeloma patients (NCT04150965), with anti-PD-1 antibodies in treating patients with glioblastoma (NCT02658981), solid tumors (NCT01968109), advanced malignancies including lymphoma (NCT03005782), and SCCHN (NCT04080804) or other anti-PD-1 agents in solid tumor patients (NCT02676869). A number of additional LAG-3 antibodies are currently in preclinical development.

TIGIT and CD96 are co-inhibitory receptors expressed on both T and NK cells and compete with the activating NK cell receptor DNAM-1 for binding to PVR (CD155) and Nectin-2 (CD112) (71). These receptors participate in a balanced system to control NK cell effector functions. Indeed, following interaction with their ligands, TIGIT inhibits NK cell cytotoxicity directly through its ITIM domain, whereas CD96 hampers NK cell IFN-y production (72), thus counterbalancing DNAM-1mediated activation. The expression of TIGIT is highly variable among different cancer types. It has been recently demonstrated that TIGIT is highly expressed on tumor-infiltrating NK cells and associated with NK cell exhaustion in different tumor models and patients with colon cancer (73). Notably, the therapeutic effects of anti-TIGIT, anti-PD-L1, or anti-TIGIT antibodies combined with anti-PD-L1 antibodies depended on the presence of NK cells (73), indicating the importance of NK cells in checkpoint-targeted immunotherapy. Currently, several ongoing clinical trials (phase I and phase II) focus on testing the feasibility of targeting TIGIT pathway and improving therapeutic effects through combination with existing immunotherapies, including anti-PD-1 agents (NCT04150965, NCT03119428, NCT04047862, and NCT03563716), mainly in solid tumor patients.

Recently, results from clinical studies have demonstrated the safety of the infusion of allogeneic NK cells for immunotherapy of both hematological malignancies and solid tumors (74) despite the microenvironment rich of NK-inhibiting factors and the limited ability of infiltration of immune cells. While generally safe, allogenic NK cell infusions generally showed poor anti-tumor activity.

Therefore, strategies designed to improve the efficacy of adoptive transfer of NK cells are currently being explored and include associations with IC inhibitors or chemotherapy, induction of chemokine expression that can improve NK cell migration and trafficking into tumors, as well as concurrent administration of cytokines with activating effect on NK cells. However, while some of such approaches achieved encouraging results, none of these has evolved into an established protocol; hence, additional efforts in this setting are warranted (75–79). Relevant trials are reported in **Table 1**.

NK CELLS TO TREAT HEMATOLOGICAL MALIGNANCIES

Current approaches of NK cell immunotherapy for hematological malignancies involve methods for *in vivo* potentiation of NK cell proliferation and activity; adoptive transfer of NK cells from autologous and allogeneic sources, and NK cell lines; genetic modification of NK cells; and, similar to solid tumor, the use of IC blockade (12, 83).

Following the introduction of haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (haplo-HSCT), the potential antileukemic activity of donor-derived alloreactive NK cells has been observed (84–87). After engraftment, NK cells are the first lymphocyte subset that appears in peripheral blood, suggesting their role as graft-vs.-leukemia effector cells, in the absence of GvHD (84, 88–90). The generation of alloreactive NK cells (i.e., NK cells expressing inhibitory KIRs that are not engaged by any of the HLA-I alleles present on allogeneic target cells) results in improved clinical outcome in haplo-HSCT thanks to their ability to kill not only leukemic blasts (GvL) but also patient dendritic cells (DCs) (91) and T cells, thus preventing GvHD and HvG reaction, respectively (92–95).

Given the crucial role of alloreactive NK cells in mediating safe and durable anti-tumor immunity in patients receiving KIR/HLA-C-mismatched transplantation, different strategies, including miRNA targeting the expression of HLA-C-specific KIRs (i.e., KIR2DL1, KIR2DL2/L3) (96) or therapeutic antibody blocking these inhibitory KIRs (lirilumab) for HLA-C, were generated to simulate the mechanism of "missing self" condition.

The IgG4 antibody lirilumab prevents inhibitory signals from pan-KIR2D, increasing NK cell-mediated tumor killing of AML *in vitro* and *in vivo* (31). This anti-pan-KIR2D antibody had acceptable safety without significant toxicity or autoimmunity in AML and multiple myeloma (MM) patients (33, 97). Although lirilumab failed to show significant efficacy as a monotherapy in MM, dual immune therapy with lenalidomide showed a good response on relapsed/refractory (R/R) MM in clinical trials (81, 97). Lirilumab is currently being widely tested in combination with other therapeutics, including rituximab (an anti-CD20 antibody), and other forms of IC blockade, such as nivolumab in R/R non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, Hodgkin's lymphoma (HL), and MM patients (NCT01592370) (34, 97).

In R/R HL patients (98-102), IC inhibitors have shown good activity; indeed, nivolumab is currently approved for this indication by the Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicines Agency (103). Interestingly, the Hodgkin neoplastic cells (Reed Sternberg cells) hyper-express PD-L1 but have low/negative expression of HLA-I molecules. This means that NK cells that exert their killing activity mainly against HLA-Ineg targets, but not cytotoxic T CD8+ cells, may be the primary effectors in the immune response induced by nivolumab in HL patients. In this view, an increase in cytotoxic NK cell population during IC blockade treatment in HL patients has been recently observed (104). In order to better elucidate the exact mechanism of action of nivolumab in HL and to improve the efficacy in terms of complete response (CR) in R/R HL, an innovative clinical protocol based on the combined application of high-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem cell transplant (ASCT) and early post-transplant administration of nivolumab, supported by autologous lymphocytes re-infusions (ALI), has been recently proposed (https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2018-99-118901). Preliminary observations support the hypothesis that NK cells play a primary role in response to nivolumab in HL patients (82, 104). Furthermore, from a clinical point of view, preliminary data are encouraging, as all six R/R patients treated so far achieved CR (82).

Leukemic cells have been shown to overexpress HLA-E, a ligand for NKG2A. This provides the rationale for the use of monalizumab for the treatment of leukemia. The use of monalizumab in HSCT has recently also been proposed to induce NK cell alloreactivity in the first weeks after transplant when almost all reconstituting NK cells are NKG2Apos, in order to limit opportunistic infection and leukemia relapse (105). Moreover, monalizumab is currently under evaluation in several phase I/II clinical trials in monotherapy (35) or in combination with other therapeutic antibodies, such as the Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor ibrutinib, in patients with R/R or previously untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia (NCT02557516).

A phase I clinical trial evaluating the hypomethylating agent decitabine together with either PDR001 (anti-PD-1 antibody), MBG453 (anti-TIM-3 antibody), or their combination is currently recruiting patients with R/R AML patients not eligible for intensive therapy, as well as high-risk myelodysplastic patients (NCT03066648).

Another anti-TIM-3 antibody (Sym023) is currently being tested in phase I clinical trials in patients with lymphoma refractory to currently available therapies, in monotherapy or in combination with anti-PD-1 (Sym021) or anti-LAG-3 (Sym022) antibodies (NCT03489343 and NCT03311412).

The anti-LAG-3 antibody BMS-986016 is currently being used in phase I and phase II clinical trials in combination with nivolumab in subjects with relapsed or refractory HL, and relapsed or refractory diffuse large B cell lymphoma TABLE 1 | Relevant clinical trials involving immune checkpoint blockade in NK cells.

Trial	Targets	Setting	Agent	Phase	Pts	Results
SOLID TUMOR	S					
Tinker et al. (37)	NKG2A	Advanced gynecological solid tumors	Monalizumab	I	58	Manageable safety profile; short term response
NCT02643550	NKG2A; EGFR	Advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck	Monalizumab plus cetuximab	1/11	31	Manageable safety profile; ORR: 31%; DCR: 54%
Segal et al. (80)	NKG2A; PD-L1	Metastatic microsatellite-stable colorectal cancer	Durvalumab plus monalizumab	I	40	Ongoing; preliminary data show manageable safety profile and DCR: 24% at 1 weeks
NCT03794544	NKG2A; PD-L1	Resectable non-small cell lung cancer	Durvalumab plus monalizumab	II	160 (estimated)	Ongoing
Vey et al. (53)	KIR2D	Solid and hematologic malignancies	Lirilumab	Ι	37	No reported dose-limiting toxicity
NCT03203876	KIR2D; PD-1; CTLA-4	Solid tumors	Lirilumab plus nivolumab with or without ipilimumab	1/11	21 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03532451	KIR2D; PD-1	Resectable bladder cancer	Nivolumab with or without lirilumab	I	43 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03341936	KIR2D; PD-1	Resectable squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck	Nivolumab plus lirilumab	II	58 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03489343	TIM-3	Advanced solid tumors or lymphomas	Sym023	Ι	48 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03311412	TIM-3; LAG-3	Advanced solid tumors or lymphomas	Sym021 with or without Sym022 or Sym023	Ι	102 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT02817633	TIM-3	Advanced solid tumors	TSR-022	I	873 (estimated)	Ongoing
VCT03680508	TIM-3; PD-1	Liver cancer	TSR-022 plus TSR-042	Ш	42 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT04139902	TIM-3; PD-1	Resectable melanoma	TSR-042 with or without TSR-022	Ш	56 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03744468	TIM-3; PD-1	Solid tumors	BGB-A425 plus tislelizumab	1/11	162 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03489369	LAG-3	Advanced solid tumors or lymphomas	Sym022	I	30 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03250832	LAG-3	Advanced solid tumors	TSR-033 alone or in combination with PD-1 blocking agents	I	200 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT04150965	LAG-3; TIGIT	Multiple myeloma	Elotuzumab	1/11	104 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT02658981	LAG-3; PD-1	Recurrent glioblastoma	BMS-986016 with or without nivolumab	I	100 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT01968109	LAG-3; PD-1	Advanced solid tumors	BMS-986016 with or without nivolumab	1/11	2,000 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03005782	LAG-3; PD-1	Advanced solid tumors	REGN3767 with or without REGN2810	I	589 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT04080804	PD-1; LAG-3; CTLA4	Advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	Nivolumab with or without BMS-986016 or ipilimumab	II	60 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT02676869	LAG-3; PD-1	Advanced melanoma	IMP321 plus pembrolizumab	I	24 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03119428	TIGIT; PD-1	Advanced solid tumors	OMP-313M32 with or without nivolumab	I	33 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT04047862	TIGIT; PD-1	Advanced solid tumors	BGB-A1217 plus tislelizumab	I	39 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03563716	TIGIT; PD-L1	Advanced non-small cell lung cancer	MTIG7192A plus atezolizumab	II	135 (estimated)	Ongoing
HEMATOLOGIC	AL MALIGNANC	IES				
Vey et al. (33)	KIR2D	Acute myeloid leukemia	IPH2101	Ι	23	Manageable safety profile
Korde et al. (81)	KIR2D	Smoldering multiple myeloma	IPH2101	II	9	Failure to meet the primary endpoint (50% decline in M-protein)
NCT01592370	KIR2D; PD-1	Multiple myeloma	Lirilumab plus nivolumab (among multiple arms including nivolumab)	1/11	375 (estimated; multiple arms)	Ongoing

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Trial	Targets	Setting	Agent	Phase	Pts	Results
Guolo et al. (82)	PD-1	Relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma	Nivolumab supported by the reinfusion of unselected autologous lymphocytes	1/11	7	Manageable safety profile; fast immune recovery
NCT02557516	KIR2D	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	Monalizumab plus ibrutinib	1/11	22 (estimated)	Ongoing
NCT03066648	PD-1; TIM-3	Acute myeloid leukemia; high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome	PDR001 and/or MBG453 in combination with Decitabine	I	235 (estimated)	Ongoing

References and additional details can be found in the text. For published trials, we included the name of the first author, while for ongoing trials, we included NCT identifier. The trials are reported in the same order of the main text. Pts, patients.

(DLBCL) (NCT02061761) or as a single drug in lymphoma (NCT03489369). Relevant trials are reported in **Table 1**.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Several molecular mechanisms regulating the anti-tumor activity of NK cells have been discovered over the last decades. However, further characterization of the main immunosuppressive pathways developed by tumor cells to evade NK cell recognition is still needed. Analysis of NK cells and tumor cells and their relationship is necessary to define personalized immunotherapy procedures in cancer patients.

The combined blockade of checkpoint molecules expressed by T cells and NK cells could trigger antitumor immunity mediated by innate and adaptive populations, allowing the two approaches to complement each other. NK cell-targeted immunotherapy may provide an alternative, or a complementary approach, to overcome the limitations of T-cell immunotherapy. In addition, combination with NK cell immunotherapy could increase the response rate of treatments targeting T cells (**Figure 1** and **Table 1**).

REFERENCES

- 1. Ledford H. Melanoma drug wins US approval. *Nature*. (2011) 471:561. doi: 10.1038/471561a
- Sharma P, Wagner K, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Novel cancer immunotherapy agents with survival benefit: recent successes and next steps. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2011) 11:805–12. doi: 10.1038/nrc3153
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:2443–54. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa12 00690
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. (2012) 12:252–64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239
- Simsek M, Tekin SB, Bilici M. Immunological agents used in cancer treatment. *Eurasian J Med.* (2019) 51:90–4. doi: 10.5152/eurasianjmed.2018.18194
- Tivol EA, Borriello F, Schweitzer AN, Lynch WP, Bluestone JA, Sharpe AH. Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity*. (1995) 3:541–7. doi: 10.1016/1074-7613(95)90125-6
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity*. (1999) 11:141–51. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80089-8

In conclusion, considering the excellent outcome of some patients, future efforts should be addressed to identify the best inhibitory pathways to target for future clinical applications. Moreover, further studies should aim at improving NK cellbased immunotherapy by targeting the tumor-induced NK cell inhibition, thus promoting the maximal anti-tumor effect of these innate effectors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Fondazione Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (IG 2017-20312 and 5x1000-21147); Fondazione Roche (Progetto Roche per la Ricerca 2017); Fondazione Beat Leukemia Dr. Alessandro Cevenini Onlus, via Bellini 27, 20900 Monza (MB) (http://www.beat-leukemia. org, mail: gro.aimekuel-taeb@ofni); and an Italian Society of Experimental Hematology (SIES) fellowship to PM.

- Wang Y, Wu L, Tian C, Zhang Y. PD-1-PD-L1 immune-checkpoint blockade in malignant lymphomas. *Ann Hematol.* (2018) 97:229–37. doi: 10.1007/s00277-017-3176-6
- Smahel M. PD-1/PD-L1 blockade therapy for tumors with downregulated MHC class I expression. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E1331. doi: 10.3390/ijms18061331
- Fang F, Xiao W, Tian Z. NK cell-based immunotherapy for cancer. Semin Immunol. (2017) 31:37–54. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2017.07.009
- Pesce S, Greppi M, Grossi F, Del Zotto G, Moretta L, Sivori S, et al. PD/1-PD-Ls checkpoint: insight on the potential role of NK cells. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1242. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01242
- Di Vito C, Mikulak J, Zaghi E, Pesce S, Marcenaro E, Mavilio D. NK cells to cure cancer. *Semin Immunol.* (2019) 41:101272. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2019.03.004
- Kiessling R, Klein E, Pross H, Wigzell H. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. II. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Characteristics of the killer cell. *Eur J Immunol.* (1975) 5:117–21. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830050209
- Herberman RB, Nunn ME, Lavrin DH. Natural cytotoxic reactivity of mouse lymphoid cells against syngeneic acid allogeneic tumors. I. Distribution of reactivity and specificity. *Int J Cancer.* (1975) 16:216–29. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910160204
- 15. Ljunggren HG, Karre K. Experimental strategies and interpretations in the analysis of changes in MHC gene expression during tumour progression.

Opposing influences of T cell and natural killer mediated resistance? *J Immunogenet*. (1986) 13:141–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-313X.1986.tb01095.x

- Ljunggren HG, Karre K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol Today*. (1990) 11:237–44. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S
- Yokoyama WM, Seaman WE. The Ly-49 and NKR-P1 gene families encoding lectin-like receptors on natural killer cells: the NK gene complex. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (1993) 11:613–35. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.11.040193.003145
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Biassoni R, Mingari MC, et al. Receptors for HLA class-I molecules in human natural killer cells. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (1996) 14:619–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.619
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Cantoni C, Mingari MC, et al. Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2001) 19:197–223. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.197
- Moretta A, Tambussi G, Bottino C, Tripodi G, Merli A, Ciccone E, et al. A novel surface antigen expressed by a subset of human CD3- CD16+ natural killer cells. Role in cell activation and regulation of cytolytic function. *J Exp Med.* (1990) 171:695–714. doi: 10.1084/jem.171.3.695
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Pende D, Tripodi G, Tambussi G, Viale O, et al. Identification of four subsets of human CD3-CD16+ natural killer (NK) cells by the expression of clonally distributed functional surface molecules: correlation between subset assignment of NK clones and ability to mediate specific alloantigen recognition. *J Exp Med.* (1990) 172:1589–98. doi: 10.1084/jem.172.6.1589
- Braud VM, Allan DS, O'Callaghan CA, Soderstrom K, D'Andrea A, Ogg GS, et al. HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C. *Nature*. (1998) 391:795–9. doi: 10.1038/35869
- Sivori S, Carlomagno S, Pesce S, Moretta A, Vitale M, Marcenaro E. TLR/NCR/KIR: which one to use and when? *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:105. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00105
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science*. (2011) 331:44–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1198687
- Marcenaro E, Dondero A, Moretta A. Multi-directional cross-regulation of NK cell function during innate immune responses. *Transpl Immunol.* (2006) 17:16–9. doi: 10.1016/j.trim.2006.09.019
- Di Santo JP. Natural killer cell developmental pathways: a question of balance. Annu Rev Immunol. (2006) 24:257–86. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090700
- Freud AG, Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cell development. *Immunol Rev.* (2006) 214:56–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00451.x
- Romagnani C, Juelke K, Falco M, Morandi B, D'Agostino A, Costa R, et al. CD56brightCD16- killer Ig-like receptor- NK cells display longer telomeres and acquire features of CD56dim NK cells upon activation. *J Immunol.* (2007) 178:4947–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.8.4947
- Bjorkstrom NK, Riese P, Heuts F, Andersson S, Fauriat C, Ivarsson MA, et al. Malmberg. expression patterns of NKG2A, KIR, and CD57 define a process of CD56dim NK-cell differentiation uncoupled from NK-cell education. *Blood.* (2010) 116:3853–64. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-04-281675
- Moretta L, Bottino C, Pende D, Vitale M, Mingari MC, Moretta A. Different checkpoints in human NK-cell activation. *Trends Immunol.* (2004) 25:670–6. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2004.09.008
- Romagne F, Andre P, Spee P, Zahn S, Anfossi N, Gauthier L, et al. Preclinical characterization of 1-7F9, a novel human anti-KIR receptor therapeutic antibody that augments natural killer-mediated killing of tumor cells. *Blood*. (2009) 114:2667–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-02-206532
- Zaghi E, Calvi M, Marcenaro E, Mavilio D, Di Vito C. Targeting NKG2A to elucidate natural killer cell ontogenesis and to develop novel immunetherapeutic strategies in cancer therapy. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2019) 105:1243–51. doi: 10.1002/JLB.MR0718-300R
- Vey N, Bourhis JH, Boissel N, Bordessoule D, Prebet T, Charbonnier A, et al. A phase 1 trial of the anti-inhibitory KIR mAb IPH2101 for AML in complete remission. *Blood.* (2012) 120:4317–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-437558
- Kohrt HE, Thielens A, Marabelle A, Sagiv-Barfi I, Sola C, Chanuc F, et al. Anti-KIR antibody enhancement of anti-lymphoma activity of natural killer

cells as monotherapy and in combination with anti-CD20 antibodies. *Blood.* (2014) 123:678–86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-08-519199

- McWilliams EM, Mele JM, Cheney C, Timmerman EA, Fiazuddin F, Strattan EJ, et al. Therapeutic CD94/NKG2A blockade improves natural killer cell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1226720. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1226720
- Andre P, Denis C, Soulas C, Bourbon-Caillet C, Lopez J, Arnoux T, et al. Anti-NKG2A mAb is a checkpoint inhibitor that promotes anti-tumor immunity by unleashing both T and NK cells. *Cell.* (2018) 175:1731–43 e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014
- 37. Tinker AV, Hirte HW, Provencher DM, Butler MO, Ritter H, Tu D, et al. Dose-ranging and cohort-expansion study of monalizumab(IPH2201) in advanced gynecologic malignancies: A trial of the Canadian Cancer Trials Group (CCTG):IND221. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:6052–60. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0298
- Pesce S, Greppi M, Tabellini G, Rampinelli F, Parolini S, Olive D, et al. Identification of a subset of human natural killer cells expressing high levels of programmed death 1: a phenotypic and functional characterization. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:335–46 e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.025
- Beldi-Ferchiou A, Lambert M, Dogniaux S, Vely F, Vivier E, Olive D, et al. PD-1 mediates functional exhaustion of activated NK cells in patients with Kaposi sarcoma. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:72961–77. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12150
- Chen Z, Yang Y, Liu LL, Lundqvist A. Strategies to augment Natural Killer (NK) cell activity against solid tumors. *Cancers.* (2019) 11:E1040. doi: 10.3390/cancers11071040
- Hsu J, Hodgins JJ, Marathe M, Nicolai CJ, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Trevino TN, et al. Contribution of NK cells to immunotherapy mediated by PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:4654–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI99317
- Sun H, Sun C. The rise of NK cell checkpoints as promising therapeutic targets in cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2354. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02354
- Sivori S, Vacca P, Del Zotto G, Munari E, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Human NK cells: surface receptors, inhibitory checkpoints, and translational applications. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:430–41. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0206-4
- 44. Del Zotto G, Marcenaro E, Vacca P, Sivori S, Pende D, Della Chiesa M, et al. Markers and function of human NK cells in normal and pathological conditions. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom.* (2017) 92:100–14. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.21508
- Pesce S, Tabellini G, Cantoni C, Patrizi O, Coltrini D, Rampinelli F, et al. B7-H6-mediated downregulation of NKp30 in NK cells contributes to ovarian carcinoma immune escape. *Oncoimmunology*. (2015) 4:e1001224. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2014.1001224
- 46. Isidori A, Salvestrini V, Ciciarello M, Loscocco F, Visani G, Parisi S, et al. The role of the immunosuppressive microenvironment in acute myeloid leukemia development and treatment. *Expert Rev Hematol.* (2014) 7:807–18. doi: 10.1586/17474086.2014.958464
- Noguchi T, Ward JP, Gubin MM, Arthur CD, Lee SH, Hundal J, et al. Temporally distinct PD-L1 expression by tumor and host cells contributes to immune escape. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2017) 5:106–17. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0391
- Chiossone L, Vienne M, Kerdiles YM, Vivier E. Natural killer cell immunotherapies against cancer: checkpoint inhibitors and more. *Semin Immunol.* (2017) 31:55–63. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2017.08.003
- Muntasell A, Ochoa MC, Cordeiro L, Berraondo P, Lopez-Diaz de Cerio A, Cabo M, et al. Targeting NK-cell checkpoints for cancer immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2017) 45:73–81. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2017.01.003
- Malmberg KJ, Levitsky V, Norell H, de Matos CT, Carlsten M, Schedvins K, et al. IFN-gamma protects short-term ovarian carcinoma cell lines from CTL lysis via a CD94/NKG2A-dependent mechanism. *J Clin Invest.* (2002) 110:1515–23. doi: 10.1172/JCI15564
- Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Thibult ML, Houvenaeghel G, Jacquemier J, Castellano R, et al. Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:3609–22. doi: 10.1172/JCI45816

- 52. van Sorge NM, van der Pol WL, van de Winkel JG. FcgammaR polymorphisms: implications for function, disease susceptibility and immunotherapy. *Tissue Antigens*. (2003) 61:189–202. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-0039.2003.00037.x
- 53. Vey N, Karlin L, Sadot-Lebouvier S, Broussais F, Berton-Rigaud D, Rey J, et al. A phase 1 study of lirilumab (antibody against killer immunoglobulin-like receptor antibody KIR2D; IPH2102) in patients with solid tumors and hematologic malignancies. *Oncotarget*. (2018) 9:17675–88. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24832
- 54. Koyama S, Akbay EA, Li YY, Herter-Sprie GS, Buczkowski KA, Richards WG, et al. Adaptive resistance to therapeutic PD-1 blockade is associated with upregulation of alternative immune checkpoints. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10501. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10501
- Zhu C, Anderson AC, Schubart A, Xiong H, Imitola J, Khoury SJ, et al. The Tim-3 ligand galectin-9 negatively regulates T helper type 1 immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:1245–52. doi: 10.1038/ni1271
- Nakayama M, Akiba H, Takeda K, Kojima Y, Hashiguchi M, Azuma M, et al. Tim-3 mediates phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and cross-presentation. *Blood.* (2009) 113:3821–30. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-10-185884
- Huang YH, Zhu C, Kondo Y, Anderson AC, Gandhi A, Russell A, et al. CEACAM1 regulates TIM-3-mediated tolerance and exhaustion. *Nature*. (2015) 517:386–90. doi: 10.1038/nature13848
- Wang Z, Zhu J, Gu H, Yuan Y, Zhang B, Zhu D, et al. The clinical significance of abnormal Tim-3 expression on NK cells from patients with gastric cancer. *Immunol Invest.* (2015) 44:578–89. doi: 10.3109/08820139.2015.1052145
- da Silva IP, Gallois A, Jimenez-Baranda S, Khan S, Anderson AC, Kuchroo VK, et al. Reversal of NK-cell exhaustion in advanced melanoma by Tim-3 blockade. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2014) 2:410–22. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0171
- Komita H, Koido S, Hayashi K, Kan S, Ito M, Kamata Y, et al. Expression of immune checkpoint molecules of T cell immunoglobulin and mucin protein 3/galectin-9 for NK cell suppression in human gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Oncol Rep. (2015) 34:2099–105. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.4149
- Gallois A, Silva I, Osman I, Bhardwaj N. Reversal of natural killer cell exhaustion by TIM-3 blockade. *Oncoimmunology*. (2014) 3:e946365. doi: 10.4161/21624011.2014.946365
- 62. Ju Y, Hou N, Meng J, Wang X, Zhang X, Zhao D, et al. T cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule-3 (Tim-3) mediates natural killer cell suppression in chronic hepatitis B. J Hepatol. (2010) 52:322–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.12.005
- 63. Xu L, Huang Y, Tan L, Yu W, Chen D, Lu C, et al. Increased Tim-3 expression in peripheral NK cells predicts a poorer prognosis and Tim-3 blockade improves NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in human lung adenocarcinoma. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2015) 29:635–41. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2015.09.017
- De Sousa Linhares A, Leitner J, Grabmeier-Pfistershammer K, Steinberger P. Not all immune checkpoints are created equal. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1909. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01909
- 65. Baixeras E, Huard B, Miossec C, Jitsukawa S, Martin M, Hercend T, et al. Characterization of the lymphocyte activation gene 3-encoded protein. A new ligand for human leukocyte antigen class II antigens. J Exp Med. (1992) 176:327–37. doi: 10.1084/jem.176.2.327
- Sun H, Sun C, Xiao W. Expression regulation of co-inhibitory molecules on human natural killer cells in response to cytokine stimulations. *Cytokine*. (2014) 65:33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2013.09.016
- 67. Xu F, Liu J, Liu D, Liu B, Wang M, Hu Z, et al. LSECtin expressed on melanoma cells promotes tumor progression by inhibiting antitumor T-cell responses. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:3418–28. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2690
- Wang J, Sanmamed MF, Datar I, Su TT, Ji L, Sun J, et al. Fibrinogenlike protein 1 is a major immune inhibitory ligand of LAG-3. *Cell.* (2019) 176:334–47 e12. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.11.010
- Anderson AC, Joller N, Kuchroo VK. Lag-3, Tim-3, and TIGIT: co-inhibitory receptors with specialized functions in immune regulation. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:989–1004. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.05.001
- Blackburn SD, Shin H, Haining WN, Zou T, Workman CJ, Polley A, et al. Coregulation of CD8+ T cell exhaustion by multiple inhibitory receptors during chronic viral infection. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:29–37. doi: 10.1038/ni.1679

- Martinet L, Smyth MJ. Balancing natural killer cell activation through paired receptors. Nat Rev Immunol. (2015) 15:243–54. doi: 10.1038/nri3799
- Nold-Petry CA, Lo CY, Rudloff I, Elgass KD, Li S, Gantier MP, et al. IL-37 requires the receptors IL-18Ralpha and IL-1R8 (SIGIRR) to carry out its multifaceted anti-inflammatory program upon innate signal transduction. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:354–65. doi: 10.1038/ni.3103
- 73. Zhang Q, Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wang H, Wu W, et al. Blockade of the checkpoint receptor TIGIT prevents NK cell exhaustion and elicits potent anti-tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:723–32. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0132-0
- Lupo KB, Matosevic S. Natural Killer cells as allogeneic effectors in adoptive cancer immunotherapy. *Cancers.* (2019) 11:E769. doi: 10.3390/cancers11060769
- Oyer JL, Gitto SB, Altomare DA, Copik AJ. PD-L1 blockade enhances anti-tumor efficacy of NK cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1509819. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1509819
- Matosevic S. Viral and nonviral engineering of natural killer cells as emerging adoptive cancer immunotherapies. J Immunol Res. (2018) 2018:4054815. doi: 10.1155/2018/4054815
- 77. Kremer V, Ligtenberg MA, Zendehdel R, Seitz C, Duivenvoorden A, Wennerberg E, et al. Genetic engineering of human NK cells to express CXCR2 improves migration to renal cell carcinoma. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2017) 5:73. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0275-9
- Marcenaro E, Pesce S, Sivori S, Carlomagno S, Moretta L, Moretta A. KIR2DS1-dependent acquisition of CCR7 and migratory properties by human NK cells interacting with allogeneic HLA-C2+ DCs or T-cell blasts. *Blood.* (2013) 121:3396–401. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-09-458752
- 79. Marcenaro E, Cantoni C, Pesce S, Prato C, Pende D, Agaugue S, et al. Uptake of CCR7 and acquisition of migratory properties by human KIR+ NK cells interacting with monocyte-derived DC or EBV cell lines: regulation by KIR/HLA-class I interaction. *Blood*. (2009) 114:4108–16. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-05-222265
- Segal NH, Naidoo J, Curigliano G, Patel S, Sahebjam S, Papadopoulos K, et al. First-in-Human Dose Escalation of Monalizumab Plus Durvalumab With Expansion in Patients With Metastatic Microsatellite-Stable Colorectal Cancer. Available online at: https://www.innate-pharma.com/sites/default/ files/180205asco_15poster_09.pdf
- Korde N, Carlsten M, Lee MJ, Minter A, Tan E, Kwok M, et al. A phase II trial of pan-KIR2D blockade with IPH2101 in smoldering multiple myeloma. *Haematologica*. (2014) 99:e81–3. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.103085
- 82. Guolo F, Minetto P, Ballerini F, Canale FA, Frello M, Coviello E, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of post-transplant consolidation immunotherapy with nivolumab supported by the reinfusion of unselected autologous lymphocytes in patients affected by relapsed/refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood.* (2018) 132(Suppl. 1):4598. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-118901
- Sivori S, Meazza R, Quintarelli C, Carlomagno S, Della Chiesa M, Falco M, et al. NK cell-based immunotherapy for hematological malignancies. J Clin Med. (2019) 8:E1702. doi: 10.3390/jcm8101702
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. *Science*. (2002) 295:2097–100. doi: 10.1126/science.1068440
- Pende D, Marcenaro S, Falco M, Martini S, Bernardo ME, Montagna D, et al. Anti-leukemia activity of alloreactive NK cells in KIR ligand-mismatched haploidentical HSCT for pediatric patients: evaluation of the functional role of activating KIR and redefinition of inhibitory KIR specificity. *Blood.* (2009) 113:3119–29. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-164103
- Giebel S, Locatelli F, Lamparelli T, Velardi A, Davies S, Frumento G, et al. Survival advantage with KIR ligand incompatibility in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation from unrelated donors. *Blood.* (2003) 102:814–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0091
- Locatelli F, Pende D, Mingari MC, Bertaina A, Falco M, Moretta A, et al. Cellular and molecular basis of haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the successful treatment of high-risk leukemias: role of alloreactive NK cells. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:15. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00015

- Handgretinger R, Lang P, Andre MC. Exploitation of natural killer cells for the treatment of acute leukemia. *Blood.* (2016) 127:3341-9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-12-629055
- Curti A, Ruggeri L, D'Addio A, Bontadini A, Dan E, Motta MR, et al. Successful transfer of alloreactive haploidentical KIR ligand-mismatched natural killer cells after infusion in elderly high risk acute myeloid leukemia patients. *Blood.* (2011) 118:3273–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-01-329508
- Curti A, Ruggeri L, Parisi S, Bontadini A, Dan E, Motta MR, et al. Larger size of donor alloreactive NK cell repertoire correlates with better response to NK cell immunotherapy in elderly acute myeloid leukemia patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:1914–21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1604
- Marcenaro E, Ferranti B, Moretta A. NK-DC interaction: on the usefulness of auto-aggression. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2005) 4:520–5. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2005.04.015
- Ruggeri L, Mancusi A, Burchielli E, Aversa F, Martelli MF, Velardi A. Natural killer cell alloreactivity and haplo-identical hematopoietic transplantation. *Cytotherapy.* (2006) 8:554–8. doi: 10.1080/146532406010 78721
- Moretta L, Locatelli F, Pende D, Marcenaro E, Mingari MC, Moretta A. Killer Ig-like receptor-mediated control of natural killer cell alloreactivity in haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2011) 117:764–71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-264085
- Parham P, McQueen KL. Alloreactive killer cells: hindrance and help for haematopoietic transplants. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2003) 3:108–22. doi: 10.1038/nri999
- Marcenaro E, Carlomagno S, Pesce S, Della Chiesa M, Moretta A, Sivori S. Role of alloreactive KIR2DS1(+) NK cells in haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. J Leukoc Biol. (2011) 90:661–7. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0311137
- 96. Pesce S, Squillario M, Greppi M, Loiacono F, Moretta L, Moretta A, et al. New miRNA signature heralds human NK cell subsets at different maturation steps: involvement of miR-146a-5p in the regulation of KIR expression. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2360. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02360
- 97. Benson DM Jr, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. *Blood.* (2010) 116:2286–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-02-271874
- 98. Stiff PJ, Unger JM, Forman SJ, McCall AR, LeBlanc M, Nademanee AP, et al. Southwest oncology: the value of augmented preparative regimens combined with an autologous bone marrow transplant for the management of relapsed or refractory Hodgkin disease: a Southwest

Oncology Group phase II trial. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. (2003) 9:529–39. doi: 10.1016/S1083-8791(03)00205-2

- 99. Schmitz N, Pfistner B, Sextro M, Sieber M, Carella AM, Haenel M, et al. Aggressive conventional chemotherapy compared with high-dose chemotherapy with autologous haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation for relapsed chemosensitive Hodgkin's disease: a randomised trial. *Lancet.* (2002) 359:2065–71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08938-9
- 100. Spaepen K, Stroobants S, Dupont P, Vandenberghe P, Maertens J, Bormans G, et al. Prognostic value of pretransplantation positron emission tomography using fluorine 18-fluorodeoxyglucose in patients with aggressive lymphoma treated with high-dose chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2003) 102:53–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-12-3842
- 101. Fanale MA, Forero-Torres A, Rosenblatt JD, Advani RH, Franklin AR, Kennedy DA, et al. A phase I weekly dosing study of brentuximab vedotin in patients with relapsed/refractory CD30-positive hematologic malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2012) 18:248–55. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1425
- 102. Younes A, Gopal AK, Smith SE, Ansell SM, Rosenblatt JD, Savage KJ, et al. Results of a pivotal phase II study of brentuximab vedotin for patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol.* (2012) 30:2183–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.38.0410
- 103. Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, Halwani A, Scott EC, Gutierrez M, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. (2015) 372:311–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1411087
- Armand P, Chen YB, Redd RA, Joyce RM, Bsat J, Jeter E, et al. PD-1 blockade with pembrolizumab for classical Hodgkin lymphoma after autologous stem cell transplantation. *Blood*. (2019) 134:22–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000215
- 105. Roberto A, Di Vito C, Zaghi E, Mazza EMC, Capucetti A, Calvi M, et al. The early expansion of anergic NKG2A(pos)/CD56(dim)/CD16(neg) natural killer represents a therapeutic target in haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Haematologica*. (2018) 103:1390–402. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2017.186619

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Minetto, Guolo, Pesce, Greppi, Obino, Ferretti, Sivori, Genova, Lemoli and Marcenaro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exploiting Human NK Cells in Tumor Therapy

Paola Vacca¹, Gabriella Pietra^{2,3}, Nicola Tumino¹, Enrico Munari⁴, Maria Cristina Mingari^{2,5} and Lorenzo Moretta^{1*}

¹ Immunology Research Area, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Pediatric Hospital, Rome, Italy, ² UOC Immunology, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa, Italy, ³ Department of Experimental Medicine (DIMES), Università di Genova, Genoa, Italy, ⁴ Department of Pathology, IRCCS Sacro Cuore Don Calabria, Negrar, Italy, ⁵ Department of Experimental Medicine (DIMES), Center of Excellence for Biomedical Research, Università di Genova, Genoa, Italy

NK cells play an important role in the innate defenses against tumor growth and metastases. Human NK cell activation and function are regulated by an array of HLA class I-specific inhibitory receptors and activating receptors recognizing ligands expressed de novo on tumor or virus-infected cells. NK cells have been exploited in immunotherapy of cancer, including: (1) the in vivo infusion of IL-2 or IL-15, cytokines inducing activation and proliferation of NK cells that are frequently impaired in cancer patients. Nonetheless, the significant toxicity experienced, primarily with IL-2, limited their use except for combination therapies, e.g., IL-15 with checkpoint inhibitors; (2) the adoptive immunotherapy with cytokine-induced NK cells had effect on some melanoma metastases (lung), while other localizations were not affected; (3) a remarkable evolution of adoptive cell therapy is represented by NK cells engineered with CAR-targeting tumor antigens (CAR-NK). CAR-NK cells complement CAR-T cells as they do not cause GvHD and may be obtained from unrelated donors. Accordingly, CAR-NK cells may represent an "off-the-shelf" tool, readily available for effective tumor therapy; (4) the efficacy of adoptive cell therapy in cancer is also witnessed by the $\alpha\beta T$ cell- and B cell-depleted haploidentical HSC transplantation in which the infusion of donor NK cells and $\gamma\delta T$ cells, together with HSC, sharply reduces leukemia relapses and infections; (5) a true revolution in tumor therapy is the use of mAbs targeting checkpoint inhibitors including PD-1, CTLA-4, the HLA class I-specific KIR, and NKG2A. Since PD-1 is expressed not only by tumor-associated T cells but also by NK cells, its blocking might unleash NK cells playing a crucial effector role against HLA class I-deficient tumors that are undetectable by T cells.

Keywords: NK cells, inhibitory checkpoints, innate immunity, immunotherapy, anti-tumor therapy

INTRODUCTION

Natural killer (NK) cells play a central role in innate defenses against viruses and tumors. They belong to a family of innate lymphoid cells (ILC) that do not express receptors encoded by rearranged genes. NK cell function is regulated by an array of inhibitory and activating receptors. Inhibitory receptors that play a major role in the control of NK cell function are those specific for HLA-class (Cl)-I molecules. Killer Ig-like receptors (KIRs) recognize allotypic determinants shared by different HLA-Cl-I alleles, while CD94/NKG2A is specific for the non-classical HLA-E (1). The

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

James Di Santo, Institut Pasteur, France

Reviewed by:

Soldano Ferrone, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States Robert J. Canter, University of California, Davis, United States

*Correspondence:

Lorenzo Moretta lorenzo.moretta@opbg.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 30 July 2019 Accepted: 09 December 2019 Published: 17 January 2020

Citation:

Vacca P, Pietra G, Tumino N, Munari E, Mingari MC and Moretta L (2020) Exploiting Human NK Cells in Tumor Therapy. Front. Immunol. 10:3013. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03013

70

fact that NK cell inactivation is required to spare healthy cells implied the existence of activating receptors recognizing ligands on target cells. The prototypes and most important ones in tumor cell detection and killing are NKp46, NKp44, and NKp30, collectively called "natural cytotoxicity receptors" (NCRs) (2). While in an autologous setting all NK cells express one or more inhibitory receptors for self HLA-Cl-I, in an allogeneic setting, it may occur that KIRs expressed by a subset of NK cells do not recognize HLA-Cl-I alleles on allogeneic cells, and the lack of inhibition may result in killing of target cells (3). NK cells with these characteristics were named "alloreactive" NK cells. Although NK cells display a potent anti-tumor activity and are thought to participate to the control of tumor growth and metastatic spread, the tumor microenvironment may sharply inhibit their effector functions (4, 5). This inhibitory effect is due to the tumor cells themselves as well as to other cells present in the tumor microenvironment and frequently involves both the downregulation of activating surface receptors and the de novo expression of inhibitory checkpoints (primarily PD-1) (6, 7). In this contribution, we will briefly discuss different therapeutic strategies (Table 1), which allow to successfully exploit NK cell-mediated anti-tumor activity as well as novel promising approaches that may offer important new tools in cancer treatment.

BOOSTING IN VIVO NK CELLS WITH IMMUNE STIMULATORY CYTOKINES

In cancer patients, NK cells frequently display an impaired function (6, 27). Thus, primary strategies in immunotherapy are aimed to boost *in vivo* NK cell-mediated antitumor activity. One approach is based on the *in vivo* administration of cytokines, such as IL-2 and IL-15, that determine NK cell activation, differentiation, and expansion (8, 28–32). IL-2 administration was approved in the 1990s for the treatment of metastatic RCC

TABLE 1 | Human NK cell-based immunotherapeutic approaches in tumors.

1. Adoptive NK cell therapies

- Infusion of IL-2- or IL-15-activated NK cells or lymphokine-activated lymphocytes (LAK and CIK) (8–11);
- Infusion of allogeneic "off-the-shelf" CAR-NK cells directed to tumor antigens (12).
- 2. NK cells in haplo-HSCT to cure high-risk leukemia
- Transplant of "pure" donor CD34⁺ cells. NKG2A⁺ NK cells are detectable after 2 weeks, while KIR⁺, cytolytic NK cells only after 6–8 weeks. Central role of NK cells in GvL, especially of "alloreactive" NK cells (13, 14);
- Transplant of αβT- and B cell-depleted mononuclear cells. Donor NK cells and γδT cells, being present in the graft, are immediately available for the control of infections and leukemia relapses. Better clinical outcome, particularly in AML (15–19).

3. mAbs blocking inhibitory checkpoints in NK cells

- The disruption of PD1/PD-L1 interactions unleashes both PD1⁺ T and NK cells. Major effect of NK cells in case of HLA-CI-I⁻ tumors (20–24);
- Blocking of NKG2A expressed by both NK and tumor-infiltrating T cells results in killing of HLA-E⁺ tumors (i.e., most tumors) (25, 26);
- Combined blocking of NKG2A and PD1 in case of PD-L1⁺ tumors (25, 26);
- Combined use of NKG2A-blocking mAb and mAb specific for tumor antigens (e.g., EGFR): "unlocked" NK cells mediate ADCC (25, 26).

and melanoma patients (33-35). Two major obstacles in IL-2based therapy are the dose-associated toxicity (primarily vascular leakage) and the induction of T regulatory (Treg) cell activation and expansion, thus resulting in inhibition of NK cell function (9, 10). Recently, IL-2 variants, with lower affinity for IL-2Ra subunit (highly expressed by Treg cells), have been designed (11, 36, 37). In addition, PEGylated IL-2 (also known as NKTR-214) that binds CD122 (IL-2R β), expressed by both T and NK cells, is able to boost preferentially these cells and their antitumor responses. This therapeutic treatment is currently under investigation in clinical trials for solid tumors (13). The use of IL-15 may represent a better therapeutic option as it can selectively sustain NK cells without inducing Treg expansion. However, the clinical use of IL-15 is limited because of its short in vivo half-life (38). Notably, IL-15 induces a rapid expansion of memory CD8⁺ T cells, thus favoring anti-tumor activity. The effect of IL-15 administration combined with checkpoint inhibitors (anti-CTLA-4 and/or anti-PD-1 mAbs) is currently under investigation in patients with cancers refractory to other therapies. To improve the anti-tumor effect of NK cells, ALT-803, an IL-15 superagonist complex, is also being assessed in phase I studies either alone (14) or in combination with checkpoint inhibitors (39). An emerging approach is based on bi- or trispecific killer cell engagers (BiKEs and TriKEs) binding CD16 or NKG2D on NK cells and tumor antigens, thus favoring the interaction between NK cells and tumor cells. Notably, "TriKEs" also contain a modified IL-15 linker to improve NK cell survival and proliferation (15, 40, 41). An additional prospect is the use of IL-12, a molecule that enhances cytokine production and cytotoxicity by NK cells (16).

ADOPTIVE IMMUNOTHERAPY WITH CYTOKINE-INDUCED NK CELLS

Clinical trials have been attempted since 1980s in which NK cellcontaining cell suspensions isolated from patients with metastatic melanomas were expanded in vitro in the presence of IL-2 and infused back into the patients. While a relevant effect was detected in some cases, primarily in metastatic lesions such as lung metastases, other tumor localizations were not affected. These studies were important because they provided the first evidence that such "lymphokine-activated killers" (LAK) could exert their anti-tumor effect also in vivo. Relevant toxicity was mostly related to the concomitant administration of high dosages of IL-2 (17, 18). Evolutions of such pioneering studies, based on adoptive cell therapy, were the use of IL-15 and, recently, the use of NK cells engineered with chimeric antigen receptor (CAR, see below). Although NK cells to be used in adoptive tumor therapy are usually derived from peripheral blood (PB), other sources have also been proposed. For example, the pleural fluid of primary or metastatic tumors contains high numbers of functional NK cells (19), which acquire strong cytotoxicity upon short culture intervals with IL-15 or IL-2 in vitro. Since large volumes of such fluids are routinely discarded, NK cells could be recovered and reinfused systemically or in the pleural cavity after in vitro
culture with IL-15 (8). Such loco-regional treatment might contribute to the control of pleural localizations of the tumor. In general, the infusion of potent effector cells with anti-tumor activity is an important approach in tumor immunotherapy because it may greatly amplify the effect of endogenous cells. The relevance of infusing mature effector cells in cancer patients is also underscored in the $\alpha\beta$ T- and B-cell-depleted haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), in which leukemia relapses and infections are sharply reduced as compared to the HSCT setting with "purified" CD34⁺ cells, thanks to the co-infusion of mature $\gamma\delta$ T cells and NK cells (see below).

ROLE OF NK CELLS IN THE THERAPY OF HIGH-RISK LEUKEMIA IN HAPLOIDENTICAL HSCT

HSCT represents the life-saving therapy for acute leukemia poorly responsive to chemotherapy, relapsing, or with adverse cytogenetic characteristics. Unfortunately, it is possible to find a HLA compatible donor only for $\sim 60\%$ of patients (42, 43). Thus, T-depleted haplo-identical HSCT has been developed in an attempt to rescue those patients for whom no alternative therapeutic option is available. Haplo-HSCT is based on the infusion of "megadoses" of purified CD34⁺ cells extensively depleted of T cells in order to avoid life-threatening GvHD. In this transplantation setting, donor NK cells may express KIR that do not recognize any of the HLA-Cl-I alleles of the patient (44, 45). Notably, NK cells are the first donor lymphoid cells detectable in patients' PB after transplantation. In pediatric patients, this occurs after \sim 2 weeks. However, such NK cells are represented by relatively immature CD56^{bright} cells, expressing NKG2A but not KIR (KIR expression is required for NK cell alloreactivity). Appearance of mature KIR⁺ NK cells requires an additional 4-6 weeks. In this T-depleted HSCT setting, NK cells play a major role in graft-vs.-leukemia (GvL) (46). The anti-leukemia effect has been related to NK cell alloreactivity in different studies, pioneered by Ruggeri et al., in adult AML (20, 21, 45). Indeed a clear correlation was found between the frequency of alloreactive NK cells and the clinical outcome (22, 44). Of note, a subset of NK cells derived from CMV-seropositive donors could undergo expansion in transplanted patients upon CMV reactivation after HSCT. These NK cells expressed NKG2C, CD57, and displayed epigenetic modifications identical to those present in memory T cells. These characteristics confer to NK cells a strong cytolytic activity, including a "memory-like" behavior in response to NKG2C triggering, and are associated to a better clinical outcome (23-25, 47, 48). In pediatric patients receiving "megadoses" of purified CD34⁺, the survival probability at 5 years was very good for patients with high-risk ALL, reaching over 70% in the presence of NK alloreactivity and \sim 40% in its absence, the overall survival being \sim 60%. In patients with AML, survival reached \sim 40% in case of NK alloreactivity, but only $\sim 20\%$ in its absence, the overall survival being \sim 30%. Notably, all deaths occurred early, during the first few weeks/months after transplant, primarily due

to leukemia relapses or infections (20, 49). In an attempt to fill the temporal gap between transplant and the generation of mature KIR⁺ alloreactive NK cells, a novel graft manipulation has been developed. This is based on the selective depletion of TCR $\alpha\beta$ T cells (responsible of GvHD) and B cells (to prevent B cell malignancies in immunocompromised individuals). With this graft manipulation, the infused mononuclear cells also contain, in addition to HSC (including not only CD34⁺ but also CD34⁻ precursors), effector cells such as mature (CD56^{dim}) NK cells and TCRy8 T cells, both capable of anti-leukemia activity (12, 26, 50). In addition, the graft contained different myeloid cell types, including monocytes and low-density monocytic or polymorphonuclear (PMN) myeloid cells (51, 52). The immediate availability of cells capable of killing leukemia blasts and controlling virus reactivation or infections had a major positive impact. Indeed the overall survival probability was ~70% not only for ALL but also for AML patients. An unexpected finding was that NK cell-mediated alloreactivity did not appear to play a significant role (49). While it is conceivable that the NK cell function may be offset by a predominant GvL effect of y\deltaT cells (greatly expanded in vivo thanks to the use of zoledronic acid) (53), we could not exclude that also other mechanisms may impair NK alloreactivity. Indeed we recently found that myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), particularly abundant in the graft, exert a potent inhibitory effect on NK cell function (54). These data suggest a possible effect also in vivo and offer a clue for applying an additional step in the graft manipulation to further remove MDSC. The rescue of NK cell function may contribute to increase the clinical outcome, particularly by preventing leukemia relapses, still representing $\sim 25\%$ of total deaths.

Taken together, these data support the notion that NK and other cells of the innate immunity may play a relevant role in the therapy of high-risk leukemia. Notably, HSC from different sources give rise to other innate lymphoid cells (ILC), particularly ILC3. ILC3 cells contribute to tissue repair and regeneration of lymphoid tissues and are likely to play a major role in the integrity of such tissues severely compromised by the chemo/radiotherapy given to patients prior to HSCT (55).

BLOCKING OF INHIBITORY CHECKPOINTS/RECEPTORS TO UNLEASH NK CELLS

NK cells express inhibitory receptors such as the HLA-Cl-I-specific KIRs and CD94/NKG2A that may function as true inhibitory checkpoints (56). The lack of interactions with their cognate HLA class I ligands on target cells leads to cytolytic activity and cytokine production. This may occur in an autologous environment in the case of tumors or viral infections, as well as in an allogeneic setting such as the haplo-HSCT (see above).

While KIRs and NKG2A are constitutively expressed by mature NK cells, the expression of other inhibitory checkpoints involved in the homeostasis of immune responses, including PD-1, TIGIT, TIM-3, and CD96, is inducible (57). Such *de novo*-expressed checkpoint regulators have been shown to inhibit the NK cell function upon interaction with their ligands on tumor cells (19, 58). We will focus on PD-1 since it is a major checkpoint receptor involved in the control of immune responses, and the therapeutic use of blocking antibodies disrupting the PD-1/PD-L1 axis represents a major breakthrough in the cure of highly aggressive tumors.

While PD-1 expression has been first reported in T lymphocytes, recent studies revealed that, in pathological conditions, such as CMV infections and tumors, it may be expressed also by NK cells. The expression of PD-1 by NK cells is controversial; indeed PB-NK cells derived from both healthy donors (HD) and neoplastic patients were originally reported to express low levels, if any, of PD-1. On the other hand, PD-1^{bright} NK cells were found in the PB and, more abundantly, in ascitic fluid of ovarian carcinoma patients (58), as well as in pleural effusions of patients with primary and metastatic tumors (19) and in Hodgkin lymphoma. Notably, both PD-1 mRNA and PD-1 protein are present in the cytoplasm of NK cells isolated from HD (59), although the molecular mechanisms leading to its surface expression are still poorly defined.

Under physiological conditions, PD-1 acts as a brake in the regulation of immune responses, playing a relevant role in the induction and maintenance of T cell tolerance. However, in cancer patients, it may impair T cell- and NK cell-mediated responses against tumor cells. In these cases, immunotherapy with mAbs disrupting the PD-1/PD-L1 interaction has shown great effectiveness, particularly in melanoma and lung carcinomas with responses to therapy reaching 20-40% in different clinical trials. Importantly, therapeutic blockade of inhibitory checkpoints in NK cells may be effective also in HLA-Cl-Ineg tumors, a condition that frequently occurs in metastatic carcinomas (as a result of tumor escape from cytolytic T cell-mediated control) (60, 61). Nevertheless, the majority of patients do not benefit from the anti-PD-1/PD-L1 treatment. Thus, prediction of clinical responses to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade represents a major issue also in view of important side effects and of the high treatment cost. In this context, an important approach is the evaluation of PD-L1 expression on tumor cells. However, its predictive value is still unsatisfactory due to several technical limitations, such as the use of different mAbs, different diagnostic materials (biopsies vs. surgical specimen, cytology), and different operators (62-64). For this reason, current researches are aimed to identify additional checkpoints to be targeted, either alone or in combination. In this context, the actual potential of blocking TIGIT, TIM-3, CD96, or LAG-3 is currently under investigation. Importantly, a recent study by Vivier's group has highlighted the use of anti-CD94/NKG2A blocking mAb in tumor therapy (65). NKG2A⁺ cells represent >50% of PB-NK cells and may express either the CD56^{bright} or the CD56^{dim} phenotype. While CD56^{bright} NKG2A⁺ NK cells are primarily cytokine producers, CD56^{dim} NKG2A⁺ cells also display potent cytolytic activity and DC editing capability (66). NKG2A is also expressed by T lymphocytes, either upon prolonged stimulation via TCR (67) or upon exposure to TGF- β (68), an immunosuppressive cytokine often present in the tumor microenvironment. This de novo NKG2A expression may lead to the impairment of T

cell function, including anti-tumor activity (67). Accordingly, blocking of NKG2A can unleash not only NK cells but also tumor-infiltrating T cells with potential anti-tumor activity. In addition, HLA-E, the NKG2A ligand, is expressed in many highly aggressive tumors (e.g., lung, head and neck, colon, pancreas, and liver), and most cells in the tumor are HLA-E⁺. Accordingly, blocking of NKG2A may result in potent anti-tumor effect in different cancers. In tumors expressing both HLA-E and PD-L1, the combined blocking of NKG2A and PD-1/PD-L1 axis can enhance NK cell cytotoxicity and rescue T cell function. Notably, in a murine model, this combined treatment also resulted in T cell proliferation and T cell memory induction. Finally, in HLA-E⁺ tumors, expressing tumor-associated antigens, NKG2A blockade could increase the therapeutic efficacy of other mAbs (for example, anti-EGFR mAb), favoring the NK cell triggering via the CD16-mediated antibody-dependent cytotoxicity (ADCC) (65, 69). These different scenarios involving NKG2A blockade are promising because they may occur in many tumors and involve important synergies with other checkpoint inhibitors or therapeutic antibodies directed to tumor antigens. In addition, these studies emphasize the importance of harnessing NK cell-mediated anti-tumor activity while, so far, the immunotherapeutic strategies have been mostly focused on potentiating T cell anti-tumor responses.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

It is now clear that cells of the innate immunity, in particular NK cells, play a relevant defensive role in the control of tumor growth and metastases. As shown by many experimental evidences, both in vitro and in vivo, such anti-tumor effect is related both to direct cytolytic activity and to the production of cytokines that activate other effector cells and promote useful TH1 adaptive responses. Therefore, therapeutic approaches that trigger and/or reconstitute NK cell function and proliferation are crucial in tumor immunotherapy. In addition, NK cells engineered with CAR, targeting tumor antigens, are highly promising. Indeed CAR-NK cells could complement or even replace CAR-T cells in view of their particularly potent cytolytic activity and their peculiar homing capability (70-72). Importantly, in case of loss of the targeted tumor antigen, CAR-NK cells could still exert their anti-tumor activity, particularly in the absence of KIR/HLA ligand matching. In addition, CAR-NK cells, genetically modified to over-express either molecules mediating tumor killing or cytokines able to sustain NK cell proliferation/function (e.g., IL-15), may represent a further valuable tool for adoptive cell therapy of cancer (73, 74). Notably, since NK cells do not cause GvHD, they may be obtained from unrelated donors, thus overcoming major limitations of autologous T cell therapy (time needed for preparation and high costs) and providing a rapid access to an "off-the-shelf" life-saving therapy. Indeed given the possibility to better plan treatments with standardized approaches and appropriate cell numbers, donor-derived allogeneic CAR-NK cells may represent the next generation of cell-based therapies of cancer. Table 2 summarizes recent or ongoing clinical trials based on the use of adoptively infused NK cells.

TABLE 2 | Selected recent/ongoing trials of NK-based adoptive therapy of cancer.

Identifier	Trial	Status	Phase	NK cells/drug	Tumor
NCT00900809	QUILT-3.018: Neukoplast TM (NK-92) for the treatment of refractory or relapsed acute myeloid leukemia	Recruitment completed	I	NK-92	Acute myeloid leukemia
NCT03027128	QUILT-3.028: study of haNK TM for infusion in subjects with metastatic or locally advanced solid tumors	Recruitment completed	I	NK-92	Solid tumor
NCT03383978	Intracranial injection of NK-92/5.28.z cells in patients with recurrent HER2-positive glioblastoma (CAR2BRAIN)	Recruiting	I	NK-92/5.28.z	Glioblastoma
NCT02573896	Immunotherapy of relapsed refractory neuroblastoma with expanded NK cells	Recruiting	Ι	CAR-NK-Ch14.18 lenalidomide	Neuroblastoma
NCT02280525	Cord blood Natural Killer (NK) cells in leukemia/lymphoma	Active, not recruiting	I	NK Cells, lenalidomide, rituximab (anti-CD20), fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, cytarabine	Leukemia
NCT02481934	Clinical trial of expanded and activated autologous NK cells to treat multiple myeloma (NK-VS-MM)	Completed	I	NK Cells, lenalidomide, bortezomib	Multiple myeloma
NCT03415100	Pilot study of NKG2D-ligand targeted CAR-NK cells in patients with metastatic solid tumors	Recruiting	I	CAR-NK cells targeting NKG2D ligands	Solid tumors
NCT01974479	Pilot study of redirected haploidentical natural killer cell infusions for B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia	Suspended	I	Anti-CD19 redirected NK cells	B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia
NCT03579927	CAR.CD19-CD28-zeta-2A-iCasp9-IL15- transduced cord blood NK cells, high-dose chemotherapy, and stem cell transplant in treating participants with B-cell lymphoma	Not yet recruiting	1/11	Cord blood-NK Cells Autologous HSCT carmustine Cytarabine, etoposide, filgrastim, melphalan, rituximab (anti-CD20)	CD19 positive, mantle cell lymphoma, recurrent diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, recurrent follicular lymphoma, refractory B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, refractory diffuse large B-Cell lymphoma, refractory follicular lymphoma
NCT03056339	Umbilical and Cord Blood (CB) derived CAR-engineered NK cells for B lymphoid malignancies	Recruiting	1/11	iC9/CAR.19/IL15 transduced CB-NK Cells, fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, mesna, AP1903	B-lymphoid malignancies, acute lymphocytic leukemia, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, non-Hodgkin lymphoma
NCT02839954	CAR-pNK cell immunotherapy in MUC1 positive relapsed or refractory solid tumor	Unknown	1/11	Anti-MUC1 CAR-NK cells	Hepatocellular carcinoma, NSCLc, pancreatic carcinoma, triple-negative invasive breast carcinoma, malignant glioma of brain, colorectal carcinoma, gastric carcinoma
NCT02892695	PCAR-119 bridge immunotherapy prior to stem cell transplant in treating patients with CD19 positive leukemia and lymphoma	Unknown	1/11	Anti-CD19 CAR-NK cells	Acute/chronic lymphocytic leukemia, follicular lymphoma, mantle cell lymphoma, B-cell prolymphocytic leukemia, diffuse large cell lymphoma
NCT02742727	CAR-pNK cell immunotherapy in CD7 positive leukemia and lymphoma	Unknown	1/11	Anti-CD7 CAR-NK cells	Acute myeloid leukemia, precursor T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia-lymphoma, T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia, T-cell large granular lymphocytic leukemia, peripheral T-cell

lymphoma, angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma, extranodal NK/T-cell lymphoma, nasal type enteropathy-type intestinal

T-cell lymphoma

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors wrote and revised the review.

FUNDING

Supported by grants awarded by Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (AIRC)-Special Program Metastatic

REFERENCES

- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Biassoni R, Mingari MC, et al. Receptors for HLA class-I molecules in human natural killer cells. *Ann Rev Immunol.* (1996) 14:619–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.619
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Cantoni C, Mingari MC, et al. Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Ann Rev Immunol.* (2001) 19:197–223. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.197
- Raulet DH, Vance RE. Self-tolerance of natural killer cells. Nat Rev Immunol. (2006) 6:520–31. doi: 10.1038/nri1863
- Vitale M, Cantoni C, Pietra G, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Effect of tumor cells and tumor microenvironment on NK-cell function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1582–92. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344272
- Vacca P, Munari E, Tumino N, Moretta F, Pietra G, Vitale M, et al. Human natural killer cells and other innate lymphoid cells in cancer: friends or foes? *Immunol Lett.* (2018) 201:14–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2018.11.004
- Vitale M, Cantoni C, Della Chiesa M, Ferlazzo G, Carlomagno S, Pende D, et al. A historical overview: the discovery of how NK cells can kill enemies, recruit defense troops, and more. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1415. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01415
- Mariotti FR, Quatrini L, Munari E, Vacca P, Moretta L. Innate lymphoid cells: expression of PD-1 and other checkpoints in normal and pathological conditions. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:910. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00910
- Croxatto D, Martini S, Chiossone L, Scordamaglia F, Simonassi CF, Moretta L, et al. IL15 induces a potent antitumor activity in NK cells isolated from malignant pleural effusions and overcomes the inhibitory effect of pleural fluid. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1293210. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1293210
- Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, Chang AE, Avis FP, Leitman S, et al. A progress report on the treatment of 157 patients with advanced cancer using lymphokine-activated killer cells and interleukin-2 or high-dose interleukin-2 alone. N Engl J Med. (1987) 316:889–97. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198704093 161501
- Lotze MT, Matory YL, Ettinghausen SE, Rayner AA, Sharrow SO, Seipp CA, et al. In vivo administration of purified human interleukin 2. II. Half life, immunologic effects, and expansion of peripheral lymphoid cells *in vivo* with recombinant IL 2. *J Immunol.* (1985) 135:2865–75.
- Levin AM, Bates DL, Ring AM, Krieg C, Lin JT, Su L, et al. Exploiting a natural conformational switch to engineer an interleukin-2 'superkine'. *Nature*. (2012) 484:529–33. doi: 10.1038/nature10975
- Locatelli F, Bauquet A, Palumbo G, Moretta F, Bertaina A. Negative depletion of alpha/beta+ T cells and of CD19+ B lymphocytes: a novel frontier to optimize the effect of innate immunity in HLA-mismatched hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Immunol Lett.* (2013) 155:21–3. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2013.09.027
- Bentebibel SE, Hurwitz ME, Bernatchez C, Haymaker C, Hudgens CW, Kluger HM, et al. A first-in-human study and biomarker analysis of NKTR-214, a novel IL2Rbetagamma-biased cytokine, in patients with advanced or metastatic solid tumors. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:711–21. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-1495
- Romee R, Cooley S, Berrien-Elliott MM, Westervelt P, Verneris MR, Wagner JE, et al. First-in-human phase 1 clinical study of the IL-15 superagonist complex ALT-803 to treat relapse after transplantation. *Blood.* (2018) 131:2515–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-12-823757

disease: the key unmet need in oncology 5X1000 2018 Id. 21147 (LM), AIRC IG 2017 Id. 19920 (LM); RC-2019 OPBG (LM and PV); Ministero della Salute RF-2013, GR-2013-02356568 (PV); Italian Ministry of Health Id: RF-2016-02362288 (GP); 5X1000 Italian Ministry of Health 2015 and 2016 (to MM); NT was recipient of a fellowship awarded by AIRC; RC-2019 IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino (GP).

- Vallera DA, Felices M, McElmurry R, McCullar V, Zhou X, Schmohl JU, et al. IL15 trispecific killer engagers (TriKE) make natural killer cells specific to CD33+ targets while also inducing persistence, *in vivo* expansion, and enhanced function. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:3440–50. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2710
- 16. Thaker PH, Brady WE, Lankes HA, Odunsi K, Bradley WH, Moore KN, et al. A phase I trial of intraperitoneal GEN-1, an IL-12 plasmid formulated with PEG-PEI-cholesterol lipopolymer, administered with pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in patients with recurrent or persistent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube or primary peritoneal cancers: an NRG Oncology/Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2017) 147:283–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.08.001
- Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, Leitman S, Chang AE, Ettinghausen SE, et al. Observations on the systemic administration of autologous lymphokine-activated killer cells and recombinant interleukin-2 to patients with metastatic cancer. N Engl J Med. (1985) 313:1485–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198512053132327
- Rosenberg SA, Mule JJ, Spiess PJ, Reichert CM, Schwarz SL. Regression of established pulmonary metastases and subcutaneous tumor mediated by the systemic administration of high-dose recombinant interleukin 2. J Exp Med. (1985) 161:1169–88. doi: 10.1084/jem.161.5.1169
- Tumino N, Martini S, Munari E, Scordamaglia F, Besi F, Mariotti FR, et al. Presence of innate lymphoid cells in pleural effusions of primary and metastatic tumors: functional analysis and expression of PD-1 receptor. *Int J Cancer.* (2019) 145:1660–8. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32262
- Venstrom JM, Pittari G, Gooley TA, Chewning JH, Spellman S, Haagenson M, et al. HLA-C-dependent prevention of leukemia relapse by donor activating KIR2DS1. N Engl J Med. (2012) 367:805–16. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa12 00503
- Savani BN, Mielke S, Adams S, Uribe M, Rezvani K, Yong AS, et al. Rapid natural killer cell recovery determines outcome after T-cell-depleted HLA-identical stem cell transplantation in patients with myeloid leukemias but not with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2007) 21:2145–52. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404892
- Pende D, Spaggiari GM, Marcenaro S, Martini S, Rivera P, Capobianco A, et al. Analysis of the receptor–ligand interactions in the natural killer-mediated lysis of freshly isolated myeloid or lymphoblastic leukemias: evidence for the involvement of the poliovirus receptor (CD155) and nectin-2 (CD112). *Blood*. (2005) 105:2066–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3548
- Dewald JR, Fuller DO, Muller GC, Beier JC. A novel method for mapping village-scale outdoor resting microhabitats of the primary African malaria vector, *Anopheles gambiae*. *Malar J.* (2016) 15:489. doi: 10.1186/s12936-016-1534-9
- Cichocki F, Cooley S, Davis Z, DeFor TE, Schlums H, Zhang B, et al. CD56dimCD57+NKG2C+ NK cell expansion is associated with reduced leukemia relapse after reduced intensity HCT. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:456–63. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.260
- Cichocki F, Taras E, Chiuppesi F, Wagner JE, Blazar BR, Brunstein C, et al. Adaptive NK cell reconstitution is associated with better clinical outcomes. *JCI Insight*. (2019) 4:125553. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.125553
- 26. Li Pira G, Malaspina D, Girolami E, Biagini S, Cicchetti E, Conflitti G, et al. Selective depletion of alphabeta T cells and B cells for human leukocyte antigen-haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. A three-year follow-up of procedure efficiency. *Biol Blood Marrow Transpl.* (2016) 22:2056– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2016.08.006

- Pietra G, Vitale C, Pende D, Bertaina A, Moretta F, Falco M, et al. Human natural killer cells: news in the therapy of solid tumors and high-risk leukemias. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2016) 65:465–76. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1744-y
- Vacca P, Martini S, Garelli V, Passalacqua G, Moretta L, Mingari MC. NK cells from malignant pleural effusions are not anergic but produce cytokines and display strong antitumor activity on short-term IL-2 activation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:550–61. doi: 10.1002/eji.201242783
- Vacca P, Martini S, Mingari MC, Moretta L. NK cells from malignant pleural effusions are potent antitumor effectors: a clue for adoptive immunotherapy? Oncoimmunology. (2013) 2:e23638. doi: 10.4161/onci.23638
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Delahaye NF, Chaput N, Zitvogel L. Natural killer celldirected therapies: moving from unexpected results to successful strategies. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:486–94. doi: 10.1038/ni1580
- Terme M, Fridman WH, Tartour E. NK cells from pleural effusions are potent antitumor effector cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:331–4. doi: 10.1002/eji.201243264
- Ni J, Miller M, Stojanovic A, Garbi N, Cerwenka A. Sustained effector function of IL-12/15/18-preactivated NK cells against established tumors. J Exp Med. (2012) 209:2351–65. doi: 10.1084/jem.20120944
- 33. Fyfe G, Fisher RI, Rosenberg SA, Sznol M, Parkinson DR, Louie AC. Results of treatment of 255 patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma who received high-dose recombinant interleukin-2 therapy. *J Clin Oncol.* (1995) 13:688–96. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1995.13.3.688
- 34. Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP, Fisher RI, Weiss G, Margolin K, et al. High-dose recombinant interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol. (1999) 17:2105–16. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1999.17.7.2105
- Rosenberg SA. IL-2: the first effective immunotherapy for human cancer. J Immunol. (2014) 192:5451–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1490019
- Sim GC, Liu C, Wang E, Liu H, Creasy C, Dai Z, et al. IL2 variant circumvents ICOS+ regulatory T-cell expansion and promotes NK cell activation. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4:983–94. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0195
- Carmenate T, Pacios A, Enamorado M, Moreno E, Garcia-Martinez K, Fuente D, et al. Human IL-2 mutein with higher antitumor efficacy than wild type IL-2. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:6230–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201895
- Cooley S, He F, Bachanova V, Vercellotti GM, DeFor TE, Curtsinger JM, et al. First-in-human trial of rhIL-15 and haploidentical natural killer cell therapy for advanced acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Adv.* (2019) 3:1970–80. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018028332
- 39. Wrangle JM, Velcheti V, Patel MR, Garrett-Mayer E, Hill EG, Ravenel JG, et al. ALT-803, an IL-15 superagonist, in combination with nivolumab in patients with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: a non-randomised, open-label, phase 1b trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2018) 19:694–704. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30148-7
- Sarhan D, Brandt L, Felices M, Guldevall K, Lenvik T, Hinderlie P, et al. 161533 TriKE stimulates NK-cell function to overcome myeloidderived suppressor cells in MDS. *Blood Adv.* (2018) 2:1459–69. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2017012369
- Davis ZB, Vallera DA, Miller JS, Felices M. Natural killer cells unleashed: Checkpoint receptor blockade and BiKE/TriKE utilization in NKmediated anti-tumor immunotherapy. *Sem Immunol.* (2017) 31:64–75. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2017.07.011
- Gragert L, Eapen M, Williams E, Freeman J, Spellman S, Baitty R, et al. HLA match likelihoods for hematopoietic stem-cell grafts in the U.S. registry. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:339–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa1311707
- Rocha V, Locatelli F. Searching for alternative hematopoietic stem cell donors for pediatric patients. *Bone Marrow Transpl.* (2008) 41:207–14. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1705963
- 44. Pende D, Marcenaro S, Falco M, Martini S, Bernardo ME, Montagna D, et al. Anti-leukemia activity of alloreactive NK cells in KIR ligand-mismatched haploidentical HSCT for pediatric patients: evaluation of the functional role of activating KIR and redefinition of inhibitory KIR specificity. *Blood.* (2009) 113:3119–29. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-164103
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. *Science*. (2002) 295:2097–100. doi: 10.1126/science.1068440

- Falco M, Pende D, Munari E, Vacca P, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Natural killer cells: from surface receptors to the cure of high-risk leukemia (Ceppellini Lecture). *HLA*. (2019) 93:185–94. doi: 10.1111/tan.13509
- 47. Muccio L, Falco M, Bertaina A, Locatelli F, Frassoni F, Sivori S, et al. Late development of FcepsilonRgamma(neg) adaptive natural killer cells upon human cytomegalovirus reactivation in umbilical cord blood transplantation recipients. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1050. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01050
- Della Chiesa M, Falco M, Podesta M, Locatelli F, Moretta L, Frassoni F, et al. Phenotypic and functional heterogeneity of human NK cells developing after umbilical cord blood transplantation: a role for human cytomegalovirus? *Blood.* (2012) 119:399–410. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-08-372003
- Locatelli F, Merli P, Pagliara D, Li Pira G, Falco M, Pende D, et al. Outcome of children with acute leukemia given HLA-haploidentical HSCT after alphabeta T-cell and B-cell depletion. *Blood.* (2017) 130:677–85. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-04-779769
- Pistoia V, Tumino N, Vacca P, Veneziani I, Moretta A, Locatelli F, et al. Human gammadelta T-cells: from surface receptors to the therapy of high-risk leukemias. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:984. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00984
- Luyckx A, Schouppe E, Rutgeerts O, Lenaerts C, Fevery S, Devos T, et al. G-CSF stem cell mobilization in human donors induces polymorphonuclear and mononuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Clinical Immunology*. (2012) 143:83–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2012.01.011
- Tay J, Levesque JP, Winkler IG. Cellular players of hematopoietic stem cell mobilization in the bone marrow niche. *Int J Hematol.* (2017) 105:129–40. doi: 10.1007/s12185-016-2162-4
- Airoldi I, Bertaina A, Prigione I, Zorzoli A, Pagliara D, Cocco C, et al. gammadelta T-cell reconstitution after HLA-haploidentical hematopoietic transplantation depleted of TCR-alphabeta+/CD19+ lymphocytes. *Blood*. (2015) 125:2349–58. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-09-599423
- 54. Tumino N, Besi F, Di Pace AL, Mariotti FR, Merli P, Li Pira G, et al. PMN-MDSC are a new target to rescue graft-versus-leukemia activity of NK cells in haplo-HSC transplantation. *Leukemia*. (2019). doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0585-7
- 55. Moretta F, Petronelli F, Lucarelli B, Pitisci A, Bertaina A, Locatelli F, et al. The generation of human innate lymphoid cells is influenced by the source of hematopoietic stem cells and by the use of G-CSF. *Eur J Immunol.* (2016) 46:1271–8. doi: 10.1002/eji.201546079
- Moretta L, Bottino C, Pende D, Vitale M, Mingari MC, Moretta A. Different checkpoints in human NK-cell activation. *Trends Immunol.* (2004) 25:670–6. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2004.09.008
- Ishida Y, Agata Y, Shibahara K, Honjo T. Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death. *EMBO J.* (1992) 11:3887–95. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1992.tb05481.x
- Pesce S, Greppi M, Tabellini G, Rampinelli F, Parolini S, Olive D, et al. Identification of a subset of human natural killer cells expressing high levels of programmed death 1: a phenotypic and functional characterization. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2017) 139:335–46.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016. 04.025
- Mariotti FR, Petrini S, Ingegnere T, Tumino N, Besi F, Scordamaglia F, et al. PD-1 in human NK cells: evidence of cytoplasmic mRNA and protein expression. *Oncoimmunology*. (2019) 8:1557030. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1557030
- Garrido F, Aptsiauri N, Doorduijn EM, Garcia Lora AM, van Hall T. The urgent need to recover MHC class I in cancers for effective immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2016) 39:44–51. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2015.12.007
- Sabbatino F, Villani V, Yearley JH, Deshpande V, Cai L, Konstantinidis IT, et al. PD-L1 and HLA class I antigen expression and clinical course of the disease in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:470–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0715
- 62. Munari E, Rossi G, Zamboni G, Lunardi G, Marconi M, Sommaggio M, et al. PD-L1 assays 22C3 and SP263 are not interchangeable in non-small cell lung cancer when considering clinically relevant cutoffs: an interclone evaluation by differently trained pathologists. *Am J Surg Pathol.* (2018) 42:1384–9. doi: 10.1097/PAS.00000000001105
- Munari E, Zamboni G, Lunardi G, Marchionni L, Marconi M, Sommaggio M, et al. PD-L1 expression heterogeneity in non-small cell lung cancer: defining criteria for harmonization between biopsy specimens and whole sections. J Thorac Oncol. (2018) 13:1113–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2018.04.017

- 64. Munari E, Zamboni G, Lunardi G, Marconi M, Brunelli M, Martignoni G, et al. PD-L1 expression in non-small cell lung cancer: evaluation of the diagnostic accuracy of a laboratory developed test using clone E1L3N in comparison with 22C3 and SP263 assays. *Hum Pathol.* (2019) 90:54–59. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2019. 05.003
- Andre P, Denis C, Soulas C, Bourbon-Caillet C, Lopez J, Arnoux T, et al. Anti-NKG2A mAb is a checkpoint inhibitor that promotes anti-tumor immunity by unleashing both T and NK cells. *Cell.* (2018) 175:1731–43.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014
- 66. Della Chiesa M, Vitale M, Carlomagno S, Ferlazzo G, Moretta L, Moretta A. The natural killer cell-mediated killing of autologous dendritic cells is confined to a cell subset expressing CD94/NKG2A, but lacking inhibitory killer Ig-like receptors. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:1657–66. doi: 10.1002/eji.200323986
- 67. Mingari MC, Ponte M, Bertone S, Schiavetti F, Vitale C, Bellomo R, et al. HLA class I-specific inhibitory receptors in human T lymphocytes: interleukin 15-induced expression of CD94/NKG2A in superantigen- or alloantigen-activated CD8+ T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:1172– 7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.3.1172
- Bertone S, Schiavetti F, Bellomo R, Vitale C, Ponte M, Moretta L, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta-induced expression of CD94/NKG2A inhibitory receptors in human T lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol.* (1999) 29:23–9. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199901)29:01<23::AID-IMMU23>3.0.CO;2-Y
- Mingari MC, Pietra G, Moretta L. Immune checkpoint inhibitors: anti-NKG2A antibodies on board. *Trends Immunol.* (2019) 40:83–5. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.12.009
- 70. Ingegnere T, Mariotti FR, Pelosi A, Quintarelli C, De Angelis B, Tumino N, et al. Human CAR NK cells: a new non-viral method allowing high efficient

transfection and strong tumor cell killing. Front Immunol. (2019) 10:957. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00957

- Daher M, Rezvani K. Next generation natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy: the promise of genetic engineering. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 51:146–53. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.013
- Rezvani K. Adoptive cell therapy using engineered natural killer cells. Bone Marrow Transpl. (2019) 54(Suppl. 2):785–8. doi: 10.1038/s41409-019-0601-6
- 73. Quintarelli C, Orlando D, Boffa I, Guercio M, Polito VA, Petretto A, et al. Choice of costimulatory domains and of cytokines determines CAR T-cell activity in neuroblastoma. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1433518. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1433518
- Sivori S, Meazza R, Quintarelli C, Carlomagno S, Della Chiesa M, Falco M, et al. NK cell-based immunotherapy for hematological malignancies. J Clin Med. (2019) 8:E1702. doi: 10.3390/jcm8101702

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with the authors PV, NT, and LM.

Copyright © 2020 Vacca, Pietra, Tumino, Munari, Mingari and Moretta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on NK Cell Function in Solid Tumors

Ombretta Melaiu^{1,2†}, Valeria Lucarini^{1†}, Loredana Cifaldi^{3*} and Doriana Fruci^{1*}

¹ Paediatric Haematology/Oncology Department, Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Biology, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ³ Academic Department of Pediatrics (DPUO), Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy

Natural killer (NK) cells are a population of innate lymphoid cells playing a pivotal role in host immune responses against infection and tumor growth. These cells have a powerful cytotoxic activity orchestrated by an intricate network of inhibitory and activating signals. The importance of NK cells in controlling tumor growth and in mediating a robust anti-metastatic effect has been demonstrated in different experimental mouse cancer models. Consistently, high density of tumor-infiltrating NK cells has been linked with a good prognosis in multiple human solid tumors. However, there are also tumors that appear to be refractory to NK cell-mediated killing for the presence of an immunosuppressive microenvironment affecting NK cell function. Immunotherapeutic strategies aimed at restoring and increasing the cytotoxic activity of NK cells in solid tumors, including the adoptive transfer of NK and CAR-NK cells, are currently employed in preclinical and clinical studies. In this review, we outline recent advances supporting the direct role of NK cells in controlling expansion of solid tumors and their prognostic value in human cancers. We summarize the mechanisms adopted by cancer cells and the tumor microenvironment to affect NK cell function, and finally we evaluate current strategies to augment the antitumor function of NK cells for the treatment of solid tumors.

Keywords: natural killer cells, tumor microenvironment, solid tumors, immune checkpoint inhibitors, cellular metabolism, cancer stem cells, hypoxia, adoptive transfer of NK and CAR-NK cells

INTRODUCTION

Natural killer (NK) cells are a specialized population of innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) that mediates cytotoxic functions against damaged, infected, and pre-malignant cells through an intricate network of signals that allow for rapid activation (1). NK cell cytotoxicity is mainly regulated by the secretion of effector molecules (IFN- γ , TNF- α , NO, IL-2, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, and IL-21), and the interplay between inhibitory and activating signals originating at the cell surface from NK cell-inhibitory receptors (NK-IRs) and NK cell-activating receptors (NK-ARs), respectively. NK-IRs promote the effector function upon interaction with ligands expressed on normal and healthy cells. Conversely, NK-ARs recognize ligands encoded by pathogens (2), or induced by cellular stress during viral infections (3), or cellular growth factors (4). The downregulation of inhibitory ligands and the expression of ligands for NK-ARs on cancer cells can trigger NK cells to kill them and secrete cytokines, such as IFN- γ and TNF- α . Thus, blocking interaction between NK-IRs and their ligands or enhancing NK-ARs–ligand binding may represent a promising strategy to generate an antitumor activity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Anahid Jewett, University of California, Los Angeles, United States

Reviewed by:

Robin Parihar, Baylor College of Medicine, United States Robert J. Canter, University of California, Davis, United States

*Correspondence:

Loredana Cifaldi loredana.cifaldi@opbg.net Doriana Fruci doriana.fruci@opbg.net

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 13 August 2019 Accepted: 11 December 2019 Published: 21 January 2020

Citation:

Melaiu O, Lucarini V, Cifaldi L and Fruci D (2020) Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on NK Cell Function in Solid Tumors. Front. Immunol. 10:3038. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03038

78

NK cells in the peripheral blood, spleen, and bone marrow can infiltrate other tissues. In human, two distinct subsets of NK cells have been identified based on CD56 expression levels. The CD56^{bright} NK cell subset, representing the majority of NK cells in the peripheral blood, is specialized in the secretion of cytokines and chemokines in response to IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18, and in the regulation of adaptive immunity. The CD56^{dim} NK cell subset is both cytotoxic and cytokine-producing and expresses high levels of CD16 (also known as FcyRIII), which is responsible for antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC). The recruitment of NK cells in the inflamed tissues is regulated by the expression of several chemokine receptors, including CXCR3 that binds to the tumor-derived chemokine ligands CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11 (5). Although the presence of tumor-infiltrating NK cells confers a favorable outcome in many tumors, in others, their function is impaired by soluble modulators secreted in the tumor microenvironment (TME). In this Review, we discuss recent evidence for a direct role of NK cells in controlling tumor expansions and summarize the mechanisms adopted by tumor cells and the TME to affect NK cell functions in solid tumors. Finally, we evaluate novel therapeutic strategies to enhance the antitumor function of NK cells for the treatment of solid tumors.

ROLE OF NK CELLS IN THE IMMUNOSURVEILLANCE OF SOLID TUMORS

NK cells control tumor growth by interacting directly with tumor cells or affecting the function of other populations of innate and adaptive immunity in the TME. The importance of NK cells in antitumor immunity has been established in different experimental mouse tumor models.

Depletion of NK cell populations prior to tumor transplantation has been shown to cause a more aggressive phenotype with metastatic tumors (6-8). Specifically, the use of mutant mice with developmental and functional alterations of NK cells allowed a better understanding of the role of these cells in antitumor immunity. NCR1/NKp46 is directly involved in the killing of melanoma and Lewis lung carcinoma cells and in the formation of metastases (9). Indeed, NCR1^{-/-} mice underwent a more aggressive tumor development compared to wild type (WT) mice. Mice knockout for Mcl1, which is required to sustain the in vivo survival of NK cells, were characterized by the total absence of NK cells and a rapid development of metastatic melanomas (10). A similar observation was reported in IL-2rg^{-/-} and TLR3^{-/-} mice (11, 12). TLR3 is known to limit B16F10 lung metastasis through the production of IFN- γ by NK cells. The lack of TLR3 signaling downregulates NK cell function following cytokine stimulation, leading to defective immune responses unable to constrain metastatic diseases (12). DNAM-1^{-/-} mice developed fibrosarcoma and papilloma in response to chemical carcinogens significantly more frequently than WT mice (13). Tbx21, also known as T-bet, is a transcription factor involved in the differentiation of NK cells. Tbx $21^{-/-}$ mice injected intravenously with melanoma or colorectal carcinoma cells were more susceptible to metastasis formation compared to WT mice (14). The ability of NK cells to invade the primary tumors and migrate in the metastatic site is dependent on the heparanase. Mice lacking heparanase specifically in NK cells (Hpse^{fl/fl} NKp46^{-iCre} mice) were more susceptible to develop lymphoma, metastatic melanoma, prostate carcinoma, or mammary carcinoma when challenged with the carcinogen methylcholanthrene (15). These observations suggest that NK cells play a prominent role in controlling tumor growth and in mediating a robust anti-metastatic effect.

Further evidence for the role of NK cells in controlling tumor development and dissemination derived from the ability of these cells to target and eliminate cancer stem cells (CSCs), a subset of cells with self-renewal ability involved in the generation and evolution of tumors (16). CSCs exhibit a typical surface expression profile consisting of low levels of MHC class I, CD54 and PD-L1, and high expression of CD44 (17). The susceptibility of CSCs to NK cell-mediated killing has been reported in different tumor models (18, 19). An in vivo study reveals that activated NK cells transferred in NSG mice harboring orthotopic pancreatic cancer xenografts were able to preferentially kill CSCs, leading to a significant reduction of both intratumoral CSCs and tumor burden (20). Additionally, in colorectal cancer, CSCs upregulated the NK-ARs NKp30 and NKp44 and were susceptible to NK cell-mediated killing (19). Similarly, glioblastoma-derived CSCs showed an increased susceptibility to NK cell killing by both allogeneic and autologous IL-2 and IL-15 activated NK cells (21). Melanoma cell lines with CSC features exposed to IL-2-activated allogeneic NK cells showed an increased susceptibility to NK cellmediated killing through upregulation of the DNAM-1 ligands, such as PVR and Nectin-2 (22). Breast cancer CSCs showed sensibility to IL-2- and IL-15-treated NK cells and increased expression of NKG2D ligands, such as ULBP1, ULBP2, and MICA (23).

CSCs are also considered an important source of resistance to standard anti-cancer therapies. Following chemotherapy and radiation therapy treatments, CSCs upregulate ligands for NKG2D such as MICA and MICB, resulting in an increase of NK cell cytotoxicity (24, 25).

NK cells are able to target and shape CSC-undifferentiated tumors, thereby leading to a selection of a differentiated tumor subset (26). After selection, NK cells down-modulate their surface receptors, lose their cytotoxicity, and become anergized, but continue to produce IFN- γ and TNF- α , which drive differentiation of the remaining stem cells. This results in an increased expression of MHC class I, CD54, and PD-L1 and reduction of CD44 on CSC surface. These cells exhibit a decreased proliferation rate, inability to invade or metastatize and increased susceptibility to chemotherapeutic and radio-therapeutic agents (26, 27).

Despite the role of NK cells in targeting CSC/undifferentiated tumors, some authors have highlighted an association between the stage of differentiation and sensitivity to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Studies conducted on patients with pancreatic tumors or oral squamous carcinoma stem cells revealed that although CSCs/undifferentiated tumors were susceptible to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity, they remained significantly resistant to chemotherapeutic and radiotherapeutic agents. Conversely, differentiated tumors grew slower and were resistant to primary NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity with high susceptibility to chemotherapeutic and radiotherapeutic agents (27, 28).

The role of NK cells in controlling tumor growth is also supported by several evidence in human specimens. The first studies date back to the late 1980s (29–31). Several authors have studied the phenotype of circulating NK cells and their cytotoxic activity in cancer patients compared to healthy donors (32). Other authors have investigated the prognostic role of tumor-infiltrating NK cells (33), but due to the lack of immunohistochemical markers that unambiguously identify NK cells, current information is limited. Different methods are used to attribute a prognostic value to specific immune cell subsets. The most reliable is the one that evaluates survival analysis stratifying the subjects according to the median cutoff value for density of immune cell subsets.

Denkert et al. showed that a higher density of NK cells is an indicator of good prognosis in breast cancer (33). A pooled analysis of 3,771 patients treated with neoadjuvant therapy revealed the presence of intratumoral immune cell types, including NK cells, significantly associated with better prognosis of HER2-positive and triple negative breast cancer patients (33). Trastuzumab treatment was associated with a significant increase of tumor-infiltrating NK cells and expression of granzyme B and TiA1 in breast cancer compared with controls (34). Moreover, the expression of NCR1 and other NK cell-associated genes, i.e., CD1d, DNAM-1, CRTAM, CD96, and NCR3/NKp30, was associated with prolonged disease-free survival (DFS) of breast cancer patients (34). High number of intratumoral NK cells was considered an optimal biomarker of response to the anti-HER2 antibody-based treatment. Indeed, the presence of these cells was significantly associated with a complete response and extended DFS (35). The same authors showed that the number of circulating CD57⁺ NK cells was inversely correlated to tumorinfiltrating NK cells and predicted resistance to HER2-specific antibody treatment in HER2-positive primary breast cancers (36). From a clinical perspective, baseline screening for high circulating CD57⁺ NK cells could be implemented for the identification of patients with primary resistance to neoadjuvant treatment with HER2 therapeutic antibodies, complementing the positive predictive value of tumor-infiltrating NK cells in diagnostic biopsies (27).

Melanoma patients were characterized by expansion of CD56^{dim}CD57^{dim}CD69⁺CCR7⁺KIR⁺ tumor-infiltrated NK cells (37). These cells showed robust cytotoxicity against autologous tumor cells compared to those derived from tumor-free ipsilateral lymph nodes of the same patients (37). Melanoma cells isolated from metastatic lymph nodes were efficiently lysed by circulating NK cells expressing high levels of NKG2D, NKp30, DNAM-1, and CD62L (38).

Recently, the prognostic role of NK cells has been investigated through the expression of genes specific for NK cell function. NK cell gene signatures were associated with a strong survival advantage for metastatic melanomas (39). More recently, Barry et al. defined a clear link between NK cells and dendritic cells (DC), demonstrating that NK cells produce FLT3LG cytokine that controls the intratumoral level of BDCA-3⁺ DCs. The authors also showed that the high expression of NK and DC gene

signatures was associated with a better OS in two independent datasets of melanoma patients (40).

High levels of tumor-infiltrating NK cells have been associated with a good prognosis also in other human cancers, including gastrointestinal stromal tumor (41-43), neuroblastoma (44), head and neck cancer (45), and prostate cancer (46). A more complex and heterogeneous landscape has been outlined for other types of neoplasms. A gene signature able to predict tissue NK cell content and prognosis of renal cell carcinoma patients was proposed (47). Two distinct groups of renal cancer patients have been identified based on the level of tumor-infiltrating NK cells (48). In both groups, NK cells were not cytolytic but differed for CD16 expression levels. NK cells from tumors with high NK cell content (>20% of the lymphocyte population) were CD16^{bright}, whereas those from tumors with low NK cell content (<20%) were CD56^{dim}. In vitro experiments showed that unlike the low-NK group, the high-NK group was able to acquire cytotoxic function against K562 cells (48). An early study reported that low NK cell cytotoxicity was predictive of colon cancer recurrence, independently of other prognostic factors (30). These data were confirmed in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer treated with the mAb 17-1A (49). Recently, density and tissue distribution of NK cells were investigated in 112 primary colorectal cancer samples (50). Despite high concentration of chemokines known to promote NK cell infiltration, colorectal cancers were only scarcely infiltrated by these cells as compared to normal mucosa, thus suggesting the presence of soluble factors in the TME preventing NK cell infiltration.

The tissue distribution of NK cells was studied in different subtypes of lung cancer. A high number of intratumoral CD57⁺ NK cells, as evaluated by IHC analysis, was significantly associated with a better clinical outcome in squamous cell lung cancer patients (51). A gene expression study conducted on 148 blood samples discovered valid prognostic innate immune markers (52). Among the screened genes, the enhanced expression of NCR3 was associated with better overall survival (OS) in non-small cell lung cancer patients. More recently, a low number of circulating NKp46⁺ CD56^{dim} CD16⁺ NK cells was significantly associated with a better OS in small cell lung cancer patients. Intratumoral NK cells were less cytotoxic in non-small cell lung cancer patients, as compared to circulating NK cells or those derived from normal lung tissues (53). Of note, NK cells were located in the tumor stroma not in direct contact with cancer cells. Further evidence indicate that NK cells are very rare within human non-small cell lung cancer and that those infiltrating tumor tissues resemble the circulating CD56^{bright} NK cells (54). More recently, Lavin et al. found that NK cells are the least abundant immune cell population within lung adenocarcinomas and that those expressing CD16 are dramatically reduced in tumors as compared to normal tissues (55). This subset of NK cells is less cytotoxic, expressing low levels of granzyme B, IFN-γ, and CD57.

A reduced number of CD56^{dim}CD16^{high} NK cells was detected in the liver tumor area as compared to non-neoplastic area (56). These cells also showed an impaired cytotoxic ability. In general, high density of NK cells within intratumoral region of hepatocellular carcinoma showed better OS and DFS. Conversely, the few NK cells infiltrating advanced hepatocellular carcinoma exhibited attenuated capacities for cytokine productions. These evidence indicate that infiltration of functional NK cells in hepatocellular carcinoma tissues may represent the host reaction to cancer and that TME impairs NK cell function during disease progression (57).

Recently, a new subset of liver-resident NK cells characterized for expression of CD49a has been discovered (58). These cells are abundant in the peritumoral area of hepatocellular carcinoma and are characterized by the expression of PD1, CD96, and TIGIT. The accumulation of these cells in liver tumors was correlated with poor prognosis, thus suggesting a role of this NK cell subset in the hepatocellular carcinoma development (58).

prostate cancer, a strong immunosuppressive In microenvironment impairs NK cell function at multiple levels. Indeed, NK cells that infiltrated the cancer prostate tissues were mainly CD56⁺ and displayed an immature, but activated phenotype with low or no cytotoxic potential. The authors found that TGF- β is highly secreted into the TME and provided an immunosuppressive effect on NK cells. Co-culture experiments revealed that tumor cells induced expression of inhibitory receptors downregulating that of the activating receptors NKp46, NKG2D, and CD16 on NK cells, thus preventing their recognition (46). Similarly, endometrial cancer was poorly infiltrated by NK cells. These cells, when present, expressed coinhibitory molecules, such as TIGIT and TIM-3, proportionally with the severity of the disease, thus suggesting an important role of the TME in reducing recruitment of functional NK cells to the tumor site (59).

Overall, many evidences indicate that NK cells, although representing an extremely rare subset of immune cells, are able to invade some solid tumors and, when functionally activated, are associated with good prognosis. However, in several cases, the picture is much more complex, with contradictory results, and no or negative effects on patient's prognosis. Different factors contribute to attenuate the antitumoral properties of NK cells, thus providing the need to integrate the study of NK cell density, with equally important elements including phenotype and localization with respect to stroma and parenchyma tumor cells and other immune cell populations. Discordant results obtained in certain tumors could be derived from the methods used to unequivocally identify NK cells, the type of tissue, or the tumor phase (60). The inability of NK cells to limit tumor growth and improve patient survival may result from the presence of an immunosuppressive TME. Indeed, TME renders solid tumors particularly refractory to NK cell killing through a plethora of strategies ranging from preventing the recruitment of intratumoral NK cells, to confining them, when present, to the stromal part of the tissue, or rather attract the recruitment of noncytotoxic NK cells (CD56^{bright}CD16^{low/neg}) in the tumor bed.

IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE PROPERTIES OF THE TME ON NK CELLS

TME, composed of cancer cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and immune cells, provides conditions that promote

tumor progression. Accumulating evidences indicate that TME produced soluble modulators that negatively regulate maturation, proliferation, and effector function of NK cells (**Figure 1**). These immunosuppressive factors may act either directly on NK cells or indirectly by stimulating other immune cells, such as antigen-presenting cells (APC), regulatory T cells (Tregs), and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), to produce additional immunosuppressive molecules.

TGF- β is a cytokine produced in the TME by tumor cells, Tregs, MDSCs, and other stromal cells. This cytokine is known to inhibit both the expansion and function of effector cells and to promote the proliferation of Tregs (61). TGF- β impairs NK cell function directly or indirectly by cell-cell contact between NK and other cytokine-producing cells (62, 63). As a direct effect, TGF-β limits NK cell cytotoxicity and IFN-γ production by inhibiting the T-bet transcription factor (SMAD3) (64) and downregulating the expression of NKp30 and NKG2D, and its ligand MICA in cancer patients (65-67). In colorectal cancer and lung cancer, downregulation of NKG2D has been associated with increased serum levels of TGF- β (68). The levels of DNAX activating protein 12 kDa (DAP12), a crucial signaling adaptor of NKG2D in human NK cells, were downregulated by TGF- β -induced miR-183 (69). In an orthotopic liver cancer model, TGF-B was shown to bind on the cell surface of MDSCs and inhibits NK cell function (70). TGF- β is also able to inhibit NK cell function by targeting the serine and threonine kinase mTOR, a crucial signaling integrator of pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-15 (IL-15), in both murine and human NK cells (71). Interestingly, TGF- β is able to transdifferentiate NK cells into ILC type 1 (ILC1), which are missing of cytotoxic functions (72, 73). TGF- β is also able to dampen CD56^{dim} recruitment and favor that of CD56^{bright} (74). It contributes to modulate chemokine repertoire reducing the expression of those attracting CD56^{dim} NK cells (CXCL2, CX3CL1, CXCL1, and CXCL8), and increasing that of chemokines (CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL19, and CCL5), driving migration of CD56^{bright} NK cells (60, 74). In ovarian (75) and lung (76) cancer patients, CD56^{bright}/CD16^{low} represents the predominant NK cell population in the TME. Moreover, the presence of intratumoral tertiary lymphoid structures (TLS) in lung cancer drives the expression of chemokines normally secreted in secondary lymphoid organs (CCL19, CCL21, etc.), thus preferentially attracting non-cytotoxic CD56^{bright} NK cells at the tumor site (76). Based on these findings, TGF- β may be considered a target for enhancing NK cell-mediated antitumor immunity. Currently, inhibition of TGF-β signaling in preclinical studies (77-83), including those based on the combined use of immune checkpoint inhibitors, such as anti-PD-L1 (84-86), as well as in clinical trials (87-89), represents a promising antitumor approach supported mainly by the analysis on CD8⁺ T cells. Interestingly, the use of anti-TGF- β in solid tumors allows the accumulation of NK cells, the increased production of IFN- γ , and the restoration of NKG2D (90).

Another crucial factor leading to dysfunctional NK cells in cancer is the impaired cellular metabolism (91–93). TME is known to be very poor in nutrients, such as glucose and glutamine, very important for NK cells (94–97). While



much attention has been focused on T cells and macrophages (98-101), little is known about the NK cell metabolism. In humans, increased glycolysis and oxidate phosphorylation (OXPHOS) stimulate CD56^{bright} NK cells to produce IFN-y (102). In mice, steady-state NK cells favor OXPHOS, rather than glycolysis, as the primary metabolic pathway. Conversely, activated NK cells induced by IL-2/IL-12 have a greater preference for glycolysis. Glycolysis is an important metabolic process for NK cell function, and in general, it is increased in activated NK cells. A recent study showed that lung tumors upregulate the expression of the gluconeogenesis enzyme fructose bisphosphatase 1 (FBP1) in tumor-infiltrating NK cells through a mechanism involving TGF- β (92). This leads to NK cell dysfunction by inhibiting both glycolysis and the viability of NK cells. The authors showed that pharmacological inhibition of FBP1 can revert the dysfunctional phenotype of NK cells during tumor promotion, but not during tumor progression. Indeed, similarly to tumor-infiltrating T cells (103, 104), NK cells in the mouse lung cancer are functional during tumor initiation, while assume a mild dysfunctional state during tumor promotion that can be reverted by pharmacological FBP1 inhibition. Subsequently, NK cells evolve into an irreversible dysfunctional state that can no longer be rescued by FBP1 inhibition (93). Other molecules that can potentially inhibit NK cell metabolism include two physiological products of enzymatic cholesterol oxidation, 25-hydroxycholesterol and 27-hydroxycholesterol, that inhibit the activation of SREBP transcription factors, key regulators of NK cell metabolism (105-107). Further evidence supporting the role of the impaired cellular metabolism in leading to dysfunctional NK cells come from studies on obesity in human and murine models. NK cells from obese mice and humans are less responsive to tumor target cells in terms of cytotoxicity and production of IFN- γ , granzyme B, and perforin (108). This is because NK cells fail to engage a metabolic response when stimulated with cytokines and have reduced metabolic rates, compared to lean counterparts (108). This metabolic dysfunction has been linked to peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)driven lipid accumulation in NK cells leading to altered gene expression, downregulation of mTORC1 and MYC signaling, and decreased rates of glycolysis and OXPHOS (108). NK cells from obese mice and humans fail to kill tumor cells for their inability to form synapses with them, an event that is highly energy consuming (108).

The production of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) in the TME is another mechanism adopted by tumors to selectively suppress the effector function of NK cells (109–112). PGE2 produced by tumor cells, tumor-associated macrophages, and stromal cells (113–115) represents a key regulator of the NK cell activity for mesenchymal stem cell (MSC)-mediated regulation of NK cell activity (116), tumor-derived MSCs (T-MSCs) (117), and MDSCs (118). In addition, PGE2 produced by the thyroid cancer cell microenvironment suppresses NK cell cytotoxicity (119). PGE2 downregulates the expression of NKp30, NKp44, NKp46, and NKG2D by binding to E-prostanoid 2 (EP2) and EP4 receptors on NK cells (112), via a common cAMP-PKA signaling (120), thus resulting in the inhibition of cytotoxicity (116, 121). In PGE2-producing tumors, NK cells were less abundant and impaired in their ability to produce cytokines CCL5 and CXCL1 (109). Preclinical studies show that the blocking of PGE2 in a murine model of metastatic breast cancer (122) and in human gastric cancer cells (123) restores NK cell function against tumor. Consistently, the efficacy of celecoxib, a cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) inhibitor able to blockade PGE2 signaling, has been demonstrated in several clinical studies in many solid tumors (https://ClinicalTrials.gov).

The intracellular enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) is a critical regulator of the TME converting tryptophan into a number of metabolites with immunosuppressive function, including L-Kynurenine (124). IDO overexpression was associated with tumor progression and growth arrest of tumor-infiltrating NK cells (124, 125). L-Kynurenine is known to affect NK cell activity by interfering with the IL-2-driven upregulation of NKp46 and NKG2D (126). The simultaneous use of PGE2 and IDO inhibitors completely restored NK cell proliferation (116). The NK cell-mediated IFN- γ production in response to leukemic cells upregulates IDO, rendering tumor cells more resistant to NK cell-mediated killing (127).

Adenosine, a purine metabolite present at high concentration in the TME, also acts by limiting the activity of protective immune infiltrates, including NK cells, and enhancing that of Tregs and MDSCs (128). Adenosine accumulated in the TME by CD39 and CD73, causing inhibition of tumor-infiltrating NK cells by binding to the purinergic adenosine A_{2A} receptor expressed on cell surface (129–133). Reduction of adenosine by blocking both CD73 and the A_{2A} receptor was shown to affect tumor growth and promote recruitment of tumor-infiltrating NK cells (134).

Another factor causing dysfunction of tumor-infiltrating NK cells is hypoxia. Hypoxia downregulates NKp46, NKp30, NKp44, NKG2D, perforin, and granzyme B (135–138). Treatment with IL-2 restores NK cell cytotoxicity in multiple myeloma by increasing NKG2D expression (139).

Tumor cells secrete a large amount of lactate in the TME, causing acidosis and immunosuppression (140). Lactate accumulation has been associated with reduced NK cell cytotoxicity and downregulation of NKp46 (141, 142). The acidification of the TME has been shown to induce apoptosis of liver-resident NK cells in colorectal cancer liver metastases (143). The neutralization of the TME restored the cytotoxic activity of NK cells enhancing NKG2D expression (144).

Additionally, NK cells may express a wide range of immune checkpoint receptors that inhibit their function, including KIRs, CD94/NKG2A, PD1, CTLA4, TIM3, TIGIT, CD96, KLRG-1, LAG3, and, recently discovered, IL-1R8 (145). The effect of these immune checkpoint molecules on NK cell function has been reviewed (146, 147).

NK CELL-BASED THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES TO OVERCOME RESISTANCE IN SOLID TUMORS

NK cell-based immunotherapy has been successfully applied for hematological malignancies and represents an attractive strategy even for treating solid tumors (148). The therapeutic approaches currently adopted are reported below.

Use of Cytokines, Monoclonal Antibodies, and Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Therapeutic use of cytokines such as IL-12 and IL-18 in supporting ADCC (149–151), or IL-15 and IL-21 in triggering NK cell proliferation, NK-ARs induction, and cytokine production (152–156), resulted effective in increasing NK cell cytotoxicity against solid tumors. The cytokine agonists designed to improve the biological and pharmacokinetic activities of classical cytokines, including IL-15 superagonist ALT-803, showed promising results in both pre-clinical (157, 158) and clinical studies (159–161) (**Table 1**). Interestingly, encouraging results were obtained in combination with anticancer drugs, immune checkpoint inhibitors or vaccines, in terms of increased levels of circulating CD56^{bright} NK cells in ALT-803-treated patients.

The secretion of ligands for NK-ARs by solid tumor cells has been associated to immune suppressive effects (162). In a murine model, the neutralization of soluble NKG2D ligands such as MICA and MICB with mAb B10G5 was effective against prostate carcinoma and metastasis, leading to the enhanced NK cell infiltration in the tumor parenchyma (163), and improving CTLA-4 blockade therapy (164).

Another approach to sensitize solid tumors to NK cellmediated lysis is to improve ADCC with monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) specific for tumor antigens. Several clinical trials exploring the efficacy of various mAbs targeting tumor antigens are in phase I and II (**Table 1**). This therapeutic approach is very promising even in challenging pediatric tumors, such as neuroblastoma, in which amplification of the *MYCN* oncogene, clinically associated with poor prognosis, has been correlated with the reduced tumor susceptibility to NK cell-mediated killing (165).

The adoption of the chimeric mAb Ch14.18 recognizing the main tumor antigen GD2 on neuroblastoma cells was very successful (166) and presently under investigation in several clinical trials in combination with immune checkpoint inhibitors or in the form of chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) for both CAR-T (167) and CAR-NK cells (**Table 1**).

On the other hand, several approaches aimed to dampen the NK cell-inhibitory signals, such as those mediated by immune checkpoint molecules, have been explored, thus triggering directly immune effector functions including those mediated by NK cells. The initial adoption of anti-KIRs reported very few positive results (168), with potential benefits when used in combination with anti-PD1 for the cure of non-small cell lung cancer patients (169). Blocking of PD1/PD-L1 signaling enhances the production of cytokines and degranulation of

TABLE 1 | Some selected and most recent clinical trials (since January 1st 2016) on NK cell-based immunotherapies, in different forms of solid tumors, by using cytokines, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), and immune checkpoint inhibitors.

CYTOKINES SUPPORTIN Cytokines	In combination with*	Phase	ClinicalTrial.gov	Tumor**
Cytokines		Phase	identifier	
L-15	-	1	NCT01946789	M, RCC, NSCLC, HNSCC
	-	1	NCT01572493	AST
	Ipilimumab and nivolumab	1	NCT03388632	MeM, RCC, NSCLC, HNSCC
L-15 superagonist ALT-803	-	1	NCT02523469	NSCLC
	-	1	NCT03054909	OC
	Aldoxorubicin HCl	lb/ll	NCT03563157	CoC
		lb/ll	NCT03387098	PC
		lb	NCT03586869	PC
		1/11	NCT03387085	TNIBC
	Bacillus Calmette-Guerin	II	NCT03022825	NMIBC
		1/11	NCT02138734	NMIBC
	Gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel	1	NCT02559674	PC
	Anti cancer drugs	1/11	NCT03329248	PC
		1/11	NCT03175666	TNIBC
		1/11	NCT03136406	PC
	Nivolumab	1/11	NCT02523469	NSCLC
	Nivolumab or pembrolizumab or atezolizumab or avelumab	II	NCT03228667	NSCLC, SCLC, UC, HNSCC, MCC, M, RCC GC, CeC, HC, MI, MRD, CoC
	ETBX-011 vaccine	lb/ll	NCT03127098	TC, CoC, OC, BC, LC, PC
ANTIBODIES REDIRECTI	NG NK CELL ACTIVITY			
Antibodies	In combination with	Phase	ClinicalTrial.gov identifier	Tumor
Anti-ErbB3 (ISU104)	-	1	NCT03552406	AST, BC
Anti-globo H (OBI-888)	-	1/11	NCT03573544	LAMST
Anti-CD40 (JNJ-64457107)	-	1	NCT02829099	NSCLC, PC, M
Anti-CD47 (Hu5F9-G4)	-	1/11	NCT02953782	CoC
Anti-TAMUC1 (gatipotuzumab)	Anti-EGFR (tomuzotuximab)	lb	NCT03360734	NSCLC, CoC, BC, GyC
Anti-semaforin 4D (pepinemab)	-	1/11	NCT03320330	OS
Anti-OX40 (INCAGNO1949)	-	1/11	NCT02923349	AST, EC, OC, RCC
		1	NCT02914405	NB
Anti-GD2 (Ch14.18/CHO)	Nivolumab	1	100102914405	
Anti-GD2 (Ch14.18/CHO)	Nivolumab Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation	1/11	NCT03958383	M
	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation			
Anti-GD2 (Ch14.18/CHO) IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation			
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation			
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation		NCT03958383	M
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation	I I/II	NCT03958383	M M M
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation	I/II I/II II Ib	NCT03958383	M M MeM, HNSCC, UC, NSCLC, LC
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation	I I/II II Ib II	NCT03958383	M M MeM, HNSCC, UC, NSCLC, LC AST
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation	I V/II II Ib II II II	NCT03958383 NCT03241927 NCT03590054 NCT02721732 NCT03428802	M M MeM, HNSCC, UC, NSCLC, LC AST LAMST, OC, BC
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation NHBITORS	I I/II II Ib II II II	NCT03958383 NCT03241927 NCT03590054 NCT03721732 NCT03428802 NCT03447678	M M MeM, HNSCC, UC, NSCLC, LC AST LAMST, OC, BC NSCLC
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation NHIBITORS	I I/II II Ib II II II II II	NCT03958383 NCT03241927 NCT03590054 NCT02721732 NCT03428802 NCT03447678 NCT03030378	M M MeM, HNSCC, UC, NSCLC, LC AST LAMST, OC, BC NSCLC AST
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT II mAbs targeting PD-1	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation NHBITORS	I V/II II Ib II II II II II II II IVII	NCT03958383 NCT03241927 NCT03590054 NCT02721732 NCT03428802 NCT03447678 NCT03030378 NCT03190811	M M MeM, HNSCC, UC, NSCLC, LC AST LAMST, OC, BC NSCLC AST LC, RCC, GC, BIC, PC
IMMUNE CHECKPOINT I	Nivolumab + ipilumumab + radiation NHBITORS	I V/II II Ib II I I I I	NCT03958383 NCT03958383 NCT03241927 NCT03590054 NCT02721732 NCT03428802 NCT03447678 NCT03030378 NCT03190811 NCT02963610	M M MeM, HNSCC, UC, NSCLC, LC AST LAMST, OC, BC NSCLC AST LC, RCC, GC, BIC, PC Neoplams

TABLE 1 | Continued

Antibodies	In combination with	Phase	ClinicalTrial.gov identifier	Tumor
	Nab-paclitaxel + anti cancer drugs	11	NCT03289819	BC
	TLR9 agonist (AST-008)	1/11	NCT03684785	MeM, HNSCC, SCC, MCC
	Poly ICLC	1	NCT02834052	CoC
Toripalimab	-	1	NCT02857166	Neoplasms
	-	1	NCT03713905	Neoplasms
	-	1	NCT03474640	GC, NC, HC, EsC, STS, CoS
	-	1	NCT02836795	UrC
	Anti-VEGFR (surufatinib)	1	NCT03879057	NeT, LiC, GC
GLS-010	-	II	NCT03704246	Neoplasms
HX008	-	1	NCT03468751	Neoplasms
HLX10	-	1	NCT02715284	NSCLC, EC, MSI-H
TSR-042, dostarlimab	-	1	NCT03286296	LAMST, NSCLC
	-	1	NCT02715284	NSCLC, EC, MSI-H
GB226	-	1	NCT03374007	M, NSCLC, RCC, HNSCC, EC, LC, BC
INCMGA00012	-	1	NCT03059823	LAMST
AK105	_	1	NCT03352531	AST
SG001	_	1	NCT03852823	AST
CS1003	-	1	NCT03809767	Neoplasms
SCT-I10A		1	NCT03821363	Neoplasms
Sym021	Anti-LAG3 (Sym022) or anti-TIM3 (Sym023)	1	NCT03311412	AST
Tislelizumab			NCT03736889	MSI-H
	Anti-TIM-3 (BGB-A425)	1/11	NCT03744468	AST
	Anti-TIGIT (BGB-A1217)	1	NCT04047862	AST
	Anti PD-L1 (BGB-A333)	1/11	NCT03379259	AST
	PARP inhibitor (BGB-290)	1	NCT02660034	AST
Nivolumab	Metformin + rosiglitazone		NCT04114136	RCC, NSCLC, HCC, MSI-H, UC, GC, HNSCC
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Ipilimumab or BMS-986218	1/11	NCT03110107	AST
	Ipilimumab	1	NCT02834013	AST
	Anti-TIGIT (BMS-986207)	l/lla	NCT02913313	AST
	Anti-TIGIT (OMP-313M32)	1	NCT03119428	Neoplasms
	Anti-LAG3 (relatlimab)	1	NCT02966548	AST
	Anti-VEGF (axitinib)		NCT03595124	RCC
	Relatlimab + ipilimumab		NCT04080804	HNSCC
	Relatlimab or ipilimumab + IDO1 inhibitor	1/11	NCT03459222	LAST
	(BMS-986205)			
	Pembrolizumab + a protein kinase C inhibitor (trigriluzole)	11	NCT03229278	AST, RCC, HNSCC, NSCLC, BIC, M
	Ipilimumab or RGX-104 or docetaxel or pembrolizumab or carboplatin or demetrexed	I	NCT02922764	AST, NSCLC
	Adenoviral product (Ad-p53) + pembrolizumab or capecitabine	1/11	NCT02842125	AST, HNSCC
	Genetically modified HSV for tumor lysis (RP1)	1/11	NCT03767348	M, BIC, MRD, MSI-H
Avelumab	DC1c (BDCA-1) + myeloid DC + ipilimumab	I	NCT03707808	Neoplasms
	Anti-EGFR (cetuximab) + irinotecan	Ш	NCT03608046	CoC
ABBV-181	Anti-delta-like 3 protein (rovalpituzumab) or venetoclax	I	NCT03000257	NSCLC, TNIBC, OC, HC, GC, SCLC, Me, Chc MCC, HNSCC
Sintilimab	IBI310	1	NCT03545971	AST
Spartalizumab, PDR001	Adenosine A2A receptor antagonist (NIR178)	11	NCT03207867	NSCLC, RCC, PC, UC, HNSCC, MSCC, TNIBC, M
SHR-1210	Parp inhibitor (SHR3162)	1	NCT03182673	AST

TABLE 1 | Continued

Antibodies	In combination with	Phase	ClinicalTrial.gov identifier	Tumor
JNJ 63723283	Anti-FGFR1-4	1	NCT03547037	Neoplasms
AGEN2034	AGEN1884	11	NCT03894215	CeC
mAbs targeting PD-L1				
HLX20	-	1	NCT03588650	Neoplasms
KN035	-	1	NCT03248843	LAMST
	_	1	NCT03101488	HC
Atezolizumab	-	1	NCT02862275	Neoplasms
CS1001	-	la/lb	NCT03312842	AST
MSB2311	-	1	NCT03463473	AST
SHR-1316	_	1	NCT03133247	AST
 CK-301	-	1	NCT03212404	NSCLC, CC, HNSCC, M, RCC, UC, CoC, EC
LY3300054	CHK1 inhibitor (prexasertib)	1	NCT03495323	AST
Durvalumab	Tremelimumab		NCT03084471	Neoplasms
Darvalamab	Tremelimumab + fulvestrant		NCT03430466	BC
	Tremelimumab + azacitidine	lb/ll	NCT03019003	HNSCC
	Tremelimumab + radiation therapy		NCT03601455	BIC
	Tremelimumab + stereotactic body radiotherapy	lb	NCT03275597	NSCLC
	Tremelimumab + metronomic vinorelbine		NCT03518606	BC, HNSCC, CeC, PrC
Avelument				, , ,
Avelumab	Anti-TNFRSF9 (utomilumab) + anti-OX40 (PF-04518600) + radiation therapy	1/11	NCT03217747	AST, PrC
mAbs targeting CTLA-4	-			
Fc-engineered IgG1 (AGEN1181)	-	I	NCT03860272	AST
Tremelimumab	PARP inhibitor (olaparib)	1/11	NCT02571725	OC
REGN4659	Cemiplimab	1	NCT03580694	NSCLC
INT230-6	Anti-PD-1	1/11	NCT03058289	M, HNSCC, BC, PC, LiC, CoC, LC, GB, BDC, OC, SCC
Ipilimumab	Oncolytic virus vaccine (pexa-Vec)	1	NCT02977156	Neoplasms
	SHR-1210	1	NCT03527251	NSCLC
	Nivolumab + anti cancer drugs	llb	NCT03409198	BC
mAbs targeting TIM-3				
Sym023	_	1	NCT03489343	AST
INCAGNO02390	-	1	NCT03652077	CeC, GC, GC, EsC, HC, M, MCC, Me, NSCLC Oc, HNSCC, RCC, MRD, UC
	TSR-042 or anti-LAG3 (TRS-033)	1	NCT02817633	LAMST, CC, NSCLC
LY3321367	LY3300054	1	NCT03099109	AST
BGB-A425	Tislelizumab	1/11	NCT03744468	LAST
BISPECIFIC mAbs				
Anti-PD-1/anti-LAG3 (MDG013)	Anti-HER2 (margetuximab)	1	NCT03219268	Neoplasms
Anti-PD-1/anti-TIM3 (RO7121661)	-	1	NCT03708328	MeM, NSCLC, SCLC
Anti-PD-1/anti-CTLA-4 (AK104)	Oxaliplatin + capecitabine	1/11	NCT03852251	GC
Anti-PD-1/anti-CTLA-4 (MGD019 DART)	-	1	NCT03761017	AST
Anti-PD-L1/anti-TIM3 (LY3415244)	-	I	NCT03752177	AST
Anti-CTLA-4/anti-OX40 (ATOR-1015)	-	I	NCT03782467	AST

Antibodies	In combination with	Phase	ClinicalTrial.gov identifier	Tumor
Anti-CTLA-4/anti-LAG3 (XmAb [®] 22841)	Pembrolizumab	1	NCT03849469	AST
Anti-HER2 (MBS301)	-	1	NCT03842085	BC, SC
Anti-GD2/anti-CD3 (hu3F8-BsAb)	-	1/11	NCT03860207	NB, OS
Fusion protein				
Anti-PD-L1/TGFβRII (M7824)	-	1/11	NCT03436563	MSI-H RC, CoC

^{*}Immune checkpoint inhibitors reported in the column indicating the "combination" treatment: ipilimumab, pembrolizumab, AGEN1884, IBI310, tremelimumab, BMS-986218: anti-CTLA-4; nivolumab, pembrolizumab, TRS-042, tislelizumab, cemiplimab: anti-PD-1; atezolizumab, avelumab, durvalumab, LY3300054: anti-PD-L1.

"Abbreviation of solid tumors: AR, adenocarcinoma of rectum; AST, advanced solid tumors; BC, Breast Cancer; BIC, bladder cancer; BDC, bile duct cancer; BTC, biliary tract cancer; CeC, Cervical Cancer; Cho, cholangiocarcinoma; CoC, Colorectal Cancer; CoS, chondrosarcoma; EC, endometrial cancer; ESC, esophageal cancer; ES, Ewing's sarcoma; ESCC, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma; FTC, fallopian tube cancer; GC, Gastric Cancer; GyC, gynecological cancers; GB, glioblastoma, HC, Hepatocellular Carcinoma; HNSCC, Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma; HRM, high risk melanoma; LAMST, locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors; LaC, laryngeal cancer; LC, Lung Cancer; LC, liver cancer; M, Melanoma; MCC, Merkel Cell Carcinoma; MGB, malignant glioma of brain; Me, mesothelioma; MEC, metastatic esophageal cancer; MeM, metastatic melanoma; MI, Microsatellite Instability; MRD, Mismatch Repair Deficiency; MSC, metastatic solid cancer; MSC, microsatellite stable colon cancer; MSI-H, non-endometrial deficient mismatch repair (dMMR]/microsatellite instability-high; NC, nasopharyngeal cancer; NSC, neuroendocrine tumors; NB, neuroblastoma; NMIBC, non-muscle invasive bladder cancer; NSCLC, Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer; OC, Ovarian Cancer; OS, osteosarcoma; PC, Pancreatic Cancer; PDC, pancreatic ductal cell carcinoma; SCLC, Small Cell Lung Cancer; TNIBC, triple-negative invasive breast carcinoma; ToC, tongue cancer; UC, Urothelial Carcinoma; UrC, urological cancer. Abbreviation of cells: DCs, dendritic cells; CIK, Cytokine-induced killer cells.

NK cells in vitro by reducing their apoptosis (170). In a xenograft model, anti-PD1 suppressed the tumor growth of digestive cancers in an NK cell-dependent manner, suggesting a crucial role of PD1 in NK cell function (170). Moreover, anti-CTLA-4 combined with IL-15/IL-15Ra enhances the NK cell tumor infiltration, improving the tumor growth control in xenograft murine models of solid tumors. Melanoma patients treated with anti-CTLA-4 (ipilimumab) had higher intratumoral CD56 expression (171). Consistently, several phase I and II clinical trials are ongoing to test the efficacy of different anti-PD1, anti PD-L1, and anti-CTLA-4 mAbs, alone or in combination with other Abs, in multiple forms of advanced and metastatic solid tumors (Table 1). The competition of TIGIT and CD96 binding to DNAM-1 ligands PVR and Nectin-2 renders tumor-infiltrating NK cells exhausted (172-174). TIGITtargeting therapy represents a promising cure for solid tumor (172, 173, 175). In preclinical studies, the murine model anti-TIGIT is able to improve the antitumor effect of anti-HER2 mAb (176) alone, and in combination with PD1/PD-L1 inhibitors (176). Preclinical studies showed that CD96 blocking combined with anti-PD1 or anti-CTLA-4 enhances NK cell infiltration and IFN- γ production, thus reducing tumor lung metastases (177). The blockade of TIM-3 was also found to enhance NK cell function against melanoma cells (178). The therapeutic efficacy of the combined use of different immune checkpoint inhibitors, such as anti-TIM-3 and anti-TIGIT, is currently tested in ongoing phase I and II clinical trials in solid tumor patients (Table 1).

Different bispecific mAbs for immune checkpoint inhibitors and for GD2-CD3 are in phase I and II clinical trials, respectively (**Table 1**). In addition, various bispecific NK cell engaging antibodies, such as ErbB2-CD16, EpCAM-CD16, and HER2-CD16, were promising for solid tumors in preclinical studies (179-181). Interestingly, the combined use of antibodies with cytokines, such as anti-GD2/GM-CSF/IL-2 (182, 183), as well as the adoption of the novel fusion proteins by linking antibodies to cytokines, such as anti-GD2 to IL-15 superagonist (184), or the TNF-targeting human IgG1 NHS76 to IL-12 (185), reported great therapeutic results. Currently, the fusion protein anti-PD-L1/TGF β RII is in phase I/II clinical trial (**Table 1**). The use of a novel monomeric carcinoembryonic-antigen (CEA)-targeted immunocytokine, or cergutuzumab amunaleukin (CEA-IL2v, RG7813), has shown success in preclinical models of colon cancer, resulting in a large expansion of NK cells and activation of T cells (186).

Adoptive Transfer of NK and CAR-NK Cells

Recently, great interest in the treatment of solid tumors is focused on the adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded and activated NK cells that, for their peculiar innate features, relatively short lifespan, low risk of overexpression in infused patients, higher safety compared to infused T cells, and low costs, could represent an optimal therapeutic strategy (187, 188). Activated and expanded NK cells can be obtained by different sources, including NK cell lines, primary NK cells, umbilical cord blood (UCB)- and induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived NK cells (189) (Table 1). Of note, NK cells are tolerant to health cells and sensible to tumor cells, mostly in alloreactive conditions (190). Thus, haploidentical allogenic NK cells represent an optimal cellular immunotherapy product, mainly for immunocompromising diseases, including solid tumors, whose patients can scantly count on their own cells and often need donor NK cells (191-193). Interestingly, there are several clinical trials in phase I and II in progress to treat solid tumors based on NK cell adoptive transfer combined with ALT-803, mAbs, anti-cancer drugs, irreversible electroporation, and TABLE 2 | Some selected and most recent clinical trials (since January 1st 2016) on NK cell-based immunotherapies, in different forms of solid tumors, by using adoptive transfer of NK and CAR-NK cells.

ADOPTIVE TRANSFER OF EX	VIVO EXPANDED AND ACTIVATED NK CELLS) 		
NK cell source	In combination with	Phase	ClinicalTrial.gov identifier	Tumor
NK-92	ALT-803	I	NCT02465957	MCC
Autologous vs. allogenic	-	II	NCT02853903	Neoplasms
Autologous	-	EI	NCT03662477	LC
	-	11	NCT03410368	NSCLC
	Bortezomib	I	NCT00720785	PC, CoC, NSCLC
	Anti cancer drugs	П	NCT02734524	NSCLC
	Anti-GD2 (Ch14.18) + lenalidomide	I	NCT02573896	NB
	Sintilimab	П	NCT03958097	NSCLC
Allogenic	-	I	NCT03358849	BTC
	ALT-803	I	NCT02890758	CoC, AR, STS, ES, RS
	Anti-GD2 (Hu14.18)-IL2 fusion protein	I	NCT03209869	NB
	Anti-GD2 + IL2	1/11	NCT03242603	NB
	Anti-GD2 (Hu3F8) + rIL2	I	NCT02650648	NB
	Pemetrexed	1	NCT03366064	NSCLC
NK cells (not specified)	-	1	NCT03619954	AST, OC
	Trastuzumab	1/11	NCT02843126	BC
	Cetuximab	1/11	NCT02845856	NSCLC
	Anti-VEGF (bevacizumab)	1/11	NCT02857920	Neoplasms
	Nivolumab	1/11	NCT02843204	Neoplasms
	Irreversible electroporation (IRE)	1/11	NCT02718859	PC
		1/11	NCT03008343	LiC
	Cryosurgery	1/11	NCT02843802	LiC
		1/11	NCT02844335	BC
		1/11	NCT02849379	ТоС
		1/11	NCT02849314	LaC
		1/11	NCT02849327	PhC
		1/11	NCT02849340	CeC
		1/11	NCT02849015	LiC
		1/11	NCT02843581	MEC
		1/11	NCT02849353	OC
		1/11	NCT02843815	NSCLC
		1/11	NCT02843607	RCC
		1/11	NCT02849366	RS
	NKT cells	1	NCT03198923	NSCLC
CIK	DCs	1/11	NCT03047525	CcC, RC, NC, LC
JCB-derived	_	1/11	NCT03634501	LC, BC, CoC, PC, OC
	Anti cancer drugs	1	NCT03420963	AST
	_	I	NCT03539406	OC
PSC-derived (FATE-NK100)	IL-2	1	NCT03213964	OC
× ,	Anti-HER2/neu and anti-EGFR	1	NCT03319459	BC, CoC, HNSCC, HC, NSCLC, RCC PC, M
PSC-derived (FT500)	_	n. i.	NCT04106167	Neoplasms
· · /	Immune checkpoint inhibitors	1	NCT03841110	Neoplasms
ADOPTIVE TRANSFER OF CA			I	· ·
CAR NK cells	In combination with	Phase state	ClinicalTrial.gov identifier	Tumor
CD16A-IL2-NK-92 (haNK)			NCT03027128	LAST

TABLE 2 | Continued

CAR NK cells	In combination with	Phase state	ClinicalTrial.gov identifier	Tumor
	IL-15 superagonist (N-803) and avelumab	11	NCT03853317	MCC
	Anti-cancer drugs, vaccines and immune checkpoint inhibitors	1/11	NCT03387111	SCC, neoplasms
ROBO1-NK cells	-	1/11	NCT03940820	Neoplasms
BiCAR-NK cells (ROBO1 CAR-NK cells)	-	1/11	NCT03941457	PC
ErbB2/HER2-NK (NK-92/5.28z)	Intracranial application	1	NCT03383978	GB
NKG2D-NK	IL-2	1	NCT03415100	Neoplasms, OC
MUC1-NK	-	1/11	NCT02839954	HC, NSCLC, PC, TNIBC, MGB, CoC, GC

Abbreviation of solid tumors and immune checkpoint inhibitors reported in the column indicating the "combination" treatment: see Table 1 legend.

Abbreviation of cells: DCs, dendritic cells; CIK, Cytokine-induced killer cells; NKT, natural killer-T cells; iPSC, induced pluripotent stem cells; UCB, umbilical cord blood. Other abbreviations: E I, early I phase; n. i., non-interventional, observational study.

cryosurgery (**Table 2**). This approach could overcome the effects of tumor immune evasion (194, 195) since mature and activated NK cells provided by current protocol of iPSC-derived NK cell expansion are able to infiltrate and kill solid tumors. This was firstly evaluated in a murine xenograft model of ovarian cancer (196), and more recently in subjects with advanced solid tumors as monotherapy and in combination with mAb (NCT03319459) or antitumor drugs (NCT03213964) (**Table 2**). Of interest, among most efficient immune-modulatory drugs able to induce ligands for NK-ARs on cancer cells (197), lenalidomide is used in a clinical setting in combination with expanded and activated NK cells in some hematopoietic malignancies and neuroblastoma patients (NCT02573896).

In order to potentiate both the specificity and activity of NK cells against solid tumors, genetically modified NK cells have been produced and clinically adopted with promising results. NK cells obtained by different sources have been engineered for CARs able to recognize specific tumor antigens or ligands for activating receptors (198-201). To avoid the need of exogenous IL-2 in culture, high-affinity NK (haNK) cells were obtained by engineering the NK-92 cell line for the expression of CD16A and IL-2 (202) and used in patients with solid tumors (NCT03027128). Several CAR-engineered NK cells recognizing EGFR for breast cancer brain metastases (203), both ErbB2/HER2 (204, 205) (NCT03383978) upon intracranial injection, and EGFRvIII (206) for glioblastoma, GD2 for neuroblastoma (207), EpCAM for breast carcinoma (208), NKG2D for ovarian cancer (201), and both MUC1 and ROBO1 for advanced refractory solid tumors, have been produced for preclinical studies and phase I and II clinical trials (Table 2). Finally, of emerging interest are the extracellular vesicles (EVs) secreted by large-scale in vitro expanded NK cells, that, containing lytic protein, showed antitumor efficacy not only in malignant hematopoietic cell lines but also in neuroblastoma and breast carcinoma cell lines, and in a xenograft murine model of glioblastoma (209, 210).

PERSPECTIVES

NK cells play a crucial role in triggering antitumor immune response. Although high levels of tumor infiltrating NK cells are associated with a better prognosis in certain human solid tumors, the immunosuppressive TME weakens their function in favor of neoplastic progression. Understanding the mechanisms adopted by the TME to hinder the NK cell function and how they can be neutralized is of fundamental importance to develop effective anti-cancer therapeutic protocols. In this regard, the use of NK cell-based immunotherapy, by the combined use of cytokines, mAbs, immune checkpoint inhibitors, and the adoptive transfer of NK cells and CAR-NK cells, appears to be promising in the treatment of solid tumors.

A significant number of cancer immunotherapies that involved engineering NK cells before adoptive transfer into patients have been developed. There is the possibility of engineering NK cells to make them resistant to the metabolically restrictive TME as well as to immunosuppressive molecules generated by the tumor and TME.

Overall, it is now clear that TME is crucial for the normal function of NK cells and that future investigations and preclinical studies in this area are likely needed to fully discern the biology of NK cells and reveal new and exciting anti-cancer therapeutic opportunities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors edited the manuscript and approved the final version for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Associazione Italiana Ricerca Cancro (AIRC) #IG18495 and the Italian Ministry of Health #PE-2011-02351866 to DF and a fellowship from the Fondazione Umberto Veronesi to VL.

REFERENCES

- Barrow AD, Martin CJ, Colonna M. The natural cytotoxicity receptors in health and disease. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:909. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00909
- Arase H, Mocarski ES, Campbell AE, Hill AB, Lanier LL. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science*. (2002) 296:1323–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1070884
- Raulet DH, Gasser S, Gowen BG, Deng W, Jung H. Regulation of ligands for the NKG2D activating receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:413–41. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095951
- Barrow AD, Edeling MA, Trifonov V, Luo J, Goyal P, Bohl B, et al. Natural killer cells control tumor growth by sensing a growth factor. *Cell*. (2018) 172:534–48 e519. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.037
- Susek KH, Karvouni M, Alici E, Lundqvist A. The role of CXC chemokine receptors 1-4 on immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2159. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02159
- Spiegel A, Brooks MW, Houshyar S, Reinhardt F, Ardolino M, Fessler E, et al. Neutrophils suppress intraluminal NK cell-mediated tumor cell clearance and enhance extravasation of disseminated carcinoma cells. *Cancer Discov*. (2016) 6:630–49. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1157
- Diefenbach A, Jensen ER, Jamieson AM, Raulet DH. Rae1 and H60 ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunity. *Nature*. (2001) 413:165– 71. doi: 10.1038/35093109
- Malladi S, Macalinao DG, Jin X, He L, Basnet H, Zou Y, et al. Metastatic latency and immune evasion through autocrine inhibition of WNT. *Cell*. (2016) 165:45–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.025
- Glasner A, Ghadially H, Gur C, Stanietsky N, Tsukerman P, Enk J, et al. Recognition and prevention of tumor metastasis by the NK receptor NKp46/NCR1. J Immunol. (2012) 188:2509–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102461
- Sathe P, Delconte RB, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Seillet C, Chopin M, Vandenberg CJ, et al. Innate immunodeficiency following genetic ablation of Mcl1 in natural killer cells. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:4539. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5539
- Merzoug LB, Marie S, Satoh-Takayama N, Lesjean S, Albanesi M, Luche H, et al. Conditional ablation of NKp46+ cells using a novel Ncr1(greenCre) mouse strain: NK cells are essential for protection against pulmonary B16 metastases. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:3380–91. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444643
- Guillerey C, Chow MT, Miles K, Olver S, Sceneay J, Takeda K, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 regulates NK cell responses to cytokines and controls experimental metastasis. *Oncoimmunology*. (2015) 4:e1027468. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1027468
- Iguchi-Manaka A, Kai H, Yamashita Y, Shibata K, Tahara-Hanaoka S, Honda S, et al. Accelerated tumor growth in mice deficient in DNAM-1 receptor. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:2959–64. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081611
- Malaise M, Rovira J, Renner P, Eggenhofer E, Sabet-Baktach M, Lantow M, et al. KLRG1+ NK cells protect T-bet-deficient mice from pulmonary metastatic colorectal carcinoma. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:1954–61. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300876
- Putz EM, Mayfosh AJ, Kos K, Barkauskas DS, Nakamura K, Town L, et al. NK cell heparanase controls tumor invasion and immune surveillance. *J Clin Invest.* (2017) 127:2777–88. doi: 10.1172/JCI92958
- Luna JI, Grossenbacher SK, Murphy WJ, Canter RJ. Targeting cancer stem cells with natural killer cell immunotherapy. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*. (2017) 17:313–24. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2017.1271874
- Kaur K, Nanut MP, Ko MW, Safaie T, Kos J, Jewett A. Natural killer cells target and differentiate cancer stem-like cells/undifferentiated tumors: strategies to optimize their growth and expansion for effective cancer immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 51:170–80. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.022
- Lau EY, Ho NP, Lee TK. Cancer stem cells and their microenvironment: biology and therapeutic implications. *Stem Cells Int.* (2017) 2017:3714190. doi: 10.1155/2017/3714190
- Tallerico R, Todaro M, Di Franco S, Maccalli C, Garofalo C, Sottile R, et al. Human NK cells selective targeting of colon cancer-initiating cells: a role for natural cytotoxicity receptors and MHC class I molecules. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:2381–90. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201542

- Ames E, Canter RJ, Grossenbacher SK, Mac S, Chen M, Smith RC, et al. NK cells preferentially target tumor cells with a cancer stem cell phenotype. J Immunol. (2015) 195:4010–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500447
- Castriconi R, Daga A, Dondero A, Zona G, Poliani PL, Melotti A, et al. NK cells recognize and kill human glioblastoma cells with stem cell-like properties. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:3530–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802845
- Pietra G, Manzini C, Vitale M, Balsamo M, Ognio E, Boitano M, et al. Natural killer cells kill human melanoma cells with characteristics of cancer stem cells. *Int Immunol.* (2009) 21:793–801. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxp047
- Yin T, Wang G, He S, Liu Q, Sun J, Wang Y. Human cancer cells with stem cell-like phenotype exhibit enhanced sensitivity to the cytotoxicity of IL-2 and IL-15 activated natural killer cells. *Cell Immunol.* (2016) 300:41–5. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.11.009
- Canter RJ, Ames E, Mac S, Grossenbacher SK, Chen M, Li CS, et al. Anti-proliferative but not anti-angiogenic tyrosine kinase inhibitors enrich for cancer stem cells in soft tissue sarcoma. *BMC Cancer*. (2014) 14:756. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-756
- Ames E, Canter RJ, Grossenbacher SK, Mac S, Smith RC, Monjazeb AM, et al. Enhanced targeting of stem-like solid tumor cells with radiation and natural killer cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2015) 4:e1036212. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1036212
- 26. Kozlowska AK, Topchyan P, Kaur K, Tseng HC, Teruel A, Hiraga T, et al. Differentiation by NK cells is a prerequisite for effective targeting of cancer stem cells/poorly differentiated tumors by chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic drugs. J Cancer. (2017) 8:537–54. doi: 10.7150/jca.15989
- Kozlowska AK, Kaur K, Topchyan P, Jewett A. Adoptive transfer of osteoclast-expanded natural killer cells for immunotherapy targeting cancer stem-like cells in humanized mice. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2016) 65:835–45. doi: 10.1007/s00262-016-1822-9
- Tseng HC, Bui V, Man YG, Cacalano N, Jewett A. Induction of split anergy conditions natural killer cells to promote differentiation of stem cells through cell-cell contact and secreted factors. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:269. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00269
- Stevens A, Kloter I, Roggendorf W. Inflammatory infiltrates and natural killer cell presence in human brain tumors. *Cancer.* (1988) 61:738–43. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19880215)61:4<738::AID-CNCR2820610417>3.0. CO;2-E
- Tartter PI, Steinberg B, Barron DM, Martinelli G. The prognostic significance of natural killer cytotoxicity in patients with colorectal cancer. *Arch Surg.* (1987) 122:1264–8. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.1987.01400230050009
- Schantz SP, Savage HE, Racz T, Taylor DL, Sacks PG. Natural killer cells and metastases from pharyngeal carcinoma. *Am J Surg.* (1989) 158:361–6. doi: 10.1016/0002-9610(89)90134-7
- 32. Brittenden J, Heys SD, Ross J, Eremin О. Natural killer Cancer. (1996) 77:1226-43. cells and cancer. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19960401)77:7<1226::AID-CNCR2>3.0. CO:2-G
- 33. Denkert C, von Minckwitz G, Darb-Esfahani S, Lederer B, Heppner BI, Weber KE, et al. Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes and prognosis in different subtypes of breast cancer: a pooled analysis of 3771 patients treated with neoadjuvant therapy. *Lancet Oncol.* (2018) 19:40–50. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30904-X
- Arnould L, Gelly M, Penault-Llorca F, Benoit L, Bonnetain F, Migeon C, et al. Trastuzumab-based treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer: an antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity mechanism? *Br J Cancer*. (2006) 94:259–67. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602930
- Muntasell A, Rojo F, Servitja S, Rubio-Perez C, Cabo M, Tamborero D, et al. NK cell infiltrates and HLA class I expression in primary HER2(+) breast cancer predict and uncouple pathological response and disease-free survival. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:1535–45. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-2365
- 36. Muntasell A, Servitja S, Cabo M, Bermejo B, Perez-Buira S, Rojo F, et al. High numbers of circulating CD57(+) NK cells associate with resistance to HER2specific therapeutic antibodies in HER2(+) primary breast cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1280–92. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0896
- 37. Ali TH, Pisanti S, Ciaglia E, Mortarini R, Anichini A, Garofalo C, et al. Enrichment of CD56(dim)KIR + CD57 + highly cytotoxic NK cells in tumour-infiltrated lymph nodes of melanoma patients. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:5639. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6639

- Messaoudene M, Fregni G, Fourmentraux-Neves E, Chanal J, Maubec E, Mazouz-Dorval S, et al. Mature cytotoxic CD56(bright)/CD16(+) natural killer cells can infiltrate lymph nodes adjacent to metastatic melanoma. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:81–92. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1303
- Cursons J, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Foroutan M, Anderson A, Hollande F, Hediyeh-Zadeh S, et al. A gene signature predicting natural killer cell infiltration and improved survival in melanoma patients. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1162–74. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0500
- Barry KC, Hsu J, Broz ML, Cueto FJ, Binnewies M, Combes AJ, et al. A natural killer-dendritic cell axis defines checkpoint therapyresponsive tumor microenvironments. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1178–91. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0085-8
- Pernot S, Terme M, Radosevic-Robin N, Castan F, Badoual C, Marcheteau E, et al. Infiltrating and peripheral immune cell analysis in advanced gastric cancer according to the Lauren classification and its prognostic significance. *Gastric Cancer*. (2019). doi: 10.1007/s10120-019-00983-3
- Menard C, Blay JY, Borg C, Michiels S, Ghiringhelli F, Robert C, et al. Natural killer cell IFN-gamma levels predict long-term survival with imatinib mesylate therapy in gastrointestinal stromal tumor-bearing patients. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:3563–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3807
- Delahaye NF, Rusakiewicz S, Martins I, Menard C, Roux S, Lyonnet L, et al. Alternatively spliced NKp30 isoforms affect the prognosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:700–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.2366
- 44. Semeraro M, Rusakiewicz S, Minard-Colin V, Delahaye NF, Enot D, Vely F, et al. Clinical impact of the NKp30/B7-H6 axis in highrisk neuroblastoma patients. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:283ra255. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa2327
- Habif G, Crinier A, Andre P, Vivier E, Narni-Mancinelli E. Targeting natural killer cells in solid tumors. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:415–22. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0224-2
- 46. Pasero C, Gravis G, Guerin M, Granjeaud S, Thomassin-Piana J, Rocchi P, et al. Inherent and tumor-driven immune tolerance in the prostate microenvironment impairs natural killer cell antitumor activity. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:2153–65. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1965
- Eckl J, Buchner A, Prinz PU, Riesenberg R, Siegert SI, Kammerer R, et al. Transcript signature predicts tissue NK cell content and defines renal cell carcinoma subgroups independent of TNM staging. J Mol Med. (2012) 90:55–66. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0806-7
- Schleypen JS, Baur N, Kammerer R, Nelson PJ, Rohrmann K, Grone EF, et al. Cytotoxic markers and frequency predict functional capacity of natural killer cells infiltrating renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12(3 Pt 1):718–25. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0857
- Liljefors M, Nilsson B, Hjelm Skog AL, Ragnhammar P, Mellstedt H, Frodin JE. Natural killer (NK) cell function is a strong prognostic factor in colorectal carcinoma patients treated with the monoclonal antibody 17-1A. *Int J Cancer.* (2003) 105:717–23. doi: 10.1002/ijc.11139
- Halama N, Braun M, Kahlert C, Spille A, Quack C, Rahbari N, et al. Natural killer cells are scarce in colorectal carcinoma tissue despite high levels of chemokines and cytokines. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:678–89. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2173
- Villegas FR, Coca S, Villarrubia VG, Jimenez R, Chillon MJ, Jareno J, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating natural killer cells subset CD57 in patients with squamous cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*. (2002) 35:23–8. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5002(01)00292-6
- Charrier M, Mezquita L, Lueza B, Dupraz L, Planchard D, Remon J, et al. Circulating innate immune markers and outcomes in treatmentnaive advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Eur J Cancer*. (2019) 108:88–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2018.12.017
- 53. Carrega P, Morandi B, Costa R, Frumento G, Forte G, Altavilla G, et al. Natural killer cells infiltrating human nonsmall-cell lung cancer are enriched in CD56 bright CD16(-) cells and display an impaired capability to kill tumor cells. *Cancer*. (2008) 112:863–75. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23239
- Carrega P, Ferlazzo G. Natural killers are made not born: how to exploit NK cells in lung malignancies. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:277. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00277
- Lavin Y, Kobayashi S, Leader A, Amir ED, Elefant N, Bigenwald C, et al. Innate immune landscape in early lung adenocarcinoma by paired single-cell analyses. *Cell.* (2017) 169:750–65 e717. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.04.014

- Cai L, Zhang Z, Zhou L, Wang H, Fu J, Zhang S, et al. Functional impairment in circulating and intrahepatic NK cells and relative mechanism in hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *Clin Immunol.* (2008) 129:428–37. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2008.08.012
- Wu Y, Kuang DM, Pan WD, Wan YL, Lao XM, Wang D, et al. Monocyte/macrophage-elicited natural killer cell dysfunction in hepatocellular carcinoma is mediated by CD48/2B4 interactions. *Hepatology*. (2013) 57:1107–16. doi: 10.1002/hep.26192
- Sun H, Liu L, Huang Q, Liu H, Huang M, Wang J, et al. Accumulation of tumor-infiltrating CD49a(+) NK cells correlates with poor prognosis for human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1535–46. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0757
- Degos C, Heinemann M, Barrou J, Boucherit N, Lambaudie E, Savina A, et al. Endometrial tumor microenvironment alters human NK cell recruitment, and resident NK cell phenotype and function. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:877. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00877
- Castriconi R, Carrega P, Dondero A, Bellora F, Casu B, Regis S, et al. Molecular mechanisms directing migration and retention of natural killer cells in human tissues. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2324. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02324
- Batlle E, Massague J. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling in immunity and cancer. *Immunity*. (2019) 50:924–40. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.024
- Wahl SM, Wen J, Moutsopoulos NM. The kiss of death: interrupted by NKcell close encounters of another kind. *Trends Immunol.* (2006) 27:161–4. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2006.02.002
- Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Terme M, Flament C, Taieb J, Chaput N, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibit natural killer cell functions in a transforming growth factor-beta-dependent manner. J Exp Med. (2005) 202:1075–85. doi: 10.1084/jem.20051511
- Trotta R, Dal Col J, Yu J, Ciarlariello D, Thomas B, Zhang X, et al. TGFbeta utilizes SMAD3 to inhibit CD16-mediated IFN-gamma production and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity in human NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:3784–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.3784
- Castriconi R, Cantoni C, Della Chiesa M, Vitale M, Marcenaro E, Conte R, et al. Transforming growth factor beta 1 inhibits expression of NKp30 and NKG2D receptors: consequences for the NK-mediated killing of dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:4120–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0730640100
- 66. Friese MA, Wischhusen J, Wick W, Weiler M, Eisele G, Steinle A, et al. RNA interference targeting transforming growth factor-beta enhances NKG2Dmediated antiglioma immune response, inhibits glioma cell migration and invasiveness, and abrogates tumorigenicity *in vivo. Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:7596–603. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1627
- 67. Crane CA, Han SJ, Barry JJ, Ahn BJ, Lanier LL, Parsa AT. TGFbeta downregulates the activating receptor NKG2D on NK cells and CD8+ T cells in glioma patients. *Neuro Oncol.* (2010) 12:7–13. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nop009
- Lee JC, Lee KM, Kim DW, Heo DS. Elevated TGF-beta1 secretion and down-modulation of NKG2D underlies impaired NK cytotoxicity in cancer patients. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:7335–40. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7335
- Donatelli SS, Zhou JM, Gilvary DL, Eksioglu EA, Chen X, Cress WD, et al. TGF-beta-inducible microRNA-183 silences tumor-associated natural killer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:4203–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1319269111
- Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancer-expanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGFbeta 1. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:240–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.240
- Viel S, Marcais A, Guimaraes FS, Loftus R, Rabilloud J, Grau M, et al. TGF-beta inhibits the activation and functions of NK cells by repressing the mTOR pathway. *Sci Signal.* (2016) 9:ra19. doi: 10.1126/scisignal. aad1884
- Gao Y, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Bald T, Ng SS, Young A, Ngiow SF, et al. Tumor immunoevasion by the conversion of effector NK cells into type 1 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:1004–15. doi: 10.1038/ni.3800
- 73. Cortez VS, Cervantes-Barragan L, Robinette ML, Bando JK, Wang Y, Geiger TL, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling guides the

differentiation of innate lymphoid cells in salivary glands. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:1127–39. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.03.007

- Castriconi R, Dondero A, Bellora F, Moretta L, Castellano A, Locatelli F, et al. Neuroblastoma-derived TGF-beta1 modulates the chemokine receptor repertoire of human resting NK cells. J Immunol. (2013) 190:5321–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202693
- Bellora F, Castriconi R, Dondero A, Pessino A, Nencioni A, Liggieri G, et al. TLR activation of tumor-associated macrophages from ovarian cancer patients triggers cytolytic activity of NK cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1814–22. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344130
- Dieu-Nosjean MC, Giraldo NA, Kaplon H, Germain C, Fridman WH, Sautes-Fridman C. Tertiary lymphoid structures, drivers of the antitumor responses in human cancers. *Immunol Rev.* (2016) 271:260–75. doi: 10.1111/imr.12405
- 77. Vanpouille-Box C, Diamond JM, Pilones KA, Zavadil J, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. TGFbeta is a master regulator of radiation therapy-induced antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:2232–42. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3511
- Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, Rodriguez I, Mayorga L, Labiano T, Barbes B, Etxeberria I, et al. TGFbeta blockade enhances radiotherapy abscopal efficacy effects in combination with anti-PD1 and anti-CD137 immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies. *Mol Cancer Therap.* (2019) 18:621–31. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-0558
- 79. Spender LC, Ferguson GJ, Hughes GD, Davies BR, Goldberg FW, Herrera B, et al. Preclinical evaluation of AZ12601011 and AZ12799734, inhibitors of transforming growth factor beta superfamily type 1 receptors. *Mol Pharmacol.* (2019) 95:222–34. doi: 10.1124/mol.118. 112946
- Dodagatta-Marri E, Meyer DS, Reeves MQ, Paniagua R, To MD, Binnewies M, et al. alpha-PD-1 therapy elevates Treg/Th balance and increases tumor cell pSmad3 that are both targeted by alpha-TGFbeta antibody to promote durable rejection and immunity in squamous cell carcinomas. *J Immunother Cancer.* (2019) 7:62. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0493-9
- Ravi R, Noonan KA, Pham V, Bedi R, Zhavoronkov A, Ozerov IV, et al. Bifunctional immune checkpoint-targeted antibodyligand traps that simultaneously disable TGFbeta enhance the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:741. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02696-6
- Takasaka N, Seed RI, Cormier A, Bondesson AJ, Lou J, Elattma A, et al. Integrin alphavbeta8-expressing tumor cells evade host immunity by regulating TGF-beta activation in immune cells. *JCI Insight*. (2018) 3:e122591. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.122591
- Gabriely G, da Cunha AP, Rezende RM, Kenyon B, Madi A, Vandeventer T, et al. Targeting latency-associated peptide promotes antitumor immunity. *Sci Immunol.* (2017) 2:eaaj1738. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aaj1738
- 84. Holmgaard RB, Schaer DA, Li Y, Castaneda SP, Murphy MY, Xu X, et al. Targeting the TGFβ pathway with galunisertib, a TGFbetaRI small molecule inhibitor, promotes anti-tumor immunity leading to durable, complete responses, as monotherapy and in combination with checkpoint blockade. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2018) 6:47. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0356-4
- Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, et al. TGFβ attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. *Nature*. (2018) 554:544–8. doi: 10.1038/nature25501
- Tauriello DVF, Palomo-Ponce S, Stork D, Berenguer-Llergo A, Badia-Ramentol J, Iglesias M, et al. TGFbeta drives immune evasion in genetically reconstituted colon cancer metastasis. *Nature*. (2018) 554:538–43. doi: 10.1038/nature25492
- Faivre SJ, Bouattour M, Dreyer C, Raymond E. Sunitinib in hepatocellular carcinoma: redefining appropriate dosing, schedule, and activity end points. *J Clin Oncol.* (2009) 27:e248–50. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.25.0670
- Melisi D, Garcia-Carbonero R, Macarulla T, Pezet D, Deplanque G, Fuchs M, et al. Galunisertib plus gemcitabine vs. gemcitabine for first-line treatment of patients with unresectable pancreatic cancer. *Br J Cancer*. (2018) 119:1208– 14. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0246-z
- Formenti SC, Lee P, Adams S, Goldberg JD, Li X, Xie MW, et al. Focal irradiation and systemic TGFbeta blockade in metastatic breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:2493–504. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3322

- Kopp HG, Placke T, Salih HR. Platelet-derived transforming growth factor-beta down-regulates NKG2D thereby inhibiting natural killer cell antitumor reactivity. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:7775–83. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2123
- O'Brien KL, Finlay DK. Immunometabolism and natural killer cell responses. Nat Rev Immunol. (2019) 19:282–90. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0139-2
- Cong J, Wang X, Zheng X, Wang D, Fu B, Sun R, et al. Dysfunction of natural killer cells by FBP1-induced inhibition of glycolysis during lung cancer progression. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 28:243–55 e245. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.06.021
- Caras I, Grigorescu A, Stavaru C, Radu DL, Mogos I, Szegli G, et al. Evidence for immune defects in breast and lung cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2004) 53:1146–52. doi: 10.1007/s00262-004-0556-2
- 94. Hirayama A, Kami K, Sugimoto M, Sugawara M, Toki N, Onozuka H, et al. Quantitative metabolome profiling of colon and stomach cancer microenvironment by capillary electrophoresis time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:4918–25. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4806
- Urasaki Y, Heath L, Xu CW. Coupling of glucose deprivation with impaired histone H2B monoubiquitination in tumors. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e36775. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036775
- Ho PC, Bihuniak JD, Macintyre AN, Staron M, Liu X, Amezquita R, et al. Phosphoenolpyruvate is a metabolic checkpoint of anti-tumor T cell responses. *Cell.* (2015) 162:1217–28. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.012
- Chang CH, Qiu J, O'Sullivan D, Buck MD, Noguchi T, Curtis JD, et al. Metabolic competition in the tumor microenvironment is a driver of cancer progression. *Cell.* (2015) 162:1229–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.016
- Biswas SK. Metabolic reprogramming of immune cells in cancer progression. Immunity. (2015) 43:435–49. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.001
- Kishton RJ, Sukumar M, Restifo NP. Metabolic regulation of T cell longevity and function in tumor immunotherapy. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 26:94–109. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.06.016
- 100. Wenes M, Shang M, Di Matteo M, Goveia J, Martin-Perez R, Serneels J, et al. Macrophage metabolism controls tumor blood vessel morphogenesis and metastasis. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 24:701–15. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.09.008
- Zhao S, Torres A, Henry RA, Trefely S, Wallace M, Lee JV, et al. ATPcitrate lyase controls a glucose-to-acetate metabolic switch. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 17:1037–52. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.09.069
- 102. Keating SE, Zaiatz-Bittencourt V, Loftus RM, Keane C, Brennan K, Finlay DK, et al. Metabolic reprogramming supports IFN-gamma production by CD56bright NK cells. J Immunol. (2016) 196:2552–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501783
- Philip M, Fairchild L, Sun L, Horste EL, Camara S, Shakiba M, et al. Chromatin states define tumour-specific T cell dysfunction and reprogramming. *Nature*. (2017) 545:452–6. doi: 10.1038/nature22367
- 104. Schietinger A, Philip M, Krisnawan VE, Chiu EY, Delrow JJ, Basom RS, et al. Tumor-specific T cell dysfunction is a dynamic antigen-driven differentiation program initiated early during tumorigenesis. *Immunity*. (2016) 45:389–401. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.07.011
- 105. Assmann N, O'Brien KL, Donnelly RP, Dyck L, Zaiatz-Bittencourt V, Loftus RM, et al. Srebp-controlled glucose metabolism is essential for NK cell functional responses. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:1197–206. doi: 10.1038/ni.3838
- 106. Li D, Long W, Huang R, Chen Y, Xia M. 27-Hydroxycholesterol inhibits sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1 activation and hepatic lipid accumulation in mice. *Obesity*. (2018) 26:713–22. doi: 10.1002/oby.22130
- 107. Adams CM, Reitz J, De Brabander JK, Feramisco JD, Li L, Brown MS, et al. Cholesterol and 25-hydroxycholesterol inhibit activation of SREBPs by different mechanisms, both involving SCAP and Insigs. *J Biol Chem.* (2004) 279:52772–80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M410302200
- Michelet X, Dyck L, Hogan A, Loftus RM, Duquette D, Wei K, et al. Metabolic reprogramming of natural killer cells in obesity limits antitumor responses. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:1330–40. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0251-7
- Zelenay S, van der Veen AG, Bottcher JP, Snelgrove KJ, Rogers N, Acton SE, et al. Cyclooxygenase-dependent tumor growth through evasion of immunity. *Cell.* (2015) 162:1257–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.015

- 110. Hangai S, Ao T, Kimura Y, Matsuki K, Kawamura T, Negishi H, et al. PGE2 induced in and released by dying cells functions as an inhibitory DAMP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:3844–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.160 2023113
- Kalinski P. Regulation of immune responses by prostaglandin E2. J Immunol. (2012) 188:21–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101029
- 112. Holt D, Ma X, Kundu N, Fulton A. Prostaglandin E(2) (PGE. (2)) suppresses natural killer cell function primarily through the PGE(2) receptor EP4. Cancer Immunol Immunother. (2011) 60:1577–86. doi: 10.1007/s00262-011-1064-9
- Rabinovich GA, Gabrilovich D, Sotomayor EM. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2007) 25:267–96. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141609
- 114. Balsamo M, Scordamaglia F, Pietra G, Manzini C, Cantoni C, Boitano M, et al. Melanoma-associated fibroblasts modulate NK cell phenotype and antitumor cytotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad SciUSA*. (2009) 106:20847–52. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906481106
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature*. (2008) 454:436–44. doi: 10.1038/nature07205
- 116. Spaggiari GM, Capobianco A, Abdelrazik H, Becchetti F, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit natural killer-cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and cytokine production: role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and prostaglandin E2. *Blood.* (2008) 111:1327–33. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-074997
- 117. Galland S, Vuille J, Martin P, Letovanec I, Caignard A, Fregni G, et al. Tumor-derived mesenchymal stem cells use distinct mechanisms to block the activity of natural killer cell subsets. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 20:2891–905. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.08.089
- Mao Y, Sarhan D, Steven A, Seliger B, Kiessling R, Lundqvist A. Inhibition of tumor-derived prostaglandin-e2 blocks the induction of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and recovers natural killer cell activity. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:4096–106. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0635
- 119. Park A, Lee Y, Kim MS, Kang YJ, Park YJ, Jung H, et al. Prostaglandin E2 secreted by thyroid cancer cells contributes to immune escape through the suppression of natural killer (NK) cell cytotoxicity and NK cell differentiation. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1859. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01859
- 120. Su Y, Huang X, Raskovalova T, Zacharia L, Lokshin A, Jackson E, et al. Cooperation of adenosine and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) in amplification of cAMP-PKA signaling and immunosuppression. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.* (2008) 57:1611–23. doi: 10.1007/s00262-008-0494-5
- 121. Pietra G, Manzini C, Rivara S, Vitale M, Cantoni C, Petretto A, et al. Melanoma cells inhibit natural killer cell function by modulating the expression of activating receptors and cytolytic activity. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:1407–15. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2544
- 122. Ma X, Holt D, Kundu N, Reader J, Goloubeva O, Take Y, et al. A prostaglandin E (PGE) receptor EP4 antagonist protects natural killer cells from PGE2-mediated immunosuppression and inhibits breast cancer metastasis. *Oncoimmunology*. (2013) 2:e22647. doi: 10.4161/onci.22647
- 123. Li T, Zhang Q, Jiang Y, Yu J, Hu Y, Mou T, et al. Gastric cancer cells inhibit natural killer cell proliferation and induce apoptosis via prostaglandin E2. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1069936. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1069936
- 124. Frumento G, Rotondo R, Tonetti M, Damonte G, Benatti U, Ferrara GB. Tryptophan-derived catabolites are responsible for inhibition of T and natural killer cell proliferation induced by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. J Exp Med. (2002) 196:459–68. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020121
- 125. Yoshida N, Ino K, Ishida Y, Kajiyama H, Yamamoto E, Shibata K, et al. Overexpression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in human endometrial carcinoma cells induces rapid tumor growth in a mouse xenograft model. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2008) 14:7251–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0991
- 126. Della Chiesa M, Carlomagno S, Frumento G, Balsamo M, Cantoni C, Conte R, et al. The tryptophan catabolite L-kynurenine inhibits the surface expression of NKp46- and NKG2D-activating receptors and regulates NK-cell function. *Blood.* (2006) 108:4118–25. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-03-006700
- 127. Folgiero V, Cifaldi L, Li Pira G, Goffredo BM, Vinti L, Locatelli F. TIM-3/Gal-9 interaction induces IFNgamma-dependent IDO1 expression

in acute myeloid leukemia blast cells. J Hematol Oncol. (2015) 8:36. doi: 10.1186/s13045-015-0134-4

- Vigano S, Alatzoglou D, Irving M, Menetrier-Caux C, Caux C, Romero P, et al. Targeting Adenosine in Cancer Immunotherapy to Enhance T-Cell Function. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:925. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00925
- 129. Bastid J, Regairaz A, Bonnefoy N, Dejou C, Giustiniani J, Laheurte C, et al. Inhibition of CD39 enzymatic function at the surface of tumor cells alleviates their immunosuppressive activity. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2015) 3:254–65. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0018
- 130. Hausler SF, Montalban del Barrio I, Strohschein J, Chandran PA, Engel JB, Honig A, et al. Ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73 on OvCA cells are potent adenosine-generating enzymes responsible for adenosine receptor 2A-dependent suppression of T cell function and NK cell cytotoxicity. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2011) 60:1405–18. doi: 10.1007/s00262-011-1040-4
- 131. Hausler SF, Del Barrio IM, Diessner J, Stein RG, Strohschein J, Honig A, et al. Anti-CD39 and anti-CD73 antibodies A1 and 7G2 improve targeted therapy in ovarian cancer by blocking adenosine-dependent immune evasion. *Am J Transl Res.* (2014) 6:129–39.
- Iannone R, Miele L, Maiolino P, Pinto A, Morello S. Adenosine limits the therapeutic effectiveness of anti-CTLA4 mAb in a mouse melanoma model. *Am J Cancer Res.* (2014) 4:172–81.
- 133. Ma SR, Deng WW, Liu JF, Mao L, Yu GT, Bu LL, et al. Blockade of adenosine A2A receptor enhances CD8(+) T cells response and decreases regulatory T cells in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Mol Cancer*. (2017) 16:99. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0665-0
- 134. Young A, Ngiow SF, Gao Y, Patch AM, Barkauskas DS, Messaoudene M, et al. A2AR adenosine signaling suppresses natural killer cell maturation in the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:1003–16. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-2826
- Petrova V, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Melino G, Amelio I. The hypoxic tumour microenvironment. Oncogenesis. (2018) 7:10. doi: 10.1038/s41389-017-0011-9
- 136. Sceneay J, Chow MT, Chen A, Halse HM, Wong CS, Andrews DM, et al. Primary tumor hypoxia recruits CD11b+/Ly6Cmed/Ly6G+ immune suppressor cells and compromises NK cell cytotoxicity in the premetastatic niche. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:3906–11. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3873
- 137. Fink T, Ebbesen P, Koppelhus U, Zachar V. Natural killer cell-mediated basal and interferon-enhanced cytotoxicity against liver cancer cells is significantly impaired under *in vivo* oxygen conditions. *Scand J Immunol.* (2003) 58:607– 12. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2003.01347.x
- Balsamo M, Manzini C, Pietra G, Raggi F, Blengio F, Mingari MC, et al. Hypoxia downregulates the expression of activating receptors involved in NK-cell-mediated target cell killing without affecting ADCC. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:2756–64. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343448
- 139. Sarkar S, Germeraad WT, Rouschop KM, Steeghs EM, van Gelder M, Bos GM, et al. Hypoxia induced impairment of NK cell cytotoxicity against multiple myeloma can be overcome by IL-2 activation of the NK cells. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e64835. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064835
- 140. Xie H, Hanai J, Ren JG, Kats L, Burgess K, Bhargava P, et al. Targeting lactate dehydrogenase–a inhibits tumorigenesis and tumor progression in mouse models of lung cancer and impacts tumor-initiating cells. *Cell Metab.* (2014) 19:795–809. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.03.003
- 141. Husain Z, Huang Y, Seth P, Sukhatme VP. Tumor-derived lactate modifies antitumor immune response: effect on myeloid-derived suppressor cells and NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:1486–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1202702
- 142. Husain Z, Seth P, Sukhatme VP. Tumor-derived lactate and myeloidderived suppressor cells: linking metabolism to cancer immunology. *Oncoimmunology*. (2013) 2:e26383. doi: 10.4161/onci.26383
- 143. Harmon C, Robinson MW, Hand F, Almuaili D, Mentor K, Houlihan DD, et al. Lactate-mediated acidification of tumor microenvironment induces apoptosis of liver-resident NK cells in colorectal liver metastasis. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:335–46. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0481
- 144. Long Y, Gao Z, Hu X, Xiang F, Wu Z, Zhang J, et al. Downregulation of MCT4 for lactate exchange promotes the cytotoxicity of NK cells in breast carcinoma. *Cancer Med.* (2018) 7:4690–700. doi: 10.1002/ cam4.1713

- 145. Molgora M, Bonavita E, Ponzetta A, Riva F, Barbagallo M, Jaillon S, et al. IL-1R8 is a checkpoint in NK cells regulating anti-tumour and anti-viral activity. *Nature*. (2017) 551:110–14. doi: 10.1038/nature24293
- 146. Beldi-Ferchiou A, Caillat-Zucman S. Control of NK cell activation by immune checkpoint molecules. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E2129. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102129
- Kim N, Kim HS. Targeting checkpoint receptors and molecules for therapeutic modulation of natural killer cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2041. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02041
- Vitale M, Cantoni C, Pietra G, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Effect of tumor cells and tumor microenvironment on NK-cell function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1582–92. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344272
- Parihar R, Dierksheide J, Hu Y, Carson WE. IL-12 enhances the natural killer cell cytokine response to Ab-coated tumor cells. J Clin Invest. (2002) 110:983–92. doi: 10.1172/JCI0215950
- 150. Robertson MJ, Kirkwood JM, Logan TF, Koch KM, Kathman S, Kirby LC, et al. A dose-escalation study of recombinant human interleukin-18 using two different schedules of administration in patients with cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2008) 14:3462–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4740
- 151. Simpkins F, Flores A, Chu C, Berek JS, Lucci J 3rd, Murray S, et al. Chemoimmunotherapy using pegylated liposomal Doxorubicin and interleukin-18 in recurrent ovarian cancer: a phase I dose-escalation study. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2013) 1:168–78. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0098
- 152. Han KP, Zhu X, Liu B, Jeng E, Kong L, Yovandich JL, et al. IL-15:IL-15 receptor alpha superagonist complex: high-level co-expression in recombinant mammalian cells, purification and characterization. *Cytokine*. (2011) 56:804–10. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.09.028
- 153. Thompson JA, Curti BD, Redman BG, Bhatia S, Weber JS, Agarwala SS, et al. Phase I study of recombinant interleukin-21 in patients with metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol.* (2008) 26:2034–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.14.5193
- 154. Petrella TM, Tozer R, Belanger K, Savage KJ, Wong R, Smylie M, et al. Interleukin-21 has activity in patients with metastatic melanoma: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. (2012) 30:3396–401. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.40.0655
- 155. Grunwald V, Desar IM, Haanen J, Fiedler W, Mouritzen U, Olsen MW, et al. A phase I study of recombinant human interleukin-21 (rIL-21) in combination with sunitinib in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (RCC). Acta Oncol. (2011) 50:121–6. doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2010.509104
- 156. Miller JS, Morishima C, McNeel DG, Patel MR, Kohrt HEK, Thompson JA, et al. A first-in-human phase I study of subcutaneous outpatient recombinant human IL15 (rhIL15) in adults with advanced solid tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:1525–35. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2451
- 157. Xu W, Jones M, Liu B, Zhu X, Johnson CB, Edwards AC, et al. Efficacy and mechanism-of-action of a novel superagonist interleukin-15: interleukin-15 receptor alphaSu/Fc fusion complex in syngeneic murine models of multiple myeloma. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:3075–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2357
- 158. Rosario M, Liu B, Kong L, Collins LI, Schneider SE, Chen X, et al. The IL-15-based ALT-803 complex enhances FcgammaRIIIa-triggered NK cell responses and *in vivo* clearance of B cell lymphomas. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:596–608. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1419
- 159. Romee R, Cooley S, Berrien-Elliott MM, Westervelt P, Verneris MR, Wagner JE, et al. First-in-human phase 1 clinical study of the IL-15 superagonist complex ALT-803 to treat relapse after transplantation. *Blood.* (2018) 131:2515–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-12-823757
- 160. Margolin K, Morishima C, Velcheti V, Miller JS, Lee SM, Silk AW, et al. Phase I trial of ALT-803, a novel recombinant IL15 complex, in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:5552–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0945
- 161. Wrangle JM, Velcheti V, Patel MR, Garrett-Mayer E, Hill EG, Ravenel JG, et al. ALT-803, an IL-15 superagonist, in combination with nivolumab in patients with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: a non-randomised, open-label, phase 1b trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2018) 19:694–704. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30148-7
- 162. Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. *Nature*. (2002) 419:734–8. doi: 10.1038/nature01112

- 163. Lu S, Zhang J, Liu D, Li G, Staveley-O'Carroll KF, Li Z, et al. Nonblocking monoclonal antibody targeting soluble MIC revamps endogenous innate and adaptive antitumor responses and eliminates primary and metastatic tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:4819–30. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0845
- 164. Zhang J, Liu D, Li G, Staveley-O'Carroll KF, Graff JN, Li Z, et al. Antibodymediated neutralization of soluble MIC significantly enhances CTLA4 blockade therapy. Sci Adv. (2017) 3:e1602133. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1602133
- 165. Brandetti E, Veneziani I, Melaiu O, Pezzolo A, Castellano A, Boldrini R, et al. MYCN is an immunosuppressive oncogene dampening the expression of ligands for NK-cell-activating receptors in human high-risk neuroblastoma. Oncoimmunology. (2017) 6:e1316439. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1316439
- 166. Handgretinger R, Anderson K, Lang P, Dopfer R, Klingebiel T, Schrappe M, et al. A phase I study of human/mouse chimeric antiganglioside GD2 antibody ch14.18 in patients with neuroblastoma. *Eur J Cancer.* (1995) 31A:261–7. doi: 10.1016/0959-8049(94)00413-Y
- Richards RM, Sotillo E, Majzner RG. CAR T cell therapy for neuroblastoma. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:2380. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02380
- 168. Vey N, Karlin L, Sadot-Lebouvier S, Broussais F, Berton-Rigaud D, Rey J, et al. A phase 1 study of lirilumab (antibody against killer immunoglobulin-like receptor antibody KIR2D; IPH2102) in patients with solid tumors and hematologic malignancies. *Oncotarget*. (2018) 9:17675–88. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24832
- 169. He Y, Liu S, Mattei J, Bunn PA Jr, Zhou C, Chan D. The combination of anti-KIR monoclonal antibodies with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies could be a critical breakthrough in overcoming tumor immune escape in NSCLC. *Drug Des Devel Ther*. (2018) 12:981–6. doi: 10.2147/DDDT. S163304
- 170. Liu Y, Cheng Y, Xu Y, Wang Z, Du X, Li C, et al. Increased expression of programmed cell death protein 1 on NK cells inhibits NK-cell-mediated antitumor function and indicates poor prognosis in digestive cancers. *Oncogene*. (2017) 36:6143–53. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.209
- 171. Sanseviero E, O'Brien EM, Karras JR, Shabaneh TB, Aksoy BA, Xu W, et al. Anti-CTLA-4 activates intratumoral NK cells and combined with IL15/IL15Ralpha complexes enhances tumor control. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1371–80. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0386
- 172. Zhang Q, Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wang H, Wu W, et al. Blockade of the checkpoint receptor TIGIT prevents NK cell exhaustion and elicits potent anti-tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:723–32. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0132-0
- Blake SJ, Dougall WC, Miles JJ, Teng MW, Smyth MJ. Molecular pathways: targeting CD96 and TIGIT for cancer immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:5183–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0933
- 174. Cifaldi L, Doria M, Cotugno N, Zicari S, Cancrini C, Palma P, et al. DNAM-1 activating receptor and its ligands: how do viruses affect the NK cellmediated immune surveillance during the various phases of infection? *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:E3715. doi: 10.3390/ijms20153715
- Stojanovic A, Cerwenka A. Checkpoint inhibition: NK cells enter the scene. Nat Immunol. (2018) 19:650–2. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0142-y
- 176. Xu F, Sunderland A, Zhou Y, Schulick RD, Edil BH, Zhu Y. Blockade of CD112R and TIGIT signaling sensitizes human natural killer cell functions. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2017) 66:1367–75. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-2031-x
- 177. Blake SJ, Stannard K, Liu J, Allen S, Yong MC, Mittal D, et al. Suppression of metastases using a new lymphocyte checkpoint target for cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Discov.* (2016) 6:446–59. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0944
- 178. da Silva IP, Gallois A, Jimenez-Baranda S, Khan S, Anderson AC, Kuchroo VK, et al. Reversal of NK-cell exhaustion in advanced melanoma by Tim-3 blockade. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2014) 2:410–22. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0171
- 179. Turini M, Chames P, Bruhns P, Baty D, Kerfelec B. A FcgammaRIIIengaging bispecific antibody expands the range of HER2-expressing breast tumors eligible to antibody therapy. *Oncotarget.* (2014) 5:5304–19. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2093
- 180. Vallera DA, Zhang B, Gleason MK, Oh S, Weiner LM, Kaufman DS, et al. Heterodimeric bispecific single-chain variable-fragment antibodies against EpCAM and CD16 induce effective antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity

against human carcinoma cells. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. (2013) 28:274-82. doi: 10.1089/cbr.2012.1329

- 181. Oberg HH, Kellner C, Gonnermann D, Sebens S, Bauerschlag D, Gramatzki M, et al. Tribody [(HER2)2xCD16] is more effective than trastuzumab in enhancing gammadelta T cell and natural killer cell cytotoxicity against HER2-expressing cancer cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:814. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00814
- 182. Gilman AL, Ozkaynak MF, Matthay KK, Krailo M, Yu AL, Gan J, et al. Phase I study of ch14.18 with granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor and interleukin-2 in children with neuroblastoma after autologous bone marrow transplantation or stem-cell rescue: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. (2009) 27:85–91. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.10.3564
- 183. Simon T, Hero B, Faldum A, Handgretinger R, Schrappe M, Niethammer D, et al. Consolidation treatment with chimeric anti-GD2-antibody ch14.18 in children older than 1 year with metastatic neuroblastoma. J Clin Oncol. (2004) 22:3549–57. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.08.143
- 184. Vincent M, Quemener A, Jacques Y. Antitumor activity of an immunocytokine composed of an anti-GD2 antibody and the IL-15 superagonist RLI. Oncoimmunology. (2013) 2:e26441. doi: 10.4161/onci.26441
- 185. Fallon J, Tighe R, Kradjian G, Guzman W, Bernhardt A, Neuteboom B, et al. The immunocytokine NHS-IL12 as a potential cancer therapeutic. *Oncotarget*. (2014) 5:1869–84. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.1853
- 186. Klein C, Waldhauer I, Nicolini VG, Freimoser-Grundschober A, Nayak T, Vugts DJ, et al. Cergutuzumab amunaleukin (CEA-IL2v), a CEA-targeted IL-2 variant-based immunocytokine for combination cancer immunotherapy: overcoming limitations of aldesleukin and conventional IL-2-based immunocytokines. *Oncoimmunology.* (2017) 6:e1277306. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1277306
- Hu W, Wang G, Huang D, Sui M, Xu Y. Cancer immunotherapy based on natural killer cells: current progress and new opportunities. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1205. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01205
- Fang F, Xiao W, Tian Z. NK cell-based immunotherapy for cancer. Semin Immunol. (2017) 31:37–54. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2017.07.009
- Abel AM, Yang C, Thakar MS, Malarkannan S. Natural killer cells: development, maturation, and clinical utilization. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1869. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01869
- 190. Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Casucci M, Volpi I, Tosti A, Perruccio K, et al. Role of natural killer cell alloreactivity in HLA-mismatched hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (1999) 94:333–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V94.1.333.413a31_333_339
- 191. Miller JS, Soignier Y, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McNearney SA, Yun GH, Fautsch SK, et al. Successful adoptive transfer and *in vivo* expansion of human haploidentical NK cells in patients with cancer. *Blood.* (2005) 105:3051–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2974
- 192. Curti A, Ruggeri L, D'Addio A, Bontadini A, Dan E, Motta MR, et al. Successful transfer of alloreactive haploidentical KIR ligand-mismatched natural killer cells after infusion in elderly high risk acute myeloid leukemia patients. *Blood*. (2011) 118:3273–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-01-329508
- 193. Rezvani K, Rouce RH. The application of natural killer cell immunotherapy for the treatment of cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:578. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00578
- 194. Guillerey C, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. Targeting natural killer cells in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:1025–36. doi: 10.1038/ni.3518
- 195. Veluchamy JP, Kok N, van der Vliet HJ, Verheul HMW, de Gruijl TD, Spanholtz J. The rise of allogeneic natural killer cells as a platform for cancer immunotherapy: recent innovations and future developments. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:631. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00631
- 196. Cichocki F, Valamehr B, Bjordahl R, Zhang B, Rezner B, Rogers P, et al. GSK3 inhibition drives maturation of NK cells and enhances their antitumor activity. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:5664–75. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0799
- 197. Cifaldi L, Locatelli F, Marasco E, Moretta L, Pistoia V. Boosting natural killer cell-based immunotherapy with anticancer drugs: a perspective.

Trends Mol Med. (2017) 23:1156-75. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2017. 10.002

- 198. Rezvani K. Adoptive cell therapy using engineered natural killer cells. Bone Marrow Transplant. (2019) 54(Suppl 2):785–8. doi: 10.1038/s41409-019-0601-6
- 199. Zhang C, Oberoi P, Oelsner S, Waldmann A, Lindner A, Tonn T, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-engineered NK-92 cells: an off-theshelf cellular therapeutic for targeted elimination of cancer cells and induction of protective antitumor immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:533. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00533
- 200. Oberschmidt O, Kloess S, Koehl U. Redirected primary human chimeric antigen receptor natural killer cells as an "off-the-shelf immunotherapy" for improvement in cancer treatment. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:654. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00654
- 201. Li Y, Hermanson DL, Moriarity BS, Kaufman DS. Human iPSCderived natural killer cells engineered with chimeric antigen receptors enhance anti-tumor activity. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2018) 23:181–92 e185. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.06.002
- 202. Jochems C, Hodge JW, Fantini M, Fujii R, Morillon YM 2nd, Greiner JW, et al. An NK cell line (haNK) expressing high levels of granzyme and engineered to express the high affinity CD16 allele. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:86359–373. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13411
- 203. Chen X, Han J, Chu J, Zhang L, Zhang J, Chen C, et al. A combinational therapy of EGFR-CAR NK cells and oncolytic herpes simplex virus 1 for breast cancer brain metastases. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:27764–77. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8526
- 204. Schonfeld K, Sahm C, Zhang C, Naundorf S, Brendel C, Odendahl M, et al. Selective inhibition of tumor growth by clonal NK cells expressing an ErbB2/HER2-specific chimeric antigen receptor. *Mol Ther.* (2015) 23:330–8. doi: 10.1038/mt.2014.219
- 205. Zhang C, Burger MC, Jennewein L, Genssler S, Schonfeld K, Zeiner P, et al. ErbB2/HER2-specific NK cells for targeted therapy of glioblastoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2015) 108. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djv375
- 206. Murakami T, Nakazawa T, Natsume A, Nishimura F, Nakamura M, Matsuda R, et al. Novel human NK cell line carrying CAR targeting EGFRvIII induces antitumor effects in glioblastoma cells. *Anticancer Res.* (2018) 38:5049–56. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.12824
- 207. Esser R, Muller T, Stefes D, Kloess S, Seidel D, Gillies SD, et al. NK cells engineered to express a GD2 -specific antigen receptor display built-in ADCC-like activity against tumour cells of neuroectodermal origin. J Cell Mol Med. (2012) 16:569–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2011. 01343.x
- Sahm C, Schonfeld K, Wels WS. Expression of IL-15 in NK cells results in rapid enrichment and selective cytotoxicity of gene-modified effectors that carry a tumor-specific antigen receptor. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2012) 61:1451–61. doi: 10.1007/s00262-012-1212-x
- 209. Jong AY, Wu CH, Li J, Sun J, Fabbri M, Wayne AS, et al. Largescale isolation and cytotoxicity of extracellular vesicles derived from activated human natural killer cells. *J Extracell Vesicles*. (2017) 6:1294368. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2017.1294368
- 210. Zhu L, Oh JM, Gangadaran P, Kalimuthu S, Baek SH, Jeong SY, et al. Targeting and therapy of glioblastoma in a mouse model using exosomes derived from natural killer cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:824. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00824

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Melaiu, Lucarini, Cifaldi and Fruci. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





High Cytotoxic Efficiency of Lentivirally and Alpharetrovirally Engineered CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor Natural Killer Cells Against Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

Stephan Müller^{1,2}, Tobias Bexte^{1,2,3}, Veronika Gebel^{1,2}, Franziska Kalensee^{1,2}, Eva Stolzenberg^{1,2}, Jessica Hartmann⁴, Ulrike Koehl^{5,6,7}, Axel Schambach^{8,9}, Winfried S. Wels^{3,10,11}, Ute Modlich¹² and Evelyn Ullrich^{1,2,3,11*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Olive, Aix Marseille Université, France

Reviewed by:

Els Verhoeyen, INSERM, France David Barrett, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States Yangbing Zhao, University of Pennsylvania, United States

*Correspondence:

Evelyn Ullrich Evelyn.Ullrich@kgu.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 15 July 2019 Accepted: 23 December 2019 Published: 24 January 2020

Citation:

Müller S, Bexte T, Gebel V, Kalensee F, Stolzenberg E, Hartmann J, Koehl U, Schambach A, Wels WS, Modlich U and Ullrich E (2020) High Cytotoxic Efficiency of Lentivirally and Alpharetrovirally Engineered CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor Natural Killer Cells Against Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Front. Immunol. 10:3123. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03123 ¹ Experimental Immunology, Department for Children and Adolescents Medicine, University Hospital Frankfurt, Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, ² Division of Pediatric Stem Cell Transplantation and Immunology, Department for Children and Adolescents Medicine, University Hospital Frankfurt, Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, ³ German Cancer Consortium (DKTK) Partner Site Frankfurt/Mainz, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, ⁴ Division of Medical Biotechnology, Paul-Ehrlich-Institut, Langen, Germany, ⁵ Fraunhofer Institute for Cell Therapy and Immunology (IZI), Leipzig, Germany, ⁶ Institute of Cellular Therapeutics, Hannover Medical School, Hanover, Germany, ⁷ Institute of Clinical Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany, ⁸ Institute of Experimental Hematology, Hannover Medical School, Hanover, Germany, ⁹ Division of Hematology/Oncology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ¹⁰ Georg-Speyer-Haus, Institute for Tumor Biology and Experimental Therapy, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, ¹¹ Frankfurt Cancer Institute, Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, ¹² Research Group for Gene Modification in Stem Cells, Division of Veterinary Medicine, Paul-Ehrlich Institute, Langen, Germany

Autologous chimeric antigen receptor-modified (CAR) T cells with specificity for CD19 showed potent antitumor efficacy in clinical trials against relapsed and refractory B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL). Contrary to T cells, natural killer (NK) cells kill their targets in a non-antigen-specific manner and do not carry the risk of inducing graft vs. host disease (GvHD), allowing application of donor-derived cells in an allogenic setting. Hence, unlike autologous CAR-T cells, therapeutic CD19-CAR-NK cells can be generated as an off-the-shelf product from healthy donors. Nevertheless, genetic engineering of peripheral blood (PB) derived NK cells remains challenging and optimized protocols are needed. In our study, we aimed to optimize the generation of CD19-CAR-NK cells by retroviral transduction to improve the high antileukemic capacity of NK cells. We compared two different retroviral vector platforms, the lentiviral and alpharetroviral, both in combination with two different transduction enhancers (Retronectin and Vectofusin-1). We further explored different NK cell isolation techniques (NK cell enrichment and CD3/CD19 depletion) to identify the most efficacious methods for genetic engineering of NK cells. Our results demonstrated that transduction of NK cells with RD114-TR pseudotyped retroviral vectors, in combination with Vectofusin-1 was the most efficient method to generate CD19-CAR-NK cells. Retronectin was potent in enhancing lentiviral/VSV-G gene delivery to NK cells but not alpharetroviral/RD114-TR. Furthermore, the Vectofusin-based transduction of NK cells with CD19-CARs

96

delivered by alpharetroviral/RD114-TR and lentiviral/RD114-TR vectors outperformed lentiviral/VSV-G vectors. The final generated CD19-CAR-NK cells displayed superior cytotoxic activity against CD19-expressing target cells when compared to non-transduced NK cells achieving up to 90% specific killing activity. In summary, our findings present the use of RD114-TR pseudotyped retroviral particles in combination with Vectofusin-1 as a successful strategy to genetically modify PB-derived NK cells to achieve highly cytotoxic CD19-CAR-NK cells at high yield.

Keywords: chimeric antigen receptor, natural killer cells, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, alpharetroviral vector, lentiviral vector, gene therapy, CD19

INTRODUCTION

Treatment of refractory and relapsed B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) is challenging and relies on therapies such as chemotherapy, monoclonal antibodies, and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (1). Nevertheless, the outcome of these patients remains poor (2, 3). In clinical trials, autologous chimeric antigen receptor-modified (CAR) T cells with specificity for CD19 showed potent antitumor efficacy against relapsed and refractory B-ALL (4–8). However, the usage of CAR-T cells is restricted to an autologous setting as allogenic T cells, even if HLA-matched, carry the risk of inducing graft vs. host disease (GvHD) (9, 10). Additionally, generation of relevant doses of CAR-T cells for heavily pretreated patients suffering from lymphopenia may be impracticable. Hence, an allogenic product for those patients might offer a suitable alternative.

Natural killer (NK) cells are cytolytic lymphocytes that represent the first line of defense against aberrant cells caused by viral infections or malignancies (11, 12). Contrary to T cells, they do not cause GvHD, allowing application of donorderived cells in an allogenic setting, which has been successfully demonstrated with cytokine expanded donor-derived NK cells (13–18). Therefore, CAR-NK cells generated as an off-the-shelf product from healthy donors, offer an alternative to CAR-T cells. Additionally, NK cells kill their targets in a non-antigen-specific manner using germ-line encoded receptors which recognize and kill aberrant cells (19, 20). Thereby, NK cells detect aberrant cells, which express elevated levels of stress induced ligands ("induced self") (21, 22), or cells, which downregulate or lose their human leukocytes antigen (HLA) I molecules ("missing self") (23, 24), a mechanism to escape T cell mediated killing (25). Furthermore, most NK cells express CD16 (Fc γ RIII), which allows them to mediate antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (11). Taken together, CD19-CAR-NK cells might attack tumor cells utilizing both the CAR-dependent and CAR-independent NK-cell intrinsic mechanisms, potentially killing a heterogeneous tumor cell population.

NK cells for genetic modification can be derived from different sources. The NK cell line NK-92 is widely used for CAR-NK cell engineering (26) and expressing CD19-specific CARs, they already showed high cytotoxic activity against leukemic cells (27). Nevertheless, as NK-92 cells are tumor derived cells (28), they must be irradiated prior clinical use to avoid permanent engraftment in patients. Additionally, they do not express CD16 and thus are unable to mediate ADCC (28, 29). Another possible source for CAR-NK cell engineering are NK cells enriched from peripheral blood (PB) (30). Compared to NK cell lines, they express a wider range of activating receptors (31) and do not require irradiation, making them a favorable NK cell source. First clinical trials using CAR-NK cells derived from a variety of sources (including PB-derived NK cells) have been started (32, 33).

To date, genetic engineering of PB-derived NK cells remains challenging, mainly as gene transfer efficiency into NK cells is low. Mostly retroviral vectors are used to genetically modify NK cells and a variety of protocols including different viral vector systems (alpharetroviral, gammaretroviral, or lentiviral), culture conditions and transduction enhancers are described [for review see (34)]. Often, genetically modified K562 cells, a tumor derived cell line, are used as feeder cells to enhance expansion [for review see (35)] and transduction of NK cells (36, 37). Previous approaches generated CD19-CAR-NK cells from PB-derived NK cells containing variable levels of CAR⁺ cells depending on the used protocol. In a feeder cell-based protocol a high number of transduced cells was achieved (36). In contrast, PB-derived NK cells cultured and transduced in a feeder cell-free protocol underperformed, reaching only low amounts of transduced cells (38). Hence, optimized feeder cell-free protocols achieving transduced NK cells at high yield are lacking.

Abbreviations: ADCC, antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity; ASCT-2, acronym for Alanine, Serine, Cysteine Transporter 2. A sodium-dependent neutral amino acid transporter; BaEV, modified baboon envelope glycoprotein; B-ALL, B-cell lymphoblastic acute leukemia; BSA, bovine serum albumin; CAR, chimeric antigen receptor; CBA, cytometric bead array; CD, cluster of differentiation; CFSE, carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester; DAPI, 4',6diamidino-2-phenylindole; DMEM, Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium; E:T, effector to target ratio; EGFP, enhanced green fluorescence protein; FBS, fetal bovine serum; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; GvHD, graft vs. host disease; HBSS/HEPES, Hank's balanced salt solution containing 2,5% of 1M HEPES, 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid; HEK, human embryonic kidney; HLA, human leukocytes antigen; IFN-y, interferon gamma; IL-15, interleukin 15; LV, lentiviral; MFI, mean fluorescence intensity; MIP-1a, macrophage inflammatory protein 1-alpha; MOI, multiplicity of infection, NK cell, natural killer cell; ns, not significant; NT-NK cell, nontransduced natural killer cell; PB, peripheral blood; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cell; PBS, phosphate-buffered saline; Pen/Strep, Penicillin and Streptomycin; RD114-TR, modified version of the feline endogenous retrovirus (RD-114 virus) envelope; RPMI, Roswell Park Memorial Institute; scFv, singlechain variable fragment; SD, standard deviation; SFFV, Spleen Focus-Forming Virus; SIN, Self-Inactivating; SP, signal peptide; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor alpha; VSV-G, vesicular stomatitis virus G glycoprotein; α, alpharetroviral.

In our study, we focused on optimizing the generation of PBderived CD19-CAR-NK cells by viral transduction using a feeder cell-free culture. In addition to earlier studies, we compared lentiviral and alpharetroviral transduction, different transduction enhancers (Retronectin and Vectofusin-1) and NK cell isolation methods (NK cell enrichment and CD3/CD19 depletion) to identify the most efficient methods for genetic engineering of NK cells. Finally, we generated CD19-CAR-NK cells at high yield with an increased cell killing activity of leukemic cells.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Lines

Human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293T cells and human fibrosarcoma cell line HT1080 were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% L-glutamine (all Gibco). The cells were split every 2–3 days. Chronic myologenous erythroleukemia cell line K562 was cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 medium, GlutaMAX (Gibco) containing 10% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Pen/Strep; Gibco). ALL cell line Sup-B15 was cultured in RPMI 1640 medium, GlutaMAX supplemented with 15% FBS and 1% Pen/Strep. Both leukemic cell lines were split every 3–4 days.

Isolation of NK Cells

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Goethe University Frankfurt, Germany (approval no. 329/10). All participants gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. NK cells were isolated from freshly generated, healthy and anonymous donor buffy coats provided by the German Red Cross Blood Donation Service (DRK-Blutspendedienst Baden-Württemberg-Hessen, Frankfurt, Germany) using Ficoll density gradient centrifugation (Biocoll, Biochrom) to isolate peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and finally enrich NK cells by immunomagnetic negative selection. Enrichment of NK cells were performed either using EasySep Human NK cell Enrichment Kit (in the following referred to as NK cell enrichment) or a combination of using EasySep Human CD3 Positive Selection Kit II and EasySep Human CD19 Positive Selection Kit II (in the following referred to as CD3/CD19 depletion) according to manufacturer's instructions (all StemCell Technologies). The CD3/CD19 depletion uses positive selection of T cells and B cells to deplete them from unbound PBMCs mainly CD56⁺CD3⁻ NK cells and other remaining lymphocytes (mainly CD14⁺ dendritic cells, monocytes etc.). NK cell purity and characterization were determined by flow cytometry using fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies against CD56 BV421 (clone NCAM16.2), CD3 BUV395 (clone SK7), CD19 BB515 (clone HIB19), CD20 BUV737 (clone 2H7), CD45 BV510 (clone HI30) (all BD Biosciences), CD14 BV711 (clone M5E2), and CD16 PE (clone 3G8) (both Biolegend). Detailed gating strategy is shown in the Supplementary Figure 1. Freshly isolated cells were cultured in X-VIVO 10 medium (Lonza) supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated human plasma (DRK-Blutspendedienst), 1% Pen/Strep and 10 ng/ml IL-15 (Peprotech) at a concentration of 2 \times 10⁶ cells/ml (NK cell enrichment) or 3 \times 10⁶ cells/ml (CD3/CD19 depletion).

Retroviral SIN Vectors

The lentiviral EGFP vector (RRL.PPT.SF.GFPpre), the alpharetroviral EGFP vector (AlphaSIN.noTATA) and the lentiviral CD19-CAR vector (S-CD19-CAR-W) have been previously described (27, 39-42). Briefly, the vectors were equipped with a Spleen Focus-Forming Virus (SFFV) promotor to drive expression of the transgene cassettes (EGFP, secondgeneration CD19-CAR). The second-generation CD19-CAR consists of an immunoglobulin heavy-chain signal peptide (SP), the anti-CD19 single-chain variable fragment (scFv) domain of a murine monoclonal antibody (FMC63) (43), a myc-tag (Myc), a CD8α hinge region, the CD28 transmembrane domain, and a composite CD28-CD3ζ signaling domain (27, 41). The alpharetroviral CD19-CAR vector (Alpha-CD19-CAR) was generated by removing the EGFP transgene of the alpharetroviral EGFP vector and replacing it by the CD19-CAR transgene of the lentiviral CD19-CAR vector. More detailed architectures of vectors are described in the Supplementary Figure 2.

Production of Retroviral Vector Particles and Titer Estimation

Viral vector particles were produced by transfection of HEK 293T cells using the calcium phosphate precipitation method. Twenty-four hours prior to transfection $4-5 \times 10^6$ or $10-11 \times$ 10⁶ HEK 293T cells were seeded on a 10 or 15 cm culture dish in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% L-glutamine (all Gibco). For transfection, the medium was exchanged with DMEM containing 10% FBS, 1% L-glutamine, 1% Pen/Strep, and 25 µM chloroquine (Sigma-Aldrich). To produce lentiviral particles, following amounts of plasmids were added: 10 or 23 µg of the transfer vector (RRL.PPT.SF.GFPpre or S-CD19-CAR-W), 10 or 23 µg of a lentiviral gag/pol plasmid (pcDNA3 g/p 4xCTE) (39), 5 or 11.5 µg of a Rev plasmid (pRSV-Rev) and 1.5 µg or 3.45 µg of VSV-G (pMD2.G) envelope plasmid or 4.5 µg or 9.2 µg of RD114-TR (44) envelope plasmid. For production of alpharetroviral particles 5 or 11.5 µg of the transfer vector (AlphaSIN.noTATA or Alpha-CD19-CAR), 2.5 or 5.75 µg of an alpharetroviral gag/pol plasmid (pcDNA3.ASLV gp co) (40) and 2 or 9.2 µg of RD114-TR envelope plasmid were added. Medium was changed after 12-18 h. Supernatants containing the viral particles were collected 24, 36, and 48 h after transfection. They were filtered through a 0.22 µm filter, concentrated by centrifugation at 50,000 \times g for 1 h (VSV-G, RD114-TR) or overnight at 4,500–11,600 \times g (RD114-TR), resuspended in X-VIVO 10 medium and stored at -80°C. To enhance purification of viral particles some supernatants were centrifuged with the addition of 20% Sucrose/PBS. Viral titers were estimated by transducing HT1080 cells with different volumes of viral supernatant. 50,000 HT1080 cells per well of 12-well plates were seeded. After adherence, serial dilutions of viral supernatant and 4µg/ml protamine sulfate were added. Three days later the percentage of EGFP⁺ or CD19-CAR⁺ cells was quantified by flow cytometry. Titers were calculated using following formula: Titer (viral particles/ml) = 50,000 cells \times transgene positive events (%)/volume of supernatant (ml).

Transduction of Primary Human NK Cells

On day four after isolation, NK cells were transduced with lentiviral and alpharetroviral vector particles. Prior to transduction, NK cell purity (percent amount of CD56⁺CD3⁻ cells) was determined by flow cytometry as described above. NK cell purity was 90.0% for NK cells isolated by NK cell enrichment and 90.9% for NK cells isolated by CD3/CD19 depletion. For Retronectin-mediated transduction, flat bottomed 96-well plates were pre-coated with 25 µg/ml Retronectin (Takara) for at least 2h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. In the next step, Retronectin was removed and wells were blocked for 30 min with PBS containing 2% BSA. The blocking solution was discarded, and wells were washed once with HBSS/HEPES. Viral supernatants were added onto the Retronectin coated wells and the plate was centrifuged at $1,000 \times g$ for 30 min at 4°C. Afterwards, NK cells were added reaching cell densities of 2 $\,\times\,$ 10 $^{6}\,$ cells/ml for transductions with EGFP vectors or 10⁵ cells/ml for transductions with CD19-CAR vectors. Finally, 10 ng/ml IL-15 was added. For Vectofusin-1 (Miltenyi Biotech) based transduction, Vectofusin-1 and viral supernatant were diluted separately in X-VIVO 10 media supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated human plasma and 1% Pen/Strep. Both diluted solutions contained identical volumes, were finally mixed, shortly vortexed and incubated for 5-10 min. Next, the mixture was added to NK cells plated on flat bottomed 96-well plates reaching cell densities of 2 \times 10⁶ cells/ml for transductions with EGFP vectors or 10⁵ cells/ml for transductions with CD19-CAR vectors. The final concentration of Vectofusin-1 was 10 µg/ml per well. Finally, 10 ng/ml IL-15 was added and the plate was centrifuged at 800 \times g for 1.5 h at 32°C. Both protocols contained a change of medium 24 h post-transduction. Half of the medium was discarded and replaced by fresh medium containing 10 ng/ml IL-15. Non-transduced (NT) NK cells of the same donor were used as negative controls. The NT-NK cells were manipulated the exact same way as the transduced (either EGFP or CAR) NK cells except no pseudotyped viral particles were added.

Flow Cytometric Analysis of Transduced NK Cells

Transgene expression, CD16 distribution and contamination with CD3 and CD14 positive cells of gene modified NK cells were analyzed 3 days after transduction by using a BD FACSCelesta flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Fluorochromeconjugated antibodies against CD56 BV786 (clone NCAM16.2), CD16 PE-CF 594 (clone 3G8), CD3 BUV395 (clone Sk7) (all BD Biosciences) and CD14 BV711 (Biolegend) were used. CD19-CAR expression was confirmed with a PE conjugated Myc-tagspecific antibody (clone 9B11, Cell Signaling Technology). NT-NK cells of the same donor were used as negative controls. Data were analyzed using FlowJo (FlowJo LLC). Detailed gating strategy is shown in the **Supplementary Figure 3**.

CD19 Expression and Cytotoxicity Assay

CD19 expression on the surface of K562 and Sup-B15 cells was analyzed by flow cytometry using a fluorochrome-conjugated antibody against CD19 BB515 (clone HIB19; BD Biosciences). Cytotoxicity of NK cells against K562 and Sup-B15 cells was determined in a flow cytometry-based cytotoxicity assay. Assays

were performed with CD19-CAR-NK cells and NT-NK cells of the same donors 3 days after transduction. Target cells were harvested and stained with Cell Trace CFSE proliferation kit (Invitrogen) in a final concentration of 5μ M. Afterwards, they were washed with PBS and resuspended in X-VIVO 10 media supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated human plasma and 1% Pen/Strep. Target cells and NK cells were combined in U-bottom shaped 96-well plates at effector to target (E:T) ratios of 1:1, 0.5:1, 0.25:1, and 0.1:1 for 4 h, using 25,000 target cells per well in a total volume of 100 µl. After a coincubation time of 4 h plates were centrifuged at $300 \times g$ for 5 min, the supernatant was removed, and cells were finally harvested and resuspended in 400 µl DAPI solution (DAPI 1 mg/ml, diluted in PBS at 1:6,000) (AppliChem GmbH). From each well the same amount of target cells was acquired using a BD FACSCelesta flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Dead target cells were identified as CFSE and DAPI double positive and samples of target cells only were used as controls for spontaneous cell lysis. Detailed gating strategy is shown in the Supplementary Figures 5, 6.

Cytometric Bead Array

Cytokine release by NT-NK and CD19-CAR-NK cells was examined using BD Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) analyses (BD Bioscience). Supernatants of NT-NK cells, CD19-CAR-NK cells, and Sup-B15 cells in culture as well as after coculture in cytotoxicity assays (E:T ratio of 1:1) were frozen at -80° C. Cytokine concentrations in supernatants were measured using BD CBA Flex Sets for granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF), tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α ; macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 α and interferon (IFN)- γ (BD Biosciences). The tests were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Data were acquired with the BD FACSVerse Bioanalyzer and were quantitated using the FCAP Array software (v3.0.1; BD Biosciences).

Long Term Culture of NK Cells

For long term culture of CD19-CAR-NK and NT-NK cells, NK cells were cultured in NK MACS medium (Miltenyi Biotec) supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated human plasma, 1% Pen/Strep, and 10 ng/ml IL-15 at a starting concentration of 1×10^6 cells/ml on the day of transduction (day 0). On day 3, 7, 11, and 14 post-transduction, transduction efficiency was determined by flow cytometry. On these days, NK cells were additionally counted, and the cell number was adjusted to 2×10^6 cells/ml in fresh NK MACS medium (5% heat-inactivated human plasma, 1% Pen/Strep, and 10 ng/ml IL-15) for expansion analysis.

Statistical Analysis

For statistical analysis, under the assumption of normal distribution of the NK function in healthy donors, data were analyzed by two-tailed paired *t*-test. The resulting approximatively p < 0.05 were considered significant and are indicated in the results. Only data from experiments with three or more donors ($n \ge 3$) were considered for statistical analysis. Statistical calculations were performed with GraphPad PRISM version 8 (GraphPad Software, Inc.).

RESULTS

Vectofusin-1 Promotes Lentiviral Transduction of NK Cells as Efficient as Retronectin

To identify the most efficacious method for genetic engineering of NK cells, we first focused on optimizing transduction of NK cells with lentiviral vectors. For that purpose, NK cells isolated from PBMCs by NK cell enrichment or CD3/CD19 depletion were pre-activated for 4 days with low dose IL-15 (10 ng/ml) prior to lentiviral transduction comparing two transduction enhancers, afterwards the gene modified NK cells were continuously cultured in IL-15 for at least 3 days when finally phenotyping was performed (**Figure 1A**). NK cells isolated by NK cell enrichment were transduced with the VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral EGFP vector comparing Retronectin and Vectofusin-1 for enhancement (**Figure 1B**). Overall transduction rates did not significantly differ between both protocols. Mean



FIGURE 1 Comparative lentiviral transduction of NK cells using Retronectin and Vectofusin-1. (A) Scheme of the transduction procedure. NK cells were isolated from PBMCs either by NK cell enrichment or CD3/CD19 depletion and cultivated for 4 days with IL-15 prior to transduction comparing the enhancers Retronectin and Vectofusin-1. After transduction, NK cells were cultivated for 3 days with IL-15 until transduction efficiency was analyzed by flow cytometry. (B) NK cells from three donors (n = 3) were transduced with VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral EGFP particles at two different multiplicities of infection (MOI) and with two different transduction enhancers. (C) Gating strategy to estimate the transduction efficiency of NK cells transduced with VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral CD19-CAR particles (e.g., for more detailed gating strategy see **Supplementary Material**). NK cells were identified as CD56⁺CD3⁻ leukocytes (first and second column). From those CD19-CAR⁺ NK cells were estimated (third column). In the first and second row representative data of NK cells are depicted that were transduced with Vectofusin-1 at MOI 5 vs. NT-NK cells are shown. Percentage of false positive CD19-CAR events in NT-NK cells was subtracted from the percentages measured in the belonging transduced NK cells. Shown are the dot plots of one donor. (D) NK cells from four donors (n = 4) were transduced with VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral CD19-CAR particles at shown MOIs and with two different transduction enhancers. Shown are mean values + SD. Statistical analysis was performed using two-tailed student's paired *t*-test. No significant differences were observed between analyzed groups in (**B**,**D**) as *p*-values were >0.05.

transduction rates of 12.9% with Retronectin and 12.8% with Vectofusin-1 were reached at MOI 10. A higher MOI of 50 could increase the rates up to 17.5% with Retronectin and 20.1% with Vectofusin-1. Next, we addressed generation of CD19-CAR-NK cells out of NK cells isolated by NK cell enrichment using the lentiviral second-generation CD19-CAR (lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR) and compared the two transduction enhancers (Figures 1C,D). We could confirm the equality of Vectofusin-1 and Retronectin in their ability to enhance lentiviral gene delivery using the CD19-CAR. Transduction efficiencies of NK cells highly varied between different donors and, taken all MOIs together, a span of 0-34.0% transduced cells was reached. Using higher MOIs of 20 and 50 did not improve transduction efficiencies and a decline in total viable cells was observed with these MOIs (data not shown), so that the maximum used MOI was 10. The highest rates of transduced cells reached with Retronectin were 28.7% (MOI 5) and with Vectofusin-1 34.0% (MOI 10). Comparing mean transduction efficiencies, the best condition with the highest transduction rates was Vectofusin-1 combined with MOI 10 reaching 14.7% CD19-CAR-NK cells. Overall there was no significant difference between Retronectin or Vectofusin-1 based lentiviral transduction to generate CD19-CAR-NK cells.

Different Isolation Methods Are Suitable for the Generation of CD19-CAR-NK Cells

After we had established Vectofusin-1 based transduction of NK cells with VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors, we used this procedure in further lentiviral transduction experiments. Reason for this was the shorter and simpler usage of Vectofusin-1 compared to Retronectin. In the next step, we addressed whether NK cells isolated by CD3/CD19 depletion for genetic engineering may be more suitable for transduction with VSV-G pseudotyped second generation CD19-CAR lentiviral vectors as remaining bystander cells might support successful transduction. For that, NK cells isolated by different protocols from the same donors were compared. Overall, no significant differences on transduction efficiency could be observed between both isolation methods (Figure 2A, a representative dot plot is shown in Supplementary Figure 4). At MOI 10 highest rates of CD19-CAR-NK cells were reached for both isolation methods: 13.7% CD19-CAR-NK cells for CD3/CD19 depleted NK cells and 20.8% CD19-CAR-NK cells for NK cells isolated by NK cell enrichment. Mean fluorescence intensities (MFIs) of CD19-CAR-NK cells were on a same level for both isolation methods, regardless of used MOI (Figure 2B). Interestingly, highest MFIs for both isolation methods were reached with MOI 1. Furthermore, we analyzed CD19-CAR expression of NK cell subpopulations. Subpopulations are defined as CD56^{high}CD16⁻ (hereinafter: CD16⁻) and cytotoxic CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ NK cells (hereinafter: CD16⁺). In general, NK cell subpopulation distribution was not influenced by transduction (Supplementary Figure 7). Remarkably, CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations did not significantly differ when compared within one isolation method, nor when one subgroup from one isolation method was compared with the belonging subgroup from the other isolation method (**Figure 2C**). Overall the relative CD19-CAR expression of the CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations matched with the CD19-CAR expression of the total NK cell population (**Figures 2A,C**).

Alpharetroviral/RD114-TR Engineering of CD19-CAR-NK Cells Outperforms Lentiviral/VSV-G Engineering of CD19-CAR-NK Cells

Even though CD19-CAR-NK cells could be generated using lentiviral transduction, the resulting efficiencies remained on a moderate level independent of the used protocols. To further improve transduction efficiencies of NK cells to obtain genetically modified NK cells at high yield, we compared not only transduction efficiency, but also function of lentiviral and alpharetroviral CD19-CAR-vectors (Figure 3A). Previous work could show the feasibility of the alpharetroviral system for the genetic engineering of NK cells (45). For our study, alpharetroviral vectors were pseudotyped with RD114-TR because higher functional infectivity could be achieved with this envelope (own unpublished data) (40, 45). First, NK cells were transduced with the alpharetroviral EGFP vector comparing Retronectin and Vectofusin-1 based transduction. Interestingly, Vectofusin-1 promoted alpharetroviral transduction of NK cells better than Retronectin, reaching up to 70% transduced cells (Figure 3B). Next, we generated a CD19-CAR alpharetroviral vector by substituting the EGFP transgene cassette of the alpharetroviral EGFP vector for the second-generation CD19-CAR cassette of the lentiviral CD19-CAR vector. Vectofusin-1 based transduction of NK cells was performed using the new alpharetroviral CD19-CAR vector (alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR) and the lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR vector. Across all MOIs the alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR vector outperformed the lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR vector, reaching up to 82.9% transduced NK cells (Figure 3C). The lentiviral/VSV-G vector reached similar transduction rates of CD19-CAR-NK cells compared to previous results (Figures 1D, 2A). In our study, MFIs of alpharetroviral/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells were significantly higher than those of lentiviral/VSV-G generated CD19-CAR-NK cells at MOI 5 and MOI 10 (Figure 3D), but did not differ at MOI 1. However, with higher MOI, the density of CAR-expression measured by MFI decreased following lentiviral/VSV-G CARtransduction but increased following alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduction (Figure 3D). Again, we analyzed the NK cell subpopulation distribution and their CD19-CAR expression. NK cell subpopulation distribution was neither influenced by lentiviral/VSV-G transduction nor by alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduction (Supplementary Figure 8). CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ subpopulations did not significantly differ when compared within the viral vector system (Figure 3E) and matched with the CD19-CAR expression of the total NK cell population (Figure 3C). Overall, CD19-CAR expression of alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR transduced NK cell subpopulations outperformed those of lentiviral/VSV-G transduced NK cell subpopulations (Figures 3C-E).



CD19-CAR-NK Cell Products Produce High Levels of Inflammatory Cytokines

To further evaluate functional capacities of the CAR modified NK cells, cytokine production of GM-CSF, TNF-a, MIP-1a, and IFN-y of lentivirally/VSV-G and alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells (both at MOI 5) was analyzed 3 days after transduction upon expansion in low dose IL-15 alone and in context of co-culturing with target-specific Sup-B15 ALL cells at an E:T ratio of 1:1 for 4 h. As controls, supernatant of Sup-B15 cells was analyzed. In general, CD19-CAR-NK cells tend to release more cytokines than NT-NK cells from the same donors regardless of target cell contact (Figure 4). This trend could be especially observed for CD19-CAR-NK cells transduced with lentiviral/VSV-G vectors (Figure 4A) for the release of MIP-1 α and for CD19-CAR-NK cells transduced with alpharetroviral/RD114-TR vectors (Figure 4B) for the release of GM-CSF, TNF-a, MIP-1a, and IFN-y. Of note, significant changes could only be observed for the release of MIP-1 α of lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells upon contact with CAR specific target cells (**Figure 4A**) compared to NT-NK cells as well as compared to CD19-CAR-NK cells without target co-incubation. In the context of alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR transduced CD19-CAR-NK cells a slightly higher cytokine release of all analyzed cytokines could be shown, with significant changes only for GM-CSF (**Figure 4B**).

Alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR Generated CD19-CAR-NK Cell Products Surpass Killing Efficiencies of Lentivirally/VSV-G Generated CD19-CAR-NK Cell Products

Next, the cytotoxic potential of lentivirally/VSV-G and alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells needed further assessment (scheme **Figure 3A**). For that, CD19-negative K562 erythroleukemia cells and CD19-expressing Sup-B15 ALL cells (**Figure 5A**) were stained with CFSE and used as targets in a 4h flow cytometry-based



FIGURE 3 Transduction rates of alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR modified NK cells outperform those of lentivirally/VSV-G modified NK cells. (A) Scheme of the comparative transduction procedure. NK cells were isolated from PBMCs by NK cell enrichment and cultivated for 4 days under the influence of IL-15 prior to transduction comparing the enhancers Retronectin and Vectofusin-1 and the lentiviral (LV) and alpharetroviral (α) vector system. After transduction, NK cells were cultivated for 3 days with IL-15 until transduction efficiency was analyzed by flow cytometry and functional assays were performed. (B) NK cells from three donors (n = 3) were transduced with RD114-TR pseudotyped alpharetroviral EGFP particles at shown MOIs. (C) Vectofusin-1 mediated transduction of NK cells from four donors (n = 4) was performed with RD114-TR pseudotyped alpharetroviral CD19-CAR particles or VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral CD19-CAR particles at different MOIs. (D) MFI of CD19-CAR in transduced cells. Data show average MFIs of CD19-CAR⁺ cells transduced with depicted MOIs as shown in (B). (E) CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations. CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations. CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations of transduced cells depicted in (B) are shown (n = 4). Shown are mean values + SD. Statistical analysis was performed using two-tailed student's paired *t*-test. **p < 0.05; *p < 0.05; sn, not significant.

cytotoxicity assay (for details see Materials and Methods). Lentivirally/VSV-G and alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells (both at MOI 5) and NT-NK cells were co-incubated with K562 or target-specific Sup-B15 for 4 h at E:T ratio of 1:1 (**Figure 5B**) or lower amount of effector cells (**Figures 5C,D**). In general, under assumption of normal distribution of NK cell function of healthy donors, CD19-CAR-NK cells showed a higher killing efficiency of CD19-expressing Sup-B15 cells than NT-NK cells (**Figures 5B-D**). At an E:T ratio of 1:1 the mean specific lysis of Sup-B15 was 90.5% for alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells, 62.5% for lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells and 9.0% for NT-NK cells (**Figure 5B**). Interestingly, at an E:T ratio of 0.5:1 still comparable results were obtained (alpharetroviral/RD114-TR: 88.9%, lentiviral/VSV-G: 58.3%, NT-NK: 10.3%) (**Figure 5C**). As expected, lysis of CD19-negative K562 cells was on an equal level for all three NK cell preparations, without any significant difference between alpharetroviral/RD114-TR or lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells and NT-NK cells (**Figures 5B,C**). Mean transduction efficiencies of alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells. In an additional assay, E:T ratios down to 0.1:1 were tested against Sup-B15 cells as targets. Even at low effector cell concentrations alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR



Could a formed a point secretion of CD19-CAR-NK cells. IN FINK cells, and Sup-B15 cells were cultured alone. Levels of GM-CSF, TNF- α , MIP-1 α , and IFN- γ within the supernatants were measured using a cytometric bead array. (A) Shows cytokine secretion of lentiviral/XSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells in comparison to NT-NK cells from three donors (n = 3). Average transduction efficiency of used CD19-CAR-NK cells was 9.1% (range 7.3–11.6%). (B) Shows cytokine secretion of alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells in comparison to NT-NK cells from three donors (n = 3). Average transduction efficiency of used CD19-CAR-NK cells was 15.8% (range 8.1–20.3%). Experiments in (A) were performed with different donors than experiments in (B). Shown are mean values + SD. Statistical analysis was performed using two-tailed student's paired *t*-test. *p < 0.05. No significant differences were observed between analyzed groups without asterisks.

generated CD19-CAR-NK cells remained highly cytotoxic and induced 85.2% lysed cells at an E:T ratio of 0.1:1 (Figure 5D). Contrary, lentiviral/VSV-G generated CD19-CAR-NK cells showed reduced cytotoxicity levels at lower effector cell numbers (Figure 5D). In this experiment, transduction efficiency of alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells was 60.5% and 6.9% of lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells. Calculating the total number of CD19-CAR-NK cells in the NK cell products, comparable values were obtained for lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells at E:T ratio of 1:1 (total of 1725 CD19-CAR-NK cells) and alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells at E:T ratio of 0.1:1 (total of 1512 CD19-CAR-NK cells). Notably, the comparison of specific lysis of these two conditions (lentiviral/VSV-G E:T 1:1 specific lysis of 59.7% Sup-B15 cells; alpharetroviral/RD114-TR E:T 0.1:1 specific lysis of 85.2% Sup-B15 cells) revealed that alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR transduced CD19-CAR-NK cells showed a higher cytotoxicity than lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells.

Alpharetroviral and Lentiviral Vectors Perform Equally When Pseudotyped With RD114-TR

Finally, we investigated if the observed high transduction efficiencies using alpharetroviral vectors pseudotyped with RD114-TR were related to the alpharetroviral vector system or to the RD114-TR envelope. Prior transduction on day 4 we observed upregulation of the sodium-dependent neutral amino acid transporter 2 (ASCT2, also known as SLC1A5)

in NK cells pre-activated with low dose IL-15 (10 ng/ml) (Supplementary Figure 10). ASCT2 serves as receptor for the feline endogenous retrovirus RD114, of which the RD114-TR envelope was derived (44, 46). As ASCT2 was upregulated, we hypothesized that RD114-TR may be the reason for high transduction rates using alpharetroviral/RD114-TR vectors and concluded a lentiviral vector pseudotyped with RD114-TR might perform equally well. Therefore, NK cells from the same donor were transduced with the lentiviral CD19-CAR vector pseudotyped with RD114-TR (lentiviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR). NK cells transduced with either the alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR vector or the lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR vector served as controls. Across all MOIs lentiviral/RD114-TR transduction performed equally compared to alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduction, as no significant differences were observed between both groups (Figure 6A). Additionally, the lentiviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR vector could also outperform the lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR vector at MOI 1 and MOI 5. Highest transduction efficiencies reached with the lentiviral/RD114-TR transduction was 40.6% (MOI 10). The alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR vector performed similar and the highest efficiency it reached was 47.7% (MOI 10). Once more, we analyzed the NK cell subpopulation distribution and their CD19-CAR expression. NK cell subpopulation distribution was neither influenced by lentiviral transduction nor by alpharetroviral transduction (Supplementary Figure 9, data for lentiviral/VSV-G not shown). Interestingly, in the NK cell population transduced with the lentiviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR vector, CD16⁺ cells showed a higher CD19-CAR expression (Figure 6B). For NK cells



FIGURE 5 | Comparison of cytotoxic capacity of CD19-CAR-NK cells generated by lentiviral/VSV-G or alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduction. (A) CD19 expression on the surface of K562 and Sup-B15 leukemia cells was analyzed by flow cytometry with a CD19-specific antibody (filled areas). Unstained cells were used as controls (empty areas). (B,C) Cytotoxic activity of NT-NK cells, lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells and alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells against K562 and Sup-B15 cells was determined in a flow cytometry-based cytotoxicity assay after a coincubation time of 4 h and with different E:T ratios. Average transduction efficiency of used lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells was 4.3% (range 2.9–6.9%), of used alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells was 62.1% (range 56.1–69.6%). Shown are mean values + SD from co-incubations using NK cells of three different donors (n = 3). (D) Cytotoxic activity of NT-NK cells, lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells against Sup-B15 at decreasing E:T ratios. Shown is a co-incubation using NK cells of one representative donor. Statistical analysis was performed using two-tailed student's paired t-test. ****p < 0.001; ***p < 0.001; **p < 0.00

transduced with the alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR vector this could only be observed at MOI 1, as at higher MOIs comparable results to **Figure 3E** were achieved and CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ subpopulations did not significantly differ. Overall, CD19-CAR expression of alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR transduced NK cell populations were similar to those of lentivirally/RD114-TR transduced NK cell populations. Exceptions were observed for MOI 5 and MOI 10, as the alpharetroviral CD16⁻ subpopulation expressed more CD19-CAR than the lentiviral CD16⁻ subpopulation.

Next, we investigated transgene expression and expansion of generated CD19-CAR-NK cells over time. Therefore CD19-CAR-NK cells were generated using the lentiviral/ RD114-TR CD19-CAR vector and the alpharetroviral/RD114-TR vector at MOIs 3–5, kept in culture with 10 ng/ml IL-15 and were analyzed by flow cytometry and counted every 3–4 days. First, we observed a decrease of the CD19-CAR expression for alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells (**Figure 6C**). But later on, CD19-CAR expression remained on a stable level for these cells. Lentivirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells expressed the CD19-CAR on an evenly level throughout the 14 days observation time (**Figure 6C**). Interestingly one donor could even increase the CD19-CAR expression level (from 15.3% on day 3 to 19.3% on day 14). Expansion of CD19-CAR-NK cells did not differ to NT-NK cells from the same donors, even though



FIGURE 6 [iransoluction rates of lentivirally/RD114-1R modified NK cells and alpharetrovirally/RD114-1R modified NK cells do not differ. (A) Vectorusin-1 mediated transduction of NK cells from four donors (n = 4) was performed with RD114-TR pseudotyped lentiviral CD19-CAR particles, RD114-TR pseudotyped alpharetroviral CD19-CAR particles or VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral CD19-CAR particles at different MOIs. (B) CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations. CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ NK cell subpopulations of lentiviral/RD114-TR and alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduced cells depicted in (A) are shown (n = 4). (C) After transduction (day 0), CD19-CAR expression of lentiviral/RD114-TR and alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells was determined by flow cytometry on four serial time points. Data from two donors (n = 2) are shown. (D) Proliferation of NT-NK and CD19-CAR-NK cells was determined over a period of 14 days. Data from two donors (n = 2) are shown. The reason of CD19-CAR-NK cells was determined over a period of 14 test. **p < 0.01; *p < 0.05; ns, not significant.

a slight better expansion could be observed for NT-NK cells (Figure 6D).

Functional and Cytotoxic Capacities of Lentivirally/RD114-TR Generated CD19-CAR-NK Cells Are Comparable to Alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR Generated CD19-CAR-NK Cells

To further evaluate functionality and cytotoxicity of lentivirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells (MOI 3–5), cytokine production and cytotoxicity of these cells was evaluated. Cytokine production of GM-CSF, TNF- α , MIP-1 α , and IFN- γ of lentiviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells was analyzed 3 days after transduction upon expansion in low dose IL-15 alone and in context of co-culturing with target-specific Sup-B15 ALL cells at an E:T ratio of 1:1 for 4 h. As controls, supernatant of Sup-B15 cells was analyzed. In general, we observed similar results as shown in **Figure 4**: lentivirally/RD114-TR

generated CD19-CAR-NK cells tend to release more cytokines than NT-NK cells from the same donors regardless of target cell contact (Figure 7A). To analyze cytotoxic capacities of lentiviral/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells (MOI 3-5), we performed cytotoxicity assays against CD19-negative K562 erythroleukemia cells and CD19-expressing Sup-B15 ALL cells as target cells. NT-NK cells and alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells (MOI 3-5) of the same donor served as controls and coincubations were performed at an E:T ratio of 1:1. Once more, CD19-CAR-NK cells showed a higher killing efficiency of CD19-expressing Sub-B15 cells than NT-NK cells (Figure 7B). Mean specific lysis of Sup-B15 cells was 74.7% for lentiviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells, 73.1% for alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells, and 35.9% for NT-NK cells. Lysis of K562 cells was on an equal level for all three NK cell preparations. Mean transduction efficiencies of lentiviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells were 13.1% and 23.3% for alpharetroviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR-NK cells. The lower transduction efficiencies might explain the lower observed cytotoxic capacities compared to **Figure 5B**. Overall, in this setting lentivirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells performed equally compared to alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells.

DISCUSSION

NK cells modified to express a CD19-specific CAR represent an allogenic alternative to CD19-CAR-T cells for the therapy of relapsed and refractory B-ALL. However, genetic modification of PB-derived NK cells to express a CAR remains difficult. Here, we investigated different ways for genetic engineering of PB-derived NK cells to express a CD19-specific CAR by retroviral vectors. Highest transduction efficiencies were achieved with retroviral CD19-CAR vectors pseudotyped with RD114-TR envelope and combined with Vectofusin-1 as transduction enhancer, generating functional and highly cytotoxic CD19-CAR-NK cells.

Vectofusin-1, also known as LAH4-A4, is a cationic peptide derived from the LAH4 peptide family (47). Initially, LAH4 peptides were used as DNA transfection agents (48), but recent works showed the ability of Vectofusin-1 to promote transduction of human CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem and


progenitor cells (hCD34⁺ HSPCs) and human T cells using a broad range of lentiviral and gammaretroviral pseudotypes, including RD114-TR and at least for hCD34⁺ HSPCs also VSV-G (47, 49, 50). Thereby, Vectofusin-1 was at least as effective as Retronectin in enhancing transduction, and in some cases more effective (47, 50). The two substances act differently enhancing gene delivery into target cells: Retronectin on the one hand is a fibronectin fragment that facilitates colocalization of viruses and target cells by binding viral particles and target cells with different domains (51). On the other hand the exact mechanism of Vectofusin-1 is not completely explored, but it was shown that Vectofusin-1 forms α-helical coiled-coil fibrils that sediment lentiviral particles and therefore increase the local virus concentration along the surface of target cells (52). Main advantage of using Vectofusin-1 instead of Retronectin is its simple usage, because Vectofusin-1 is added directly into the transduction mixture. In comparison, Retronectin needs a pre-coating step, which is more difficult to standardize and extends the transduction process. Comparing both substances in their ability to enhance the transduction of human NK cells, we could show that Vectofusin-1 is as effective as Retronectin in transduction of NK cells using VSV-G pseudotyped lentiviral vectors. Interestingly, in the context of alpharetroviral transduction using a RD114-TR pseudotyped EGFP vector, Vectofusin-1 promoted transduction of NK cells better than Retronectin. Overall, we demonstrated for the transduction of PB-derived NK cells that Vectofusin-1 serves as a promising potential alternative to the frequently used Retronectin.

The second component of the most successful protocol in this study was pseudotyping alpharetroviral and lentiviral vectors with RD114-TR. The alpharetroviral vector system is based on self-inactivating (SIN) alpharetroviral vectors with a split-packaging design (40). These alpharetroviral vectors were successfully used to genetically modify NK cells (45, 53, 54) and outperformed lentiviral and gammaretroviral transduction efficiencies of PB-derived NK cells using EGFP encoding vectors (45). Furthermore, due to its more random integration pattern with lower frequency of integrations in or close to gene coding regions, alpharetroviral vectors can be considered to be safer as insertional oncogenesis is less likely to occur (55, 56). Initially, we observed a superiority of alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduction of NK cells compared to lentiviral/VSV-G transduction, using secondgeneration CD19-CAR encoding vectors. To confirm this, we compared alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduction of NK cells to lentiviral/RD114-TR transduction. Thereby, no superiority of one system could be observed as both viral vector systems performed equally well. Additionally, lentiviral/RD114-TR transduction of NK cells also outperformed lentiviral/VSV-G transduction. Interestingly, these data suggest that the key for a high transduction rate was the pseudotyping of retroviral vectors with RD114-TR. Our findings are consistent with a recent publication by Bari et al., which showed that PB-derived NK cells were poorly transduced by lentiviral/VSV-G based transduction (57). But using a modified baboon envelope glycoprotein (BaEV) (58) to pseudotype lentiviral CD19-CAR particles, an average transduction efficiency of 70% could be reached and ASCT-2 has been proposed as the entry receptor for BaEV (59). Interestingly, ASCT-2 is also the receptor for feline endogenous retrovirus RD114 based envelopes (46). Indeed, we observed high expression of ASCT-2 in low dose IL-15 activated NK cells on the day of transduction. This may explain the success of the RD114-TR envelope and demonstrates how important the knowledge of receptor expression of NK cells is for an effective transduction.

Both CD19-CAR-NK cell preparations generated by RD114-TR pseudotyped retroviral vectors proliferated similar and no significant differences compared to NT-NK cells could be observed. Furthermore, 7–11 days after the transduction procedure, transduced NK cells showed still a stable expression of the CD19-CAR. Interestingly, CD19-CAR expression of alpharetrovirally transduced NK cells declined in the first 7– 11 days, but afterwards a certain plateau was reached. Similar CD19-CAR expression could be observed for lentiviral/RD114-TR and alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduced NK cells at the end of the observation period. Overall, these results indicate that both protocols are suitable to generate a sufficient number of CD19-CAR-NK cells for clinical applications, as the CD19-CAR is stable expressed and transduced cells proliferate as good as NT-NK cells.

Regarding functionality and killing activity, we addressed cytokine production and cytotoxic capacity of CD19-CAR-NK cells transduced with different methods. Independently of a direct contact with the CD19-expressing target cells, CD19-CAR-NK cells tend to release more cytokines than NT-NK cells. This tendency could be observed as a slight increase in production of MIP-1a in lentivirally/VSV-G transduced CD19-CAR-NK cells, and GM-CSF, TNF-a, MIP-1a, and IFN-y in alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR and lentivirally/RD114-TR transduced CD19-CAR-NK cells. However, significant changes could only be observed for the release of MIP-1a of lentiviral/VSV-G CD19-CAR-NK cells and for GM-CSF in alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR transduced CD19-CAR-NK cells compared to NT-NK cells. These observations could be explained by possible influence of genetic engineering using retroviral vectors, as these changes occurred in transduced cells independent of direct contact with target-specific cells.

Concerning the direct cytotoxic potential against CD19-expressing Sup-B15 in comparison to the nontarget specific cytotoxicity against K562 leukemia cells, alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells displayed higher cell killing activity than lentivirally/VSV-G generated CD19-CAR-NK cells. This is most likely in part due to the fact that more NK cells were transduced using the alpharetroviral vector, as lentivirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells with a similar transduction efficiency as alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR generated CD19-CAR-NK cells showed equally good cytotoxic activities against Sup-B15 cells. But if similar numbers of CD19-CAR-NK cells are applied independent of the used vector, CD19-CAR-NK cells generated with the alpharetroviral vector show a better killing performance than those generated by lentiviral/VSV-G transduction. Of note, lentivirally/VSV-G transduced CD19-CAR-NK cells with a significantly lower mean transduction efficiency showed already around 60% killing of Sup-B15 cells. This might point either to an impressively high lytic capacity of each single lentivirally transduced NK cell or to a high and so far underestimated antigen-independent killing mechanism of NT-NK bystander cells. Overall our results demonstrate that, independent of the used retroviral vector for the genetic modification of NK cells, a relative low number of CD19-CAR-NK cells can kill a sufficient amount of target-specific tumor cells.

In general, the remarkably high killing capacity could be explained by serial killing activity of NK cells, as one NK cell is able to hit multiple targets (60, 61). It has been shown that serial killing of tumor cells by cytokine activated CD16⁺ NK cells is increased in the presence of rituximab (62). Therefore, a combination of CD19-CAR-NK cells possessing ADCC with the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody Rituximab may provide a treatment option for aggressive relapsed CD19⁺ and CD20⁺ B-ALL. Pre-clinical data have shown synergistic tumor suppressing action using CD19-CAR-T cells with rituximab on mice inoculated with B cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma (B-NHL) (63). Interestingly, the authors considered presence of contaminating NK cells in their setting as the cause for the synergistic effect, supporting our approach to utilize CAR-NK cells for immunotherapy of malignant diseases.

As CD16 expression is crucial for exerting ADCC, we investigated CD16 expression of transduced NK cells and their transducability. Consistent with previous other findings (own unpublished data), we observed a decline of the CD16⁺ subpopulation in NK cells with advancing time of cell cultivation. However, our data here demonstrated that the CD16 proportion of transduced PB-derived NK cells is not influenced by the genetic engineering. Concerning lentiviral/VSV-G and alpharetroviral/RD114-TR transduced NK cells, CD19-CAR expression of CD16⁺ and CD16⁻ subpopulations did not differ, indicating that there is no favorable NK cell subpopulation for genetic engineering by retroviral vectors. Interestingly, the CD16⁺ subpopulation was more susceptible to the lentiviral/RD114-TR CD19-CAR vector as their transduction rate was significantly higher than its CD16⁻ counterpart.

In sum, our protocol to generate IL-15 activated CD19-CAR-NK cells led to increased cytotoxic activity against CD19-expressing target cells when compared to NT-NK cells. Alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR and lentivirally/RD114-TR transduced NK cells were highly cytotoxic, with alpharetrovirally/RD114-TR transduced NK cells achieving 90% specific killing activity. Moreover, our findings are the first ones that indicate the use of Vectofusin-1 in combination with alpharetroviral/RD114-TR vectors as a successful strategy to genetically modify PB-derived NK cells to achieve highly cytotoxic CD19-CAR-NK cells at high yields. Furthermore, we could show that lentiviral/RD114-TR vectors in combination with Vectofusin-1 act as a suitable alternative. With these newly developed NK cell expansion and transduction protocols, gene modified NK cell products can be prepared off-the-shelf that might open new avenues for cancer immunotherapy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Goethe University Frankfurt, Germany (approval no. 329/10). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EU designed the project. SM, TB, VG, FK, and ES performed experiments and analyzed data. AS and WW provided plasmids. JH, AS, UK, WW, and UM provided expert input. SM, TB, JH, AS, UK, WW, UM and EU discussed data. SM, UM, and EU wrote the manuscript with support from all other co-authors. All authors agree to be accountable for the content of the work.

FUNDING

This study has been supported by the LOEWE Center for Cell and Gene Therapy (to EU and UM), Frankfurt, funded by the Hessian Ministry of Higher Education, Research and the Arts, Germany (III L 4- 518/17.004), by the FCI /DKTK (to EU), by the DFG (CRC 1292/IRTG) (to EU, TB), by the Faculty of Medicine of the Goethe University, Frankfurt (to SM), by the Mildred-Scheel-Nachwuchszentrum Frankfurt, funded by the Deutsche Krebshilfe e.V. (to VG), by the foundation Menschen für Kinder e.V., and by the DFG (SFB738 and REBIRTH/ EXC62/2) (to AS).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Halvard Bönig from the BSD Frankfurt, for providing healthy donor blood samples, Franziska Schenk for her support in cloning the alpharetroviral CD19-CAR vector, Ralf Schubert and Petra Schoen for kind support in performing the CBA, Bushra Rais for technical and experimental support, Christian Buchholz for data discussion, Michael Morgan for his key observations concerning alpharetroviral transduction as well as Sandra Kunz for excellent secretarial assistance.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.03123/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Paul S, Rausch CR, Nasnas PE, Kantarjian H, Jabbour EJ. Treatment of relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Clin Adv Hematol Oncol.* (2019) 17:166–75.
- Gökbuget N, Stanze D, Beck J, Diedrich H, Horst HA, Hüttmann A, et al. Outcome of relapsed adult lymphoblastic leukemia depends on response to salvage chemotherapy, prognostic factors, and performance of stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2012) 120:2032–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-12-399287
- Sun W, Malvar J, Sposto R, Verma A, Wilkes JJ, Dennis R, et al. Outcome of children with multiply relapsed B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a therapeutic advances in childhood leukemia & lymphoma study. *Leukemia*. (2018) 32:2316–25. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0094-0
- Brentjens RJ, Davila ML, Riviere I, Park J, Wang X, Cowell LG, et al. CD19-targeted T cells rapidly induce molecular remissions in adults with chemotherapy-refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:177ra38. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3005930
- Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:1509–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215134
- Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. *N Engl J Med.* (2014) 371:1507–17. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1407222
- Park JH, Rivière I, Gonen M, Wang X, Sénéchal B, Curran KJ, et al. Long-term follow-up of CD19 CAR therapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 378:449–59. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709919
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in children and young adults with B-Cell lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:439–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709866
- Goulmy E. Human minor histocompatibility antigens: new concepts for marrow transplantation and adoptive immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev.* (1997) 157:125–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.1997.tb00978.x
- 10. Ferrara JLM, Levine JE, Reddy P, Holler E. Graft-versus-host disease. *Lancet*. (2009) 373:1550–61. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60237-3
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:503–10. doi: 10.1038/ni1582
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Delahaye NF, Chaput N, Zitvogel L. Natural killer celldirected therapies: moving from unexpected results to successful strategies. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:486–94. doi: 10.1038/ni1580
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. *Science*. (2002) 295:2097–100. doi: 10.1126/science.1068440
- Miller JS, Soignier Y, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McNearney SA, Yun GH, Fautsch SK, et al. Successful adoptive transfer and *in vivo* expansion of human haploidentical NK cells in patients with cancer. *Blood.* (2005) 105:3051–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2974
- Simonetta F, Alvarez M, Negrin RS. Natural killer cells in graft-versus-host-disease after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:465. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017. 00465
- Stern M, Passweg JR, Meyer-Monard S, Esser R, Tonn T, Soerensen J, et al. Preemptive immunotherapy with purified natural killer cells after haploidentical SCT: a prospective phase II study in two centers. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2013) 48:433–8. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2012.162
- Choi I, Yoon SR, Park SY, Kim H, Jung SJ, Jang YJ, et al. Donor-derived natural killer cells infused after human leukocyte antigen-haploidentical hematopoietic cell transplantation: a dose-escalation study. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2014) 20:696–704. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.01.031
- Ciurea SO, Schafer JR, Bassett R, Denman CJ, Cao K, Willis D, et al. Phase 1 clinical trial using mbIL21 ex vivo-expanded donor-derived NK cells after haploidentical transplantation. Blood. (2017) 130:1857–68. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-05-785659
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Cantoni C, Mingari MC, et al. Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2001) 19:197–223. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.197

- Ullrich E, Koch J, Cerwenka A, Steinle A. New prospects on the NKG2D/NKG2DL system for oncology. *Oncoimmunology*. (2013) 2:e26097. doi: 10.4161/onci.26097
- Raulet DH. Roles of the NKG2D immunoreceptor and its ligands. Nat Rev Immunol. (2003) 3:781–90. doi: 10.1038/nri1199
- 22. Gasser S, Raulet DH. Activation and self-tolerance of natural killer cells. Immunol Rev. (2006) 214:130–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00460.x
- Ljunggren HG, Kärre K. In search of the missing self: MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol Today*. (1990) 11:237–44. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S
- 24. Lanier LL. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol. (2005) 23:225-74. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115526
- Algarra I, García-Lora A, Cabrera T, Ruiz-Cabello F, Garrido F. The selection of tumor variants with altered expression of classical and nonclassical MHC class I molecules: implications for tumor immune escape. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2004) 53:904–10. doi: 10.1007/s00262-004-0517-9
- Zhang C, Oberoi P, Oelsner S, Waldmann A, Lindner A, Tonn T, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-engineered NK-92 cells: an off-theshelf cellular therapeutic for targeted elimination of cancer cells and induction of protective antitumor immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:533. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00533
- Oelsner S, Friede ME, Zhang C, Wagner J, Badura S, Bader P, et al. Continuously expanding CAR NK-92 cells display selective cytotoxicity against B-cell leukemia and lymphoma. *Cytotherapy*. (2017) 19:235–49. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.10.009
- Gong JH, Maki G, Klingemann HG. Characterization of a human cell line (NK-92) with phenotypical and functional characteristics of activated natural killer cells. *Leukemia*. (1994) 8:652–8.
- Klingemann H, Boissel L, Toneguzzo F. Natural killer cells for immunotherapy - advantages of the NK-92 cell line over blood NK cells. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:91. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00091
- Hermanson DL, Kaufman DS. Utilizing chimeric antigen receptors to direct natural killer cell activity. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:195. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00195
- Maki G, Klingemann HG, Martinson JA, Tam YK. Factors regulating the cytotoxic activity of the human natural killer cell line, NK-92. *J Hematother Stem Cell Res.* (2001) 10:369–83. doi: 10.1089/152581601750288975
- Daher M, Rezvani K. Next generation natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy: the promise of genetic engineering. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 51:146–53. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.013
- Kloess S, Kretschmer A, Stahl L, Fricke S, Koehl U. CAR-expressing natural killer cells for cancer retargeting. *Transfus Med Hemother*. (2019) 46:4–13. doi: 10.1159/000495771
- Matosevic S. Viral and nonviral engineering of natural killer cells as emerging adoptive cancer immunotherapies. J Immunol Res. (2018) 2018:4054815. doi: 10.1155/2018/4054815
- Granzin M, Wagner J, Köhl U, Cerwenka A, Huppert V, Ullrich E. Shaping of natural killer cell antitumor activity by *ex vivo* cultivation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:458. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00458
- Imai C, Iwamoto S, Campana D. Genetic modification of primary natural killer cells overcomes inhibitory signals and induces specific killing of leukemic cells. *Blood.* (2005) 106:376–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-12-4797
- Streltsova MA, Barsov E, Erokhina SA, Kovalenko EI. Retroviral gene transfer into primary human NK cells activated by IL-2 and K562 feeder cells expressing membrane-bound IL-21. *J Immunol Methods*. (2017) 450:90–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2017.08.003
- Boissel L, Betancur M, Lu W, Wels WS, Marino T, Van Etten RA, et al. Comparison of mRNA and lentiviral based transfection of natural killer cells with chimeric antigen receptors recognizing lymphoid antigens. *Leuk Lymphoma*. (2012) 53:958–65. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2011.634048
- Schambach A, Bohne J, Chandra S, Will E, Margison GP, Williams DA, et al. Equal potency of gammaretroviral and lentiviral SIN vectors for expression of O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase in hematopoietic cells. *Mol Ther.* (2006) 13:391–400. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.08.012
- Suerth JD, Maetzig T, Galla M, Baum C, Schambach A. Self-inactivating alpharetroviral vectors with a split-packaging design. J Virol. (2010) 84:6626– 35. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00182-10

- Oelsner S, Wagner J, Friede ME, Pfirrmann V, Genßler S, Rettinger E, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-engineered cytokine-induced killer cells overcome treatment resistance of pre-B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia and enhance survival. *Int J Cancer.* (2016) 139:1799–809. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30217
- 42. Pfeiffer A, Thalheimer FB, Hartmann S, Frank AM, Bender RR, Danisch S, et al. *In vivo* generation of human CD19-CAR T cells results in B-cell depletion and signs of cytokine release syndrome. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2018) 10:e9158. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201809158
- Nicholson IC, Lenton KA, Little DJ, Decorso T, Lee FT, Scott AM, et al. Construction and characterisation of a functional CD19 specific single chain Fv fragment for immunotherapy of B lineage leukaemia and lymphoma. *Mol Immunol.* (1997) 34:1157–65. doi: 10.1016/S0161-5890(97)00144-2
- 44. Sandrin V, Boson B, Salmon P, Gay W, Nègre D, Le Grand R, et al. Lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with a modified RD114 envelope glycoprotein show increased stability in sera and augmented transduction of primary lymphocytes and CD34+ cells derived from human and nonhuman primates. *Blood.* (2002) 100:823–32. doi: 10.1182/blood-2001-11-0042
- Suerth JD, Morgan MA, Kloess S, Heckl D, Neudörfl C, Falk CS, et al. Efficient generation of gene-modified human natural killer cells via alpharetroviral vectors. J Mol Med. (2016) 94:83–93. doi: 10.1007/s00109-015-1327-6
- Rasko JE, Battini JL, Gottschalk RJ, Mazo I, Miller AD. The RD114/simian type D retrovirus receptor is a neutral amino acid transporter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1999) 96:2129–34. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.5.2129
- Fenard D, Ingrao D, Seye A, Buisset J, Genries S, Martin S, et al. Vectofusin-1, a new viral entry enhancer, strongly promotes lentiviral transduction of human hematopoietic stem cells. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids*. (2013) 2:e90. doi: 10.1038/mtna.2013.17
- Mason AJ, Martinez A, Glaubitz C, Danos O, Kichler A, Bechinger B. The antibiotic and DNA-transfecting peptide LAH4 selectively associates with, and disorders, anionic lipids in mixed membranes. *FASEB J.* (2006) 20:320–2. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-4293fje
- Majdoul S, Seye AK, Kichler A, Holic N, Galy A, Bechinger B, et al. Molecular determinants of vectofusin-1 and its derivatives for the enhancement of lentivirally mediated gene transfer into hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. *J Biol Chem.* (2016) 291:2161–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.675033
- Piovan C, Marin V, Scavullo C, Corna S, Giuliani E, Bossi S, et al. Vectofusin-1 promotes RD114-TR-pseudotyped lentiviral vector transduction of human HSPCs and T lymphocytes. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev.* (2017) 5:22–30. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2017.02.003
- Hanenberg H, Xiao XL, Dilloo D, Hashino K, Kato I, Williams DA. Colocalization of retrovirus and target cells on specific fibronectin fragments increases genetic transduction of mammalian cells. *Nat Med.* (1996) 2:876–82. doi: 10.1038/nm0896-876
- Vermeer LS, Hamon L, Schirer A, Schoup M, Cosette J, Majdoul S, et al. Vectofusin-1, a potent peptidic enhancer of viral gene transfer forms pHdependent α-helical nanofibrils, concentrating viral particles. *Acta Biomater*. (2017) 64:259–68. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2017.10.009
- 53. Klöß S, Oberschmidt O, Morgan M, Dahlke J, Arseniev L, Huppert V, et al. Optimization of human NK cell manufacturing: fully automated separation, improved *ex vivo* expansion using IL-21 with autologous feeder cells, and generation of anti-CD123-CAR-expressing effector cells. *Hum Gene Ther*. (2017) 28:897–913. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.157
- 54. Oberschmidt O, Morgan M, Huppert V, Kessler J, Gardlowski T, Matthies N, et al. Development of automated separation, expansion, and quality control protocols for clinical-scale manufacturing of primary human NK cells

and alpharetroviral chimeric antigen receptor engineering. *Hum Gene Ther Methods*. (2019) 30:102–20. doi: 10.1089/hgtb.2019.039

- Suerth JD, Maetzig T, Brugman MH, Heinz N, Appelt JU, Kaufmann KB, et al. Alpharetroviral self-inactivating vectors: long-term transgene expression in murine hematopoietic cells and low genotoxicity. *Mol Ther*. (2012) 20:1022– 32. doi: 10.1038/mt.2011.309
- Kaufmann KB, Brendel C, Suerth JD, Mueller-Kuller U, Chen-Wichmann L, Schwäble J, et al. Alpharetroviral vector-mediated gene therapy for X-CGD: functional correction and lack of aberrant splicing. *Mol Ther.* (2013) 21:648–61. doi: 10.1038/mt.2012.249
- 57. Bari R, Granzin M, Tsang KS, Roy A, Krueger W, Orentas R, et al. A distinct subset of highly proliferative and lentiviral vector (LV)-transducible NK cells define a readily engineered subset for adoptive cellular therapy. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2001. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02001
- Girard-Gagnepain A, Amirache F, Costa C, Lévy C, Frecha C, Fusil F, et al. Baboon envelope pseudotyped LVs outperform VSV-G-LVs for gene transfer into early-cytokine-stimulated and resting HSCs. *Blood.* (2014) 124:1221–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-02-558163
- Marin M, Tailor CS, Nouri A, Kabat D. Sodium-dependent neutral amino acid transporter type 1 is an auxiliary receptor for baboon endogenous retrovirus. *J Virol.* (2000) 74:8085–93. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.17.8085-8093.2000
- Ullberg M, Jondal M. Recycling and target binding capacity of human natural killer cells. J Exp Med. (1981) 153:615–28. doi: 10.1084/jem.153.3.615
- Prager I, Liesche C, van Ooijen H, Urlaub D, Verron Q, Sandström N, et al. NK cells switch from granzyme B to death receptor-mediated cytotoxicity during serial killing. J Exp Med. (2019) 216:2113–27. doi: 10.1084/jem.20181454
- 62. Bhat R, Watzl C. Serial killing of tumor cells by human natural killer cells-enhancement by therapeutic antibodies. *PLoS ONE*. (2007) 2:e326. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000326
- Mihara K, Yanagihara K, Takigahira M, Kitanaka A, Imai C, Bhattacharyya J, et al. Synergistic and persistent effect of T-cell immunotherapy with anti-CD19 or anti-CD38 chimeric receptor in conjunction with rituximab on B-cell non-hodgkin lymphoma. *Br J Haematol.* (2010) 151:37–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2010.08297.x

Conflict of Interest: WW (CD19-CAR sequence in the alpharetroviral and lentiviral CD19-CAR vector) is named as an inventor in patents and patent applications on CAR technology owned by Georg-Speyer-Haus. AS is named as an inventor on a patent describing alpharetroviral SIN vectors (alpharetroviral backbone sequence and used alpharetroviral helper plasmid).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer EV declared a past co-authorship with several of the authors, WW, UM, to the handling Editor.

Copyright © 2020 Müller, Bexte, Gebel, Kalensee, Stolzenberg, Hartmann, Koehl, Schambach, Wels, Modlich and Ullrich. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Boosting Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Targeting of Sarcoma Through DNAM-1 and NKG2D

Ece Canan Sayitoglu^{1,2†}, Anna-Maria Georgoudaki^{1,2,3†}, Michael Chrobok^{3†}, Didem Ozkazanc⁴, Benjamin J. Josey^{1,2}, Muhammad Arif⁵, Kim Kusser⁶, Michelle Hartman⁶, Tamara M. Chinn⁷, Renee Potens², Cevriye Pamukcu⁴, Robin Krueger⁶, Cheng Zhang⁸, Adil Mardinoglu^{5,8}, Evren Alici³, Harry Thomas Temple⁹, Tolga Sutlu¹⁰ and Adil Doganay Duru^{1,2,11*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Loredana Cifaldi, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Amorette Barber, Longwood University, United States Alessandra Zingoni, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*Correspondence:

Adil Doganay Duru adil.duru@ki.se; adil.duru@nova.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 15 July 2019 Accepted: 08 January 2020 Published: 28 January 2020

Citation:

Sayitoglu EC, Georgoudaki A-M, Chrobok M, Ozkazanc D, Josey BJ, Arif M, Kusser K, Hartman M, Chinn TM, Potens R, Pamukcu C, Krueger R, Zhang C, Mardinoglu A, Alici E, Temple HT, Sutlu T and Duru AD (2020) Boosting Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Targeting of Sarcoma Through DNAM-1 and NKG2D. Front. Immunol. 11:40. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00040 ¹ Dr. Kiran C. Patel College of Allopathic Medicine, Nova Southeastern University, Fort Lauderdale, FL, United States, ² NSU Cell Therapy Institute, Nova Southeastern University, Fort Lauderdale, FL, United States, ³ Center for Hematology and Regenerative Medicine, Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ⁴ Faculty of Engineering and Natural Sciences, Sabanci University, Istanbul, Turkey, ⁵ Science for Life Laboratory, KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden, ⁶ Translational Research and Economic Development, Nova Southeastern University, Fort Lauderdale, FL, United States, ⁷ Dr. Kiran C. Patel College of Osteopathic Medicine, Nova Southeastern University, Fort Lauderdale, FL, United States, ⁸ Faculty of Dentistry, Oral & Craniofacial Sciences, Centre for Host-Microbiome Interactions, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁹ Department of Surgery, Dr. Kiran C. Patel College of Allopathic Medicine, Nova Southeastern University, Fort Lauderdale, FL, United States, ¹⁰ Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Bogaziçi University, Istanbul, Turkey, ¹¹ Science for Life Laboratory, Department of Medicine Solna, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Sarcomas are malignancies of mesenchymal origin that occur in bone and soft tissues. Many are chemo- and radiotherapy resistant, thus conventional treatments fail to increase overall survival. Natural Killer (NK) cells exert anti-tumor activity upon detection of a complex array of tumor ligands, but this has not been thoroughly explored in the context of sarcoma immunotherapy. In this study, we investigated the NK cell receptor/ligand immune profile of primary human sarcoma explants. Analysis of tumors from 32 sarcoma patients identified the proliferative marker PCNA and DNAM-1 ligands CD112 and/or CD155 as commonly expressed antigens that could be efficiently targeted by genetically modified (GM) NK cells. Despite the strong expression of CD112 and CD155 on sarcoma cells, characterization of freshly dissociated sarcomas revealed a general decrease in tumor-infiltrating NK cells compared to the periphery, suggesting a defect in the endogenous NK cell response. We also applied a functional screening approach to identify relevant NK cell receptor/ligand interactions that induce efficient anti-tumor responses using a panel NK-92 cell lines GM to over-express 12 different activating receptors. Using GM NK-92 cells against primary sarcoma explants (n = 12) revealed that DNAM-1 over-expression on NK-92 cells led to efficient degranulation against all tested explants (n = 12). Additionally, NKG2D over-expression showed enhanced responses against 10 out of 12 explants. These results show that DNAM-1⁺ or NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells may be an efficient approach in targeting sarcomas. The degranulation capacity of GM NK-92 cell lines was also tested against various established tumor cell lines, including neuroblastoma, Schwannoma, melanoma, myeloma, leukemia, prostate, pancreatic, colon, and lung cancer. Enhanced degranulation of DNAM-1⁺ or NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92

cells was observed against the majority of tumor cell lines tested. In conclusion, DNAM-1 or NKG2D over-expression elicited a dynamic increase in NK cell degranulation against all sarcoma explants and cancer cell lines tested, including those that failed to induce a notable response in WT NK-92 cells. These results support the broad therapeutic potential of DNAM-1⁺ or NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells and GM human NK cells for the treatment of sarcomas and other malignancies.

Keywords: cancer immunotherapy, cancer immunology, sarcoma, natural killer (NK) cell, DNAM-1 (CD226), NKG2D (Natural killer group 2 member D), NK-92 cell line

INTRODUCTION

Sarcomas are a group of rare, heterogeneous, and aggressive tumors of mesenchymal origin that may arise in a range of different tissues, including bone, cartilage, connective tissue, muscle, fat, vasculature, and peripheral nerves. While the standard treatment options of chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and surgery efficiently control localized tumors, \sim 40% of cases experience tumor relapse and metastatic spread with current treatments remaining ineffective in increasing overall survival (1–4). The heterogeneity of sarcoma subtypes and the fact that most therapies currently prove suboptimal, underline the importance of investigations aiming to develop novel targeted treatment approaches.

Both experimental and clinical data support the involvement of the immune system in sarcoma tumorigenesis as immunosuppressed individuals present with a higher risk (5). Moreover, there is evidence for both spontaneous regression as well-efficient immunosurveillance in sarcoma, prompting investigators to explore immunotherapy as a treatment modality (6, 7). Recently, several clinical trials have included sarcoma patients in the testing of various immunotherapy strategies, including: (i) immune checkpoint blockade (8-10); (ii) tumorspecific or tumor-associated peptide vaccines (11-14); and (iii) adoptive immune cell therapies with allogeneic NK cells (ongoing clinical trials), autologous T cells (15), CAR-T cells (ongoing clinical trials) and NY-ESO-1-specific T cells (16) to name a few (17). However, these studies aim to target general tumor markers found in a variety of solid tumors and hematological malignancies, not specifically targeting sarcomas. This highlights the need for more precise tumor characterization, targeted immunomodulation of the individual tumor microenvironment and targeting of sarcoma-specific molecules.

NK cells are promising candidates for cancer immunotherapy, as engagement of their activating receptors with ligands expressed on targets leads to rapid response and efficient elimination of tumor cells (18). In general, NK cell infusions have proven to be well-tolerated and safe with minimal side effects (19). However, modulation of ligand expression in order to avoid NK cell detection is a well-known strategy employed by tumors to escape immune recognition (20). Known ligands for NK cell receptors are expressed on several tumors, including some subtypes of sarcomas. More specifically, proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) has been shown to be an inhibitory ligand of natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp44 (21, 22). It is also associated

with poor prognosis in an analysis covering 16 studies with a total of 691 osteosarcoma patients (23). Osteosarcomas have been previously shown to express CD155 (Poliovirus Receptor, PVR) (24), which is one of the ligands for DNAX accessory molecule-1 (DNAM-1 or CD226), an activating receptor expressed on NK cells, monocytes and a subset of T cells. Rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) cell lines have been shown to express CD112 (Nectin-2) along with CD155, both ligands of DNAM-1 (25, 26). They also expressed KIR-ligand HLA-I but had low expression of NKG2D ligands MICA/MICB (27). However, these studies focused on a limited group of sarcoma subtypes and NK cell receptors, thus, better characterization of the individual sarcoma tumor's expression of various NK cell ligands could identify relevant receptor/ligand interactions that could mediate efficient NK cell cytotoxic activity.

In this study, we demonstrate an inherent immune defect in the tumor infiltrating NK cell compartment of sarcoma tumors. This prompted the investigation of NK cell ligand expression on fresh and *in vitro* propagated primary sarcoma explants, which identified the presence of DNAM-1 ligands CD112 and CD155. We developed a novel cell-based screening platform which allowed the identification of tumor-specific NK cell receptor engagements. This platform, together with extensive flow cytometry-based characterization of rapidly processed fresh sarcoma surgical material and respective shortterm cultured primary human sarcoma explants, were used to identify targetable NK cell receptor/ligand interactions in sarcoma.

Our results show that over-expression of the activating receptor DNAM-1 or NKG2D on NK-92 cells induces efficient anti-sarcoma responses *in vitro* by amplifying the interaction with prevalent ligands CD112 and CD155 or MICA/B and ULBP1-5, respectively, on sarcoma and other tumor cells. This way of arming NK cells against tumor targets that they would otherwise remain inert against, provides a promising novel cellular immunotherapy strategy that can easily be translated to the clinic and has the potential to significantly improve sarcoma treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient Material

Primary sarcoma tumors and blood were collected at the Center for Orthopedic Innovations of the Mercy Miami Hospital, Florida according to rules and regulation specified under Nova Southeastern University Institutional Review Board (protocol # 2017-304).

Primary Sarcoma Explant Generation From Patient Material

Sarcoma tumor samples were processed within 12 h of surgical excision with the Miltenyi Tumor Dissociation Kit to obtain homogenous cell suspensions in RPMI medium (Gibco) using the Miltenyi GentleMACS Octo Dissociator with heaters. Homogenous cell suspensions were seeded in complete DMEM medium [DMEM (high glucose, GlutaMAX, Gibco) 10% FBS (Gemini Bio-Products), supplemented with 1X non-essential amino acids (NEAA), 1X Antibiotic-Antimycotic and 25 mM HEPES (all from Gibco)] which was changed every 4 days during the first 2 weeks. After 2 weeks in culture, serial passaging is performed based on confluency for the selection of adherent cells. Multiple passages were vitally frozen along the process of explant generation, which was considered complete at passage 12.

Cell Culture

Primary sarcoma explants were cultured in complete DMEM as explained above. Culture media was renewed once a week, splits were done based on confluency, predictably every 7-10 days. All cell lines except for 293FT (Thermo Scientific), A375 and DM6 were obtained from ATCC. DM6 cells were a kind gift from Dr. Hilliard F. Seigler (Department of Immunology, Duke University Medical Center) and A375 cells were a kind gift from Prof. Michael Nishimura (Loyola University Chicago). U-2 OS and Saos-2 cell lines used during the revision of the manuscript were kind gifts provided by Uygar Tazebay (Gebze Technical University) and Mehmet Öztürk (Izmir Biomedicine and Genome Center). NK-92 cells (ATCC CRL-2407) were cultured in CellGro SCGM (Cellgenix) supplied with 20% FBS and 1,000 U/ml IL-2 (Miltenyi Biotech). K562, THP-1, LNCaP, PC-3, ARH-77, RPMI8226, DM6, and A375 cells were cultured in RPMI (GlutaMAX, Gibco) supplied with 10% FBS. U266 cells were cultured in RPMI (GlutaMAX, Gibco), supplied with 15% FBS. 293FT (Thermo Fisher Scientific), MeWo, SK-MEL-28, sNF02.2, Capan-2 cells were cultured in DMEM (GlutaMAX, Gibco) supplied with 10% FBS. Saos-2 and U-2 OS cells were cultured in McCoy's 5A Medium (ATCC) supplied with 15% and 10% FBS, respectively. SH-SY5Y cells were cultured in EMEM (ATCC) supplied with 10% FBS. Caco-2 cells were cultured in EMEM (ATCC) supplied with 20% FBS. A549 cells were cultured in F-12K medium (ATCC) supplied with 10% FBS.

Flow Cytometry-Based Phenotyping of Sarcoma Primary Explants and Other Cell Lines

Single cell suspensions of the generated primary sarcoma explants were dissociated using 0.05% trypsin at 37°C, and manual scraping when necessary. The cells were stained with Live/Dead fixable Aqua in PBS for dead cell discrimination (Invitrogen). Surface stainings were performed in BD Horizon Brilliant Stain Buffer (BD Biosciences) according to the

manufacturer's instructions. Stained cells were washed in FACS buffer (PBS, 2% FBS, 2 mM EDTA) twice before assessed. Data were acquired on a BD LSR Fortessa X-20 flow cytometer and analyzed using the FlowJo software v10.1 (BD Biosciences). The antibodies from Biolegend and BD Biosciences that were used for stainings are listed in **Table S2**.

Intracellular Cytokine Staining

The ability of WT, DNAM-1, and NKG2D modified NK-92 cells to produce IFN γ and TNF α upon 4 h of co-culture of 200,000 NK-92 cells with 200,000 primary sarcoma explant lines or the cell line Saos-2, was assessed by intracellular cytokine staining using the BD cytofix/cytoperm kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. The following antibodies from Biolegend were used at the recommended amounts: IFN γ PE (B27), TNF α APC (MAb11), PE mouse IgG1, κ isotype control (MOPC-21) in PE and APC. BD biosciences: CD56 BV421 (NCAM16.2). For data acquisition the BD LSR Fortessa X-20 flow cytometer were used. Data were analyzed with the FlowJo software v10.1 (BD Biosciences).

Ligand Expression Characterization Using NKG2D-Fc Chimeric Protein

In order to assess the presence of NKG2D ligands on the surface of primary sarcoma explant lines, we used an NKG2D-Fc chimeric protein where the receptor was fused to the Fc of a human IgG1 (1299-NK, R&D Systems). NKG2D-Fc was reconstituted at 100 μ g/ml in PBS. 2 μ g/ml of NKG2D-Fc were pre-complexed with 4 μ g/ml of mouse-anti-human IgG secondary antibody PE (clone HP6017, Biolegend) in FACS buffer for 1 h on ice. The cells were prepared at 2 × 10⁵ cells per well in a 96-well plate, washed and resuspended in 200 μ l of the precomplexed mix (or just secondary antibody as control) and incubated on ice for 30 min. The samples were washed twice with FACS buffer and acquired on the BD LSR Fortessa X-20 flow cytometer. Data were analyzed using FlowJo software v10.1 (BD Biosciences) and normalized to unstained control.

qPCR-Based Expression Analysis

Primers were selected from the Harvard Medical School PrimerBank (https://pga.mgh.harvard.edu/primerbank/) using the Entrez gene numbers obtained from the Human Protein Atlas. Entrez No's: *ULBP1* #80329, *ULBP2* #80328, *ULBP3* #79465 (https://www.proteinatlas.org/). Primer IDs: *ULBP1* #56181385c1, *ULBP2* #13376824a3, *ULBP3* #13375655c1. Exonspanning primers capable of detecting multiple transcript variants were selected when possible. Primers were synthesized by Midlands Certified Reagents (Midland, TX).

ULBP1

Forward: TAAGTCCAGACCTGAACCACA Reverse: TCCACCACGTCTCTTAGTGTT

ULBP2

Forward: GTGGTGGACATACTTACAGAGC Reverse: CTGCCCATCGAAACTGAACTG

ULBP3

Forward: TCTATGGGTCACCTAGAAGAGC Reverse: TCCACTGGGTGTGAAATCCTC

RNA was collected and purified with the E.Z.N.A. HP Total RNA Kit (OmegaBioTek R6812-02) and eluted to 40 µl. The cDNA was synthesized with qScript cDNA SuperMix (Quantabio 95048-025). Briefly, 100 ng of RNA was combined with 8 μ l qScript cDNA SuperMix and water added to 20 µl total reaction volume. The reaction was thermal-cycled at 25°C for 5 min, 42°C for 30 min, 85°C for 5 min and held at 4°C. Using the PerfeCTa SYBR Green FastMix Low ROX (QuantaBio 95074-250), RT-PCR reactions were carried out in triplicate on 96-well plates (VWR 82006-664) using an AriaMX Real-Time PCR system (Agilent). Each reaction contained: 10 µl of SYBR Green master mix, 5 µl of 100 ng/µl template cDNA, 10 µM of primers, then water added for a 20 µl total reaction volume. Reactions were heated to 95°C for 3 min, 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 1 min, and 76°C for 15 s. Following cycling, the reactions were held at 4°C until use. The melting curve at 95°C for 30 s, 65°C for 30 s, and 95°C for 30 s showed no primer dimers. Housekeeping: GAPDH in triplicate. Calibrators: ULBP1- THP1, ULBP2 & 3- U2OS, ULBP4 & 5- Capan-2.

The Cancer Genome Atlas Database (TCGA) Analysis

We retrieved TPM table of sarcoma data from TCGA (28) to validate the gene expression of the ligands of NK cell receptors DNAM-1 and NKG2D. Based on the TPM value of each gene, we classified the patients into two groups and examined their prognoses. The prognosis of each group of patients was examined by Kaplan-Meier survival estimators, and the survival outcomes of the two groups were compared by log-rank tests. To choose the best TPM cut-offs for grouping the patients most significantly, all TPM values from the 20th to 80th percentiles were used to group the patients, significant differences in the survival outcomes of the groups were examined and the value yielding the lowest log-rank P-value is selected (28).

Generation of Genetically Modified NK-92 Cells

For all NK-92 receptor transgenes, codon-optimized cDNA was cloned upstream of IRES in LeGO-iG2 vector under the control of the SFFV promoter (LeGO-iG2 was a kind gift from Boris Fehse, Addgene #27341) (29). Lentiviral vector production and transduction were performed as before (30). Briefly, NK-92 cells were seeded at 5×10^5 cells/ml in viral supernatant containing the gene-of-interest-iG2 virus for 6 h in the presence of 6 μ M BX795 (Sigma-Aldrich). Next, the cells were washed and put back into culture with fresh media. GFP percentage was checked by flow cytometry 3 days later. The GFP⁺ CD56-APC⁺ cells were sorted using BD FACS AriaFusion.

Degranulation Assay

 2×10^5 NK-92 cells were co-incubated with 2×10^5 target cells in a final volume of 200 μl in V-bottomed 96-well plate at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 4 h. In blocking experiments, target cells were pre-incubated with the corresponding $25\,\mu g/mL$ blocking

antibodies [anti-CD155 (clone SKII.4, Biolegend), anti-DNAM1 (clone DX11, BD Pharmingen) and anti-NKG2D (clone 1D11, Biolegend)] for 15 min on ice prior to co-culture. Fluorochrome-conjugated anti-CD107a-PE (H4A3, BD Biosciences) mAb was added at the initiation of the assay. After 1 h of co-incubation, GolgiStop (BD Biosciences) was added at a 1:300 dilution. The cells were then washed, resuspended in ice-cold PBS and stained with surface anti-CD56 (NCAM 16.2, APC, or BV421, BD Biosciences or Biolegend) to be analyzed by flow cytometry. For flow cytometry, cells were first gated on FSC-A vs. SSC-A, followed by gating on single cells via FSC-A vs. FSC-H, then GFP+CD56⁺ cells were selected and lastly CD107a⁺CD56⁺ percentage was recorded for analysis. All flow cytometry analysis was performed with FlowJo software v10.5 (BD Biosciences).

Microscopy-Based Cellular Cytotoxicity

Image cytometry evaluation of NK cell cytotoxicity using calcein-acetoxymethylester (calcein-AM) fluorescent dyes has been previously reported to provide comparable sensitivity to traditional Cr^{51} -release assays, while simultaneously providing morphological information and avoiding the use of radioactive materials (31, 32).

Tumor cells were seeded in flat-bottom 96-well CellBind plates (Corning) at a density of 1 \times 10⁴-2 \times 10⁴ cells/per well and cultured for 24-48 h. When the desired confluence was reached, the assay was initiated and cells were washed with HBSS and stained with 40 µl of 10µM Calcein Red-AM (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 1 µg/ml Hoescht-33342 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 30 min at 37°C. Cells were washed twice with HBSS before adding 50 µl fresh phenol red-free DMEM assay media. Probenecid (2 µM) was added to staining and assay medias to reduce dve efflux. NK-92 cells were additionally counted and resuspended in the same assay media. NK-92 cells (50 µl) were added to target cells at a 10:1 or 5:1 E:T ratio based on the number of seeded tumor cells and plates were incubated at 37°C for 4-6 h. Images were then collected using the CellInsight CX7 High-Content Imaging System (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Using a 10X objective, four fields of view were collected per well, with conditions run in triplicate. Images were analyzed using HCS Studio Software (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Briefly, tumor cells were identified as DAPI positive nuclei bounded by a Calcein Red positive cytoplasmic border. Apoptotic bodies were size-excluded from the analysis. Tumor nuclei were further distinguished based on their size and shape compared to NK-92 cell nuclei. Parameters were validated across all patient samples for all conditions and at 4 or 6 h timepoints. Tumor cell viability was assessed by determining the average fluorescent intensity (AFI) of individual tumor cells within each well. Percent viability was calculated by comparing the AFI of each condition to nontreated controls. Results are reported as the mean viability of two independent experiments. Results were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc analysis.

Analysis of NK Cells Cytotoxicity by Xcelligence RTCA

Real-time cell viability experiments were performed using the xCELLigence RTCA DP device (ACEA Biosciences) placed in a

humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The E-16 plates were incubated with 100 μ L of cell-free growth medium [10% and 15% FBS containing McCoy's 5A medium (GE)] at room temperature for 15 min. After incubation, background impedance signal was measured to control all the connections. The target cells were seeded into plates at 5 × 10³ in 100 μ L for U-2 OS and Saos-2 cell lines. The plates were mounted to the device after incubation at room temperature for 30 min before starting the experiment. The target cells were allowed to settle for 15–17 h before adding effector cells. The following day, the effector cells were added onto the target cells at an E:T ratio of 1:1. Real time measurements were performed by recording the Cell index (CI) every 15 min for a period of 40 h. Data analysis was carried out with the RTCA software (version 1.2, Roche Diagnostics).

Statistical Analysis

For preparation of graphs and statistical analysis, GraphPad Prism v.7.0 (GraphPad Software Inc.) was used.

RESULTS

Lymphocyte Characterization in Human Sarcomas and Matched Peripheral Blood Reveals a Defect in the Tumor-Infiltrating NK Cell Compartment

In order to understand the immunological landscape of sarcomas and to assess possible immune defects that may contribute to the poor clinical responses observed, we characterized the major tumor-infiltrating leukocyte (TIL) populations and compared their frequencies to matched PBMCs from the same patients (**Figure 1** and **Table 1**). A decrease in the overall percentage of TILs was observed in all patients compared to matched PBMCs (n = 14, Wilcoxon test, p = 0.0078) (**Figure 1B**). This was primarily reflected by a significant decrease in the CD3⁻CD56⁺ NK cell compartment (p = 0.0005), while no clear trend was observed between tumor-infiltrating and peripheral CD3⁺ bulk T cells, CD3⁺CD4⁺ and CD3⁺ CD8⁺ T cells (**Figure 1B**).

Since this pointed toward a general NK cell defect in sarcomas, we performed more detailed analysis of the surface receptor expression profile of the CD3⁻CD56⁺ population in tumors vs. PBMC. When assessing CD16 (FcyRIII) and collectively KIR2DL1 (CD158a), KIR2DL2/L3 (CD158b), and KIR3DL1(CD158e) in seven sarcoma patients, we observed a generalized decrease in the CD16⁺KIR⁺ and CD16⁺KIR⁻ NK cell population in the TILs compared to NK cells in matched PBMC (n = 14, p = 0.0002 and 0.0107, respectively) (Figure 1C; Figure S1A). A similar comparison was performed on the expression of activating receptors DNAM-1 (CD226) and NKG2D on CD3⁻CD56⁺ NK cells in TILs and PBMC of the same seven patients. DNAM-1 expression was decreased in 10 out of 14 TIL NK cells compared to PBMC, while the remaining four patients had increased expression of DNAM-1 on TIL NK cells (Figure 1D; Figure S1B). Lastly, 12 patients out of 14, exhibited decreased or unchanged expression of NKG2D on NK cells in the tumor compared to in PBMC (p = 0.040) (Figure 1D; **Figure S1B**). Overall, we observed minimal NK cell infiltration in sarcomas and the expression of activating receptors DNAM-1 and NKG2D was very low in both peripheral and TIL NK cells.

NK Cell Ligand Expression Profiling of Fresh and *in vitro* Propagated Sarcoma Explants Identifies Common Expression of PCNA, CD112, and CD155

Next, we attempted to identify possible interaction partners between sarcoma tumor cells and NK cells which could account for the observed decrease in tumor-infiltrating NK cells. To do that, we performed detailed phenotyping of the lymphocyte ligands expressed on freshly isolated as well as in vitro propagated primary sarcoma explants, which we generated by serial passaging of cells from the freshly dissociated sarcomas (Table 1). Using a flow cytometry-based phenotyping approach, we assessed the expression of PCNA (NKp44 ligand), CD112 (DNAM-1 ligand), CD155 (DNAM-1 ligand), MICA/B (NKG2D ligand), CD48 (BLAST-1) (2B4 ligand), NTBA (NTBA ligand), MUC1 (Mucin 1) (Siglec-7 and -9 ligand), MHC Class I molecules HLA-ABC, and HLA-C (KIR2DL2/3 ligand), as well as MHC Class II molecules HLA-DR/DP/DQ (Figure 2A). Freshly isolated primary sarcomas expressed activating ligands CD112 and low levels of CD155 and CD48 as well as the inhibitory ligands PCNA, MUC1, HLA-ABC, and HLA-DR/DP/DQ (n = 13) (Figures 2B,C). Consistent with the analysis of the fresh sarcoma explants, the in vitro propagated primary sarcoma explants robustly expressed a similar but enhanced signature including the markers PCNA, CD112, CD155 to a lesser extent and HLA-ABC (n = 32) (Figures 2D,E). The phenotypes observed in sarcoma explants reveal that, despite the fact that NK cell infiltration in the tumor is limited and DNAM-1 expression on tumor infiltrating NK cells is low, CD112 and CD155 stand out as tangible targets for immunotherapies (Figures 1A,D).

GM NK-92 Cells Overexpressing DNAM-1 or NKG2D Efficiently Degranulate Against Primary Sarcoma Explants

The presence of several ligands for activating NK cell receptors prompted the analysis of functional NK cell responses against sarcoma cells. Therefore, we developed a screening platform that assesses the capacity of different NK cell activating receptors to efficiently trigger degranulation against target cells without prior knowledge of which ligands are present on the target cell surface. Genetically modified (GM) NK-92 cells over-expressing one NK receptor at a time were generated by introducing the gene-of-interest-IRES-GFP lentiviral constructs to NK-92 cells and sorting GFP⁺ cells containing the receptors depicted in Figure 3A and Figure S3. Sorted cells were expanded and used in a functional, cell-based screening approach to test which of them could be optimal candidates to target each primary sarcoma explant. GM NK-92 cells were co-cultured at 1:1 (E:T) ratio with 12 selected primary sarcoma explants (Table 1) and two well-established sarcoma cell lines (Saos-2 and U-2 OS) side by side with control NK-92 cells for comparative analysis of degranulation (Figure 3B; Figure S4). In



FIGURE 1 Characterization of peripheral and tumor-infiltrating T and NK cell populations from freshly isolated sarcoma patient material. (A) Representative gating strategy and (B) percentages of leukocytes: $CD45^+$, $T_{helper/regulatory}$ cells: $CD3^+CD4^+$, $T_{cytotoxic}$ cells: $CD3^+CD8^+$ and NK cells: $CD3^-CD56^+$ among fresh PBMC and TIL of sarcoma patients (n = 14). The Live/Dead exclusion gate also includes markers $CD14^-V500$ and $CD19^-V500$ as a dump channel (C) Percentages of the Q1: $CD16^+KIR^-$, Q2: $CD16^+KIR^+$, Q3: $CD16^-KIR^+$, and Q4: $CD16^-KIR^-$ of NK cells from PBMC and TIL of sarcoma patients from (C) (n = 14). (D) Relative Median Fluorescence Intensity of DNAM-1 and NKG2D expression on NK cells in PBMC and TIL of sarcoma patients (n = 14). Statistical analysis was performed by Wilcoxon matched pairs signed rank non-parametric *t*-test and the Grubb's outlier test. In (B,C) the outlier is marked with a red square and the *p*-value is based on statistical analysis upon exclusion of the outlier.

line with the observed expression of DNAM-1 receptor ligands CD112 and CD155 (**Figure 2C**), DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells degranulated significantly against all 12 sarcoma explants and cell lines, while NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells degranulated more than 20% to 10 out of 12 (*p*-values in **Table S1**). We further confirmed the triggering of cytokine production by DNAM-1⁺ and NKG2D⁺ NK-92 cells (**Figure S6**) upon culture with primary sarcoma explants (HTT12, HTT25, HTT31). Compared to WT NK-92 cells, DNAM-1⁺ and NKG2D⁺ NK-92 cells displayed enhanced production of TNF α and IFN γ upon coculture with Saos-2 cells indicating that the GM NK cells have the capacity to trigger a wide range of effector functions. We

also observed strong involvement of DNAM-1-mediated antitumor responses with 6 independent *in vitro* propagated sarcoma explants (HTT15, HTT53, HTT55, HTT73, HTT79, and HTT82) and 5 healthy donor PBMCs (**Figure S5**). As expected, tumors expressing CD112 and/or CD155 triggered a high degranulation response from only DNAM-1⁺ NK-92 cells while these only low/moderately responded in the case of healthy donor PBMCs. Thus, it can be concluded that overexpression of DNAM-1 on NK-92 cells directly increased degranulation and cytokine prodcution against *in vitro* propagated primary sarcoma explants bearing CD112 and/or CD155, while healthy PBMCs were minimally affected.

TABLE 1 | List of sarcomas used in this study.

Tumor code	Tumor type	Age	NK cell ligand profiling		PBMC vs. TILs info	NK cell screening
			Fresh Propagated			
HTT10	Synovial Sarcoma	40–45		+		+
HTT12	Extraoseos Osteosarcoma	85–90		+		+
HTT15	Rhabdomyosarcoma	5–10		+		+*
HTT16	Pleomorphic Myxofibrosarcoma	75–80		+		+
HTT17	Osteosarcoma	15–20		+		+
HTT21	Myxofibrosarcoma	35–40		+		+
HTT25	Pleaomorphic Spindle Cell Sarcoma	80–85		+		+
HTT26	Chondrosarcoma	70–75		+		+
HTT29	Chondrosarcoma	25–30		+		+
HTT30	Chondrosarcoma	55-60		+		+
HTT31	High Grade Pleomorphic Fibrosarcoma	70–75		+		+
HTT38	ST sarcoma	85-90		+		+
HTT39	Osteosarcoma	20-25		+		+
HTT41	Fibrosarcoma	40-45		+		
HTT42	Fibrosarcoma	70-75		+		
HTT45	Chondrosarcoma	75-80		+		
HTT46	Chindrosarcoma	75-80		+		
HTT47	Ewing's sarcoma	30-35		+		
HTT48	Pleomorphic Myxofibrosarcoma	75–80		+		
HTT49	Unknown subtype	65-70		+		
HTT50	Ewing's sarcoma	10–15	+	+	+	
HTT51	Myxofibrosarcoma	70-75	+	Т	т	
HTT52	Myxofibrosarcoma	70-75		1	l.	
HTT53		55-60	+	+	+	+*
HTT54	Myofibrosarcoma, High Grade	50–55	+	+		Ŧ
HTT55	Myxoliposarcoma	50–55 70–75	1	+		+*
	Myxoid liposarcoma		+	+	+	+
HTT57	Osteosarcoma	55-60	+	+	+	
HTT58		60-65	+	+	+	
HTT61	Osteosarcoma	5–10		+	+	
HTT62	Chondrosarcoma	25-30		+	+	
HTT64	Synovial Sarcoma	30–35			+	
HTT67	Fibrosarcoma	0-5	+	+		
HTT71	Renal cell carcinoma	35-40			+	*
HTT73	Ewing's sarcoma	75-80		+		+*
HTT77	Leiomyosarcoma	70–75			+	
HTT78	Osteosarcoma	5-10	+	+		*
HTT79	Chondrosarcoma	65–70	+	+		+*
HTT80	Fibrosarcoma	80–85		+	+	
HTT81	Chondrosarcoma	55-60		+	+	
HTT82	Osteosarcoma	5–10	+	+	+	+*
HTT85	Chondrosarcoma	50–55			+	
HTT86	Pleomorphic fibroblastic sarcoma	50–55			+	

*Only tested with WT and DNAM-1+ GM NK-92s.

DNAM-1 and NKG2D Are Responsible for Degranulation Against Primary Sarcoma Explants

To verify the direct contribution of the respective activating NK cell receptors in mediating the observed degranulation, we used blocking antibodies to the receptors on the NK-92 cells or the corresponding ligand on the target cells (CD155 in the case of DNAM-1), in order to interfere with their specific interaction.

When DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells were treated with a blocking antibody against DNAM-1, degranulation responses against HTT12, HTT17, HTT25, and HTT26 were completely abolished (**Figure 4A**). When CD155 was blocked on the sarcoma explants, a residual response could still be observed by the DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells which is possibly due to the presence of the other ligand, CD112, on the surface of tumors. However, when DNAM-1 was blocked, all



MFI (n = 32).

degranulation was abrogated. Hence, it was confirmed that the degranulation of GM NK-92 cells was only mediated through the engagement of DNAM-1 with either of its ligands on the sarcoma explants.

Similarly, degranulation of NK-92 cells overexpressing NKG2D was assessed against HTT12, HTT17, HTT25, and HTT26, in blocking experiments where the effector cells were incubated with a blocking antibody against NKG2D prior to co-incubation (**Figure 4C**). As expected, blocking of NKG2D abrogated the response to levels similar to that of no target controls for samples HTT12, HTT25, and HTT26. As expected, HTT17 which was not a target of NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells, was not affected by the blocking.

Likewise, the blocking of DNAM-1 and NKG2D on NK-92 cells prior to co-incubation with targets, caused the respective responses of DNAM-1⁺ and NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells to decrease to background levels when tested against Saos-2 and U-2 OS sarcoma cell lines (**Figures 4B,D**). Thus, it can be concluded that the degranulation responses of GM NK-92s over-expressing DNAM-1 and NKG2D are solely due to the

abundant and functional interaction between the respective receptors on the NK-92 cells and the corresponding ligands on the sarcoma cells.

Having observed a relevant role for both DNAM-1 and NKG2D, we further analyzed whether the co-expression of the two receptors would synergize in triggering activity against sarcoma cells. For this purpose, we carried out a second genetic modification on NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells using the DNAM-1 expression vector and used FACS sorting to enrich the NKG2D⁺/DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells. Post-sorting analysis of DNAM-1 and NKG2D single or co-expressing cells confirmed similar levels of receptor expression and assured that any observed functional differences would not be merely due to this (Figure S7). Analysis of degranulation against U-2 OS and Saos-2 cell lines by co-expressing NK-92 cells revealed a slight increase in degranulation activity (Figure 4E) in comparison to DNAM-1 or NKG2D single positive cells. Due to lack of synergistic effects with co-expression of both DNAM-1 and NKG2D, we did not proceed further with tests against primary sarcoma explants.



DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 Cells Demonstrate Enhanced Cytotoxic Activity Against Primary Sarcoma Explants

While NK cell degranulation is a prerequisite for direct NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity, it does not necessarily correlate with target cell lysis. In order to observe the functional consequences of the slightly increased levels of degranulation in NK-92 cells co-expressing DNAM-1 and NKG2D, we performed electrical impedance-based cytotoxicity assays against U-2 OS and Saos-2 cells (**Figure 5A**). Quantification of cytotoxic activity at 4 h revealed that DNAM-1 single positive NK-92 cells are the most efficient in killing U-2 OS and Saos-2 cells. While both other NK-92 cell lines also rapidly killed target cells at a much higher rate compared WT NK-92 cells, the co-expression of the two receptors did not significantly enhance cytotoxic activity (**Figure 5A**). Rather, we observed that co-expressing NK-92 cells do not show as high cytotoxicity as DNAM-1

single positive NK-92 cells. Therefore, we conclude that the coexpression of DNAM-1 and NKG2D does not seem to be a feasible approach in further enhancing the anti-sarcoma activity of NK cells.

Furthermore, we used a calcein-AM image cytometry assay to visually validate target cell killing by WT or GM NK-92 cells. While testing of NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells against sarcoma explants did not yield any significant results (**Figure S8**), DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells exhibited significantly increased cytotoxicity compared to WT-NK-92 cells against all three sarcoma explants (HTT12, HTT25, and HTT26), which were simultaneously tested in the same assay (**Figure 5A**). Representative images from three primary sarcoma explants co-cultured with WT and DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells for 4 h (E:T ratio 10:1) show that target cells in the spontaneous control (without effector cells) exhibited brightly fluorescent live cells. While there is some variability between samples, fewer fluorescent



FIGURE 4 | Enhanced degranulation of NKG2D⁺ and DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells against selected sarcoma explants and Saos-2 and U-2 OS cell lines is receptor mediated. CD155, DNAM-1, or NKG2D blocking was done 15 min prior to degranulation set up. The assay was set as previously described, at E:T ratio 1:1. (**A**) Anti-CD155 on tumors and anti-DNAM-1 blocking of WT or DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells against primary sarcoma explants and (**B**) anti-DNAM-1 blocking of WT or DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells against primary sarcoma explants and (**B**) anti-DNAM-1 blocking of WT or DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells against primary sarcoma explants and (**D**) anti-NKG2D blocking of WT or NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells against Saos-2 and U-2 OS cell lines (results from two independent experiments, means plotted with error bars indicating SD). (**E**) Comparison of degranulation by DNAM-1 or NKG2D GM NK-92 cells with NK-92 cells co-expressing both receptors against Saos-2 and U-2 OS cells (***** indicates *p* < 0.0001 with 2-way ANOVA analysis).

cells with diminished intensity were observed when co-cultured with WT-NK-92 cells. Overall, DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells exerted increased cytotoxic activity compared to WT controls in

the imaging-based assays, supporting the degranulation results obtained and putting forward DNAM-1 as a prominent candidate in sarcoma immunotherapy.

Boosting NK Cell-Mediated Sarcoma Targeting



were found to significantly reduce the viability of primary sarcoma patient tumor cells, p < 0.0001 (HTT12, HTT26); p = 0.0018 (HTT25).

DNAM-1 and NKG2D Ligand Expression Is Associated With Poor Survival in Sarcoma

In order to investigate the individual roles of NKG2D ligands in the response of GM NK-92 cells, we primarily determined mRNA level expression of ULBP1, ULBP2, ULBP3, ULBP4, and ULBP5 molecules in the sarcoma explants used in **Figure 3** and complemented this data with MICA/B cell surface expression and NKG2D-Fc staining of each explant (**Figure S2**). Overall, we observe that the tumors differentially express various NKG2D ligands as was also confirmed with NKG2D-Fc staining. Interestingly, mRNA expression did not always correlate with cell surface NKG2D-Fc staining which may be due to a deficiency in membrane trafficking or shedding of ULBP molecules (33). Given the current data, it is difficult to speculate which one of the NKG2D ligands is the most potent engager of antitumor responses.

To investigate the potential clinical significance of individual NKG2D and DNAM-1 ligands, we analyzed their expression levels in 259 sarcoma samples available in The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database of the National Cancer Institute (**Figure 6**). We observed that the high expression of DNAM-1 ligand CD155 as well as the high expression of NKG2D ligands ULBP1, ULBP2, and ULBP3 are negatively associated with survival in sarcoma patients. Taken together with our

observation of decreased DNAM-1 and NKG2D expression on tumor-infiltrating NK cells in sarcoma and the enhanced cytotoxic activity of NK-92 cells expressing DNAM-1 or NKG2D against sarcoma explants, these results put forward DNAM-1- or NKG2D-based immunotherapy as a potentially effective approach in sarcoma treatment.

DNAM-1⁺ and NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 Cells Provide a Novel Approach for Efficiently Targeting a Wide Range of Solid and Hematological Malignancies

Identification of the role of DNAM-1 and NKG2D in boosting NK cell responses against sarcoma using functional screening with GM NK-92 cells (**Figures 3**, **4**; **Figure S4**), encouraged us to further evaluate the use of this approach against other solid and hematological malignancies (**Figure 7A**; **Table 2**). We assessed the degranulation capacity of all 14 GM NK-92 cell lines against various well-established cancer cell lines, including the metastatic prostate carcinomas PC-3 and LNCaP, primary pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma Capan-2, primary colorectal adenocarcinoma A549, metastatic neuroblastoma SH-Sy5y, metastatic nerve sheath tumor SNF02.2, melanomas SK-MEL-28, MeWo, A375 and DM6, myelomas U266, ARH-77 and



RPMI 8226 and leukemias K562 (CML), and THP-1 (AMoL) (Figure 7A; Table 2). Assessment of degranulation responses with the GM NK-92 cell-based screening platform showed that NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells had enhanced degranulation against majority of the cell lines except for SH-SY5Y (Figure 7A). In line with this observation, previous studies and the human protein atlas database demonstrated moderate/high expression of at least one NKG2D ligand in all cell lines used except in the neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y (35-41). Importantly, identification of differential receptor-mediated responses against tested cells lines such as DM6, THP-1, and ARH-77 cell lines, validates the functionality of each receptor introduced to NK-92 cells, and further demonstrates the applicability of the NK cell-based screening platform for the identification of tumor type- and most importantly patient-specific targetable NK cell receptor/ligand interactions (Figure 7A).

Moreover, DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells also showed overall enhanced responses compared to WT control except against RPMI 8226, while the range of the response varied greatly depending on the different target cell types (**Figure 7A**). Further validation of the superior degranulation capacity of DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells compared to WT controls, was independently assessed for all other types of cancers and showed that all cell lines induced significantly enhanced degranulation responses upon engagement of the DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells, except for RPMI 8226 (**Figure 7B**).

Since CD112 and/or CD155 expression profiles of some of the cell lines used in this study have not been fully identified previously, we next assessed the surface expression of CD112 and CD155 by flow cytometry (**Figure 7C**; **Table 2**). The general increase observed in anti-tumor responses exerted

by DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells was in line with surface expression of at least one of the ligands on the surface of the cancer cell lines. With the exception of target cell line RPMI 8226, where surface expression of CD112 and CD155 were very low, all degranulation responses by DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells were significantly enhanced compared to WT NK-92 (p < 0.0001).

Overall, our results suggest that arming NK-92 cells with activating receptors such as DNAM-1 and NKG2D can boost anti-tumor responses against various different malignancies. Likewise, identification of the unique NK cell receptor response profile of various tumors highlights the potential importance of the cell-based screening in the identification of targetable patient-specific NK cell/tumor interactions.

DISCUSSION

In this study, our primary aim was to identify potential NK cell/sarcoma interactions that can be modulated or targeted to enhance NK cell anti-tumor responses. To achieve this, we have assessed the immune profile of freshly isolated sarcoma explants, TILs and matched PBMCs, and developed a GM NK-92 cell line-based screening platform to identify the potential functional effects of different NK cell receptors in anti-sarcoma responses. Using this platform for the first time, we have characterized tumor-specific functional NK cell receptor signatures of primary human sarcomas as well as well-established cancer cell lines. Briefly, we have observed that NK cells minimally infiltrated sarcomas and expression of DNAM-1 and NKG2D were very low in both peripheral and sarcoma-infiltrating NK cells (**Figure 1**), even though ligand expression was observed in



freshly dissociated tumors (**Figure 2**) and the expression profiles of DNAM-1 and NKG2D ligands were associated with poor survival in sarcoma patients (**Figure 6**). On the other hand, GM NK-92 cells that overexpress DNAM-1 or NKG2D efficiently targeted sarcoma explants (**Figure 3**) and various established tumor cell lines (**Figure 7**), while WT NK-92 cells failed to respond in general. The response of GM NK-92 cells was strictly dependent on the corresponding receptor and ligands (**Figure 4**) and cytotoxicity was further confirmed with imaging-based cytotoxicity assays (**Figure 5**).

Our results provide an essential insight into how to enhance NK cell mediated anti-sarcoma responses, while confirming for the first time the feasibility of a GM NK-92 cell-based functional screening approach in developing and predicting personalized immunotherapies for cancer patients. Given the clinical applicability of NK-92 cells (42, 43), it is also possible to generate off-the shelf GM therapeutic NK-92 libraries and predict the most efficient treatment option for each individual using such an *in vitro* functional screen carried out on tumor biopsies. This rapidly personalized adoptive immunotherapy regimen can then be used as monotherapy as well as in combination with other already available approaches, such as checkpoint inhibition.

Compelling evidence supports an important role for the immune system in the disease pathogenesis as well as in anti-tumor responses against sarcomas. This also suggests that immunotherapies would be a promising treatment alternative for sarcoma patients, but surprisingly they have been inadequately explored. Clinical trials using T cell receptor (TCR) modified T cells seem to focus on NY-ESO-I on subtypes of sarcomas, such as liposarcoma and synovial sarcoma (NCT03450122,

TABLE 2 | List of cell lines used in this study.

Cell line	Origin	CD112 (fold MFI*)	CD155 (fold MFI*)	WT NK-92 (%CD56 ⁺ CD107a ⁺)	DNAM-1 ⁺ NK-92 (%CD56 ⁺ CD107a ⁺)
K562 (ATCC [®] CCL-243 TM)	Chronic myelogenous leukemia	99.05	1.36	71.7 (±5.9)	81.3 (±6.5)
THP-1 (ATCC [®] TIB-202 TM)	Acute monocytic leukemia	64.83	0.94	23.4 (±6.7)	60.7 (±11.7)
U266 (ATCC [®] TIB-196 TM)	Myeloma; plasmacytoma	10.82	2.14	38.65 (±5)	69.8 (±9.3)
RPMI8226 (ATCC [®] CCL-155 TM)	Myeloma; plasmacytoma	1.16	1.24	10.5 (±2.9)	18.5 (±3.6)
ARH-77 (ATCC [®] CRL-1621 TM)	Plasma cell leukemia	3.22	0.59	11.7 (±0.4)	39.1 (±9.4)
Caco-2 (ATCC [®] HTB-37 TM)	Primary colorectal adenocarcinoma	59.73	4.06	4.7 (±1.1)	46 (±10.3)
Capan-2 (ATCC [®] HTB-80 TM)	Primary pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma	50.92	4.73	5.3 (±1.9)	45.4 (±9.4)
PC-3 (ATCC [®] CRL-1435 TM)	Metastatic prostate adenocarcinoma	60.7	1.44	6.8 (±2.8)	52.9 (±0.7)
LNCaP (ATCC [®] CRL-1740 TM)	Metastatic prostate carcinoma	18.60	2.25	4.6 (±1.2)	47.5 (±7.3)
A549 (ATCC [®] CCL-185 TM)	Primary lung alveolar basal cell epithelial adenocarcinoma	85.31	6.69	7.7 (±3.6)	41.5 (±7.9)
A375 (ATCC [®] CRL-1619 TM)	Malignant melanoma	18.28	2.71	17.6 (±5.8)	59.9 (±4)
DM6 (34)	Malignant melanoma	51.67	2.76	23.3 (±7.5)	53.5 (±7)
SK-MEL-28 (ATCC [®] HTB-72 TM)	Malignant melanoma	60.45	4.75	7.9 (±2.1)	36.8 (±8.3)
MeWo (ATCC [®] HTB-65 TM)	Malignant melanoma	120.91	5.58	11.4 (±5.8)	47.4 (±16.9)
SH-SY5Y (ATCC [®] CRL-2266 TM)	Metastatic neuroblastoma	7.89	3.64	3.2 (±0.7)	21.7 (±3.1)
sNF02.2 (ATCC [®] CRL-2885 TM)	Metastatic malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor (MPNST)	106.87	4.40	11 (±4)	115 (±7.7)
Saos-2 (ATCC [®] HTB-85 TM)	Osteosarcoma	59.46	5.28	9.4 (±4.9)	43.8 (±16.4)
U-2 OS (ATCC [®] HTB-96 TM)	Osteosarcoma	425.32	15.59	11.8 (±6.1)	39.9 (±12.2)

*Calculated as (MFI_{stained} – MFI_{unstained})/MFI_{unstained}.

NCT01477021, NCT01343043, NCT03399448) (16, 44) while applications of Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) technology in sarcoma include HER2 (NCT00902044), EGFR (NCT03618381), CD44v6 and GD2 (45) directed CARs. However, downregulation of tumor-associated antigens is a common mechanism that tumors use to escape immune recognition, which has been shown to occur in both soft tissue and bone sarcomas (46-48), highlighting the potential importance of NK cell-based immunotherapies in the cases where antigen-specific responses fail (49, 50).

While NK cells are one of the promising candidates in the development of advanced cancer immunotherapies (51–54), very few clinical trials are currently exploring NK cells as a therapeutic option for sarcomas and none are exclusively designed to be sarcoma-specific (NCT02100891, NCT01875601). Nevertheless, sarcomas comprise over 100 different subtypes (55) and this diversity has made it very difficult to predict or customize efficient immunotherapies. This study provides a novel perspective for the development of efficient sarcoma-specific immunotherapies through the identification of DNAM-1 and NKG2D as well as their respective ligands as potential therapeutic targets for various subtypes of sarcomas and also enhancing NK cell mediated antisarcoma responses by DNAM-1⁺ and NKG2D⁺ GM NK cells.

Additionally, as a new angle to introduce antigen-specific recognition to NK cells, we and others recently published a novel approach to arm an NK cell line with a TCR in order to target tumors with high specificity while at the same time overcoming the problem of endogenous TCR mispairing (56, 57). Combining expression of antigen-specific receptors and tumor-specific NK cell receptors to further enhance anti-tumor responses by dual arming stands out as one of the future reflections of this study. NK cells that can be armed to enhance adaptive and innate anti-tumor responses are also inherently equipped to detect loss of MHC-I expression and get activated through disengagement of KIR/MHC-I mediated inhibitory signaling, thus potentially providing a back-up plan in case tumors downregulate MHC-I due to the TCR-mediated immune pressure. The persistence and multi-targeting potential of genetically enhanced NK cells can be further fine-tuned by inhibition of the tumor and the suppressive tumor microenvironment using, for example, checkpoint blockade therapy and inducing antigen-specific antitumor responses using antigen-specific monoclonal antibodies that induce CD16-mediated NK cell activation and antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC).

DNAM-1 and NKG2D are two activating NK cell receptors which recognize stress-induced ligands that are commonly

over-expressed by tumors. Thus, they have been implicated as key players in immunity against human tumors and have been extensively explored in multiple approaches to cancer immunotherapy (58). Many studies have shown reduced expression of activating receptors like DNAM-1 and NKG2D on TILs from cancer patients (59, 60) or shedding of their respective ligands from the tumor cells (61, 62). In line with this, we observed very low expression of DNAM-1 and NKG2D both on peripheral and on tumor-infiltrating NK cells (Figure 1D). The downregulation of NK cell activating receptors in the periphery may result in diminished antitumor responses and can be reversed by ex vivo activation of NK cells expressing DNAM-1 and NKG2D, that have been shown to efficiently target and kill Ewing sarcoma (EWS), rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) and osteosarcoma cell lines (derived from patient tumor samples) in vitro (27, 63, 64). On the other hand, here we demonstrate that primary human sarcomas (Figure 3) and other tumors (Figure 7) can be efficiently targeted by genetically modified NK-92 cells overexpressing NKG2D or DNAM-1 receptors.

Moreover, while previous studies have demonstrated expression and clinical relevance of CD112 and CD155 mostly from a sarcoma subset-oriented perspective (24, 63, 65), here we simultaneously assessed the expression of CD112 and CD155 in a diverse group of primary human sarcomas. The restricted expression of these molecules in healthy tissues, combined with the expression on all sarcoma explants provides valuable information regarding potential new targets for the development of targeted immunotherapies for sarcoma (Figure 2). DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells degranulated against all primary sarcoma explants as well as against the majority of the established cell lines, proving the potential of CD112 and CD155 as tumorspecific markers for targeted immunotherapies (Figures 3, 7). This, along with the absence of the degranulation response of NK cells against healthy donor PBMCs, showed that the use of DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells could be restricted/directed only to targets that had elevated CD112 and/or CD155 expression (Figures 2, 7), which is observed in tumors from various origins (65-83), including osteosarcomas (24).

As previously mentioned, NKG2D expression was very low on TIL NK cells but also on PBMC of sarcoma patients (Figure 1D), as was the expression of NKG2D ligands MICA/B on both fresh and propagated sarcoma explants (Figures 2C,E). This could be a result of peripheral immunosuppression induced by the tumor through NKG2D ligand shedding as has been observed in colon adenocarcinoma patients (84). While NKG2D is expressed on both T and NK cells, few attempts have been made to sensitize T cells to tumors through the NKG2D signaling axis (85, 86). However, NKG2D plays a significant role in tumor cell immune recognition and in particular in the perforin-mediated cytolytic response of NK cells (87). Moreover, NKG2D ligands are abundantly overexpressed in several human malignancies (88-93) and sensitize tumors to NK cell-mediated killing (94-99). Thus, it comes as no surprise that tumors employ a wide array of mechanisms to modulate NKG2D ligand expression to escape NK cell immune surveillance (100-106). Additional approaches to the one we describe here, have focused on developing therapeutics that increase the expression of NKG2D on NK cells (27, 107, 108) or enhance the expression levels of NKG2D ligands, as has been tested for Ewing sarcoma cell lines (109, 110).

Similar to the DNAM-1⁺ GM NK-92 cells, using NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells, we were able to identify a subset of sarcoma explants that also induced efficient degranulation albeit to a lower degree (**Figure 3B**). NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells also showed efficient degranulation responses against several of the well-established tumor cell lines of various types of malignancies (**Figure 7**). Degranulation was NKG2D-specific as the use of blocking antibodies to the receptor abrogated the responses (**Figures 4C,D**). This could be explained by the presence of other NKG2D ligands such as the ULBP family of proteins which are also expressed by the U-2 OS and Saos-2 sarcoma cell lines (40). The approach described here, identifies NKG2D as an additional receptor that can arm NK cells to successfully target patient tumor cells expressing the relevant ligands.

We also addressed whether the co-expression of DNAM-1 and NKG2D would further enhance the anti-sarcoma activity of NK-92 cells. NKG2D and DNAM-1 are known to use similar activation motifs and downstream signaling of the receptors overlap significantly, sharing involvement of essential molecules to exert their effector functions (111-113). Thus, it is possible to argue that the co-triggering of DNAM-1 and NKG2D may result in the enhancement of these signals but also has the risk of the two signals stumbling upon a bottleneck of either ligand engagement or signaling intermediates that dictates the amount of activation possible. Our results indicate that while the co-expression of the two receptors seems to slightly affect degranulation, it did not provide a significant enhancement in cytotoxic activity (Figures 4E, 5A). A third scenario including synergistic effects would theoretically be more possible if the second receptor made use of distinct signaling pathways, as in the case of 2B4, TRAIL, and FASL, but such an approach remains to be analyzed in further studies.

Overall, while tumor-infiltrating NK cells have decreased expression of DNAM-1 and NKG2D, sarcoma tumors highly express DNAM-1 and NKG2D ligands. Thus, we propose that genetically modified NK cells overexpressing DNAM-1 and/or NKG2D can be used to target these tumors efficiently and overcome the observed NK cell deficiency in sarcomas. Moreover, we have also demonstrated that the higher expression of many DNAM-1 or NKG2D ligands significantly associate with poor survival of sarcoma patients (**Figure 6**). Taking this information into account, it is possible to suggest that treatment with DNAM-1 and/or NKG2D expressing NK cells would especially benefit patients with bad prognosis.

In an era when personalized medicine is continuously gaining momentum, the use of biomarkers to identify the most efficient course of treatment is becoming increasingly necessary. To that end, efforts to develop new approaches that enable quick and efficient generation of important information regarding a patient's individual tumor phenotype have intensified in recent years. The functional screening platform described in this study enables the identification of NK cell receptor reactivities against a variety of different types of sarcomas, as well as many other cancer cell lines. Consequently, the NK-92 cell-based screening platform could function as a tool to perform parallel assessment of several activating NK cell receptors and identify the ones with the ability to arm NK-92 cells for cytotoxic activity against the individual patients' tumor cells. This would provide important information that could contribute to making immunotherapy treatments patient-customized and more efficient.

While the *in vivo* anti-tumor activity and treatment efficiency of DNAM-1⁺ or NKG2D⁺ GM NK-92 cells yet remains to be investigated in xenograft models of sarcoma, we and others have demonstrated that WT and GM NK-92 cells have the ability to exert potent anti-tumor responses both in preclinical animal models and clinical trials including various solid tumors (114-118) as well as several hematological malignancies (119-122). Both, modified and unmodified NK-92 cells have shown successful treatment responses and are currently under investigation for numerous indications. Quick and robust expansion of the relevant GM NK-92 cells to large numbers facilitates their use as a standardized off-the-shelf therapeutic that is safe, efficient and highly specific to the patient's tumor. Ultimately, the described approach can provide prognostic value through the identification of potent tumor/NK cell interactions, but also GM NK-92 cells that overexpress DNAM-1 or NKG2D can also be used in the clinical setting to treat cancer patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available upon request to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MC, EA, TS, and AD contributed to the conception and design of the NK screening platform. TS designed lentiviral constructs based on LeGO vectors. MC and RK produced virus and did transductions. KK sorted genetically modified cells. ES, MC, DO, and BJ maintained cell culture of all NK and target cell lines. HT provided deidentified surgical material. AD, A-MG, and HT designed the clinic-to-bench pipeline. ES, RK, MH, AD, and A-MG did tumor dissociation and PBMC isolations. ES, RK, and MH maintained sarcoma serial passaging and stocking. A-MG,

REFERENCES

- Taylor BS, Barretina J, Maki RG, Antonescu CR, Singer S, Ladanyi M. Advances in sarcoma genomics and new therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2011) 11:541–57. doi: 10.1038/nrc3087
- Judson I, Verweij J, Gelderblom H, Hartmann JT, Schoffski P, Blay JY, et al. Doxorubicin alone versus intensified doxorubicin plus ifosfamide for first-line treatment of advanced or metastatic soft-tissue sarcoma: a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2014) 15:415–23. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70063-4
- Frezza AM, Stacchiotti S, Gronchi A. Systemic treatment in advanced soft tissue sarcoma: what is standard, what is new. *BMC Med.* (2017) 15:109. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0872-y
- 4. Penel N, Coindre JM, Giraud A, Terrier P, Ranchere-Vince D, Collin F, et al. Presentation and outcome of frequent and rare sarcoma histologic subtypes:

AD, and TC ran flow cytometry of sarcoma (fresh/propagated) and patient blood samples. MC, ES, and DO ran degranulation assays with GM NK-92 cells. DO and CP has generated GM NK cell lines, sorted, and performed Xcelligence assays. RP performed qPCR. MA, AM, and CZ performed analysis of TCGA data. BJ and A-MG ran imaging-based cellular cytotoxicity assays. A-MG performed co-culture experiments for intracellular cytokine detection in NK-92 cells upon tumor co-culture. ES and A-MG analyzed data, prepared figures, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. BJ, DO, and AD analyzed data and prepared figures. ES, A-MG, AD, TS, BJ, and MC edited and finalized the manuscript. All other authors contributed to the final editing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the following grants: Cell Therapy Institute start-up funds, Nova Southeastern University, USA (AD), National Pediatric Cancer Foundation/Sunshine project (AD), Thorek Memorial Foundation (AD), The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) 1001 grant number 114Z861 (TS). DO was supported by the TUBITAK 2214 grant (#2214-A) and A-MG was supported by the Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsradet grant number 2016-06649).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge Dr. Temple's surgical team at Mercy Miami Hospital, Florida. The authors would also like to thank Dr. Wendy Weston for her assistance during manuscript preparation; Solly-Ann Barton-Case for assistance with cell culture, Elif Celik for cloning support, Abdullah Yilmaz and Günnur Deniz for FACS sorting, Esha Vallabhaneni and Rajeev Herekar, graduate students from College of Allopathic Medicine at NSU, and Savannah Bergeron, undergraduate research assistant.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.00040/full#supplementary-material

a study of 10,262 patients with localized visceral/soft tissue sarcoma managed in reference centers. *Cancer*. (2018) 124:1179–87. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31176

- Frisch M, Biggar RJ, Engels EA, Goedert JJ, Group AI-CMRS. Association of cancer with AIDS-related immunosuppression in adults. *JAMA*. (2001) 285:1736–45. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.13.1736
- Coley WB II. Contribution to the knowledge of sarcoma. Ann Surg. (1891) 14:199–220. doi: 10.1097/0000658-189112000-00015
- Wiemann B, Starnes CO. Coley's toxins, tumor necrosis factor and cancer research: a historical perspective. *Pharmacol Ther*. (1994) 64:529–64. doi: 10.1016/0163-7258(94)90023-X
- Maki RG, Jungbluth AA, Gnjatic S, Schwartz GK, D'Adamo DR, Keohan ML, et al. A pilot study of anti-CTLA4 antibody ipilimumab in patients with synovial sarcoma. *Sarcoma*. (2013) 2013:168145. doi: 10.1155/2013/168145
- 9. Ben-Ami E, Barysauskas CM, Solomon S, Tahlil K, Malley R, Hohos M, et al. Immunotherapy with single agent nivolumab for advanced leiomyosarcoma

of the uterus: results of a phase 2 study. *Cancer*. (2017) 123:3285-90. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30738

- George S, Miao D, Demetri GD, Adeegbe D, Rodig SJ, Shukla S, et al. Loss of PTEN is associated with resistance to anti-PD-1 checkpoint blockade therapy in metastatic uterine leiomyosarcoma. *Immunity*. (2017) 46:197– 204. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.02.001
- Kawaguchi S, Wada T, Ida K, Sato Y, Nagoya S, Tsukahara T, et al. Phase I vaccination trial of SYT-SSX junction peptide in patients with disseminated synovial sarcoma. J Transl Med. (2005) 3:1. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-3-31
- 12. Kawaguchi S, Tsukahara T, Ida K, Kimura S, Murase M, Kano M, et al. SYT-SSX breakpoint peptide vaccines in patients with synovial sarcoma: a study from the Japanese Musculoskeletal Oncology Group. *Cancer Sci.* (2012) 103:1625–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2012.02370.x
- Takahashi R, Ishibashi Y, Hiraoka K, Matsueda S, Kawano K, Kawahara A, et al. Phase II study of personalized peptide vaccination for refractory bone and soft tissue sarcoma patients. *Cancer Sci.* (2013) 104:1285–94. doi: 10.1111/cas.12226
- Dillman R, Barth N, Selvan S, Beutel L, de Leon C, DePriest C, et al. Phase I/II trial of autologous tumor cell line-derived vaccines for recurrent or metastatic sarcomas. *Cancer Biother Radiopharm.* (2004) 19:581–8. doi: 10.1089/1084978042484812
- Montagna D, Turin I, Schiavo R, Montini E, Zaffaroni N, Villa R, et al. Feasibility and safety of adoptive immunotherapy with *ex vivo*generated autologous, cytotoxic T lymphocytes in patients with solid tumor. *Cytotherapy*. (2012) 14:80–90. doi: 10.3109/14653249.2011.610303
- Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Dudley ME, et al. Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. J Clin Oncol. (2011) 29:917–24. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.32.2537
- Nathenson MJ, Conley AP, Sausville E. Immunotherapy: a new (and old) approach to treatment of soft tissue and bone sarcomas. *Oncologist.* (2018) 23:71–83. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2016-0025
- Pegram HJ, Andrews DM, Smyth MJ, Darcy PK, Kershaw MH. Activating and inhibitory receptors of natural killer cells. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2011) 89:216–24. doi: 10.1038/icb.2010.78
- Miller JS, Soignier Y, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McNearney SA, Yun GH, Fautsch SK, et al. Successful adoptive transfer and *in vivo* expansion of human haploidentical NK cells in patients with cancer. *Blood.* (2005) 105:3051–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2974
- Vitale M, Cantoni C, Pietra G, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Effect of tumor cells and tumor microenvironment on NK-cell function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1582–92. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344272
- Rosental B, Brusilovsky M, Hadad U, Oz D, Appel MY, Afergan F, et al. Proliferating cell nuclear antigen is a novel inhibitory ligand for the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp44. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:5693–702. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102267
- Horton NC, Mathew SO, Mathew PA. Novel interaction between proliferating cell nuclear antigen and HLA I on the surface of tumor cells inhibits NK cell function through NKp44. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e59552. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059552
- Wang X, Wang D, Yuan N, Liu F, Wang F, Wang B, et al. The prognostic value of PCNA expression in patients with osteosarcoma: a meta-analysis of 16 studies. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e8254. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000008254
- Kiany S, Huang G, Kleinerman ES. Effect of entinostat on NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity against osteosarcoma cells and osteosarcoma lung metastasis. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1333214. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1333214
- Bottino C, Castriconi R, Pende D, Rivera P, Nanni M, Carnemolla B, et al. Identification of PVR (CD155) and Nectin-2 (CD112) as cell surface ligands for the human DNAM-1 (CD226) activating molecule. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 198:557–67. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030788
- Tahara-Hanaoka S, Shibuya K, Onoda Y, Zhang H, Yamazaki S, Miyamoto A, et al. Functional characterization of DNAM-1 (CD226) interaction with its ligands PVR (CD155) and nectin-2 (PRR-2/CD112). *Int Immunol.* (2004) 16:533–8. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh059
- Boerman GH, van Ostaijen-ten Dam MM, Kraal KC, Santos SJ, Ball LM, Lankester AC, et al. Role of NKG2D, DNAM-1 and natural cytotoxicity receptors in cytotoxicity toward rhabdomyosarcoma cell lines mediated by

resting and IL-15-activated human natural killer cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. (2015) 64:573–83. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1657-9

- Vivian J, Rao AA, Nothaft FA, Ketchum C, Armstrong J, Novak A, et al. Toil enables reproducible, open source, big biomedical data analyses. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2017) 35:314–6. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3772
- Weber K, Bartsch U, Stocking C, Fehse B. A multicolor panel of novel lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors for functional gene analysis. *Mol Ther.* (2008) 16:698–706. doi: 10.1038/mt.2008.6
- Sutlu T, Nystrom S, Gilljam M, Stellan B, Applequist SE, Alici E. Inhibition of intracellular antiviral defense mechanisms augments lentiviral transduction of human natural killer cells: implications for gene therapy. *Hum Gene Ther*. (2012) 23:1090–100. doi: 10.1089/hum.2012.080
- Somanchi SS, McCulley KJ, Somanchi A, Chan LL, Lee DA. A novel method for assessment of natural killer cell cytotoxicity using image cytometry. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0141074. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0141074
- McCulley KJ, Somanchi SS. Assessment of natural killer cell cytotoxicity using image cytometry method. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2016) 1441:107–16. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3684-7_9
- Fernandez-Messina L, Ashiru O, Boutet P, Aguera-Gonzalez S, Skepper JN, Reyburn HT, et al. Differential mechanisms of shedding of the glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored NKG2D ligands. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:8543–51. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.045906
- Marinelli A, Bossi D, Pelicci PG, Minucci S. A redundant oncogenic potential of the retinoic receptor (RAR) alpha, beta and gamma isoforms in acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2007) 21:647–50. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404572
- 35. Skov S, Pedersen MT, Andresen L, Straten PT, Woetmann A, Odum N. Cancer cells become susceptible to natural killer cell killing after exposure to histone deacetylase inhibitors due to glycogen synthase kinase-3-dependent expression of MHC class I-related chain A and B. *Cancer Res.* (2005) 65:11136–45. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0599
- 36. Raja Gabaglia C, Diaz de Durana Y, Graham FL, Gauldie J, Sercarz EE, Braciak TA. Attenuation of the glucocorticoid response during Ad5IL-12 adenovirus vector treatment enhances natural killer cell-mediated killing of MHC class I-negative LNCaP prostate tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:2290–7. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3399
- Cluxton CD, Spillane C, O'Toole SA, Sheils O, Gardiner CM, O'Leary JJ. Suppression of Natural Killer cell NKG2D and CD226 anti-tumour cascades by platelet cloaked cancer cells: implications for the metastatic cascade. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0211538. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211538
- Carreno BM, Garbow JR, Kolar GR, Jackson EN, Engelbach JA, Becker-Hapak M, et al. Immunodeficient mouse strains display marked variability in growth of human melanoma lung metastases. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:3277–86. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2502
- Kabelitz D, Wesch D, Pitters E, Zoller M. Characterization of tumor reactivity of human V gamma 9V delta 2 gamma delta T cells *in vitro* and in SCID mice *in vivo*. *J Immunol*. (2004) 173:6767–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173. 11.6767
- Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, Lindskog C, Oksvold P, Mardinoglu A, et al. Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Science*. (2015) 347:1260419. doi: 10.1126/science.1260419
- Uhlen M, Bjorling E, Agaton C, Szigyarto CA, Amini B, Andersen E, et al. A human protein atlas for normal and cancer tissues based on antibody proteomics. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2005) 4:1920–32. doi: 10.1074/mcp.R500009-MCP200
- Klingemann HG, Wong E, Maki G. A cytotoxic NK-cell line (NK-92) for ex vivo purging of leukemia from blood. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. (1996) 2:68–75.
- Suck G, Odendahl M, Nowakowska P, Seidl C, Wels WS, Klingemann HG, et al. NK-92: an 'off-the-shelf therapeutic' for adoptive natural killer cell-based cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2016) 65:485–92. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1761-x
- 44. D'Angelo SP, Melchiori L, Merchant MS, Bernstein D, Glod J, Kaplan R, et al. Antitumor activity associated with prolonged persistence of adoptively transferred NY-ESO-1 (c259)T cells in synovial sarcoma. *Cancer Discov.* (2018) 8:944–57. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1417

- 45. Kailayangiri S, Altvater B, Spurny C, Jamitzky S, Schelhaas S, Jacobs AH, et al. Targeting Ewing sarcoma with activated and GD2-specific chimeric antigen receptor-engineered human NK cells induces upregulation of immune-inhibitory HLA-G. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1250050. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1250050
- 46. Tsukahara T, Kawaguchi S, Torigoe T, Asanuma H, Nakazawa E, Shimozawa K, et al. Prognostic significance of HLA class I expression in osteosarcoma defined by anti-pan HLA class I monoclonal antibody, EMR8-5. *Cancer Sci.* (2006) 97:1374–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2006.00317.x
- Meissner M, Konig V, Hrgovic I, Valesky E, Kaufmann R. Human leucocyte antigen class I and class II antigen expression in malignant fibrous histiocytoma, fibrosarcoma and dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans is significantly downregulated. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2010) 24:1326– 32. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2010.03644.x
- Berghuis D, de Hooge AS, Santos SJ, Horst D, Wiertz EJ, van Eggermond MC, et al. Reduced human leukocyte antigen expression in advanced-stage Ewing sarcoma: implications for immune recognition. *J Pathol.* (2009) 218:222–31. doi: 10.1002/path.2537
- Ljunggren HG, Karre K. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol Today*. (1990) 11:237–44. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S
- Brodin P, Lakshmikanth T, Mehr R, Johansson MH, Duru AD, Achour A, et al. Natural killer cell tolerance persists despite significant reduction of self MHC class I on normal target cells in mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e0013174. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013174
- Barkholt L, Alici E, Conrad R, Sutlu T, Gilljam M, Stellan B, et al. Safety analysis of *ex vivo*-expanded NK and NK-like T cells administered to cancer patients: a phase I clinical study. *Immunotherapy*. (2009) 1:753–64. doi: 10.2217/imt.09.47
- Locatelli F, Pende D, Falco M, Della Chiesa M, Moretta A, Moretta L. NK cells mediate a crucial graft-versus-leukemia effect in haploidentical-HSCT to cure high-risk acute leukemia. *Trends Immunol.* (2018) 39:577–90. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.04.009
- Mavers M, Bertaina A. High-risk leukemia: past, present, and future role of NK cells. J Immunol Res. (2018) 2018:1586905. doi: 10.1155/2018/1586905
- Dahlberg CI, Sarhan D, Chrobok M, Duru AD, Alici E. Natural killer cellbased therapies targeting cancer: possible strategies to gain and sustain anti-tumor activity. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:605. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015. 00605
- Bleloch JS, Ballim RD, Kimani S, Parkes J, Panieri E, Willmer T, et al. Managing sarcoma: where have we come from and where are we going? *Ther Adv Med Oncol.* (2017) 9:637–59. doi: 10.1177/1758834017728927
- Parlar A, Sayitoglu EC, Ozkazanc D, Georgoudaki AM, Pamukcu C, Aras M, et al. Engineering antigen-specific NK cell lines against the melanomaassociated antigen tyrosinase via TCR gene transfer. *Eur J Immunol.* (2019) 49:1278–90. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948140
- Mensali N, Dillard P, Hebeisen M, Lorenz S, Theodossiou T, Myhre MR, et al. NK cells specifically TCR-dressed to kill cancer cells. *EBioMedicine*. (2019) 40:106–17. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.01.031
- Morisaki T, Onishi H, Katano M. Cancer immunotherapy using NKG2D and DNAM-1 systems. *Anticancer Res.* (2012) 32:2241–7.
- Nieto-Velazquez NG, Torres-Ramos YD, Munoz-Sanchez JL, Espinosa-Godoy L, Gomez-Cortes S, Moreno J, et al. Altered expression of natural cytotoxicity receptors and NKG2D on peripheral blood NK cell subsets in breast cancer patients. *Transl Oncol.* (2016) 9:384–91. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2016.07.003
- Guillamon CF, Martinez-Sanchez MV, Gimeno L, Mrowiec A, Martinez-Garcia J, Server-Pastor G, et al. NK cell education in tumor immune surveillance: DNAM-1/KIR receptor ratios as predictive biomarkers for solid tumor outcome. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:1537–47. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0022
- Salih HR, Rammensee HG, Steinle A. Cutting edge: downregulation of MICA on human tumors by proteolytic shedding. *J Immunol.* (2002) 169:4098–102. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169. 8.4098
- Iguchi-Manaka A, Okumura G, Kojima H, Cho Y, Hirochika R, Bando H, et al. Increased soluble CD155 in the serum of cancer patients. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0152982. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152982

- Cho D, Shook DR, Shimasaki N, Chang YH, Fujisaki H, Campana D. Cytotoxicity of activated natural killer cells against pediatric solid tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:3901–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0735
- 64. Verhoeven DH, de Hooge AS, Mooiman EC, Santos SJ, ten Dam MM, Gelderblom H, et al. NK cells recognize and lyse Ewing sarcoma cells through NKG2D and DNAM-1 receptor dependent pathways. *Mol Immunol.* (2008) 45:3917–25. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2008.06.016
- Atsumi S, Matsumine A, Toyoda H, Niimi R, Iino T, Sudo A. Prognostic significance of CD155 mRNA expression in soft tissue sarcomas. *Oncol Lett.* (2013) 5:1771–6. doi: 10.3892/ol.2013.1280
- 66. Liang S, Yang Z, Li D, Miao X, Yang L, Zou Q, et al. The clinical and pathological significance of nectin-2 and DDX3 expression in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas. *Dis Markers*. (2015) 2015:379568. doi: 10.1155/2015/379568
- Oshima T, Sato S, Kato J, Ito Y, Watanabe T, Tsuji I, et al. Nectin-2 is a potential target for antibody therapy of breast and ovarian cancers. *Mol Cancer.* (2013) 12:60. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-12-60
- Bekes I, Lob S, Holzheu I, Janni W, Baumann L, Wockel A, et al. Nectin-2 in ovarian cancer: how is it expressed and what might be its functional role? *Cancer Sci.* (2019) 110:1872–82. doi: 10.1111/cas.13992
- 69. Pende D, Spaggiari GM, Marcenaro S, Martini S, Rivera P, Capobianco A, et al. Analysis of the receptor-ligand interactions in the natural killer-mediated lysis of freshly isolated myeloid or lymphoblastic leukemias: evidence for the involvement of the Poliovirus receptor (CD155) and Nectin-2 (CD112). *Blood.* (2005) 105:2066–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-09-3548
- Karabulut M, Gunaldi M, Alis H, Afsar CU, Karabulut S, Serilmez M, et al. Serum nectin-2 levels are diagnostic and prognostic in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Clin Transl Oncol.* (2016) 18:160–71. doi: 10.1007/s12094-015-1348-1
- Miao X, Yang ZL, Xiong L, Zou Q, Yuan Y, Li J, et al. Nectin-2 and DDX3 are biomarkers for metastasis and poor prognosis of squamous cell/adenosquamous carcinomas and adenocarcinoma of gallbladder. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* (2013) 6:179–90.
- Huang X, Qu P, Chen Y, Zhou X, Wu Y, Liu F, et al. Low expression of CD112 is associated with poor overall survival in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hum Pathol.* (2014) 45:1944–50. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2014.06.001
- Li M, Qiao D, Pu J, Wang W, Zhu W, Liu H. Elevated Nectin-2 expression is involved in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma by promoting cell migration and invasion. Oncol Lett. (2018) 15:4731–6. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.7953
- Mastaglio S, Wong E, Perera T, Ripley J, Blombery P, Smyth MJ, et al. Natural killer receptor ligand expression on acute myeloid leukemia impacts survival and relapse after chemotherapy. *Blood Adv.* (2018) 2:335–46. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2017015230
- Kearney CJ, Ramsbottom KM, Voskoboinik I, Darcy PK, Oliaro J. Loss of DNAM-1 ligand expression by acute myeloid leukemia cells renders them resistant to NK cell killing. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1196308. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1196308
- He W, Zhang H, Han F, Chen X, Lin R, Wang W, et al. CD155T/TIGIT signaling regulates CD8(+) T-cell metabolism and promotes tumor progression in human gastric cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:6375–88. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0381
- Chandramohan V, Bryant JD, Piao H, Keir ST, Lipp ES, Lefaivre M, et al. Validation of an immunohistochemistry assay for detection of CD155, the poliovirus receptor, in malignant gliomas. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* (2017) 141:1697–704. doi: 10.5858/arpa.2016-0580-OA
- Zheng Q, Wang B, Gao J, Xin N, Wang W, Song X, et al. CD155 knockdown promotes apoptosis via AKT/Bcl-2/Bax in colon cancer cells. *J Cell Mol Med*. (2018) 22:131–40. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13301
- Masson D, Jarry A, Baury B, Blanchardie P, Laboisse C, Lustenberger P, et al. Overexpression of the CD155 gene in human colorectal carcinoma. *Gut.* (2001) 49:236–40. doi: 10.1136/gut.49.2.236
- Nakai R, Maniwa Y, Tanaka Y, Nishio W, Yoshimura M, Okita Y, et al. Overexpression of Necl-5 correlates with unfavorable prognosis in patients with lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Sci.* (2010) 101:1326–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01530.x

- Bevelacqua V, Bevelacqua Y, Candido S, Skarmoutsou E, Amoroso A, Guarneri C, et al. Nectin like-5 overexpression correlates with the malignant phenotype in cutaneous melanoma. *Oncotarget*. (2012) 3:882–92. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.594
- Nishiwada S, Sho M, Yasuda S, Shimada K, Yamato I, Akahori T, et al. Clinical significance of CD155 expression in human pancreatic cancer. *Anticancer Res.* (2015) 35:2287–97.
- Carlsten M, Norell H, Bryceson YT, Poschke I, Schedvins K, Ljunggren HG, et al. Primary human tumor cells expressing CD155 impair tumor targeting by down-regulating DNAM-1 on NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:4921–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901226
- Doubrovina ES, Doubrovin MM, Vider E, Sisson RB, O'Reilly RJ, Dupont B, et al. Evasion from NK cell immunity by MHC class I chain-related molecules expressing colon adenocarcinoma. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:6891–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.12.6891
- Groh V, Li YQ, Cioca D, Hunder NN, Wang W, Riddell SR, et al. Efficient cross-priming of tumor antigen-specific T cells by dendritic cells sensitized with diverse anti-MICA opsonized tumor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:6461–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0501 953102
- Lehner M, Gotz G, Proff J, Schaft N, Dorrie J, Full F, et al. Redirecting T cells to Ewing's sarcoma family of tumors by a chimeric NKG2D receptor expressed by lentiviral transduction or mRNA transfection. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e31210. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031210
- Hayakawa Y, Smyth MJ. NKG2D and cytotoxic effector function in tumor immune surveillance. *Semin Immunol.* (2006) 18:176–85. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2006.03.005
- Groh V, Rhinehart R, Secrist H, Bauer S, Grabstein KH, Spies T. Broad tumor-associated expression and recognition by tumor-derived gamma delta T cells of MICA and MICB. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1999) 96:6879–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.12.6879
- Pende D, Rivera P, Marcenaro S, Chang CC, Biassoni R, Conte R, et al. Major histocompatibility complex class I-related chain A and UL16-binding protein expression on tumor cell lines of different histotypes: analysis of tumor susceptibility to NKG2D-dependent natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:6178–86.
- Watson NF, Spendlove I, Madjd Z, McGilvray R, Green AR, Ellis IO, et al. Expression of the stress-related MHC class I chain-related protein MICA is an indicator of good prognosis in colorectal cancer patients. *Int J Cancer*. (2006) 118:1445–52. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21510
- Friese MA, Platten M, Lutz SZ, Naumann U, Aulwurm S, Bischof F, et al. MICA/NKG2D-mediated immunogene therapy of experimental gliomas. *Cancer Res.* (2003) 63:8996–9006.
- Vetter CS, Groh V, thor Straten P, Spies T, Brocker EB, Becker JC. Expression of stress-induced MHC class I related chain molecules on human melanoma. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2002) 118:600–5. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2002. 01700.x
- Salih HR, Antropius H, Gieseke F, Lutz SZ, Kanz L, Rammensee HG, et al. Functional expression and release of ligands for the activating immunoreceptor NKG2D in leukemia. *Blood.* (2003) 102:1389–96. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0019
- Bauer S, Groh V, Wu J, Steinle A, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, et al. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. *Science*. (1999) 285:727–9. doi: 10.1126/science.285.5428.727
- 95. Cerwenka A, Bakker AB, McClanahan T, Wagner J, Wu J, Phillips JH, et al. Retinoic acid early inducible genes define a ligand family for the activating NKG2D receptor in mice. *Immunity*. (2000) 12:721–7. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80222-8
- Diefenbach A, Jamieson AM, Liu SD, Shastri N, Raulet DH. Ligands for the murine NKG2D receptor: expression by tumor cells and activation of NK cells and macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* (2000) 1:119–26. doi: 10.1038/ 77793
- Wu J, Song Y, Bakker AB, Bauer S, Spies T, Lanier LL, et al. An activating immunoreceptor complex formed by NKG2D and DAP10. *Science*. (1999) 285:730–2. doi: 10.1126/science.285.5428.730
- Diefenbach A, Jensen ER, Jamieson AM, Raulet DH. Rae1 and H60 ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunity. *Nature*. (2001) 413:165– 71. doi: 10.1038/35093109

- Cerwenka A, Baron JL, Lanier LL. Ectopic expression of retinoic acid early inducible-1 gene (RAE-1) permits natural killer cell-mediated rejection of a MHC class I-bearing tumor *in vivo*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:11521–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.201238598
- Schmiedel D, Mandelboim O. NKG2D ligands-critical targets for cancer immune escape and therapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2040. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02040
- 101. Raulet DH, Marcus A, Coscoy L. Dysregulated cellular functions and cell stress pathways provide critical cues for activating and targeting natural killer cells to transformed and infected cells. *Immunol Rev.* (2017) 280:93–101. doi: 10.1111/imr.12600
- 102. Bui JD, Carayannopoulos LN, Lanier LL, Yokoyama WM, Schreiber RD. IFN-dependent down-regulation of the NKG2D ligand H60 on tumors. J Immunol. (2006) 176:905–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 176.2.905
- Smyth MJ, Swann J, Cretney E, Zerafa N, Yokoyama WM, Hayakawa Y. NKG2D function protects the host from tumor initiation. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 202:583–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050994
- 104. Guerra N, Tan YX, Joncker NT, Choy A, Gallardo F, Xiong N, et al. NKG2D-deficient mice are defective in tumor surveillance in models of spontaneous malignancy. *Immunity.* (2008) 28:571–80. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.02.016
- 105. Liu G, Lu S, Wang X, Page ST, Higano CS, Plymate SR, et al. Perturbation of NK cell peripheral homeostasis accelerates prostate carcinoma metastasis. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:4410–22. doi: 10.1172/JCI69369
- 106. Hanaoka N, Jabri B, Dai Z, Ciszewski C, Stevens AM, Yee C, et al. NKG2D initiates caspase-mediated CD3zeta degradation and lymphocyte receptor impairments associated with human cancer and autoimmune disease. J Immunol. (2010) 185:5732–42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002092
- 107. Huergo-Zapico L, Acebes-Huerta A, Gonzalez-Rodriguez AP, Contesti J, Gonzalez-Garcia E, Payer AR, et al. Expansion of NK cells and reduction of NKG2D expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Correlation with progressive disease. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e108326. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108326
- Vuletic AM, Jovanic IP, Jurisic VB, Milovanovic ZM, Nikolic SS, Tanic NT, et al. *In-vitro* activation of natural killer cells from regional lymph nodes of melanoma patients with interleukin-2 and interleukin-15. *Melanoma Res.* (2015) 25:22–34. doi: 10.1097/CMR.00000000000126
- 109. Ferrari de Andrade L, Tay RE, Pan D, Luoma AM, Ito Y, Badrinath S, et al. Antibody-mediated inhibition of MICA and MICB shedding promotes NK cell-driven tumor immunity. *Science*. (2018) 359:1537–42. doi: 10.1126/science.aa00505
- 110. Berghuis D, Schilham MW, Vos HI, Santos SJ, Kloess S, Buddingh EP, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors enhance expression of NKG2D ligands in Ewing sarcoma and sensitize for natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Clin Sarcoma Res.* (2012) 2:8. doi: 10.1186/2045-3329-2-8
- 111. Molfetta R, Quatrini L, Santoni A, Paolini R. Regulation of NKG2Ddependent NK cell functions: the yin and the yang of receptor endocytosis. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E1677. doi: 10.3390/ijms18081677
- 112. Zhang Z, Wu N, Lu Y, Davidson D, Colonna M, Veillette A. DNAM-1 controls NK cell activation via an ITT-like motif. J Exp Med. (2015) 212:2165–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150792
- Kegg Pathway. Natural Killer Cell Mediated Cytotoxicity Homo Sapiens. (2019). Available online at: https://www.genome.jp/kegg-bin/show_ pathway?hsa04650 (accessed December 9, 2019).
- 114. Genssler S, Burger MC, Zhang C, Oelsner S, Mildenberger I, Wagner M, et al. Dual targeting of glioblastoma with chimeric antigen receptor-engineered natural killer cells overcomes heterogeneity of target antigen expression and enhances antitumor activity and survival. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1119354. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1119354
- 115. Esser R, Muller T, Stefes D, Kloess S, Seidel D, Gillies SD, et al. NK cells engineered to express a GD2 -specific antigen receptor display built-in ADCC-like activity against tumour cells of neuroectodermal origin. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2012) 16:569–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2011.01343.x
- 116. Lundberg M, Eriksson A, Tran B, Assarsson E, Fredriksson S. Homogeneous antibody-based proximity extension assays provide sensitive and specific detection of low-abundant proteins in human blood. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2011) 39:e102. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr424

- 117. Zhang C, Burger MC, Jennewein L, Genssler S, Schonfeld K, Zeiner P, et al. ErbB2/HER2-specific NK cells for targeted therapy of glioblastoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2016) 108:615–24. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djv375
- Zhang G, Liu R, Zhu X, Wang L, Ma J, Han H, et al. Retargeting NK-92 for anti-melanoma activity by a TCR-like single-domain antibody. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2013) 91:615–24. doi: 10.1038/icb.2013.45
- Chen KH, Wada M, Pinz KG, Liu H, Lin KW, Jares A, et al. Preclinical targeting of aggressive T-cell malignancies using anti-CD5 chimeric antigen receptor. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:2151–60. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.8
- 120. Chu J, Deng Y, Benson DM, He S, Hughes T, Zhang J, et al. CS1-specific chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-engineered natural killer cells enhance *in vitro* and *in vivo* antitumor activity against human multiple myeloma. *Leukemia*. (2014) 28:917–27. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.279
- 121. Jiang H, Zhang W, Shang P, Zhang H, Fu W, Ye F, et al. Transfection of chimeric anti-CD138 gene enhances natural killer cell activation and killing of multiple myeloma cells. *Mol Oncol.* (2014) 8:297–310. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2013.12.001

122. Oelsner S, Friede ME, Zhang C, Wagner J, Badura S, Bader P, et al. Continuously expanding CAR NK-92 cells display selective cytotoxicity against B-cell leukemia and lymphoma. *Cytotherapy*. (2017) 19:235–49. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.10.009

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Sayitoglu, Georgoudaki, Chrobok, Ozkazanc, Josey, Arif, Kusser, Hartman, Chinn, Potens, Pamukcu, Krueger, Zhang, Mardinoglu, Alici, Temple, Sutlu and Duru. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Targeting Natural Killer Cells for Tumor Immunotherapy

Cai Zhang*, Yuan Hu and Chongdeng Shi

Institute of Immunopharmaceutical Sciences, Key Laboratory of Chemical Biology (Ministry of Education), School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Shandong University, Jinan, China

Natural killer (NK) cells are important innate cytotoxic lymphocytes with a rapid and efficient capacity to recognize and kill tumor cells. In recent years, adoptive transfer of autologous- or allogeneic-activated NK cells has become a promising cellular therapy for cancer. However, the therapeutic efficiency is encouraging in hematopoietic malignancies, but disappointing in solid tumors, for which the use of NK-cell-based therapies presents considerable challenges. It is difficult for NK cells to traffic to, and infiltrate into, tumor sites. NK cell function, phenotype, activation, and persistence are impaired by the tumor microenvironment, even leading to NK cell dysfunction or exhaustion. Many strategies focusing on improving NK cells' durable persistence, activation, and cytolytic activity, including activation with cytokines or analogs, have been attempted. Modifying them with chimeric antigen receptors further increases the targeting specificity of NK cells. Checkpoint blockades can relieve the exhausted state of NK cells. In this review, we discuss how the cytolytic and effector functions of NK cells are affected by the tumor microenvironment and summarize the various immunotherapeutic strategies based on NK cells. In particular, we discuss recent advances in overcoming the suppressive effect of the tumor microenvironment with the aim of enhancing the clinical outcome in solid tumors treated with NK-cell-based immunotherapy.

Keywords: natural killer cells, tumor microenvironment, cytokine, CAR-NK, checkpoint blockade, tumor immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

The important innate cytotoxic lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) cells, show rapid, and efficient cytolytic activity to recognize and kill both virally infected and transformed cells. They exert effector functions relying on germline-encoded receptors for their activation, without the need for prior exposure to the antigen. NK cells possess an extensive repertoire of receptors (activating and inhibitory) that recognize altered protein expression on target cells, thereby controlling the cytolytic function. Uniquely, these receptors can distinguish normal from transformed cells via "missing-self" or "induced self" recognition models (1, 2). The balance between activating and inhibitory receptors tightly governs the inhibition or activation signals for the maintenance of homeostasis (3, 4). NK-cell-activating receptors recognize stress-induced molecules on target cells to prime NK cell activation. The downregulation of inhibitory ligands and the expression of ligands that activate receptors on tumor cells trigger the activation of NK cells to kill these abnormal cells. Both human and mouse NK cells express a CD16-activating receptor, which mediates antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) upon binding to the Fc portion of antibodies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daniel Olive, Faculté de Médecine, Aix Marseille Université, France

Reviewed by:

Rui Sun, University of Science and Technology of China, China William K. Decker, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

*Correspondence:

Cai Zhang caizhangsd@sdu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 14 July 2019 Accepted: 10 January 2020 Published: 19 February 2020

Citation:

Zhang C, Hu Y and Shi C (2020) Targeting Natural Killer Cells for Tumor Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 11:60. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00060

132

To stimulate responses to target cells, NK-cell-activating receptors, such as NK group 2D (NKG2D), CD226, and the natural cytotoxicity receptors NKp30, NKp44, and NKp46, are considered the most relevant receptors. Once activated, NK cells lyse tumor cells through the release of the cytotoxic molecules perforin and granzyme, upregulating the expression of the Fas ligand and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis inducing ligand, and the secretion of cytokines such as interferon gamma (IFN- γ) and TNF alpha (TNF- α).

In addition to their direct cytotoxic potential against target cells, NK cells also exhibit immunoregulatory functions. NK cells contribute to the homeostasis of the immune system and initiate or promote the activation and effector functions of other innate and adaptive immune cells via secretion of cytokines and chemokines, or through direct cell–cell contact (5, 6). NK cells can shape adaptive immune responses through cross-talk with other immune cells such as T cells, B cells, and dendritic cells (DCs). NK cells promote Th1 polarization by producing IFN- γ . They also indirectly enhance the immune responses of adaptive T cells by promoting DC maturation (6, 7). Emerging evidence suggests that NK cells enhance CD8⁺ T cells function and/or ameliorate their exhaustion (8–10). NK cell function is proven to be critical for the antitumor or antiviral effects of CD8⁺ T cells, even with checkpoint blockade therapy (11).

Recently, it was found that NK cells have features of adaptive immune cells, particularly the memory-like responses (12-18). A long-lived murine NK cell population had been reported to be able to self-renew and survive in a lymphopenic environment for more than 6 months (19). To date, three types of longlived memory NK cells have been identified: hepatic-liverresident NK cells, cytomegalovirus (CMV)-specific NK cells, and cytokine-induced memory-like NK cells (20-22). They usually express high levels of NKG2C and have the capacity for longterm in vivo proliferation and persistence. Upon restimulation with antigens or cytokines, memory-like NK cells undergo clonal-like expansion followed by longevity, self-renewal, and recall responses (13, 23, 24). Recently, the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 8 has been found to orchestrate the adaptive NK cell response against CMV infection (25). A recent study showed that naive NK cells could be induced to functionally convert into tumor-induced memory-like NK cells by priming using acute myeloid leukemia or pediatric acute Bcell leukemia specimens (14). These tumor-induced memorylike NK cells exhibit certain similarities to cytokine-induced memory-like NK cells and CMV-specific NK cells; however, more importantly, they show significant differences, such as higher tumor-specific cytotoxicity and increased synthesis of perforins, but not IFN-y secretion. These NK cell adaptive features are promising for the future use of immunotherapy to treat cancers and infective diseases.

NK cells' critical role in immunosurveillance and their powerful antitumor efficacy have prompted their use in many clinical trials to control tumor growth via their effector capacity. However, although the results have been encouraging in hematological malignancies, there has been less success for solid tumors. Indeed, solid tumors present considerable challenges to the application of NK-cell-based therapies. For example, it is difficult for NK cells to traffic and infiltrate into the tumor sites. NK cell function, activation, and phenotype are impaired by the tumor microenvironment, even rendering NK cells dysfunctional or exhausted. Thus, strategies to improve the cytolytic activity, durable persistence, and activation of NK cells have been developed. In the present review, we discuss how the cytolytic and effector functions of NK cells are affected by the tumor microenvironment. We also summarize the various immunotherapeutic strategies based on NK cells, especially the recent attempts to improve NK-cell-based immunotherapy clinical outcomes against solid tumors by overcoming the suppressive effect of the tumor microenvironment.

EFFECT OF THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT ON NK CELLS' CYTOLYTIC FUNCTION

NK-cell-based immunotherapies, particularly the adoptive transfer of autologous or allogeneic NK cells, or gene-modified NK cells, have been used widely in clinical trials and have shown great promise for different hematological malignancies (26, 27). However, for patients with solid tumors, the outcomes of adoptive NK cell infusions have been disappointing. There are considerable challenges for NK cell therapy to treat patients with solid tumors. One of the major challenges is the difficulty of NK cells to traffic to the tumor location and infiltrate into the tumor. This poor ability of NK cells to infiltrate into solid tumors limits the clinical outcome of adoptive NK cell infusion. Enhanced infiltration of NK cells into tumor lesions has been associated with good prognosis for patients with diverse types of solid cancer (28, 29).

Another major challenge comes from the tumor microenvironment, which impairs the phenotype, activation, persistence, and function of NK cells. Accumulating data have shown that tumor-infiltrating NK cells exhibit poor cytotoxic capacity, accompanied by downregulation of activating receptors and upregulation of inhibitory receptors, compared with NK cells in non-tumor tissues (4, 30, 31). The tumor microenvironment is a complex network comprising regulatory T cells (Tregs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), regulatory γδT cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), soluble factors, the extracellular matrix, and suppressive molecules expressed on tumor cells (32-35). NK cell proliferation and antitumor activity are suppressed by tumor cell secretion of various immunosuppressive factors, including prostaglandin E2, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), interleukin 10 (IL-10), transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), and vascular endothelial growth factor. The growth of many types of solid tumors promotes the expansion of immunosuppressive cells, including Tregs, MDSCs, and TAMs. Tumor cells also secrete chemokines, such as C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 8 or C-C motif chemokine ligand 2, to promote Tregs, TAM, or MDSCs accumulation at the tumor sites. By producing TGF- β and IL-10, or via direct cell-to-cell interaction, these immunosuppressive cells inhibit intratumoral NK cell cytotoxicity (36-38). Tregs directly inhibit NK cell

cytolytic functions via the production of TGF-β and also reduce the expression of activating receptors NKG2D and natural cytotoxicity triggering receptor 3 (NKp30) through membrane bound TGF-β (39, 40). MDSCs suppress NK cell cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion via membrane-bound TGF-β on MDSCs in a cell-contact-dependent manner or dependent on NKp30 on NK cells (39, 41). Several proinflammatory cytokines have also been reported to contribute to MDSC-mediated NK cell inhibition, resulting in reduced NK cytotoxicity, decreased expression of activating receptor NKGD or NKR, and limited release of IFN-y (42). These soluble factors include TGF-B, IDO, nitric oxide (NO), and adenosine (38, 43-45). Adenosine is an important immunosuppressive molecule that is released at high levels by MDSCs in response to hypoxia and inflammation of the tumor microenvironment. In tumors sites, high levels of ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1 (CD39) and 5'-nucleotidase ecto (CD73) are expressed by MDSCs, which results in markedly increased levels of adenosine secretion. NK cell antitumor activities are inhibited by adenosine via limiting IFN- γ /TNF- α release, inhibiting Fas ligand and perforin-mediated cytotoxic activity and blocking granzyme exocytosis (38, 46). In patients with hepatocellular carcinoma, a substantial proportion of CD11b-CD27-NK subsets with an inactive and immature phenotype was reported to accumulate in tumor tissues and render tumor-infiltrating NK cells less tumoricidal, which was also associated with tumor progression (47). High levels of inhibitory molecules, including programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) or PD-L2, are expressed on tumor cells, antigen-presenting cells, immunosuppressive cells, and stromal cells in the tumor microenvironment, thus preventing the activation of NK cells through binding with their respective inhibitory receptors on NK cells, which results in exhaustion and dysfunction of NK cells (48, 49). Among the stromal cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are the major cells that affect the antitumor capacity of NK cells. CAFs secrete IDO or prostaglandin E2 to decrease NK cell expression of NKG2D, and secrete TGF-β to reduce the expression of NKG2D, NKp30, and NKp44 (50, 51). CAFs also inhibit the killing activity of NK cells by downregulating the level of the poliovirus receptor (poliovirus receptor/CD155) (52).

NK-CELL-BASED TUMOR IMMUNOTHERAPY

Cytokine-Activated NK Cells in Tumor Immunotherapy

NK cells' unique capability to distinguish normal from transformed cells, and their rapid and efficient killing capacity, have led to them becoming an attractive option for tumor immunotherapy and have shown great promise recently. The initial attempts comprised adoptive transfer of peripheral blood-derived autologous or allogeneic NK cells or those stimulated and expanded with cytokines, before injection into patients. In most cases, autologous or allogeneic NK cells were stimulated to activate and proliferate using cytokines (IL-2 or IL-15), in the presence of feeder cells genetically engineered to express costimulatory molecules or cytokines (IL-21 and

IL-15) in the culture. The NK cells were then transferred into the patient, followed by the administration of IL-2 to maintain the expansion and function of the infused NK cells (20, 26). Encouraging results were achieved using adoptive transfer of haploidentical NK cells or allogeneic NK cells from killer cell immunoglobulin like receptor (KIR) mismatched donors, leading to graft vs. host disease (GVHD) in patients with hematological cancers. However, these approaches are undesirable to treat patients with solid tumors. The safety of adoptive transfer of autologous or allogeneic NK cells has been proved; however, efficacy is limited by their poor proliferation and persistence in vivo and the increase in Tregs related to IL-2 administration (53). Administration of exogenous IL-15 has been shown to improve survival, in vivo persistence, and therapeutic efficacy without inducing the survival and expansion of Tregs (54, 55). A human NKG2D-IL-15 fusion protein could efficiently bind to major histocompatibility complex class I polypeptide-related sequence⁺ tumor cells and stimulated NK cell activity by transpresentation of IL-15, thus exhibiting higher control efficiency of the growth of xenografted human gastric cancer via the NK cell recruitment and activation (55). In addition, membrane-bound IL-15 expressed on NK cells (mbIL-15 NK) or IL15 gene-modified NK cells have been investigated and displayed the ability to survive and proliferate without exogenous cytokines, as well as superior cytotoxicity against both hematological neoplasms and solid tumors (56-59). Moreover, an IL15-IL15Ra-Sushi-Fc fusion protein (ALT-803), termed a superagonist, in which the IL-15Ra sushi domain is complexed with IL-15, potently enhances NK cell survival and cytotoxic activity compared with that induced by native IL-15. In preclinical studies, ALT-803 enhanced memory CD8⁺ T cell subpopulations and specific NK expansion, promoted the secretion of IFN- γ , and improved NK cell function in multiple animal models, including B cell lymphoma, glioblastoma, colon cancer, and ovarian cancer (60-62). Phase I or II clinical trial evaluating its safety and efficacy in patients with both hematological neoplasms (e.g., relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma, acute myelogenous leukemia, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, and myelodysplastic syndromes) and solid tumors (NCT01885897, NCT01946789, NCT02099539, NCT03054909) (63, 64) or in combination with NK cell adoptive therapy (NCT02465957, NCT02890758), or with nivolumab (NCT02523469) (65) are currently ongoing. New expansion methods are being exploited to obtain large numbers of NK cells with enhanced cytotoxic activity (66). Notably, pre-activation of human peripheral blood-derived NK cells (PB-NK) using cytokine combinations, such as IL-18, IL-15, and IL-13, were observed to induce human NK cell differentiation into memory-like NK cells (67-69). These human memory-like NK cells expressed NKG2C, NKG2A, and killer cell lectin like receptor D1 (CD94); however, they had reduced expression of inhibitory KIRs. The preactivated NK cells express the high-affinity IL-2 receptor and thus are more sensitive to low concentrations of IL-2, such that in IL-2 culture, they proliferate more rapidly and NK cell recovery is higher. The peculiar features of cytokineinduced memory-like NK cells are antigen unspecific with

increased proliferative capacity, long-term survival, and in vivo persistence, enhanced production of IFN-y and higher cytotoxicity during ex vivo restimulation. Thus, cytokineinduced memory-like NK cells are becoming an attractive tool for antitumor immunotherapy. Recently, several phase I and II clinical trials of cytokine-induced memory-like NK cells have been performed in patients with relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia (AML) after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplant (NCT03068819, NCT02782546) or myelodysplastic syndrome (NCT01898793) sponsored by Washington University School of Medicine and have shown robust antitumor capacity (67). In addition to PB-NK, human embryonic stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and bone marrow or umbilical-cord blood are being studied as alternative sources of therapeutic NK cells and are showing great promise (70).

CAR-Modified NK Cells in Tumor Immunotherapy

Recently, the development of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells represents a breakthrough in cancer immunotherapy, particularly to treat hematological malignancies. Transfusion of CAR-T cells targeting CD19 to treat relapsed B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia ALL (B-ALL) and certain types of relapsed non-Hodgkin's lymphoma obtain as high as 70-90% clinical complete response rates. Thus, CD19-CAR-T cells have been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to treat refractory ALL and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Currently, multiple CAR-T cells targeting different surface tumor antigens are undergoing clinical development to treat other hematological malignancies and several solid tumors (71, 72). However, there are still a number of obstacles that limit their clinical application. The main problems with CAR-T cell therapy are cytokine release syndrome, neurotoxicity, and on-target/offtumor effects. To prevent GVHD, CAR-T cells are usually prepared from autologous peripheral blood, which is costly, time consuming, and personalized. NK cells modified with CAR (CAR-NK) are potentially safer than CAR-T cells in that infusion of CAR-NK cells seldom results in cytokine release syndrome because the NK cells secrete mainly restricted levels of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and IFN- γ , while the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 and IL-6 are seldom secreted. The low likelihood of triggering GVHD upon allogeneic infusion means that CAR-NK cells may be prepared as an "off-the-shelf" product and are not restricted to autologous cells. Moreover, natural recognition receptors that recognize stress-induced ligands independent of CARs are retained on CAR-NK cells, including CD226, NKp30, NKp46, NKG2D, and NKp44. NK cells express FcyRIII (CD16) that can mediate ADCC. Therefore, CAR-NK cells are able to induce tumor cell lysis in CAR-dependent and CAR-independent manners, not only further promoting their killing activity but also decreasing the possibility of loss of CAR-targeting antigen-related relapse (73, 74). Intriguingly, activating signaling mediated by CAR is able to overcome the uneducated NK cell hyporesponsiveness, thereby mediating target cell killing. Indeed, CAR-mediated activation is able to overcome the dominant inhibition associated with NKG2A-mediated signaling, thereby enhancing NK cells' antitumor responses (75, 76).

To date, CAR-NK cells are being studied in ongoing clinical trials to evaluate their safety and efficacy for both hematological malignancies and solid tumors, which have shown promising results (**Table 1**). The main targets for hematological malignancy include CD19, CD22, CD33, and CD7 for relapsed and refractory leukemia and lymphoma (NCT01974479, NCT02742727, NCT02892695, NCT02944162, NCT03056339, NCT03579927, NCT03690310, NCT03692767, and NCT03824951) and B-cell maturation antigen for multiple myeloma (NCT03940833). The targets of current ongoing CAR-NK cells for solid cancer in clinical trials include mucin 1, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, NKG2D ligands, roundabout guidance receptor 1 (ROBO1), and Mesothelin (NCT02839954, NCT03383978, NCT03415100, NCT03692637, NCT03692663, NCT03931720, NCT03940820, NCT03941457).

The main challenges to the clinical applications of CAR-NK cells include their low transfection efficiency, low in vivo persistence, difficulty to infiltrate into the solid tumor sites, and suppression from the tumor microenvironment. Although the viral transduction technology for NK cells has been improved recently, the transfection efficiency for primary NK cells remains unsatisfactory (77, 78). Non-viral vectors, an alternative gene transfer systems, particularly the Sleeping Beauty (SB) transposon system, could mediate stable transgene expression (79). CAR transgenes have been successfully transfected into T cells via electroporation using the SB transposon system (80, 81). Several phase I clinical trials have been sponsored by MD Anderson Cancer for the treatment of patients with advanced non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, ALL, and chronic lymphocytic leukemia by infusion of SB-modified CD19-specific CAR-T cells following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) (NCT00968760, NCT01362452, NCT01497184, NCT01653717, and NCT02529813). The results identified 84% CAR expression as well as the feasibility and safety of the SB system (81). An UltraCAR-T co-expressing CAR, mbIL15, and a kill switch introduced by SB transposon system using electroporation was approved by FDA for investigational new drug (IND) application to initiate a phase I study for the treatment of patients with advanced platinum-resistant ovarian cancer. The piggyBac transposon system has also been utilized recently to introduce the CAR gene into T or NK cells. Nanoparticle delivery technology has been harnessed to improve the transduction efficiency and augment the antitumor efficacy of immunotherapy (82). Using a T-cell-targeted nanoparticle to deliver the CAR gene, Smith et al. report one potential novel and interesting technology to establish in situ programming of CD19-CAR-T cells to treat leukemia (83). This approach contains several features: anti-CD3e F(ab')2 fragments targeting T cells were coupled on the surface of nanoparticles; efficient nuclear delivery was achieved by biodegradable polymer functionalized with nuclear localization signals and microtubule-associated sequences; and stable chromosomal integration was facilitated by the piggyBac transposon system. The authors demonstrated that the nanoparticle-reprogrammed CAR-T cells have similar

ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier	Malignancy	Phase	NK source	Target	Signaling domain of CAR
NCT02944162	CD33 ⁺ acute myeloid leukemia	1/11	NK-92 cell	CD33	CD28-4-1 BB-CD3ς
NCT01974479	B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia	Ш	Primary NK cells	CD19	CD8αTM-4-1 BB-CD3ζ
NCT02742727	Leukemia and Lymphoma	1/11	NK-92 cell	CD7	CD28-4-1 BB-CD3ς
NCT02892695	Leukemia and Lymphoma	1/11	NK-92 cell	CD19	CD28-4-1 BB-CD3ς
NCT03056339	B lymphoid malignancies	1/11	Cord blood NK cells	CD19	CD28-CD3ç
NCT03579927	B lymphoid malignancies	1/11	Cord blood NK cells	CD19	CD28-CD35
NCT01974479	B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia	I	Primary NK cells	CD19	4-1 BB-CD3ς
NCT03940833	Multiple myeloma	1/11	NK-92 cell	BCMA	CD8αTM-4-1 BB-CD3ς
NCT03692767	Refractory B-cell lymphoma	Ι	Unknown	CD22	CD244
NCT03690310	Refractory B-cell lymphoma	Ι	NK-92 cell	CD19	CD244
NCT03824951	Refractory B-cell lymphoma	Ι	iPS derived NK cells	CD19	CD244
NCT03824964	Refractory B-cell lymphoma	I	Unknown	CD19/CD22	CD244
NCT02839954	MUC1 positive relapsed or refractory solid tumor	1/11	NK-92 cell	MUC1	CD28-4-1 BB-CD3ς
NCT03383978	Glioblastoma	Ι	NK-92 cell	HER2	CD28-CD3ç
NCT03415100	Solid tumors	I	Primary NK cells	NKG2D-Ligand	Unknown
NCT03940820	Solid tumors	1/11	NK-92 cell	ROBO1	CD8αTM-4-1 BB-CD3ζ
NCT03931720	Malignant tumor	1/11	NK-92 cell	ROBO1	CD8αTM-4-1 BB-CD3ς
NCT03941457	Pancreatic cancer	1/11	NK-92 cell	ROBO1	CD8αTM-4-1 BB-CD3ς
NCT03692663	Castration-resistant prostate cancer	I	NK-92 cell	PSMA	CD244
NCT03692637	Epithelial ovarian cancer	I	Primary NK cells	Mesothelin	CD244

TABLE 1 | Current clinical trials of CAR-NK cells.

antitumor therapeutic efficacy to conventional lentiviral-based CAR-T therapy in a B-cell ALL mouse model. Moreover, the particle synthesis is relatively simple, the product is stable, and can be lyophilized for extended storage, with low cost (84, 85). The piggyBac transposon system was also used to introduce NKG2D. CAR-presenting vectors were transfected into NK92 cells to generate NKG2D CAR-NK cells, and efficacy was evaluated in a human lung cancer xenograft model. These non-viral engineered NKG2D CAR-NK cells in combination with CD73 blockade showed significant synergistic therapeutic efficacy (86). The SB transposon system to generate CAR-T cells was found to be safe in recent clinical trials (NCT00968760, NCT01362452, NCT01497184, NCT01653717, and NCT02529813). Therefore, it might be feasible to use the SB or piggyBac transposon system combined with nanoparticle delivery technology to establish CAR-NK cells for clinical therapy, although the potential risks and benefits need to be carefully evaluated.

The CAR constructs in most CAR-NK are similar to those in CAR-T cells, except for the unique signaling, and activation features of NK cells. Thus, designing optimized CAR structures suitable for NK cells has been pursued. The NK-cell-activating receptor NKG2D recognizes multiple ligands, such as UL-16binding proteins, major histocompatibility complex class I chainrelated A, and MICB, which are present in increased abundance on the surface of viral-infected cells and many tumor cells. The first NK-cell-based CAR were NKG2D-expressing CAR-NK cells containing a NKG2D–DNAX activation protein 10 (DAP10)– CD3 ζ construct, which have shown encouraging results *in vitro* and in a mouse model of osteosarcoma (87). This NKG2D

CAR can recognize \sim 90% of human tumor types that express NKG2D ligands. Notably, several studies have demonstrated that NKG2D ligands are expressed on immunosuppressive cells, such as MDSCs and Tregs; therefore, NKG2D-expressing CAR-NK cells not only directly kill NKG2D⁺ tumor cells but also could eradicate immunosuppressive cells in the tumor environment (88). Other NK-activating receptors (NKp30 and DNAM-1)based CAR could be designed using a similar strategy, having advantage that one CAR could target several of tumor types that express the corresponding ligands. Prostate stem cell antigen (PSCA)-DAP12 CAR, targeting the prostate stem cell antigen, was expressed in primary NK cells and the YTS-NK cell line and improved the specific cytotoxicity compared with PSCA-CD3_ζ-based CAR NK cells (89). Interestingly, no additional costimulatory signaling molecules for in vitro cytotoxicity and activation were required by PSCA-DAP12 CAR. A panel of NKcell-specific CAR constructs comprising various combinations of NK-cell-specific activating domains were screened for NK cell activation recently (90). The results showed that for optimal antigen-specific NK cell signaling and NK-cell-mediated cytotoxicity, the intracellular 2B4 domain, the CD3ζ signaling domain, and the transmembrane NKG2D are necessary. Based on these CAR constructs, mesothelin-targeted CAR-NK cells were constructed using human-induced pluripotent stem cells, and the antitumor activity was examined in vitro and using a murine ovarian cancer xenograft model. The NK-specific CAR-NK cells exhibited a markedly augmented cytolytic capacity, a significantly lower tumor burden, and prolonged survival compared with a traditional T-cell CAR construct expressing CAR-NK cells (90). Notably, the in vivo expansion and survival of the NK cells was improved as a result of the NK-cell-specific CAR-mediated signaling.

To increase the specificity, efficacy, and safety of CAR-NK cells, as well as to overcome suppression by the tumor microenvironment, the strategies and experience from CAR-T studies could be applied to CAR-NK research. The targets used for CAR-NK research in preclinical studies include CD19, CD20, CD138, CD5, CD2 subset 1 (CS1), NKG2D ligand, glucosylceramidase beta (GD2), HER-2, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), EGFRvIII, epithelial cell adhesion molecule 1, glypican 3, and guanine nucleotide-binding protein alpha-7 (91). For example, IL15 was introduced into CAR design to increase CAR-NK cells' antitumor capacity and persistence (92). CAR-NK cells can be engineered with chemokine receptors or chemokines to enhance NK cell homing and infiltrating to tumor sites.

The sources of NK cells include PB-NK cells, umbilical cord blood NK cells, and the NK cell line NK-92. However, the use of PB-NK cells is limited because primary NK cells are generally hard to genetically modify; therefore, the transduction efficacy is very low, even with viral vectors, and in the adoptive transfer setting, the allogeneic NK cells can survive for only a few weeks, limiting their antitumor efficacy (93). Recently, stem-cell-derived NK cells, such as those induced from human embryonic stem cells or iPSCs, have showed promise as candidates to develop off-the-shelf adoptive NK cell therapy. They have a similar phenotype and function to primary NK cells with an efficient capacity to kill both hematological malignancies and solid tumor cells. More importantly, they are homogenous, reproducible, and amenable to genetic modification, and can be easily expanded on the clinical scale (70, 94–96).

Notably, mesothelin-targeted CAR-NK cells prepared from human iPSCs showed significantly inhibited tumor growth, prolonged survival, and markedly augmented cytotoxicity in a xenograft model of ovarian cancer (90). Thus, iPSCderived CAR-NK cells could be a promising resource to generate standardized, off-the-shelf, and clinical-scale adoptive immunotherapeutic products. Moreover, human iPSC-NK cells could be genetically modified to further improve their in vivo persistence, overcome the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment, and enhance their antitumor capacity. iPSC-NK cells could also be harnessed in combination with other therapies (such as checkpoint blockade). Clinical trials treating cancer with human iPSC-NK cells are currently under IND application. The safety concerns for iPSC-NK cells include possible immune responses against allogenic iPSCs and their potential for malignant transformation. HLA-E-expressing or HLA knockout together with overexpression of CD47 hypoimmunogenic iPSCs have been generated recently to evade immune rejection by host cells (97, 98).

Antibody-Based NK Cell Therapy ADCC of NK Cells Mediated by Tumor-Specific Antibodies

One of the main killing mechanism for antitumor effects of NK cells is ADCC, which involves the binding of the Fc portion of an antibody (Ab) to CD16 on NK cells. Most tumor-targeting Ab drugs exert their antitumor effect by promoting NK-cell ADCC. Studies have tried to increase the affinity of Abs to Fc

receptors on NK cells to enhance ADCC by modifying Abs via mutagenesis or glycosylation (99). Expression high-affinity CD16 FcyRIII in NK cells is also a strategy used to enhance ADCCmediated antitumor effects. To enhance NK-mediated ADCC using Cetuximab, Trastuzumab, and Pertuzumab, IL-2 and the high-affinity CD16 FcyRIIIa (158V) allele were engineered into NK-92 cells (named haNK) (100). Phase I and II clinical trials of haNK, alone, or in combination with anti-PD-L1 Ab (avelumab), a cancer vaccine, or super-IL-15, are ongoing for the treatment of triple negative breast cancer, squamous cell carcinoma, Merkel cell carcinoma, pancreatic cancer, and other types of cancers (NCT03027128, NCT03387085, NCT03387111, NCT03853317, and NCT03586869). CAR-modified haNK (also named targetactivated NK-92) cells targeting CD19 and PD-L1 are currently under investigation and have recently been approved for IND by the FDA.

Potentiation of NK Cell Activity Using Bi- or Trispecific Killer Engagers

Molecules comprising single-chain variable fragments against activating receptors on NK cells and tumor-associated antigen, termed bi- or trispecific killer cell engagers (BiKEs or TriKEs), have been developed to create an immune connection between NK and tumor cells, thus promoting NK-mediated killing of tumor cells. Several NK-based BiKEs or TriKEs are currently in preclinical and clinical development. CD16-directed BiKEs CD16 \times 19 and CD16 \times 33 and TriKE CD16 \times 19 \times 22 were shown to specifically stimulate NK cell activation via CD16, which triggers NK cell cytolytic activity and cytokine secretion to fight lymphoma and leukemia (101, 102). A combination comprising an ADAM metallopeptidase domain 17 inhibitor further enhanced the function of NK cells by preventing CD16 shedding from the membrane of NK cells (102). Multiple other CD16-directed BiKEs, such as CD16 × Erb-B2 receptor tyrosine kinase 2, CD16 \times human epidermal growth factor receptor 2/neu, CD16 × EGFR, CD16 × carcinoembryonic antigen, and CD16 \times EpCAM, are under investigation (103). A bi-specific Ab-recognizing CS1-NKG2D, which comprises an anti-NKG2D scFv and an anti-CS1 scFv, showed enhanced cytotoxicity and cytokine production from NK cells and significantly prolonged their survival in a multiple myeloma xenograft NOD- $SCID^{IL2\gamma c-/-}$ (NSG) mouse model (104). A novel CD30/CD16A tetravalent bispecific Ab (AFM13), which has a longer half-life compared with that of other bi-/trispecific Abs, is currently under evaluation in a phase II clinical trial to treat patients with relapsed/refractory Hodgkin's lymphomas (NCT03192202) (105, 106).

To augment the *in vivo* expansion and survival of NK cells, a TriKE was constructed having a modified IL-15 cross-linker (107, 108). CD16 × IL-15 × CD33 displayed markedly enhanced NK cytotoxicity against AML and better cell persistence *in vivo* compared with those of BiKEs. Importantly, it is expected to target both malignant cells and CD33⁺ MDSCs, thus exerting more efficient antitumor effect (107). Currently, CD16 × IL-15 × CD33 TriKE is being evaluated in phase I and II clinical trials in patients with advanced systemic mastocytosis, refractory/relapsed acute myeloid leukemia, or CD33-expressing high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes (NCT03214666). CD16 ×

IL-15 × Epcam TriKE, CD16 × IL-15 × CD133 TriKEs, and CD16 \times IL-15 \times CD133 \times Epcam TetraKE are under investigation to treat colorectal cancer and have shown significantly enhanced cytokine secretion, NK cell proliferation, and lytic degranulation (108-110). More recently, trifunctional NK cell engagers targeting two activating receptors, NKp46 and CD16, on NK cells and a tumor antigen (CD19, CD20, or EGFR) on cancer cells were generated by Prof. Vivier and his colleagues (111). By cotargeting NKp46 and CD16, which led to full NK cell activation, the trifunctional NK cell engagers showed more efficient promotion of NK cell activation and cytotoxicity in vitro and more effective control of tumor growth in mouse models of solid and invasive tumors compared with those of current clinically available therapeutic antibodies. Remarkably, TriKEs represent a cost-effective and versatile platform for the incorporation of novel targeting molecules and could potentially boost NK cell function. For example, introducing Abs against checkpoint receptors or TGF-B to construct TriKEs might enhance NK cell efficacy by reversing the immunosuppression from the tumor microenvironment (TME) (112).

Releasing the Inhibition on NK Cells by Targeting the Immune Checkpoints

Recently, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) targeting immune checkpoint ligands or receptors have been applied to markedly enhance the tumor-suppressed T-cell immune response, leading to the improved control of several types of cancer. Similarly, a variety of immune checkpoints receptors are expressed in NK cells, including KIRs, NKG2A, T-cell immunoglobulinand mucin-domain-containing molecule 3, programmed cell death 1 (PD-1), lymphocyte activation gene-3, and T-cell immunoreceptor with immunoglobulin and immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif domains (TIGIT). These inhibitory receptors are often induced or upregulated on tumor-infiltrating NK cells and affect the antitumor function of NK cells upon interaction with their respective ligands, even leading to dysfunction or exhaustion of NK cells (113). Functionally exhausted NK cells show less proliferation, reduced cytolytic activity, and downregulated cytokine secretion, thus losing the ability to attack tumor cells. Therapeutic blockade of the immune checkpoint receptors or ligands with mAbs can restore the antitumor function of NK cells, which have shown great promise for NK-cell-based tumor immunotherapy (114).

The first attempt was blockade of HLA-KIR interactions to ameliorate NK cell inhibition and enhance NK cell activity using the anti-KIR antibody, IPH2101, to treat leukemia, lymphoma, and multiple myeloma, which demonstrated efficacy and safety (115). The second generation, fully human immunoglobulin G4 anti-KIR antibody, IPH2102, was well-tolerated in patients with hematological malignancies and solid tumors (116). Anti-KIR antibodies combined with other immunotherapies, for example, anti-PD-1 and anticytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 Abs, to treat solid tumors are currently ongoing (NCT03203876, NCT03347123).

In various cancers, such as cervical cancer, breast cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, and lung cancer, high NKG2A expression was identified inn tumor-infiltrating NK and T cells,

which contributes to exhaustion of these cells and predicts a poor prognosis (49). Therapeutic blockade of NKG2A could improve NK cell dysfunction in both hematological malignancies and solid tumors (117, 118). In particular, a humanized anti-NKG2A Ab, Monalizumab (IPH2201), was reported to augment NK cell activity against certain types of tumor cell (B-cell lymphoma, solid tumors, and T-cell lymphoma) and rescue the effector and activation functions CD8⁺ T and NK cells, especially in combination with PD-L1 blockade (118). A phase I and II clinical trial of IPH2201 and Cetuximab, with or without anti-PD-L1 Abs, in patients with human papillomavirus (+) and (-) recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck is ongoing (NCT02643550). Its safety was evaluated as welltolerated for the combination therapy. The interim results of the phase II trial for treatment efficacy showed that combination therapy comprising IPH2201 and Cetuximab resulted in 31% partial response, 54% stable disease, and 11% progressive disease (118). Therefore, anti-NKG2A mAbs are proposed as promising checkpoint inhibitors that could enhance antitumor immunity via unleashing the potential of both T and NK cells (113, 119).

Tumor-infiltrating NK cells from patients with various cancers induce PD-1, which causes inducing functional failure of activated NK cells, which is associated with poor prognosis (120, 121). Blocking PD-1/PD-L1 signaling markedly increased the cytotoxicity and cytokine production of NK cells and significantly suppressed tumor growth in vivo (121). Several antibodies targeting PD-1 and PD-L1 have been used in clinical practice, and several others are under investigation to treat different solid and hematological malignancies (122). Various combination therapies of anti-PD-1/PD-L1 Abs with other checkpoint blockades, antiangiogenic bevacizumab, or chemotherapy have been explored recently in clinical trials. A current phase II clinical trial is assessing the effect of Pembrolizumab (an anti-PD-1 Ab) to induce changes to NK cell exhaustion and function in patients with unresectable melanoma at stage III or stage IV (NCT03241927).

Inhibitory receptors TIGIT and CD96 are regarded as new checkpoint receptors for NK cells and T cells. TIGIT competes with CD226 (DNAM-1) (an NK activating receptor) for the same set of ligands CD112 [Poliovirus receptor-related 2 (Herpesvirus entry mediator B)] and CD155 (poliovirus receptor), while CD96 shares binding of CD155 with CD226 and TIGIT but also binds to CD111 to directly inhibit NK cell function. Similar to the CD28/cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 pathway, TIGIT and CD96, together with CD226, form a pathway in which CD226 functions as a costimulatory receptor, whereas TIGIT and CD96 act as coinhibitory receptors (123). The balance among the three receptors fine tunes the immune response against tumors. In patients with cancer, TIGIT and CD96 are upregulated in tumor-associated NK cells and promote NK cell functional exhaustion, accompanied by poor cytolytic potential and impaired cytokine production (124, 125). Blockade of TIGIT with Abs could effectively reverse NK cell exhaustion and enhance NK-cell-dependent antitumor immune responses in several tumor-bearing mouse models. Intriguingly, blockade of TIGIT could further promote tumor-specific T-cell immune responses and improve memory responses to tumor rechallenge (11). Blocking CD96-CD155

TABLE 2 | Current clinical trials of checkpoint blockade molecules.

Checkpoint Receptor	Ab	Combination	Malignancy	Phase	ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier
KIR	IPH4102		Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma	I	NCT02593045
	Lirilumab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Bladder cancer	I	NCT03532451
	Lirilumab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab) Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4 Ab)	Advanced and/or metastatic solid tumors	I	NCT03203876
	Lirilumab		Advanced solid tumors	1/11	NCT01714739
	Lirilumab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab) Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4 Ab)	Advanced (metastatic and/or unresectable) Refractory Solid Tumors	1/11	NCT01714739
	Lirilumab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab) Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4 Ab)	Solid tumors	1/11	NCT03347123
	Lirilumab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab) Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4 Ab)Daratumumab (anti-CD38 Ab)	Multiple myeloma	1/11	NCT01592370
	Lirilumab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck	II	NCT03341936
	Lirilumab	Rituximab (anti-CD20 Ab)	Lymphocytic leukemia	Ш	NCT02481297
NKG2A	Monalizumab		Hematologic malignancies	I	NCT02921685
	Monalizumab		Gynecologic cancer	I	NCT02459301
	Monalizumab		Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	1/11	NCT02557516
	Monalizumab	Cetuximab (anti-EGFR Ab)	Head and neck neoplasms	1/11	NCT02643550
	Monalizumab	Durvalumab (anti-PD-L1 Ab)	Advanced solid tumors	1/11	NCT02671435
	Monalizumab	Durvalumab (anti-PD-L1 Ab) Oleclumab (anti-CD73 Ab)	Non-small cell lung cancer	II	NCT03833440
	Monalizumab	Durvalumab (anti-PD-L1 Ab) Oleclumab (anti-CD73 Ab)	Stage III non-small cell lung cancer	II	NCT03822351
TIGIT	OMP-313M32		Locally advanced cancer, metastatic cancer	I	NCT03119428
	AB154	AB122 (anti-PD1 Ab)	Advanced malignancies	I	NCT03628677
	MTIG7192A	Atezolizumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Non-small cell lung cancer	II	NCT03563716
TIM-3	Sym023		Metastatic cancer, solid tumor, lymphoma	I	NCT03489343
	TSR-022		Advanced or metastatic solid tumors	I	NCT02817633
	RO7121661		Solid tumors, metastatic melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer	Ι	NCT03708328
	LY3321367		Solid tumor	I	NCT03099109
	MBG453	Spartalizumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Glioblastoma multiforme	l	NCT03961971
	MBG453		Acute myeloid leukemia	l	NCT03940352
	MBG453	PDR001 (anti-PD1 Ab)	Leukemia	Ι	NCT03066648
	INCAGN02390		Advanced malignancies	Ι	NCT03652077
	BGB-A425	Tislelizumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors	1/11	NCT03744468
	MBG453	PDR001 (anti-PD1 Ab)	Advanced malignancies	1/11	NCT02608268
	TSR-022	TSR-042 (anti-PD1 Ab)	Liver cancer	II	NCT03680508
PD-1	Nivolumab Pembrolizumab Atezolizumab	iPSC-derived NK Cells	Advanced solid tumors	Ι	NCT03841110
	Pembrolizumab	DC-NK Cells	Solid tumor	I	NCT03815084
	Nivolumab	NK Cells	Renal cell carcinoma		NCT03891485
	Pembrolizumab	Allogeneic NK Cells	Biliary tract cancer	1/11	NCT03937895
	Pembrolizumab	~	Lymphoma	1/11	NCT02535247
	PD-1 Ab	NK Cells	Non-small cell lung cancer	1	NCT03958097
	Avelumab	haNK TM	Merkel cell carcinoma		NCT03853317
LAG-3	Sym022		Metastatic cancer, solid tumor, lymphoma	I	NCT03489369
	TSR-033		Advanced solid tumors	I	NCT03250832
	BMS-986016	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Glioblastoma		NCT02658981

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Checkpoint Receptor	Ab	Combination	Malignancy	Phase	ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier
REGN	REGN3767	REGN2810 (anti-PD1 Ab) Malignancies	I	NCT03005782	
	MGD013		Advanced solid tumors, hematologic neoplasms	Ι	NCT03219268
	IMP321		Solid tumors	I	NCT03252938
	Relatlimab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Advanced solid tumors	I	NCT02966548
	Relatlimab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Gastric cancer, cancer of the stomach	I	NCT03662659
	FS118		Advanced cancer, metastatic cancer	I	NCT03440437
	BMS-986016		Hematologic neoplasms	1/11	NCT02061761
	Relatlimab		Solid tumors	1/11	NCT01968109
	IMP321	Pembrolizumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Non-small cell lung carcinoma, head and heck carcinoma	II	NCT03625323
	Relatlimab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Melanoma	Ш	NCT03743766
	Relatlimab	Nivolumab (anti-PD1 Ab)	Advanced chordoma	Ш	NCT03623854

interaction could reverse NK- and T-cell exhaustion, and restore both NK- and T-cell-mediated antitumor immunity (125, 126). Recently, IL-1 receptor 8 long isoform (also known as single immunoglobulin IL-1R-related receptor) was identified as an NK cell checkpoint protein that regulates NK cell maturation and antitumor activity. Genetic blockade of IL-1 receptor 8 long isoform induces NK-cell-mediated resistance in hepatic carcinogenesis and liver or lung metastasis (127). Currently, the safety and efficacy of anti-TIGIT Ab, alone or in combination with anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 Abs, are being evaluated in phase I and II clinical trials in patients with locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors, e.g., renal cell carcinoma, nonsmall cell lung cancer, breast cancer, squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, melanoma, and colorectal cancer (NCT03119428, NCT03563716, NCT03628677). Blocking Abs for other checkpoint proteins, including T-cell immunoglobulinand mucin-domain-containing molecule 3 and lymphocyte activation gene-3, alone or in combination with other therapeutic approaches, are also currently in progress in patients in clinical trials or are under investigation for therapy of both hematological neoplasms and various solid tumors (e.g., NCT02060188, NCT02817633, NCT03307785, NCT03680508, NCT03250832, NCT03489369, NCT03625323, NCT03662659). Current clinical trials of checkpoint blockade antibodies to enhance NK cell antitumor efficacy are summarized in Table 2.

Other Strategies to Overcome the Suppression by the Tumor Microenvironment

The TME is a major obstacle for ensuring the optimum antitumor activity of NK cells, in which immunosuppressive cells and molecules limit NK cell activity. In addition, to overcome the suppression from inhibitory receptors or ligands by checkpoint blockade, neutralizing, or blocking suppressive cytokines secreted by tumor cells, immunosuppressive cells, or stromal cells in the TME is another key strategy. One of the most important immunosuppressive cytokine is TGF- β , which is secreted by tumor cells, Tregs, MDSCs, and other stromal cells in the TME to hamper the antitumor immune

response. NK cell antitumor function is inhibited by TGF-βmediated downregulation of the expression of NK-activating receptors NKp30 and NKG2D and also reduces the expression of NKG2D ligands on tumor cells, thus suppressing NKmediated cytotoxic capacity and IFN- γ secretion (103). TGF- β also affects the development and differentiation of human NK cell subsets (128). Blockade of TGF-ß signaling or neutralization of TGF-B could prevent NKG2D downregulation and restore the antitumor function of NK cells. Therapies that interrupt TGF-β signaling to enhance NK cell antitumor capacity are currently in clinical trials or are under investigation. The safety and efficacy of human TGF-β neutralizing mAb Fresolimumab (GC1008) and TGFBR1 inhibitor Galunisertib (LY2157299) have been evaluated in a phase I clinical trial to treat patients with advanced malignant melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and other advanced solid tumors, and have obtained acceptable tolerability and safety results (NCT00356460, NCT01722825). Importantly, Galunisertib therapy could restore NKG2D and NKp30 expression on activated NK cells and enhanced NK cell cytotoxicity. Knockdown of TGFBR2 or SMAD3 in NK cells, engineering CB NK cells to express TGF-B dominant negative receptor II, or modifying NK cells using CAR containing TGF-β type II receptor extracellular and transmembrane domains, and the intracellular domain of NKG2D, are all under investigation and have shown great promise for the recovery of tumorsuppressed NK cell antitumor activity to treat patients with solid tumors (129-131).

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

Although there are still some challenges that limit the widespread use of NK-cell-based therapies, particular for solid tumors, advances in *ex vivo* expansion and activation technologies, genetic modification, and nanoparticle delivery technology will lead to novel therapeutic strategies to overcome the immune suppression from the TME of solid tumors, indicating that that NK cell therapy is achievable and promises to become a powerful method to treat cancers. In certain respects, NK cells have

unique advantages over conventional T cells (73, 132). Notably, the use of NK cells could result in off-the-shelf allogeneic products to treat patients, thereby eliminating the necessity for personalized and patient-specific products in current CAR-T cell therapies. NK-cell-based therapy provides an alternative or complementary immunotherapy approach to T-cell therapy. It is worth exploring the utility of the selective expansion of suitable NK cell subsets and their delivery to the corresponding type of tumor. The longer lifespan of memory-like NK cells compared with that of PB-derived NK cells may make them ideal sources for NK cell therapy. Recently, CMV-induced adaptive memory NK cells were demonstrated as relatively resistant to Tregs and MDSCs' suppressive effects, which might have important clinical implications (133, 134). Remarkable benefits might be achieved by engineering the CAR protein into memory-like NK cells or a specific NK cell subset. In fact, CD19-specific CAR-engineered NKG2C⁺CD57⁺ adaptive NK cells showed an enhanced ability to kill CD19⁺ tumor cells compared with that of other NK subsets (75). Different combinations of multiple strategies could play an increasingly prominent role in clinical practice. For example, the use of checkpoint blockade to overcome the immunosuppressive effect within the TME could increase the endogenous NK cell antitumor ability and the function of adoptive transferred NK cells. Therefore, it is reasonable to combine checkpoint inhibition with adoptive transfer of allogeneic NK cells or CAR-transduced NK cells. Checkpoint receptor blockade in conjunction with

REFERENCES

- Hilton HG, Parham P. Missing or altered self: human NK cell receptors that recognize HLA-C. *Immunogenetics*. (2017) 69:567–79. doi: 10.1007/s00251-017-1001-y
- Komori HK, Meehan TF, Havran WL. Epithelial and mucosal gamma delta T cells. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2006) 18:534–8. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2006.06.001
- Martinet L, Smyth MJ. Balancing natural killer cell activation through paired receptors. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2015) 15:243–54. doi: 10.1038/nri3799
- Sun C, Sun H, Zhang C, Tian Z. NK cell receptor imbalance and NK cell dysfunction in HBV infection and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2015) 12:292–302. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.91
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science*. (2011) 331:44–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1198687
- Zhang C, Zhang J, Tian Z. The regulatory effect of natural killer cells: do "NK-reg cells" exist? *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2006) 3:241–54.
- Moretta A, Marcenaro E, Parolini S, Ferlazzo G, Moretta L. NK cells at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity. *Cell Death Differ*. (2008) 15:226–33. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402170
- Zheng M, Sun R, Wei H, Tian Z. NK cells help induce anti-hepatitis B virus CD8⁺ T cell immunity in mice. J Immunol. (2016) 196:4122–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500846
- Liu Y, Zheng J, Liu Y, Wen L, Huang L, Xiang Z, et al. Uncompromised NK cell activation is essential for virus-specific CTL activity during acute influenza virus infection. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:827–37. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.10
- Tian Z, Gershwin ME, Zhang C. Regulatory NK cells in autoimmune disease. J Autoimmun. (2012) 39:206–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2012.05.006
- Zhang Q, Bi J, Zheng X, Chen Y, Wang H, Wu W, et al. Blockade of the checkpoint receptor TIGIT prevents NK cell exhaustion and elicits potent anti-tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:723–32. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0132-0

BiKEs or TriKEs could increase antigen specificity and reverse immunosuppression, thus further enhancing the antitumor responses of NK cells.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CZ and YH designed and conceived the review. YH and CS performed the literature search and analysis. CZ wrote the initial draft of the manuscript together with YH and CS. All authors revised and approved the final submitted version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The National Natural Science Foundation of China (91842305, 81771686), the National Major Science and Technology Project for Control and Prevention of Major Infectious Diseases in China (2018ZX10301401), and the Shandong Provincial Key Research and Development Program (Major Scientific and Technological Innovation Project) (2019JZZY021013).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the native English speaking scientists of Elixigen Company (Huntington Beach, California) for editing our manuscript.

- 12. O'Sullivan TE, Sun JC, Lanier LL. Natural killer cell memory. *Immunity*. (2015) 43:634–45. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.013
- Rapp M, Wiedemann GM, Sun JC. Memory responses of innate lymphocytes and parallels with T cells. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2018) 40:343–55. doi: 10.1007/s00281-018-0686-9
- Pal M, Schwab L, Yermakova A, Mace EM, Claus R, Krahl AC, et al. Tumorpriming converts NK cells to memory-like NK cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1317411. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1317411
- 15. Wu LS, Wang JY. Warm up, cool down, and tearing apart in NK cell memory. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:1095–7. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0188-7
- O'Leary JG, Goodarzi M, Drayton DL, von Andrian UH. T cell- and B cell-independent adaptive immunity mediated by natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2006) 7:507–16. doi: 10.1038/ni1332
- Paust S, Gill HS, Wang BZ, Flynn MP, Moseman EA, Senman B, et al. Critical role for the chemokine receptor CXCR6 in NK cell-mediated antigenspecific memory of haptens and viruses. *Nat Immunol.* (2010) 11:1127–35. doi: 10.1038/ni.1953
- Nikzad R, Angelo LS, Aviles-Padilla K, Le DT, Singh VK, Bimler L, et al. Human natural killer cells mediate adaptive immunity to viral antigens. *Sci Immunol.* (2019) 4:eaat8116. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aat8116
- Sun JC, Beilke JN, Bezman NA, Lanier LL. Homeostatic proliferation generates long-lived natural killer cells that respond against viral infection. *J Exp Med.* (2011) 208:357–68. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100479
- Hu Y, Tian ZG, Zhang C. Natural killer cell-based immunotherapy for cancer: advances and prospects. *Engineering*. (2019) 5:106–14. doi: 10.1016/j.eng.2018.11.015
- Campbell KS, Hasegawa J. Natural killer cell biology: an update and future directions. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2013) 132:536–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.07.006
- Beaulieu AM. Memory responses by natural killer cells. J Leukoc Biol. (2018) 104:1087–96. doi: 10.1002/JLB.1RI0917-366R
- Geary CD, Sun JC. Memory responses of natural killer cells. Semin Immunol. (2017) 31:11–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2017.08.012

- Peng H, Tian Z. Natural killer cell memory: progress and implications. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:1143. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01143
- Adams NM, Lau CM, Fan X, Rapp M, Geary CD, Weizman OE, et al. Transcription factor IRF8 orchestrates the adaptive natural killer cell response. *Immunity.* (2018) 48:1172–82.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.04.018
- Fang F, Xiao W, Tian Z. NK cell-based immunotherapy for cancer. Semin Immunol. (2017) 31:37–54. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2017.07.009
- Cheng M, Chen Y, Xiao W, Sun R, Tian Z. NK cell-based immunotherapy for malignant diseases. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2013) 10:230–52. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2013.10
- Rusakiewicz S, Semeraro M, Sarabi M, Desbois M, Locher C, Mendez R, et al. Immune infiltrates are prognostic factors in localized gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:3499–510. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0371
- Gras Navarro A, Bjorklund AT, Chekenya M. Therapeutic potential and challenges of natural killer cells in treatment of solid tumors. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:202. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00202
- Sun C, Sun HY, Xiao WH, Zhang C, Tian ZG. Natural killer cell dysfunction in hepatocellular carcinoma and NK cell-based immunotherapy. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2015) 36:1191–9. doi: 10.1038/aps.2015.41
- Habif G, Crinier A, Andre P, Vivier E, Narni-Mancinelli E. Targeting natural killer cells in solid tumors. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:415–22. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0224-2
- 32. Zou W. Mechanistic insights into cancer immunity and immunotherapy. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:419–20. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0011-5
- 33. Yasinska IM, Goncalves Silva I, Sakhnevych S, Gibbs BF, Raap U, Fasler-Kan E, et al. Biochemical mechanisms implemented by human acute myeloid leukemia cells to suppress host immune surveillance. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:989–91. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0047-6
- Nie X, Chen W, Zhu Y, Huang B, Yu W, Wu Z, et al. B7-DC (PD-L2) costimulation of CD4⁺ T-helper 1 response via RGMb. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:888–97. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.17
- Chen H, He W. Human regulatory gammadeltaT cells and their functional plasticity in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:411– 3. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.73
- 36. Trzonkowski P, Szmit E, Mysliwska J, Dobyszuk A, Mysliwski A. CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells inhibit cytotoxic activity of T CD8⁺ and NK lymphocytes in the direct cell-to-cell interaction. *Clin Immunol.* (2004) 112:258–67. doi: 10.1016/S1521-6616(04)00119-6
- Li H, Han Y, Guo Q, Zhang M, Cao X. Cancer-expanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGFbeta 1. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:240–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.240
- Cekic C, Day YJ, Sag D, Linden J. Myeloid expression of adenosine A2A receptor suppresses T and NK cell responses in the solid tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:7250–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3583
- Hasmim M, Messai Y, Ziani L, Thiery J, Bouhris JH, Noman MZ, et al. Critical role of tumor microenvironment in shaping NK cell functions: implication of hypoxic stress. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:482. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00482
- Castriconi R, Cantoni C, Della Chiesa M, Vitale M, Marcenaro E, Conte R, et al. Transforming growth factor beta 1 inhibits expression of NKp30 and NKG2D receptors: consequences for the NK-mediated killing of dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2003) 100:4120–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0730640100
- Hoechst B, Voigtlaender T, Ormandy L, Gamrekelashvili J, Zhao F, Wedemeyer H, et al. Myeloid derived suppressor cells inhibit natural killer cells in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma via the NKp30 receptor. *Hepatology*. (2009) 50:799–807. doi: 10.1002/hep.23054
- Bruno A, Mortara L, Baci D, Noonan DM, Albini A. Myeloid derived suppressor cells interactions with natural killer cells and pro-angiogenic activities: roles in tumor progression. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:771. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00771
- Zhang J, Han X, Hu X, Jin F, Gao Z, Yin L, et al. IDO1 impairs NK cell cytotoxicity by decreasing NKG2D/NKG2DLs via promoting miR-18a. *Mol Immunol.* (2018) 103:144–55. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2018.09.011
- 44. Stiff A, Trikha P, Mundy-Bosse B, McMichael E, Mace TA, Benner B, et al. Nitric oxide production by myeloid-derived suppressor cells plays a role in

impairing Fc receptor-mediated natural killer cell function. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:1891–904. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0691

- Zhai L, Ladomersky E, Lenzen A, Nguyen B, Patel R, Lauing KL, et al. IDO1 in cancer: a Gemini of immune checkpoints. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:447–57. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.143
- Chiu DK, Tse AP, Xu IM, Di Cui J, Lai RK, Li LL, et al. Hypoxia inducible factor HIF-1 promotes myeloid-derived suppressor cells accumulation through ENTPD2/CD39L1 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:517. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00530-7
- 47. Zhang QF, Yin WW, Xia Y, Yi YY, He QF, Wang X, et al. Liver-infiltrating CD11b(-)CD27(-) NK subsets account for NK-cell dysfunction in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and are associated with tumor progression. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:819–29. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2016.28
- Bi J, Tian Z. NK Cell exhaustion. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:760. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00760
- Sun C, Xu J, Huang Q, Huang M, Wen H, Zhang C, et al. High NKG2A expression contributes to NK cell exhaustion and predicts a poor prognosis of patients with liver cancer. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1264562. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1264562
- Balsamo M, Scordamaglia F, Pietra G, Manzini C, Cantoni C, Boitano M, et al. Melanoma-associated fibroblasts modulate NK cell phenotype and antitumor cytotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2009) 106:20847–52. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906481106
- Li T, Yang Y, Hua X, Wang G, Liu W, Jia C, et al. Hepatocellular carcinomaassociated fibroblasts trigger NK cell dysfunction via PGE2 and IDO. *Cancer Lett.* (2012) 318:154–61. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.12.020
- Inoue T, Adachi K, Kawana K, Taguchi A, Nagamatsu T, Fujimoto A, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblast suppresses killing activity of natural killer cells through downregulation of poliovirus receptor (PVR/CD155), a ligand of activating NK receptor. *Int J Oncol.* (2016) 49:1297–304. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2016.3631
- Fang F, Xiao W, Tian Z. Challenges of NK cell-based immunotherapy in the new era. Front Med. (2018) 12:440–50. doi: 10.1007/s11684-018-0653-9
- Pillet AH, Theze J, Rose T. Interleukin (IL)-2 and IL-15 have different effects on human natural killer lymphocytes. *Hum Immunol.* (2011) 72:1013–7. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2011.07.311
- 55. Chen Y, Chen B, Yang T, Xiao W, Qian L, Ding Y, et al. Human fused NKG2D-IL-15 protein controls xenografted human gastric cancer through the recruitment and activation of NK cells. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:293–307. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.81
- Jiang W, Zhang C, Tian Z, Zhang J. hIL-15-gene modified human natural killer cells (NKL-IL15) exhibit anti-human leukemia functions. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. (2018) 144:1279–88. doi: 10.1007/s00432-018-2654-0
- Jiang W, Zhang C, Tian Z, Zhang J. hIL-15 gene-modified human natural killer cells (NKL-IL15) augments the anti-human hepatocellular carcinoma effect *in vivo. Immunobiology.* (2014) 219:547–53. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2014.03.007
- Imamura M, Shook D, Kamiya T, Shimasaki N, Chai SM, Coustan-Smith E, et al. Autonomous growth and increased cytotoxicity of natural killer cells expressing membrane-bound interleukin-15. *Blood*. (2014) 124:1081–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-02-556837
- Wu Y, Tian Z, Wei H. Developmental and functional control of natural killer cells by cytokines. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:930. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00930
- Rosario M, Liu B, Kong L, Collins LI, Schneider SE, Chen X, et al. The IL-15-based ALT-803 complex enhances FcgammaRIIIa-triggered NK cell responses and *in vivo* clearance of B cell lymphomas. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:596–608. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1419
- Mathios D, Park CK, Marcus WD, Alter S, Rhode PR, Jeng EK, et al. Therapeutic administration of IL-15 superagonist complex ALT-803 leads to long-term survival and durable antitumor immune response in a murine glioblastoma model. *Int J Cancer.* (2016) 138:187–94. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 29686
- Felices M, Chu S, Kodal B, Bendzick L, Ryan C, Lenvik AJ, et al. IL-15 superagonist (ALT-803) enhances natural killer (NK) cell function against ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2017) 145:453–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.02.028
- 63. Romee R, Cooley S, Berrien-Elliott MM, Westervelt P, Verneris MR, Wagner JE, et al. First-in-human phase 1 clinical study of the IL-15 superagonist

complex ALT-803 to treat relapse after transplantation. *Blood.* (2018) 131:2515–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-12-823757

- Margolin K, Morishima C, Velcheti V, Miller JS, Lee SM, Silk AW, et al. Phase I trial of ALT-803, a novel recombinant IL15 complex, in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:5552–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0945
- 65. Wrangle JM, Velcheti V, Patel MR, Garrett-Mayer E, Hill EG, Ravenel JG, et al. ALT-803, an IL-15 superagonist, in combination with nivolumab in patients with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: a non-randomised, open-label, phase 1b trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2018) 19:694–704. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30148-7
- 66. Sakamoto N, Ishikawa T, Kokura S, Okayama T, Oka K, Ideno M, et al. Phase I clinical trial of autologous NK cell therapy using novel expansion method in patients with advanced digestive cancer. *J Transl Med.* (2015) 13:277. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0632-8
- Romee R, Rosario M, Berrien-Elliott MM, Wagner JA, Jewell BA, Schappe T, et al. Cytokine-induced memory-like natural killer cells exhibit enhanced responses against myeloid leukemia. *Sci Transl Med.* (2016) 8:357ra123. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf2341
- Romee R, Schneider SE, Leong JW, Chase JM, Keppel CR, Sullivan RP, et al. Cytokine activation induces human memory-like NK cells. *Blood.* (2012) 120:4751–60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-419283
- Pahl JHW, Cerwenka A, Ni J. Memory-Like NK Cells: Remembering a previous activation by cytokines and NK cell receptors. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2796. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02796
- Wang K, Han Y, Cho WC, Zhu H. The rise of human stem cell-derived natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2019) 19:141–8. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2019.1559293
- Johnson LA, June CH. Driving gene-engineered T cell immunotherapy of cancer. Cell Res. (2017) 27:38–58. doi: 10.1038/cr.2016.154
- Guedan S, Ruella M, June CH. Emerging cellular therapies for cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. (2019) 37:145–71. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-042718-041407
- Klingemann H. Are natural killer cells superior CAR drivers? Oncoimmunology. (2014) 3:e28147. doi: 10.4161/onci.28147
- Hu Y, Tian ZG, Zhang C. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-transduced natural killer cells in tumor immunotherapy. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2018) 39:167–76. doi: 10.1038/aps.2017.125
- Oei VYS, Siernicka M, Graczyk-Jarzynka A, Hoel HJ, Yang W, Palacios D, et al. Intrinsic functional potential of NK-cell subsets constrains retargeting driven by chimeric antigen receptors. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:467–80. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0207
- Zhuang X, Long EO. CD28 homolog is a strong activator of natural killer cells for lysis of B7H7⁺ tumor cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:939–51. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0733
- Carlsten M, Childs RW. Genetic manipulation of NK cells for cancer immunotherapy: techniques and clinical implications. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:266. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00266
- Kellner JN, Cruz CR, Bollard CM, Yvon ES. Gene modification of human natural killer cells using a retroviral vector. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2016) 1441:203–13. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3684-7_17
- Kebriaei P, Izsvak Z, Narayanavari SA, Singh H, Ivics Z. Gene therapy with the sleeping beauty transposon system. *Trends Genet.* (2017) 33:852–70. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2017.08.008
- Monjezi R, Miskey C, Gogishvili T, Schleef M, Schmeer M, Einsele H, et al. Enhanced CAR T-cell engineering using non-viral Sleeping Beauty transposition from minicircle vectors. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:186–94. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.180
- Kebriaei P, Singh H, Huls MH, Figliola MJ, Bassett R, Olivares S, et al. Phase I trials using Sleeping Beauty to generate CD19-specific CAR T cells. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:3363–76. doi: 10.1172/JCI86721
- 82. Sengupta M, Pal R, Nath A, Chakraborty B, Singh LM, Das B, et al. Anticancer efficacy of noble metal nanoparticles relies on reprogramming tumor-associated macrophages through redox pathways and proinflammatory cytokine cascades. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2018) 15:1088–90. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0046-7
- 83. Smith TT, Stephan SB, Moffett HF, McKnight LE, Ji W, Reiman D, et al. In situ programming of leukaemia-specific T cells using

synthetic DNA nanocarriers. *Nat Nanotechnol.* (2017) 12:813–20. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2017.57

- Miller MA. Nanoparticles improve economic mileage for CARs. Sci Transl Med. (2017) 9:eaan2784. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan2784
- Olweus J. Manufacture of CAR-T cells in the body. Nat Biotechnol. (2017) 35:520–1. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3898
- Wang J, Lupo KB, Chambers AM, Matosevic S. Purinergic targeting enhances immunotherapy of CD73⁺ solid tumors with piggyBac-engineered chimeric antigen receptor natural killer cells. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2018) 6:136. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0441-8
- Chang YH, Connolly J, Shimasaki N, Mimura K, Kono K, Campana D. A chimeric receptor with NKG2D specificity enhances natural killer cell activation and killing of tumor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:1777–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3558
- Parihar R, Rivas C, Huynh M, Omer B, Lapteva N, Metelitsa LS, et al. NK cells expressing a chimeric activating receptor eliminate MDSCs and rescue impaired CAR-T cell activity against solid tumors. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:363–75. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0572
- Topfer K, Cartellieri M, Michen S, Wiedemuth R, Muller N, Lindemann D, et al. DAP12-based activating chimeric antigen receptor for NK cell tumor immunotherapy. J Immunol. (2015) 194:3201–12. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400330
- Li Y, Hermanson DL, Moriarity BS, Kaufman DS. Human iPSCderived natural killer cells engineered with chimeric antigen receptors enhance anti-tumor activity. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2018) 23:181–92.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.06.002
- Rezvani K, Rouce R, Liu E, Shpall E. Engineering natural killer cells for cancer immunotherapy. *Mol Ther.* (2017) 25:1769–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.06.012
- Liu E, Tong Y, Dotti G, Shaim H, Savoldo B, Mukherjee M, et al. Cord blood NK cells engineered to express IL-15 and a CD19-targeted CAR show longterm persistence and potent antitumor activity. *Leukemia*. (2018) 32:520–31. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.226
- Matosevic S. Viral and nonviral engineering of natural killer cells as emerging adoptive cancer immunotherapies. J Immunol Res. (2018) 2018:4054815. doi: 10.1155/2018/4054815
- Woll PS, Grzywacz B, Tian X, Marcus RK, Knorr DA, Verneris MR, et al. Human embryonic stem cells differentiate into a homogeneous population of natural killer cells with potent *in vivo* antitumor activity. *Blood.* (2009) 113:6094–101. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-165225
- 95. Knorr DA, Bock A, Brentjens RJ, Kaufman DS. Engineered human embryonic stem cell-derived lymphocytes to study *in vivo* trafficking and immunotherapy. *Stem Cells Dev.* (2013) 22:1861–9. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0608
- Knorr DA, Ni Z, Hermanson D, Hexum MK, Bendzick L, Cooper LJ, et al. Clinical-scale derivation of natural killer cells from human pluripotent stem cells for cancer therapy. *Stem Cells Transl Med.* (2013) 2:274–83. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2012-0084
- Gornalusse GG, Hirata RK, Funk SE, Riolobos L, Lopes VS, Manske G, et al. HLA-E-expressing pluripotent stem cells escape allogeneic responses and lysis by NK cells. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2017) 35:765–72. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3860
- Deuse T, Hu X, Gravina A, Wang D, Tediashvili G, De C, et al. Hypoimmunogenic derivatives of induced pluripotent stem cells evade immune rejection in fully immunocompetent allogeneic recipients. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2019) 37:252–8. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0016-3
- Koerner SP, Andre MC, Leibold JS, Kousis PC, Kubler A, Pal M, et al. An Fc-optimized CD133 antibody for induction of NK cell reactivity against myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:459–69. doi: 10.1038/leu.20 16.194
- 100. Jochems C, Hodge JW, Fantini M, Fujii R, Morillon YM, 2nd, Greiner JW, et al. An NK cell line (haNK) expressing high levels of granzyme and engineered to express the high affinity CD16 allele. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:86359–73. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13411
- 101. Gleason MK, Verneris MR, Todhunter DA, Zhang B, McCullar V, Zhou SX, et al. Bispecific and trispecific killer cell engagers directly activate human NK cells through CD16 signaling and induce cytotoxicity and cytokine production. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2012) 11:2674–84. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0692

- 102. Wiernik A, Foley B, Zhang B, Verneris MR, Warlick E, Gleason MK, et al. Targeting natural killer cells to acute myeloid leukemia *in vitro* with a CD16 x 33 bispecific killer cell engager and ADAM17 inhibition. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2013) 19:3844–55. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0505
- Nayyar G, Chu Y, Cairo MS. Overcoming resistance to natural killer cell based immunotherapies for solid tumors. *Front Oncol.* (2019) 9:51. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00051
- 104. Chan WK, Kang S, Youssef Y, Glankler EN, Barrett ER, Carter AM, et al. A CS1-NKG2D bispecific antibody collectively activates cytolytic immune cells against multiple myeloma. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:776–87. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0649
- 105. Rothe A, Sasse S, Topp MS, Eichenauer DA, Hummel H, Reiners KS, et al. A phase 1 study of the bispecific anti-CD30/CD16A antibody construct AFM13 in patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood.* (2015) 125:4024–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-12-614636
- 106. Pahl JHW, Koch J, Gotz JJ, Arnold A, Reusch U, Gantke T, et al. CD16A activation of NK cells promotes NK cell proliferation and memory-like cytotoxicity against cancer cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:517–27. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0550
- 107. Vallera DA, Felices M, McElmurry R, McCullar V, Zhou X, Schmohl JU, et al. IL15 trispecific killer engagers (TriKE) make natural killer cells specific to CD33⁺ targets while also inducing persistence, *in vivo* expansion, and enhanced function. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:3440–50. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2710
- 108. Schmohl JU, Felices M, Taras E, Miller JS, Vallera DA. Enhanced ADCC and NK cell activation of an anticarcinoma bispecific antibody by genetic insertion of a modified IL-15 cross-linker. *Mol Ther.* (2016) 24:1312–22. doi: 10.1038/mt.2016.88
- 109. Schmohl JU, Felices M, Oh F, Lenvik AJ, Lebeau AM, Panyam J, et al. Engineering of anti-CD133 trispecific molecule capable of inducing NK expansion and driving antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Cancer Res Treat.* (2017) 49:1140–52. doi: 10.4143/crt.2016.491
- 110. Schmohl JU, Felices M, Todhunter D, Taras E, Miller JS, Vallera DA. Tetraspecific scFv construct provides NK cell mediated ADCC and selfsustaining stimuli via insertion of IL-15 as a cross-linker. Oncotarget. (2016) 7:73830–44. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12073
- 111. Gauthier L, Morel A, Anceriz N, Rossi B, Blanchard-Alvarez A, Grondin G, et al. Multifunctional natural killer cell engagers targeting NKp46 trigger protective tumor immunity. *Cell.* (2019) 177:1701–13 e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.04.041
- 112. Davis ZB, Vallera DA, Miller JS, Felices M. Natural killer cells unleashed: checkpoint receptor blockade and BiKE/TriKE utilization in NKmediated anti-tumor immunotherapy. *Semin Immunol.* (2017) 31:64–75. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2017.07.011
- 113. Sivori S, Vacca P, Del Zotto G, Munari E, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Human NK cells: surface receptors, inhibitory checkpoints, and translational applications. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:430–41. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0206-4
- 114. Kim N, Kim HS. Targeting checkpoint receptors and molecules for therapeutic modulation of natural killer cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2041. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02041
- 115. Benson DM, Jr., Cohen AD, Jagannath S, Munshi NC, Spitzer G, Hofmeister CC, et al. A phase I trial of the anti-KIR antibody IPH2101 and lenalidomide in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:4055–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0304
- 116. Vey N, Karlin L, Sadot-Lebouvier S, Broussais F, Berton-Rigaud D, Rey J, et al. A phase 1 study of lirilumab (antibody against killer immunoglobulin-like receptor antibody KIR2D; IPH2102) in patients with solid tumors and hematologic malignancies. *Oncotarget.* (2018) 9:17675–88. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24832
- 117. McWilliams EM, Mele JM, Cheney C, Timmerman EA, Fiazuddin F, Strattan EJ, et al. Therapeutic CD94/NKG2A blockade improves natural killer cell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology.* (2016) 5:e1226720. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1226720
- 118. Andre P, Denis C, Soulas C, Bourbon-Caillet C, Lopez J, Arnoux T, et al. Anti-NKG2A mAb is a checkpoint inhibitor that promotes anti-tumor immunity by unleashing both T and NK cells. *Cell.* (2018) 175:1731–43.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.014

- Mingari MC, Pietra G, Moretta L. Immune checkpoint inhibitors: anti-NKG2A antibodies on board. *Trends Immunol.* (2019) 40:83–5. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.12.009
- 120. Beldi-Ferchiou A, Lambert M, Dogniaux S, Vely F, Vivier E, Olive D, et al. PD-1 mediates functional exhaustion of activated NK cells in patients with Kaposi sarcoma. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:72961–77. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12150
- 121. Liu Y, Cheng Y, Xu Y, Wang Z, Du X, Li C, et al. Increased expression of programmed cell death protein 1 on NK cells inhibits NK-cell-mediated antitumor function and indicates poor prognosis in digestive cancers. *Oncogene*. (2017) 36:6143–53. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.209
- 122. Pesce S, Greppi M, Grossi F, Del Zotto G, Moretta L, Sivori S, et al. PD/1-PD-Ls checkpoint: insight on the potential role of NK cells. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1242. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01242
- Dougall WC, Kurtulus S, Smyth MJ, Anderson AC. TIGIT and CD96: new checkpoint receptor targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev.* (2017) 276:112–20. doi: 10.1111/imr.12518
- 124. Zhou XM, Li WQ, Wu YH, Han L, Cao XG, Yang XM, et al. Intrinsic expression of immune checkpoint molecule TIGIT could help tumor growth *in vivo* by suppressing the function of NK and CD8⁺ T cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2821. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02821
- 125. Sun H, Huang Q, Huang M, Wen H, Lin R, Zheng M, et al. Human CD96 correlates to natural killer cell exhaustion and predicts the prognosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology*. (2019) 70:168– 83. doi: 10.1002/hep.30347
- 126. Mittal D, Lepletier A, Madore J, Aguilera AR, Stannard K, Blake SJ, et al. CD96 is an immune checkpoint that regulates CD8⁺ T-cell antitumor function. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:559–71. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0637
- 127. Molgora M, Bonavita E, Ponzetta A, Riva F, Barbagallo M, Jaillon S, et al. IL-1R8 is a checkpoint in NK cells regulating anti-tumour and anti-viral activity. *Nature*. (2017) 551(7678):110–4. doi: 10.1038/nature24293
- 128. Allan DS, Rybalov B, Awong G, Zuniga-Pflucker JC, Kopcow HD, Carlyle JR, et al. TGF-beta affects development and differentiation of human natural killer cell subsets. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:2289–95. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939910
- 129. Wang QM, Tang PM, Lian GY, Li C, Li J, Huang XR, et al. Enhanced cancer Immunotherapy with Smad3-silenced NK-92 cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:965–77. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0491
- 130. Yvon ES, Burga R, Powell A, Cruz CR, Fernandes R, Barese C, et al. Cord blood natural killer cells expressing a dominant negative TGF-beta receptor: implications for adoptive immunotherapy for glioblastoma. *Cytotherapy*. (2017) 19:408–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2016.12.005
- 131. Wang Z, Guo L, Song Y, Zhang Y, Lin D, Hu B, et al. Augmented anti-tumor activity of NK-92 cells expressing chimeric receptors of TGFbetaR II and NKG2D. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2017) 66:537–48. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-1959-1
- Stojanovic A, Cerwenka A. Checkpoint inhibition: NK cells enter the scene. Nat Immunol. (2018) 19:650–2. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0142-y
- 133. Sarhan D, Cichocki F, Zhang B, Yingst A, Spellman SR, Cooley S, et al. Adaptive NK cells with low TIGIT expression are inherently resistant to myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:5696–706. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0839
- 134. Sarhan D, Hippen KL, Lemire A, Hying S, Lou X, Lenvik T, et al. Adaptive NK cells resist regulatory T-cell suppression driven by IL37. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:766–775. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0498

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Zhang, Hu and Shi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

